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Preface

About thirty years ago I read The Hound of the Baskervilles. It made
a lasting impression. From this account I read backwards and forwards
through the affairs of Mr. Sherlock Holmes and Dr. John H. Watson. Dur-
ing one of the re-readings I began to take notes. Later these latter were found
to be too short or too incomplete, and some ten years ago a systematic analysis
was undertaken. The present compilation is incomplete in that all matters
are not set forth, but a sizable proportion is accumulated here. There is good
reason for this course. In the first place, “much more grist has actually been
gathered than has come through the mill” (William Rose Benét, The Read-
er’s Encyclopedia [Crowell Co., 1948], p. vi) . Second, the material that fol-
lows is intended to answer questions, but also to stimulate curiosity—in
short, to suggest that those who have not had the experience of reading the
exploits of Holmes and Watson should do so as soon as feasible.

There are many problems posed in their long association, and some of
them have not been answered satisfactorily as yet. Even distinguished
Holmesians are not always in agreement. Possibly this is why they are dis-
tinguished. Then there are lesser things—e.g., why is there so much said
about violins and dogs and almost nothing about pianos and cats?

Opinion will differ in degree or kind, but to me there are three critical
events in the saga. First, the solidification of Holmes's hobby of detection
into an occupation whereby he might earn a living. Trevor, Senior, was the
critical factor here. Victor Trevor was young Sherlock’s only close friend at
college, and he invited Sherlock to his home in Norfolk, near Langmere in
the Broads. Victor’s father was impressed by Sherlock’s ability to reason ob-
jectively and to intuitively put his finger on the solution of a problem having
to do with human frailty. He congratulated the young man on his powers,
and this led Holmes to substitute occupation for pastime, to make a living
out of the science of detection. This new purpose is recorded in Holmes’
first case, The Gloria Scott.

Second, the bringing together of Holmes and Watson. Watson, recovering
indifferently from a shoulder wound and enteric fever, was back from India,
looking for cheaper lodgings in London. He ran into his former dresser of
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PREFACE

hospital-training days, young Stamford, at the Criterion Bar. The two went
on for lunch at the Holborn, and Stamford recalled that another acquaint-
ance, Holmes, wanted to share living costs with someone in chambers at
221B Baker Street. After lunch Stamford took Watson to meet Holmes. The
result of this meeting is historic, and for seventeen years (opening sentence
in the Veiled Lodger) the two were more or less associated with each other
in the prevention of crime and the hunting down of wrongdoers. I am aware
of the interesting discrepancy between Watson’s stated “‘seventeen years” of
collaboration with Holmes and a longer span which can be deduced from a
study of the published cases. In fact, I have spent many a happy hour work-
ing on a chronology of the saga. But this has been done by others, and prob-
ably will be done again. It is not my present task. Watson said seventeen
years, and I prefer to be canonical in this matter. Their momentous meeting
takes place in the opening of their first collaboration, 4 Study in Scarlet.

Third, Watson’s first marriage. This was in the memorable account of The
Sign of the Four, in which Watson meets, woos, and becomes engaged to
blonde, blue-eyed Mary Morstan. They marry later, and this affects the
course of quite a few incidents directly or indirectly in the saga.

The present work is based upon the two-volume Memorial Edition of
1931, The Complete Sherlock Holmes by Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, pub-
lished by Doubleday, Doran & Company. In this edition the British spelling
is retained, which accounts for such words as “Honourable” in the following
text where cases and characters are involved.

Several items of information may assist in the use of my alphabetical guide.
Definite and indefinite articles are not used in the entries except in direct
quotations. In several of the cases there is a story within a story. Such in-
ternal stories, e.g., “The Country of the Saints” within 4 Study in Scarlet,
do not bear directly on the action and are largely disregarded, since this
present book deals with the participation of Holmes and (usually) of
Watson. To avoid repetition and to save space, H stands for Holmes, and W
stands for Watson. In this I have followed the example of Sir Winston S.
Churchill in his 1932 The Unknown War, in which a similar method of
substituting capital letters for the names of the principal generals of the
German and Austrian armies is used with effect. Where they constitute a
main entry, published cases appear in capital letters, and unpublished cases
are preceded by an asterisk.

Finally, I express my gratitude to the distinguished Holmesian, Mr. Vin-
cent Starrett, who took time to examine in detail the manuscript of this
book.

My labor will have its best result if it stimulates others to read and re-read
the adventures of Holmes and Watson and enjoy them. To do otherwise were
to miss a measure of happiness.

OrLANDO PARK
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A

Azsas Parva. Berkshire village where
the Ronder circus caravan
stopped for the night en route
to Wimbledon (Veiled
Lodger) .

ABBEY GRANGE. Kent home where Sir
Eustace Brackenstall was mur-
dered. Stanley Hopkins wanted
to consult H there (Abbey
Grange) .

ABBEY GRANGE, ADVENTURE
OF THE. Winter’s end, 1897.
Sir Eustace Brackenstall had
been killed. Inspector Stanley
Hopkins asked for H. H in-
vestigated but let the killer go
free because he felt that Cap-
tain Crocker was justified.

*ABBEY ScHOoL. H could not go at
once to Tuxbury Old Place
with James Dodd, for he was
clearing up the “Abbey School
case,” as W called it. This was
the case in which the Duke of
Greyminster was so deeply in-
volved (Blanched Soldier) .

*ABERDEEN. There was a case here
that was similar to the Adven-
ture of the Noble Bachelor, q.v.
(Valley of Fear) .

ABERDEEN. Inspector Alec MacDonald

was brought up here (Valley of
Fear) .

ABERDEEN SHIPPING Company. In
Fresno Street. Mrs. St. Clair
had a parcel waiting for her
here (Man with Twisted Lip) .

ABERDONIAN ACCENT. Inspector Alec
MacDonald had it (Valley of
Fear).

* ABERGAVENNY MURDER. This case was
up for trial (Priory School) .

* ABERNETTY FAMILY. A dreadful busi-
ness first brought to H’s notice
by a seeming trifle (Six Napo-
leons) .

* ABrRAHAMS, OLD. It was not feasible
for H to leave London while
old Abrahams was in such ter-
ror of being murdered (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

AcuMET. Untrustworthy servant of the
rajah. The rajah sent his most
precious jewels (the Agra
Treasure) in a steel box with
Achmet to Agra Fort. Achmet
was murdered by Dost Akbar
(Sign of Four).

AcrtoN. County magnate near Reigate
in Surrey. His house was bro-
ken into, but the paper was
safe with his solicitors (Reigate
Puzzle) .



ApAIr, HiLpa

Apamr, HiLpa. Sister of Ronald. Lived
with Ronald and mother at 427
Park Lane (Empty House).

ApAIR, HONOURABLE RONALD. Second
son of Earl of Maynooth. Liv-
ing in London with mother
and sister at 427 Park Lane.
Formerly engaged to Miss
Edith Woodley. Played cards
with Colonel Moran. Mur-
dered by Moran. H thought
that Adair had caught Moran
cheating at cards. Moran cap-
tured for the murder and
for attempted murder of H
(Empty House).

*Apams. He was the chief suspect in
the Manor House case. Mycroft
thought that Sherlock was not
up to it, but H told his brother
that he had solved it and that
Adams was the man (Greek
Interpreter) .

*ADDLETON TRAGEDY. This happened
in 1894 (Pince-Nez).

ApELADE. Australia. Mary Fraser
brought up here (4bbey
Grange) . Henry Peters (alias
Dr. Shlessinger) hailed from
here (Lady Frances Carfax).

ApELADE-SOUTHAMPTON LINE. H felt
that the next move was to in-
quire here (4bbey Grange).

AprERr, IRENE. To H she was always
the woman. Born in New Jersey
in 1858. A contralto, with ex-
perience at La Scala, and Prima
Donna of the Warsaw Imperial
Opera. Met King of Bohemia
at Warsaw, and once a photo-
graph was taken with them to-

gether. Retiring from her op-
eratic career, she came to
Briony Lodge, Serpentine Ave-
nue in St. John’s Wood, Lon-
don. The king wanted the pho-
tograph, but Irene would not
give it to him. By a ruse H
trapped her into revealing
where she had hidden the pho-
tograph. She disguised herself
as a boy and accosted H later.
She married Godfrey Norton
with H present as a disguised
witness. When the Nortons de-
parted England, she left H a
letter and the king a photo-
graph of herself. The latter H
asked for and received from
the king (Scandal in Bohemia) .

ApMIRALTY, THE. Decided that the

“Gloria Scott” was lost at sea
(Gloria Scott) . The Admiralty
was buzzing like an over-turned
bee-hive (Bruce-Partington) .

AFGHANISTAN. W wounded at battle of

Maiwand, q.v. First time H
met W, he noted to latter’s
mystification that W had been
here (Study in Scarlet). W’s
army life in this country had
made him used to packing
quickly (Boscombe Valley Mys-
tery). W was in pain from a
Jezail bullet in his leg in his
Afghan campaign and noted
this pain “a few weeks” before
his marriage (Noble Bache-
lor). W refers to his Afghan
experiences when he attended
Colonel Hayter (Reigate Puz-
zle). Twisted Henry Wood



ALBERT Dock

came to this country and then
returned to the Punjab
(Crooked Man). W tried to
interest Percy Phelps in this
country (Naval Treaty).

ArricA. Dr. Sterndale was about to
leave for this continent when
he was recalled by Mr. Round-
hay (Devil's Foot). Sahara
King was from northern Africa
(Veiled Lodger). Cf. South
Africa and West Africa.

AGAR, Dr. Moore. Harley Street spe-
cialist who advised H to rest
or have a complete breakdown
(Devil’s Foot) .

AcAaTHA. Milverton’s housemaid. H
becomes engaged to her, and
this results in the watchdog’s
being locked up nights (Mil-
verton) .

Acra. Indian city where Jonathan
Small came when Abel White’s
plantation was burned in the
great mutiny. The fort was
held against rebelling native
troops, and it was here that
Small and his three compan-
ions buried Achmet and the
Agra Treasure; here too they
were all four imprisoned for
murder (Sign of Four).

AcrA TREASURE. Obtained by Major
John Sholto and Captain Ar-
thur Morstan. Stated to be
worth £500,000 by the finder
of the treasure, Bartholomew
Sholto. Treasure recovered
from Jonathan Small (cf. “Au-
rora”), and W takes it to Mary
Morstan. The treasure chest, of

Benares metal-work, was forced
by W and Mary and found to
be empty. Jonathan Small
threw the Agra Treasure into
the Thames (Sign of Four).
Peter Jones refers to this treas-
ure case (Red-headed League) .

AINSTREE, DR. According to W, the

greatest living authority on
tropical disease. Cf. Sir Jasper
Meek (Dying Detective) .

ARGUN. 1. Made by the blind Ger-

man, Von Herder, to Moriarty’s
order and used by Colonel
Moran in attempted assassina-
tion of H. The weapon is in
the Scotland Yard Museum
(Empty House) .

2. Made by Straubenzee, in
the Minories, for Count Syl-
vius, apparently for the same
purpose as above (Mazarin
Stone) .

AKBAR, Dost. One of the Four and

foster brother of Abdullah
Khan. Akbar traveled north
with Achmet, who bore the
Agra Treasure, and he was au-
thor of plan to kill Achmet and
take the treasure. Akbar mur-
dered Achmet (Sign of Four).

ALBEMARLE MansioN. Kensington.

Mr. Melville lived here (Wis-
teria Lodge) .

ALBERT Dock. London. Lestrade

boarded the “May Day” here
and arrested Jim Browner
(Cardboard Box). H discov-
ered here that the “Lone Star”
had sailed down the Thames,



ALBERT HALL

homeward bound (Five Orange
Pips) .

ArLsert HALL. Carina was singing
here, and H felt that he and
W had time to dress, dine, and
hear her sing (Retired Colour-
man) .

ALDERSGATE. H and W got off the
Underground here (Red-
headed League) .

AvrpersHOT. H and W admired the
hills en route to Winchester
(Copper Beeches). H and W
were in this area on the 11:10
from Waterloo station
(Crooked Man).

ALDGATE. Station on London Under-
ground where Mason found
the body of Cadogan West
(Bruce-Partington) .

ALDRIDGE. Lestrade compared him in
size to Jim Browner, whom he
arrested on the “May Day”
(Cardboard Box) .

ALEXANDRIA. Ionides made special
cigarettes here for Professor
Coram (Pince-Nez). N. Gar-
rideb preferred the ancient
coins of Syracuse (Garridebs).

Avrexis. The true love of Anna, Pro-
fessor Coram’s wife in Russia.
Alexis was sent to Siberia on
his exposure by Sergius, alias
Professor Coram (Pince-Nez).

ArGAR. H asked him to send the an-
swers to the police station
(Cardboard Box) .

ArceRIA. Count Sylvius had shot lions
here (Mazarin Stone).
ALICE. Maid to Hatty Doran (Noble

Bachelor) .

*“Avricia.” This cutter sailed into a
patch of mist, and both ship
and crew vanished. This is an
unfinished case, and the data
are in W’s dispatch box in
Cox bank (Thor Bridge) .

ArvrAuABAD. Edmunds, a Berkshire
constable, later was sent here
(Veiled Lodger).

ArLAN BROTHERS. Chief land agents
of Esher. They had rented
Wisteria Lodge to Aloysius
Garcia or his agent (Wisteria
Lodge) .

ALLARDYCE’S BACK SHOP. Here H
tried to transfix a pig by a
single blow of a spear and
failed (Black Peter).

AvrrLEGRrO. Flora Millar was a danseuse
here (Noble Bachelor).

ALLEN, Mgrs. House servant to Mr.
and Mrs. John Douglas (Val-
ley of Fear).

ALMANAC. See Whitaker’s.

ArrHA INN. It was near the British -
Museum (Blue Carbuncle).

AvrTtAMONT. Alias of H when he was
chief espionage agent for Von
Bork and a bitter Irish-Ameri-
can (Last Bow).

*ALUMINUM CRUTCH, SINGULAR AF-
FAIR OF THE. This case was
pre-Watsonian, but the rec-
ord exists, for it was briefly
exhibited to W (Musgrave
Ritual) .

* AMATEUR MENDICANT SocieTy. The
Society had a luxurious club in
the lower vault of a furniture
warehouse. W recorded the
case in 1887 but has not given



ANcLo-INDIAN CLUB

the data to the public so far
(Five Orange Pips) .

AmaTi. H noted the difference from
a Stradivarius violin (Study
in Scarlet) .

AMmazoN River. Maria loved J. Neil
Gibson near this river, and
later she loved him in British
woods in Hampshire (Thor
Bridge) .

AMBERLEY, JosiaH. He murdered his
wife and Dr. Ernest, then
threw their bodies in a well
(Retired Colourman).

AmericA. Henry Baskerville came
here in his teens from a South
Coast Devonshire cottage and
grew up chiefly in Canada. He
was called to England to in-
herit Baskerville Hall (The
Hound) . John Douglas and his
wife were from America (Val-
ley of Fear) . So were Mr. and
Mrs. Francis Hay Moulton
(Noble Bachelor) .

AMERICAN EXCHANGE. In the Strand.
Letters addressed to E. ]J.
Drebber and to Joseph Stan-
gerson were found in the pock-
ets of E. J. Drebber, dead at
No. 3 Lauriston Gardens
(Study in Scarlet) .

AwMmes. Butler to Mr. and Mrs. John
Douglas (Valley of Fear).

Amoy River. In China. The Blue
Carbuncle was found in this
river (Blue Carbuncle).

AmsTERDAM. Count Sylvius told Mer-
ton that Van Seddar could
have the stone cut up into four

pieces by Sunday (Mazarin
Stone) .

ANDAMAN IsLANDs. Captain Morstan
had many curios from these is-
lands in his luggage at Lang-
ham Hotel. Mary Morstan told
H and W that Major Sholto
and Captain Morstan, her fa-
ther, had commanded the
troops in these islands. An An-
daman Islander, Tonga, mur-
dered Bartholomew Sholto at
Pondicherry Lodge. Cf. Blair
Island (Sign of Four). W re-
calls the pursuit of the Anda-
man Islander (Pince-Nez).

ANDERSON. Friend of Baldy Simpson
and Godfrey Emsworth. Killed
near Buffelsspruit in Boer War
(Blanched Soldier) .

ANDERsON. Village constable of Ful-
worth. He hoped to solve the
death of McPherson and re-
ceive credit—at least he did
not want to have censure from
Lewes (Lion’s Mane).

ANDERsON MURDERS. H recalled these
murders in North Carolina as
similar to the Baskerville case
(The Hound).

AnpoveR. H noted a case here in 1877
that paralleled Mary Suther-
land’s case (Case of Identity).

ANERLY ArRMs. Norwood hotel where
McFarlane spent the mnight
(Norwood Builder) .

ANGEL, HosMER. Alias of Mr. Windi-
bank, stepfather of Mary Suth-
erland (Case of Identity).

ANcLO-INDIAN CLuB. Col. Sebastian



ANNA

Moran was a member (Empty
House) .

ANNA. After her betrayal in Russia by
her husband, she came to
Yoxley Old Place in England
to get the documents from
Professor Coram that would
free her lover, Alexis, in Si-
beria. At Yoxley she killed
Willoughby Smith  (Pince-
Nez).

ANSTRUTHER, DR. Physician who took
care of W’s practice while W
joined H (Boscombe Valley
Mystery) .

A~NTHONY. Manservant at Merripit
House. H thought that his
name was “Antonio,” that he
knew the way through the
Grimpen Mire, and that he
fed the dog when Jack Staple-
ton was away (The Hound).

Anthropological Journal. H has pub-
lished two monographs on the
human ear in this periodical
(Cardboard Box).

ArAcHES (AMERICAN) . They were re-
ported to have killed Francis
Hay Moulton (Noble Bache-
lor).

ApAcHES (PARisiAN). Crippled Le-
Brun in Montmartre (Illus-
trious Client).

ArprLEDORE ToweRs. Fifteen minutes’
walk from Church Row, and
the home of Milverton. H
burgled Milverton’s  safe,
burned the contents, and H
and W escaped from the
grounds just in time (Milver-
ton).

AQUA TOFANA. Alluded to in Daily
Telegraph’s account of E. J.
Drebber’s murder (Study in
Scarlet) .

ArABIAN NicuTs. Isadora Klein's
drawing room according to W
(Three Gables). W refers to
them (Noble Bachelor).

ARABS, STREET. Cf. Baker Street Di-
vision of the detective police
force.

ARGENTINE. An entry in J. H. Neli-
gan’s notebook (Black Peter).

ArizoNA. Francis Moulton pros-
pected here (Noble Bachelor) .

Arkansas River. “A. H. Garrideb”
bought land along this river,
west of Fort Dodge (Gar-
rideb).

ARMITAGE, JAMEs. Legal name of
Trevor, Senior. His use of the
bank’s money resulted in his
being chained in the ““Gloria
Scott,” bound for Australia
(Gloria Scott) .

ARMITAGE, MR. Of Crane Water, near
Reading, and father of Percy
(Speckled Band).

ArMITAGE, PERCY. He proposed mar-
riage to Helen Stoner (Speck-
led Band).

ARMSTRONG, DRr. LEsLIE. Cambridge
University Medical School fac-
ulty. H and W saw him over
Godfrey Staunton’s disappear-
ance; he tried to throw them
off the track, but Pompey
traced the physician. In the
end H and the physician were
mutually at ease (Three-
Quarter) .



AYRSHIRES

* ARNSWORTH CASTLE BUSINESS. H re-
fers to this case to compare it
with Irene Adler’s secret of
concealment (Scandal in Bo-
hemia) .

AstoN, BIrRMINGHAM. “Howard Gar-
rideb” had offices at Grosvenor
Mansions (Garrideb) .

“AS YOU VALUE YOUR LIFE OR REASON
KEEP AWAY FROM THE MOOR.”
This warning message was sent
to Sir Henry Baskerville at
The Northumberland Hotel
(The Hound).

* ATKINSON BROTHERS. Involved in the
singular tragedy at Trincoma-
lee in which H cleared up the
case (Scandal in Bohemia).

ATLANTA. Mr. Munro said that Mr.
Hebron and only child died
here of yellow fever (Yellow
Face) .

AuckrLANnD. New Zealand. Uncle Ned
lived here and on his death left
£100 a year to Mary Suther-
land (Case of Identity).

AupLEy Court. Cf. Rance (Study in
Scarlet) .

“AURrORA.” Steam launch of Mordecai
Smith. It was a trim boat,
painted black with two red
streaks and with the funnel
black with a white band. H
advertised for information on
the missing boat in the Stand-
ard. H, W, and Athelney Jones
chased the launch, which was
driven aground by Smith and
later hauled off and tied to the
police launch (Sign of Four).

AusTrRALIA. John Trevor made his
money here in gold (Boscombe
Valley) . James Armitage was
to be sent here in the prison
ship “Gloria Scott” (Gloria
Scott) . James Wilder left Eng-
land to seek fortune here
(Priory School). Lady Brack-
enstall was brought up here
(Abbey Grange).

AvrsHIRES. According to Hall Pycroft,
the stock was up 10614 to
10574 (Stock-Broker’s Clerk).
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BACKWATER, Lorp. He recommended
H to Lord St. Simon. He had
an estate at Petersfield (Noble
Bachelor) and a large training
stable, “Mapleton,” near Tavi-
stock (Silver Blaze) .

Bapen. Lady Frances arrived by a
circuitous route and put up at
the Englischer Hof here (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

BacGATELLE, THE. Card club to which

Ronald Adair belonged. Ron-

ald’s last game here was with

Mr. Murray, Sir John Hardy,

and Colonel Moran (Empty

House) .

Sanpy. Sir Norbertson gave

Lady Falder’s favorite spaniel

to Sandy and told him to take

the dog to old Barnes (Shos-

combe) .

BAkER, MR. HENRY. His hat and goose
were lost at Googe Street and
Tottenham Court Road (Blue
Carbuncle) .

BAkER, Mrs. HENRY. Her name was
on the Christmas goose (Blue
Carbuncle) .

BAKER STREET, 221B. Home of H and
W circa 1878 or 1879, “a cou-
ple of comfortable bedrooms
and a single large airy sitting-

Bain,

room, cheerfully furnished,
and illuminated by two broad
windows” (Study in Scarlet).
Professor Moriarty’s gang set
fire to these rooms (Final
Problem). Later H and W
looked across Baker Street,
from Camden House, and saw
their old quarters (Empty
House). H and W could be
back here for dinner (Dancing
Men). Violet Smith called
here (Solitary Cyclist). W
came from his own rooms in
Queen Anne Street to the old
quarters (Illustrious Client).
W came to visit H (Mazarin
Stone). Since Holloway &
Steele were closed, H and W
returned home (Garrideb) . H
wired W to come here (Creep-
ing Man). These rooms are
specifically referred to by H or
W (Shoscombe; Retired Col-
ourman; Priory School; Mil-
verton; Six Napoleons; Three
Students; Pince-Nez; Abbey
Grange; Second Stain; The
Hound; Valley of Fear; Card-
board Box; Bruce-Partington;
and Lady Frances Carfax).
BAKER STREET DIVISION OF THE DETEC-



BAKER STREET IRREGULARS

TIVE POLICE FORCE. Now and
then six small, dirty ‘“street
arabs” were employed by H.
Of this group Wiggins appar-
ently was the leader (Study in
Scarlety. H wired for them
from the Great Peter Street
post-office. Wiggins is still pre-
sumably in charge, but their
ranks are increased to about
twelve. H described the “Au-
rora” to them and wanted to
know where the launch was
(Sign of Four). One of this
group, Simpson, kept an eye
on Henry Wood (Crooked
Man) .

BAKER STREET IRREGULARS. See Baker
Street Division of the detective
police force.

BaLpwiN, TEp. American. Alias Mr.
Hargrave, of the yellow over-
coat and sawed-off shotgun.
Killed by John Douglas of
Birlstone Manor. Baldwin’s
body was foisted on the police
as that of John Douglas. H was
not deceived (Valley of Fear).

BarLopwiN, THE. Card club to which
Ronald  Adair  belonged
(Empty House) .

BarLaraT. Colony of Victoria, Aus-
tralia. W stated he has seen ex-
cavations at Ballarat similar to
those in the earth at Pondi-
cherry Lodge, in converse with
Mary Morstan (Sign of Four).
H cleared the confusion about
what son James thought he
heard his father say as he
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died, i.e., “a rat” was probably
“Ballarat” (Boscombe).

BALLARAT GANG. See Black Jack.

BaLmorAL, DucHess ofF. She at-
tended wedding of her son,
Lord Robert St. Simon, and
Hatty Doran (Noble Bache-
lor).

BALMORAL, DUKE oF. Children: Lord
Robert St. Simon (second
son); Lord Eustace (third
son); Lady Clara St. Simon
(Noble Bachelor). The duke
was at one time secretary for
foreign affairs (Boscombe).
Iris, the duke’s horse, came in
third in the Wessex Cup race
(Silver Blaze).

BaLmoraL, Lorp. Had an expensive
afternoon at cards with God-
frey Milner, quw. (Empty
House) .

Barzac. Quoted by Hosmer Angel in

letter to Mary Sutherland

(Case of Identity).

oF ENcranp. According to

“Killer” Evans, no one could

tell the difference between one

of Rodger Prescott’s forgeries
and a bill made by this institu-
tion (Garridebd).

BANNISTER. Soames’s room servant at
St. Luke’s. He was onetime
butler to Sir Jabez Gilchrist
and had to help out young
Gilchrist at St. Luke’s (Three
Students) .

South Africa? Hon.

Philip Green made money

here (Lady Frances Carfax).

Bank

BARBERTON.



BArNICOT, DR.

‘BArRcAROLE.” See Hoffman (Marzarin
Stone) .

BArceLoNA. Don Murillo, his two
children, and the secretary es-
caped from San Pedro and ar-
rived here in 1886 (Wisteria
Lodge) .

Barcray, CoLoNEL JamEes. Com-
manded at Aldershot. Royal
Munster regiment. He died in
his morning-room. He had be-
trayed Corporal Henry Wood
in the Indian Mutiny
(Crooked Man).

Barcray, Mrs. NEE Nancy Devoy.
She was almost tried for the
murder of her husband but
was saved by information sup-
plied by Major Murphy, Miss
Morrison, and Henry Wood.
She was originally in love with
Henry Wood, but her fa-
ther favored James Barclay
(Crooked Man).

BARCLAY SQUARE. Admiral Sinclair
lived here (Bruce-Partington) .

BarpLE, INSPECTOR. Sussex constabu-
lary. Consulted with H on
death of Fitzroy McPherson.
H cautioned against prema-
ture action, said that he would
know “In an hour—possibly
less.” H demonstrated that the
killer was Cyanea capillata
(Lions Mane).

BareLL, Aucusto. Lived in Posi-
lippo. His daughter, Emilia,
married Gennaro Lucca (Red
Circle) .

BARITSU. Form of Japanese wrestling
which H knew. This knowl-
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edge enabled H to slip from
Moriarty’s  grip (Empty
House) .

BARkER, CECIL JaMmEs. Hales Lodge,
Hampstead. Friend of John
Douglas and mined with him
in California. He lied to police
at Birlstone Manor in order to
help Douglas to represent the
body of Ted Baldwin as that of
Douglas. Later Cecil heard
from Ivy Douglas that John
Douglas, her husband, was lost
overboard. H assured Cecil
that Moriarty would be
brought to justice eventually
(Valley of Fear).

BARKER, MR. Amateur detective. H
described him, jokingly, as
his hated rival on the Surrey
Shore. Barker and H cooper-
ated in the Amberley case. H
remarked that Barker had had
several good cases to his credit;
a police inspector said in reply,
“He has certainly interfered
several times” (Retired Col-
ourman) .

BARKING LEVEL. As for pool.

BARNES, JosiaH. Proprietor of the
Green Dragon inn at Crendall.
Sir Robert Norbertson gave
Lady Falder’s favorite spaniel
to him (Shoscombe) .

Barnicot, Dr. Physician. Admirer of
Napoleon; bought two cheap
plaster busts of Napoleon from
Morse Hudson, and both were
smashed—one in his Kenning-
ton Road office and one at a
smaller office of his on Lower



BArR ofF GoLp

Brixton Road (Six Napole-
ons) .

BAR oF GoLrp. Opium den in Upper
Swandam Lane (“The vilest
murder-trap on the whole riv-
erside”) . Cf. Paul’s wharf. Ne-
ville St. Clair took opium here.
Hugh Boone had a room here
(Twisted Lip).

BARROW, ANCIENT BriTIsH. Involved in
an 1894 case not yet written
up by W, who said that this
barrow contained something
of singular interest (Pince-
Nez) .

BArrRYMORE, EL1za. Housekeeper to
Sir Charles, and later to Sir
Henry, Baskerville. Her hus-
band, John, was butler, and
her brother was Selden, the es-
caped convict (The Hound).

BARRYMORE, JoHN. Butler to Sir

Charles, and later to Sir
Henry, Baskerville (The
Hound) .

BARS AND RESTAURANTS. See restau-
rants.

BarToN, DRr. HiLL. Alias of W when
he went to see Baron Gruner
about the blue Ming saucer.
Dr. Barton’s card read 369
Half Moon Street (Illustrious
Client) .

BArTON, INSPECTOR. In charge of dis-
appearance case of Neville St.
Clair. He arrests Hugh Boone
(Twisted Lip).

BarT’s. London hospital where W was
on duty and where young
Stamford was his “dresser”
(assistant) (Study in Scarlet) .

BasiL, CApTAIN. Alias of H (Black

Peter) .
BASkerRVILLE, SiR CHARLEs. Of Bas-
kerville Hall, Devonshire.

Made a fortune in South Afri-
can speculation. Came to his
inheritance in Devon, worried
over the family legend, and
was found dead near the Hall
by Barrymore. Barrymore sent
Perkins to fetch James Morti-
mer. It was reported that Sir
Charles died of cardiac exhaus-
tion (The Hound).
BAskervVILLE, SIR HENRY. Son of Sir
Charles’s younger brother.
Came from Canada to inherit
Baskerville Hall. James Morti-
mer brought Henry to consult
H first. Henry had inherited
£740,000 from Sir Charles.
Later, H shot the phosphorus-
painted hound of Jack Staple-
ton before it attacked Henry,
but the shock was so severe he
had to take a year’s voyage
with James Mortimer before
recovery from the hound’s at-
tack and from the shock of
knowing that Beryl Stapleton
was not a sister of, but wife of,
Jack (The Hound).
BASKERVILLE, Huco. A black hound-
like beast with blazing eyes
and dripping jaws was re-
corded as having torn out his
throat. H showed W that
Hugo’s portrait at Baskerville
Hall looked much like Jack
Stapleton (The Hound).
BASKERVILLE, JACK. Alias Mr. Vande-



BECKENHAM

leur, alias Jack Stapleton, q.v.
(The Hound).

BASKERVILLE, REAR-ADMIRAL. His
portrait hung in Baskerville
Hall. He served with Rodney
in the West Indies (The
Hound) .

BASKERVILLE, RODGER. A close resem-
blance to Hugo Baskerville
was noted. He fled to South
America where he married
and had one son, Jack, and
died in 1876 of yellow fever
(The Hound).

BASKERVILLE, SIR WiLLIAM. Served
under Pitt in House of Com-
mons (The Hound).

BasLe. H felt that H and W should
pass through this city (Final
Problem) .

“Bass Rock.” Ship of the Adelaide-
Southampton Line (Abbey
Grange) .

Bates, MarLow. Estate manager for
J. Neil Gibson. Called on H
to warn him of his employer
(Thor Bridge).

BaTHsHEBA. See Uriah.

Baxter. H quotes him (Boscombe) .

BaxTER, EpITH. Maid that brought
Ned Hunter his supper (Silver
Blaze) .

Bavarp. King’s Pyland stable was run-
ning this horse, and the favor-
ite, Silver Blaze, in the Wes-
sex Cup race (Silver Blaze).

BaynEes, INsPECTOR. Surrey constabu-
lary. H felt that he would rise
high in the profession since he
had both instinct and intuition
(Wisteria Lodge) .

BayswATER Bus. Lord Mount-James
came by bus (Three-Quarter) .

“BE AT THE THIRD PILLAR FROM THE
LEFT OUTSIDE THE LYCEUM
THEATRE TO-NIGHT AT SEVEN
o’cLock. If you are distrustful
bring two friends. You are a
wronged woman and shall
have justice. Do not bring po-
lice. If you do, all will be in
vain. Your unknown friend”
(Sign of Four).

BEAUCHAMP ARRIANCE. Dr. Sterndale
had a lonely bungalow in these
woods (Devil’s Foot).

BEAUNE. W had some of this wine
with his lunch (Sign of Four).

BecHER, Dr. Lived at Eyford with
Colonel Lysander Stark (Engi-
neer’s Thumb) .

BeckENHAM. H thought they should
go here at once, after picking
up Inspector Gregson (Greek
Interpreter) .

BeppincTON No. 1. Alias was Pinner,
Arthur or Harry (Stock-bro-
ker’s Clerk) .

BeppINGTON No. 2. Brother of Bed-
dington No. 1. Forger and
cracksman. Impersonating
Hall Pycroft, obtained mould-
ings of locks at Mawson & Wil-
liams. He murdered the watch-
man but was captured by
Sergeant Tuson and Consta-
ble Pollock (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .

BeckEnnAM. The Myrtles, where So-
phy was staying, was here
(Greek Interpreter).



BEDDOES

BeppOES. Evans lived in Hampshire
under this alias (Gloria Scott) .

Beprorp. In Bedfordshire. Tuxbury
Old Park was near (Blanched
Soldier) .

BepFORDSHIRE. Tuxbury Old Hall in
Tuxbury Old Park was near
Bedford (Blanched Soldier).

BEECHER, HENRY WARD. W had an un-
framed picture of him (Resi-
dent Patient) .

BeLrasT. Browner’s ship, the “May
Day,” stopped at this port, and
this was the first place that he
could send the package of ears
to Sarah Cushing (Cardboard
Box) .

BeLGium. Since there was a treaty
between England and this
country, Von Bork felt that
England would go to war re-
gardless of the consequences
(Last Bow).

BELGRADE. Trelawney Hope had a
memorandum from here (Sec-
ond Stain) .

BELLAMY, MAUD. “Maudie” to Fitz-
roy McPherson, she was the
Fulworth beauty and secretly
his fiancée (Lion’s Mane).

BeLramy, Tom. Fulworth business-
man, formerly fisherman, who
commenced renting boats and
bathing-cots, with his son Wil-
liam. His daughter, Maud,
was a local beauty (Lion’s
Mane) .

BELLAMY, WiILLIAM. Son of Tom and
helper in father’s business
(Lion’s Mane) .

BELLINGER, Lorp. Twice Prime Min-

ister of Britain. Came to con-
sult H (Second Stain).

BELLIVER Tor. W saw this wild spot
in late afternoon as he was go-
ing to Black Tor (The
Hound).

BELMINSTER, DUke oF. Lady Hilda
Trelawney Hope was his
youngest daughter (Second
Stain) .

BeLMonNT Prace. H, W and Toby on
trail here of murderers of
Bartholomew Sholto (Sign of
Four).

BENARES METAL-wORK. Cf.
Treasure chest.
BENGAL ARTILLERY. Major-General
Stoner belonged to this outfit

(Speckled Band) .

Benito Canvon. California. Where
John Douglas and Cecil Barker
had a successful mining claim
(Valley of Fear).

BENNETT, TREVOR. Professional assist-
ant to Professor Presbury,
lived with him and was en-
gaged to his daughter, Edith.
He had a medical degree.
Edith called Trevor ‘“Jack.”
He consulted H, and H solved
the problem why Roy, the de-
voted wolfhound, attacked his
master (Creeping Man).

BeENTINGK STREET. H was almost run
down here. Moriarty at work?
(Final Problem.)

BENTLEY’s. Private hotel in London,
where the University of Cam-
bridge rugger team stayed
(Three-Quarter) .

Benz. 100-horsepower model belong-

Agra
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ing to Baron Von Herling
(Last Bow).

Beppo. Italian who made himself use-
ful at Morse Hudson’s shop
and at Gelder & Co. He was
captured while stealing a
cheap plaster bust of Napoleon
from home of Josiah Brown
(Six Napoleons) .

BERKELEY SQUARE. General de Mer-
ville lived at No. 104 (Illustri-
ous Client).

BERKSHIRE. At one time the Roylott
family lived in this county
(Speckled Band). Eyford was
in the county, and Colonel
Stark asked Mr. Hatherley to
see his machinery there (En-
gineer’s  Thumb).  Abbas
Parva, a village here, where
the Ronder circus stopped for
the night (Veiled Lodger).
Scene of Shoscombe Old Place.

BerLIN. Baron Von Herling felt that
Von Bork would be here
within the week (Last Bow).

BermupA Dockyarp. The true hus-
band of the barmaid worked
here (Boscombe).

BerNSTONE, MgRs. Housekeeper of
Bartholomew Sholto. She was
arrested by Athelney Jones in
connection with Bartholo-
mew’s murder but shortly re-
leased. Reported in the Stand-
ard (Sign of Four).

BerTiLLON. H admired him and his
system
(Naval Treaty) . James Morti-
mer annoyed H when he put

of measurements
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Bertillon first and H second in
detection (The Hound).
BeryL CORONET. A precious public
possession of the Empire.
Three beryls were missing,
and Holder’s son, Arthur, was

arrested. H was consulted
(Beryl Coronet).
BERYL CORONET, ADVEN-

TURE OF THE. Mr. Holder
consulted H in February on a
missing piece of the coronet.
H saved England from a scan-
dal.

BevinGTON’s. Pawn shop in Westmin-
ster. The Shlessingers were
pawning Lady Frances’ jewels
here (Lady Frances Carfax).

BHURTEE. India. Where the 117th was
stationed at the Mutiny out-
break. Corporal Henry Wood
volunteered to break out and
tell General Neill of their dan-
ger (Crooked Man).

H quoted this with reference

to the betrayal of Henry

Woods by James Barclay. The

reference, H thought, was ei-

ther Samuel I or II—it is

Samuel II:11 (Crooked Man).

It would not do as a basis for

the cipher (Valley of Fear).

BmprLE. One of the Worthingdon
bank gang (Resident Patient) .

Bic BEN. It was late, 7:35 A.m., as H
and W rushed to the Shles-
singer house in Poultney
Square (Lady Frances Car-
fax).

BiLr. Helper to Mr. Breckinridge
(Blue Carbuncle) .

BiBLE.



BILLIARDS

BiLL1ARDs. See Thurston.

BiLry. Occasional page of H and W
(Valley of Fear), and of H
after W no longer lived at
221B (Mazarin Stone). He
opened the door to Marlow
Bates (Thor Bridge).

BircHMOOR. Small estate of Lord St.
Simon (Noble Bachelor).

BirLsTONE. Northern Sussex village
where tragedy occurred (Val-
ley of Fear).

BrLsTONE MANOR Housk. In Sussex.
Home of John Douglas (Val-
ley of Fear).

BirLsTONE RipGE. H was told that the

from here over the
Weald were remarkable (Val-
ley of Fear).

BirMINGHAM. H asks W to go with
him to this city on behalf of
Hall Pycroft (Stock-broker’s
Clerk). The senior Trevor's
daughter died here of diphthe-
ria (Gloria Scott) . Steve Dixie
was in training here at the

views

time of young Perkins’ death
outside the Holborn Bar
(Three Gables). Nathan had
to go here to see ‘“Howard Gar-
rideb” (Garrideb).

*BISHOPGATE JEWEL CASE. Mr. Athel-
ney Jones granted rather
grudging acknowledgement of
H’s help in this case (Sign of
Four) .

BLACKHEATH. Mr. McFarland lived in
Torrington Lodge here (Nor-
wood Buildery W played
rugby for Blackheath (Vam-

pire) .
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BLACKHEATH STATION. W caught his
train here for London from
Lewisham (Retired Colour-
man) .

BLACK JACK OF BALLARAT. Alias John
Turner (Boscombe).
BLACKMAIL. Cf. Milverton; Second
Stain; Black Peter; Gloria
Scott. The Cunninghams were
being blackmailed by their
coachman, William Kirwan

(Reigate Puzzle).

Brack PETER. Nautical name for Cap-
tain Peter Cary, q.v.

BLACK PETER, ADVENTURE
OF. July, 1895. Captain Peter
Cary was harpooned. Stanley
Hopkins arrested the wrong
man. H supplied the right
man in the person of Patrick
Cairns.

Brack SEa. Convict ships were being
used as transport in this sea
during Crimean War (Gloria

Scott) .
Brack STEVE. Appellation of Steve
Dixie, q.v.

Brack Swan HoteL. In Winchester,
on High Street. Violet Hunter
wished to consult H here
(Copper Beeches) .

Brack Tor. W saw the stranger here,
and Mr. Frankland saw the
boy who took supplies to H.
Later W found H here, much
to his consternation (The
Hound).

BLACKWALL. As for pool.

BLACKWATER, EARL OoF. His son was in
the Priory School (Priory
School) .



BomMBAY

BrackweLL, Lapy EvAa. To be mar-
ried to the Earl of Dovercourt,
and blackmailed by Milverton.
H came to the rescue (Milver-
ton).

Brar IsLanp. Of the Andamans.
Jonathan Small was finally
imprisoned here, at Hope
Town (Sign of Four).

BLANCHED SOLDIER, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Janu-
ary, 1903. H was the narrator,
for W had married and moved
out. Godfrey Emsworth did
not have leprosy after all.

Branprorp STREET. H and W en
route to Camden House
(Empty House) .

BLESSINGTON, MR. Alias for Sutton.
Became a patient in Dr. Tre-
velyan’s house in Brook Street
and paid the bills. He was mur-
dered (Resident Patient).

BronpIN. Possibly a constable on
guard at Pondicherry Lodge
after murder of Bartholomew
Sholto (Sign of Four) . Ingeni-
ous alternative suggestion is
that Blondin was the great
French rope-walker, since H
was about to scale a roof (per-
sonal communication from Mr.
Vincent Starrett) .

BLooMsBURY. Scene of action in death
of Gorgiano, viz., Great Orme
Street and Howe Street (Red
Circle)y. The Alpha Inn was
located here (Blue Carbun-
cle).

BrounT. Fellow student of Sudbury,

q.v.

BLUE ANcHOR. Probably non-existent.
In Lewisham, where H felt W
could have gotten the informa-
tion about Dr. Ernest and the
Amberleys (Retired Colour-
man) .

BLUE CARBUNCLE, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Countess of
Morcar’s blue carbuncle was
in the crop of a Christmas
goose.

BLYMER ESTATE. Mrs. Harold left it
to Count Sylvius (Mazarin
Stone) .

Boccaccro. Pocket edition of the De-
cameron was carried by Enoch
J. Drebber (Study in Scarlet) .

Boer WARr. Had just concluded in
January, 1903, when James M.
Dodd consulted H (Blanched
Soldier) .

BoHEMIA. W was glad that ‘“some-
thing connects with some-
thing.” He was perplexed by a
possible connection between
an irate wolfhound and a visit
to Bohemia (Creeping Man).

BoHEMIAN. After his own marriage,
W so described H'’s living hab-
its (Engineer’s Thumb).

“BOLTED.” W was to telephone this
word to Baker Street rooms if
Josiah broke away or returned
to Lewisham (Retired Colour-
man) .

BomsAy. India. W landed here from
England to join the Fifth
Northumberland Fusiliers but
had to follow to Candahar be-
fore finding them (Study in
Scarlet) .



BOND STREET

Bonp STREET. At foot of Kennington
Lane, H, W, and Toby on trail
of the murderer of Bartholo-
mew Sholto (Sign of Four).
Madame Lesurier, milliner,
was here (Silver Blaze) . H and
W passed time in picture gal-
leries here before their 2 p.M.
luncheon with James Morti-
mer and Henry Baskerville
(The Hound).

“Book orF LIFg, THE.” Title of maga-
zine article written by H on
the science of detection. W
read it and scoffed. H proved
his point by explaining how he
knew that W was an army doc-
tor who had been wounded in
Afghanistan. March 4, 1879?
(Study in Scarlet.)

BoonE, HucH. Had room at Bar of
Gold. A cripple and profes-
sional beggar with business
spot on Threadneedle Street,
in disguise. H demonstrated
that he was St. Clair (Twisted
Lip).

BorpEAux. France. Mr. Windibank’s
company had French offices
here (Case of Identity).

Borcias, BLAck PEARL oF THE. H de-
duced its presence in the sixth
bust (Six Napoleons).

BoroucH, THE. John Clayton lived at
No. 3 Turpey Street (The
Hound) .

BoscomBE Poor. Charles McCarthy
was found dead here by his
son, James (Boscombe).

BOSCOMBE VALLEY MYSTERY.
This happened in Herefords-
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shire, near Ross. James Mc-
Carthy found his father dead.
It was fortunate that H was
called in.

BosweLL. H said of W that he was
“my Boswell” (Scandal in Bo-
hemia) .

BouGUEREAU. A painting at home of
T. Sholto (Sign of Four).

Bowery. Gennaro Lucca saved Tito
Castalotti from ruffians in this
New York area (Red Circle).

Bow StrEET. H and W to police sta-
tion here to see Hugh Boone
(Twisted Lip).

BRACKENSTALL, SIR EusTACE. Dead,
and Lady Brackenstall was not
candid with H. H solved the
case but, seeing the provoca-
tion for the crime, held his
tongue except to W and Cap-
tain Crocker (4bbey Grange) .

BrADLEY’s. Oxford Street tobacconist
which supplied H with strong
shag and W with cigarettes
(The Hound) .

BrapsHAw. H asked W to look up the
trains to Winchester in this
book (Copper Beeches).

BRrRADSTREET, INSPEcTOR. B Division.
On duty at Bow Street when H
wanted to see Hugh Boone
(Twisted Lip). Arrested John

Horner (Blue Carbuncle).
Called in by H (Engineer’s
Thumb) .

BraMBLETYE HoTEL. Forest Row,
Sussex. H and W had rooms
here, and young Neligan came
here to a ground-floor room on



BrixTtoN Roap

the day that Peter Cary was
killed (Black Peter).

BRANDY. W gave Mr. Eccles some
(Wisteria Lodge). H gave W
some (Empty House).

BraziL. J. Neil Gibson looked for
gold here (Thor Bridge).

BreckINrRIDGE. He sold Mr. Windi-
gate, of the Alpha Inn, some
geese in Covent Garden Mar-
ket (Blue Carbuncle).

BREWER, SaM. Curzon Street money-
lender. He was horsewhipped
and nearly killed by Sir Rob-
ert Norbertson on Newmarket
Heath (Shoscombe).

BrIARBRAE. In Woking. Percy Phelps
lived here and wanted W to
bring H (Naval Treaty).

BRICKFALL & AMBERLEY. Manufac-
turer of artistic materials. Jo-
siah Amberley retired from
junior partnership at 61 and
bought The Haven, in Lew-
isham, Essex (Retired Colour-
man) .

Briony LobGe. On Serpentine Ave-
nue, in St. John’s Wood. Home
of Irene Adler in London
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

BrisToL. James McCarthy spent three
days here with his barmaid
wife, who, learning that James
was accused of murdering his
father, told James that she
always had had a husband in
the Bermuda Dockyard (Bos-
combe) .

British Birds. Volume offered to W by
a disguised H (Empty House) .

BriTisH BrOKEN HiLrs. Their stock
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went from 7 to 7-and-6 accord-
ing to Hall Pycroft (Stock-
broker’s Clerk) .

British Medical Journal. As for Lan-
cet (Blanched Soldier) . W was
reading this journal after
breakfast when H called on
him at the house in Padding-
ton where W had his practice
(Stock-broker’s Clerk) .

British Museum. H first lived near
here on Montague Street; see
also Museum (Musgrave Rit-
ual) . Jack Stapleton was well
known here and had described
a species of moth (The
Hound). The Warrens lived
near here, on Great Orme
Street (Red Circle).

BrixtOon. H, W, and Toby here on
trail of murderers of Bartholo-
mew Sholto (Sign of Four).
The commissionaire lived at
16 Ivy Lane (Naval Treaty).
The Shlessingers left Lady
Frances at 36 Poultney Square
(Lady Frances Carfax). Na-
than Garrideb ended up in a
nursing home here (Garri-
debs) .

BrixTtoN, Lowkr. ]J. Davenport an-
swered Mycroft Holmes’s ad-
vertisement from here (Greek
Interpreter) .

BrixToN Roap. H and W took a taxi
via this street to No. 3 Lauris-
ton Gardens (Study in Scar-
let). Mrs. Oakshott lived at
No. 117 and sold geese to Mr.
Breckinridge (Blue Carbun-
cle). H and W en route to



BRIXTON WORKHOUSE INFIRMARY

Shlessinger’s house in Poult-

ney Square (Lady Frances
Carfax) .
BRIXTON WORKHOUSE INFIRMARY.

The Shlessingers brought Rose
Spender from here to their
Poultney Square home (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

Broapmoor. H told Inspector Mc-
Kinnon that in all probability
Josiah Amberley would end up
in this place rather than on the
scaffold (Retired Colourman).

Broaps, THE. The Trevors lived in
this area of Norfolk, at Don-
nithorpe, near Langmere
(Gloria Scott) .

Broap STrReeT. H, W, and Toby came
to water’s edge at end of this
street, where trail of murderer
of Bartholomew Sholto ends.
Cf. Mordecai Smith (Sign of
Four).

BRODERICK & NELSON’S TIMBER-YARD,
On Nine Elms Street, just past
the White Eagle Tavern. This
was the end of the false trail.
Cf. Knight's Place (Sign of
Four).

Brooks. One of fifty men who had
reason to kill H (Bruce-Par-
tington) .

*Brooks. As for Woodhouse.

Brook STREET. Dr. Trevelyan lived at
No. 403 (Resident Patient).

BROTHER BARTHOLOMEW. See Bar-
tholomew Sholto.

BroTHERHOOD, THE. This group was
after Sergius, alias Professor
Coram (Pince-Nez) .

Brown, JosiaH. Bought a bust of Na-

poleon from Harding Brothers
and had it stolen and then
smashed by Beppo (Six Napo-
leons) .

BrowN, LIEUTENANT BroMLEY. Offi-
cer at Blair Island, in the An-
damans (Sign of Four).

BrowN, SaM. One of two policemen
on the police launch in her
chase after the “Aurora.” Sam
also went with W carrying the
Agra Treasure chest to Mary
Morstan’s home (Sign of
Four).

Brown, SiLAs. Manager of Mapleton,
Lord Backwater’s training sta-
ble near Tavistock (Silver
Blaze) .

BrownNER, JiM. Dropped first Susan,
then Sarah, and married Mary.
Steward of the ‘“May Day.”
Later, at instigation of jilted
Sarah, Mary and Alec Fair-
bairn were often together. Jim
killed Mary and Alec and sent
an ear of each to Sarah, but
Susan got the package. H
worked on this postal error,
and Jim was arrested (Card-
board Box) .

BRUCE-PARTINGTON PLANS,
ADVENTURE OF THE.
Third week in November,
1895. The submarine patents
had been tampered with, and
the late Cadogan West was
suspect. H recovered the miss-
ing papers, and the villains
were jailed.

BRUCE-PARTINGTON SUBMARINE. Ten
of thirty patent papers were
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taken from Woolwich, but
only seven were in Cadogan
West’s pocket. H recovered the
missing plans by trapping first

Colonel Walter and later
Hugo Oberstein (Bruce-Par-
tington) .

BrUCE PINKERTON PRIZE AND MEDAL.
Dr. Trevelyan got these for his
monograph on nervous lesions
(Resident Patient).

BrunTON, RIcHARD. Butler at Hurl-
stone Manor. Dismissed by
Reginald Musgrave;
dered by Rachel
(Musgrave Ritual) .

BrusseLs. H and W spent two days
here en route to Switzerland
(Final Problem).

Bupa. There was a sample of Devil's
Foot Root in a laboratory here
(Devil’s Foot) .

Bupa-PEstTH. W and H received a
newspaper cutting from here
(Greek Interpreter) .

BuppHA. At times H was so eager that
he sat on the floor amidst the
books, according to W like an

mur-
Howells

image of Buddha (Veiled
Lodger).

BuppHisM OF CEYLON. As for Miracle
Plays.

Burraro. After a period in Chicago,
H joined a secret society in

23

Buffalo as a step toward build-
ing his role as Altamont (Last
Bow) .

BurreLsspruiT. Outside  Pretoria,
where Godfrey Emsworth was
injured in the Boer War.
(Blanched Soldier) .

BuLL. Inn at Esher in Surrey, where
H and W put up while looking
into murder of Aloysius Garcia
(Wisteria Lodge) .

BurBERRY. McPherson was found
dead in his (Lion’s Mane).

BuUrRNETT, MiIss. Governess to Mr.
Henderson’s two daughters.
She is an English woman,
about 40 years old. Don Juan
Murillo had her husband mur-
dered, and she joined the plot.
Alias of Signora (Sefiora?)
Victor Durango. She escaped
with the help of John Warner
and told all to H (Wisteria
Lodge) .

BURNWELL, SIR GEORGE. Friend of Ar-
thur Holder, and a most unde-
sirable person (Beryl Coro-
net) .

BusHMAN. James Mortimer, Sir
Charles Baskerville, and
friends spent many an evening
discussing the comparative
anatomy of the Bushman and
the Hottentot (The Hound).






C

CALIFORNIA. John Douglas was said to

CABINET, THE. Percy Phelps’s uncle,

Lord Holdhurst, was foreign
minister in it (Naval Treaty).

CAFE RovAaL. Near here, on Regent

Street, a murderous attack was
made on H  (Illustrious
Client).

CArns, PaTRICK. Harpooner under

Captain Peter Cary of the “Sea
Unicorn.” He saw the Captain
throw J. H. Neligan’s father
overboard in August, 1883.
His attempted blackmail of
the Captain ended in his kill-
ing Peter and in his subse-
quent arrest by Stanley Hop-
kins, on information supplied
by H (Black Peter).

Camro. H asked Mary Maberley if

she would like to go here
(Three Gables).

CArcutTA. Dr. G. Roylott was in prac-

tice here (Speckled Band).

CALHOUN, CAPTAIN JAMEs. Leader of

the KKK gang that Kkilled
John Openshaw, and captain
of the bark “Lone Star.” He
and his crew perished appar-
ently when the ship broke up
in an Atlantic storm (Five
Orange Pips).
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CaM.

CAMBERWELL.

*CAMBERWELL

have made his money in gold
fields here (Valley of Fear).
Aloysius Moran had lived in
San Francisco (Noble Bache-
lor).

H said that Dr. Armstrong
would have to drive through
here to elude Pompey (Three-
Quarter) .

Madame Charpen-
tier’s boarding-house was in
Torquay Terrace, where E. ].
Drebber lodged (Study in
Scarlet). Mary Morstan was
governess in home of Mrs. Ce-
cil Forrester in Lower Cam-
berwell (Sign of Four).H, W,
and Toby here on trail of Bar-
tholomew Sholto’s murderers
(Sign of Four). Mr. and Mrs.
Windibank and Mary Suther-
land lived at 31 Lyon Place
(Case of Identity). H on two
occasions sent money to Fred
Porlock, in care of the post of-
fice here (Valley of Fear).
Miss Dobney lived here (Lady
Frances Carfax).

PoisoNing  CASE.
1887. W recorded this case, in



CAMBERWELL ROAD

which H wound the watch, but
has not released it to the pub-
lic (Five Orange Pips).

CAMBERWELL RoAD. A London haber-
dasher sold a hat to E. J. Dreb-
ber on this street (Study in
Scarlet) .

CaMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY. Percy Phelps
went here on a scholarship
(Naval Treaty). Willoughby
Smith went here (Pince-Nez).
Cyril Overton was at Trinity
College here (Three-Quar-
ter).

CaMpEN House. On Baker Street,
where H and W watched
(Empty House) .

Camrorp. The Chequers inn and
Camford University were in
this town (Creeping Man).

Camrorp UNIVERsITY. At Camford.
Here  Professor  Presbury
taught physiology, and in time
Roy, his devoted wolfhound,
tried to kill him (Creeping
Man) . It is of interest to note
that for H and W respectable
events generally are associated
with Cambridge and Oxford
universities whereas the unor-
thodox behavior of Professor
Presbury occurs at Camford.
Colonel Sebastian Moran went
to Oxford, it is true, but years
before his moral decay
(Empty House).

CamrpEN House Roap. Mr. Harker,
journalist, had a bust of Napo-
leon stolen and later smashed
in this street (Six Napoleons) .

CAMPDEN Mansions. In Notting Hill.
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Louis LaRothiere lived here
(Bruce-Partington) .

CaNADA. Henry Baskerville lived here
(The Hound) .

CANDAHAR. India. W reached here in
safety and joined the Fifth
Northumberland Fusiliers
(Study in Scarlet) .

Cannon STreeT. Neville St. Clair re-
turned from here, by the 5:14,
bound for his home in Kent
(Twisted Lip).

CanTerRBURY. The Continental Ex-
press stops here (Final Prob-
lem).

CANTLEMERE, LorD. He doubted H’s
ability and disliked H’s pro-
fession, and so H, while he re-
covered the stolen jewel,
played a practical joke on him
(Mazanin Stone) .

Care Town. South Africa. Ivy Doug-
las cabled Cecil Barker from
here that John Douglas was
lost overboard on the “Pal-
myra” (Valley of Fear). James
Dodd had a letter from God-
frey Emsworth from here
(Blanched Soldier). Cf. Af-
rica, West Africa.

CarE VErDEs. They were about 500
miles north of this area when
Armitage and Evans were cut
adrift (Gloria Scott).

CApPITAL & CouNnTIEs Bank. Neville
St. Clair banked here
(Twisted Lip). H used their
Oxford Street branch (Priory
School). Cadogan West used
their Woolwich branch
(Bruce-Partington) .



CARRUTHERS, COLONEL

CarsonARL The Red Circle, of which
Black Gorgiano was a leader,
was affiliated with this society
(Red Circle). Cf. Vehmge-
richt.

CARDBOARD BOX, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Three sis-
ters: Susan, Sarah, and Mary.
Mary marries Jim Browner.
Jilted Sarah causes the murder
of Mary and Alec Fairbaimn by
Jim Browner. (Note that para-
graphs 3 to 19 of this case are
identical with the same para-
graphs of the Resident Pa-
tient.)

CARDBOARD BOXES. Mary Morstan re-
ceived at least one fine pearl
in such a receptacle (Sign of
Four), and a pair of human
ears of assorted sex came in
one to Susan Cushing (Card-
board Box) .

*CArDINAL Tosca. His sudden death
in 1895 was investigated by
H at the express desire of the
Pope. W has not given us this
case (Black Peter).

*CARERE, MLLE. Her step-mother,
Mme. Montpensier, was ac-
cused of murdering Mlle.
Car¢re. H successfully de-
fended Mme. Montpensier,
and her step-daughter was lo-
cated living in New York and
married. W has not seen fit to
report this case (The Hound) .

CARFAX, LADY FRANCES, THE
DISAPPEARANCE OF. Only
direct survivor of the late Earl
of Rufton. She was last heard
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of from the Hotel National in
Lausanne. She gave her maid,
Marie Devine, £50 for a wed-
ding gift and went to London
with the Shlessingers, who al-
most murdered her. H and W
saved her at the last possible
moment (Lady Frances Car-
fax) .

CArINA. She was singing at Albert
Hall, and H thought that W
and he had time to dress, dine
and “enjoy” (Retired Colour-
man) .

CarLETON CLUB. From here Sir James
Damery wrote H for an ap-

pointment (IUustrious Cli-
ent).
CarrLo. Mastiff that guarded the

grounds of the Copper Beeches
at night (Copper Beeches).

CArro. Spaniel. Hind quarters par-
tially paralysed. The vet
thought it was spinal meningi-
tis, but H knew it was a case
of experimental South Ameri-
can poisoning (Vampire).

CarrToN. The Diogenes Club was
nearby (Greek Interpreter).

CARLTON TERRACGE. Presumably the
German legation in London
was located here (Last Bow).

CarLYLE. Read by H and W (Sign of
Four) .

CArrITON’s. W said such a house name
would be found about Lamber-
ley (Vampire).

*CARRUTHERS, COLONEL. H was in-
volved in the case of this fel-
low, and his evidence served
to jail the Colonel. H, bored,



CARRUTHERS, MR.

was glad to have a new case to
work on. W has not yet re-
ported this case (Wisteria
Lodge) .

CARRUTHERS, MR. Home from Africa
with Mr. Woodley, with news
about Violet Smith’s uncle.
He proposed marriage to Vio-
let and was rejected. Later
shot Woodley, after latter il-
legally married Violet. Wood-
ley lived, and Carruthers got
off with a light sentence (Soli-
tary Cyclist) .

CarstaIrs. Miss Edith Woodley lived
here (Empty House) .
CARTWRIGHT. Young messenger in
employ of Wilson, g.v. When
H came to Baskerville Hall
area, he brought Cartwright
to add a set of acute young
senses and to carry food and

messages (The Hound).

CARTWRIGHT. One of the Worthing-
don Bank gang, q.v. Another
member of the gang, Sutton
(alias Mr. Blessington), in-
formed on his fellow-crimi-
nals, and on his evidence Cart-
wright was hanged (Resident

Patient) .

CAry, CapTtaiN PETER. Born 1845.
Successful seal and whale
fisher., Commanded steam

sealer “Sea Unicorn” (1883)
of Dundee. Retired 1884, to
Woodlan’s Lee, near Forest
Row, Sussex. Puritan, inter-
mittent drunkard, he had been
feared by his crews. He was
harpooned to his wall, and on
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H’s investigation, Patrick
Cairns was arrested (Black
Peter) .

CAsTALOTTE & ZAMBA. New York
firm of fruit importers (Red
Circle) .

CASTALOTTE, TrTO. Senior partner of
Castalotte & Zamba. Gennaro
Lucca saved him from Bowery
ruffians and, later, refused to
molest him at behest of the
Red Circle (Red Circle).

CATARACT KNIFE. Used by John
Straker in attempt to lame the
favorite (Silver Blaze).

CatHoLic. See Roman Catholic.

CAatuLLus. One of the books offered
for sale to W by a disguised H
(Empty House).

CAuLFIELD GarDENs. Kensington.
Hugo Oberstein lived at No.
13. The backstair windows
open on the Underground
line, and the trains stop at
Gloucester Road  Station
(Bruce-Partington) .

CaunTtEeR. Elder boy in room where
Lord Saltire slept (Priory
School) .

CavenpisH, THE. A card club to
which Ronald Adair belonged
(Empty House).

CAVENDISH SQUARE. Dr. Trevelyan
established in area, on Brook
Street, by Mr. Blessington
(Resident Patient). H and W
left the cab in this area
(Empty House).

CAwNPORE. Indian city involved in
Great Mutiny (Sign of Four).

CepARs, THE. Home of Mr. and Mrs.



CHARLINGTON HALL

Neville St. Clair, near Lee, in
Kent (Twisted Lip).

CENTRAL AMERICA. Don Murillo
was a terror here (Wisteria
Lodge) .

CENTRAL PRESs SynpicaTe. The un-
fortunate Mr. Harker was in
its employ (Six Napoleons).

CEYLON, BuppHisM oF. As for Mira-
cle Plays.

CHALDEAN LANGUAGE. H thought that
it might be akin to certain
Cornish linguistic roots (Dev-
il’s Foot).

Cuanpos, SR CHARLES. Ames, the
John Douglas’ butler, had
been with Sir Charles for ten
years (Valley of Fear).

CHANNEL. H’s place in Sussex had a
view of this water (Lion’s
Mane) .

CHARING Cross. Mr. and Mrs. Norton
left on the 5:15 for the Conti-
nent (Scandal in Bohemia).
H thought he should be kicked
all the way from The Cedars
to Charing Cross (Twisted
Lip) . Mr. Melas and Mr. Lati-
mer en route to Kensington
(Greek Interpreter). Trains
to Chatham, in Kent, from
here (Pince-Nez). H and W
en route to Kent (A4bbey
Grange) . The warning mes-
sage to Sir Henry Baskerville
was postmarked Charing Cross
post office (The Hound).
Scott Eccles wired H from this
post office (Wisteria Lodge).
W had the bad news between
here and the Grand Hotel
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(Illustrious Client) . Bank of
Cox and Co., in which W keeps
dispatch-box of case records,
is here (Thor Bridge).

CHARING Cross HospiTaL. Friends
here presented a walking-
stick to James Mortimer on
the occasion of his marriage
(The Hound). H is brought
here when he is attacked near
the Cafe Royal on Regent
Street (Illustrious Client).

CHARING Cross HOTEL. Message from
Colonel Walter to Hugo Ober-
stein (in reality dictated by
H) named this hotel as the
meeting place, and Oberstein
was captured (Bruce-Parting-
ton) .

CHARLES AUGUSTUS MILVER-
TON, ADVENTURE OF.
Murder of a blackmailer who
lived at Appledore Towers.

CHARLES STREET. Clerks at the For-
eign Office used this as a short
cut (Naval Treaty).

CHARLES THE FirsT. Coins of this
king were in the Hurlstone
Manor House chest (Mus-
grave Ritual).

CHARLES THE SECOND. Sir Ralph Mus-
grave was his right-hand man
(Musgrave Ritual).

CHARLINGTON. Violet Smith cycled
between Charlington Heath
and Charlington Hall woods.
It was a lonely stretch of road
(Solitary Cyclist).

CHARLINGTON HALL. Near Farnham.
Rented by the odious Wil-



CHARPENTIER, ALICE

liamson, the unfrocked clergy-
man (Solitary Cyclist).

CHARPENTIER, ALICE. Daughter of
Madame Charpentier and sis-
ter of Sub-lieutenant Arthur.
E. ]J. Drebber aroused Arthur
to anger by embracing Alice
and asking her to “fly with
him” in her mother’s presence.
Alice was of age (Study in
Scarlet) .

CHARPENTIER, ARTHUR. Sub-lieuten-
ant in Her Majesty’s Navy. Ar-
rested by Inspector Gregson
for murder of E. J. Drebber.
Arthur had previously at-
tacked Drebber for making
improper advances to his sister
Alice (Study in Scarlet).

CHARPENTIER, MADAME. Ran board-
ing house in Camberwell,
where E. ]J. Drebber lodged
(Study in Scarlet) .

CHARYBDIS. See Scylla.

CuHatHAM. In Kent, seven miles
from Yoxley Old Place (Pince-
Nez) .

CHEESEMANS, LAMBERLEY. Sussex.
Home of the Robert Fergu-
sons, part of the house dating
from 1670 (Vampire).

CHEQUERS. Inn in Camford that, ac-
cording to H, serves above-
average port (Creeping Man).

CHEQUERS. Inn in Lamberley, where
H and W left their bags and
drove to the home of Robert
Ferguson (Vampire).

CHESTERFIELD. Reuben Hayes was ar-
rested here for murder of
Heidegger, the German Mas-
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ter (Priory School). Neville
St. Clair’s father was a school-
master here (Twisted Lip).

CHESTERFIELD HiGH RoAp. Near
Priory School (Priory School) .

CHESTERTON. H  searched here
(Three-Quarter) .

Caiantr. T. Sholto offered Mary
Morstan a glass of it. Mary re-
fused (Sign of Four).

CHicAaco, ILLinois. Cecil Barker had
heard John Douglas talk of
this city (Valley of Fear). H
began his réle of Altamont
here (Last Bow). “A. H. Gar-
rideb” made money in the
wheat pit here (Garridebs).
Abe Slaney was the ‘“most
dangerous crook in Chicago,”
according to Wilson Hargrave
(Dancing Men).

CHILTERN GRANGE. Near Farnham.
Mr. Carruthers persuaded Vio-
let Smith to teach music to
his daughter here (Solitary
Cyclist) .

CHINA. Mr. Jabez Wilson had a fish
tatooed above his right wrist
here (Red-headed League).
The blue carbuncle was found
on the banks of the Amoy
River here (Blue Carbuncle).

CHIN CHINA CoASTER. Jack Prender-
gast called the ship by this
name (Gloria Scott).

CHINESE POTTERY. Baron Gruner was
a recognized authority on the
subject, and he doubted
Dr. Hill Barton’s (alias of W)
bona fides (Illustrious Client) .

CHINESE SAILORS. W repeated his mes-



CLAY, Jonn

sage to Culverton Smith that
H had contracted an Eastern
disease while working on a
case with certain Chinese sail-
ors at Rotherhithe (Dying De-
tective) .

CHISELHURST STATION. H and W en
route to home of Sir Eustace
Brackenstall (4bbey Grange).

CHiswick. Josiah Brown lived in
Laburnum Vale (Six Napo-

leons) .
ChopPIN. H admired the way in which
Norman Neruda played a

piece by this musician (Study
in Scarlet) .

CHrisTIE's. If pressed for a price, W
was to suggest that this firm
could give a valuation of the
blue Ming saucer (Illustrious

Client)y. Nathan Garrideb
sometimes went here (Garri-
debs) .

CHRrRONICLE. London newspaper. Cf.
Morning Chronicle.

CHURCH OF ST. MonIca. In Edgware
Road, where Irene Adler mar-
ried Godfrey Norton (Scandal
in Bohemia) .

CaurcH Row. H and W drove this
far (Milverton).

CHURCH STREET. Stepney. Gelder &

Co. was here (Six Napoleons) .

Cf. Scotland Yard. H gave W

a message for Youghal of this

organization (Mazarin Stone).

People in this organization

were happy to obtain the

Rodger Prescott forgery outfit

(Garridebs) .

CIPHER. See cryptology.

C.I.D.
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City AND SusBURBAN Bank. Coburg
branch on the Strand (Red-
headed League).

Crry, THE. Financial section of Lon-
don. On their way to hear Sara-
sate play, H and W went
through here and stopped to
study Jabez Wilson’s pawn-
shop in Saxe-Coburg Square
(Red-headed League) .

Civi. WarR. W was introspective, and
H broke into his stream of
thought (Resident Patient).

CraPHAM Junction. H, W, and Colo-
nel Ross en route to London
(Silver Blaze). Mr. Melas
caught the last train from here
to Victoria (Greek Inter-
preter). H and W en route
from Woking to London
(Naval Treaty).

CcLARET. H has a glass with some bis-
cuits at case’s end: “I never
needed it more” (Dying De-
tective) .

CrarIDGE'S HoteL. London. After
taking Von Bork to the police,
H was to shave off his goatee
and join Martha and others
here (Last Bow). ]. Neil Gib-
son wrote from here to H
(Thor Bridge).

CrAY, JoHN. Alias of William Morris,
alias of Vincent Spaulding,
q.v. Grandson of a royal duke,
with schooling at Eton and
Oxford, he was, according to
H, the fourth smartest man in
London. He was captured by
H while breaking into a bank
vault (Red-headed League).



CLAYTON, JOHN

CravToN, JoHN. Cabby, No. 2704,
who picked up a fare who
claimed to be Sherlock Holmes
(The Hound) .

CLerT ToOR. Selden, escaped convict,
signaled from hereabouts to
Baskerville Hall (The
Hound) .

CLEVELAND, OHI10. Home of Enoch J.

Drebber. A telegram from

here—“J. H. is in Europe”—

was found in a pocket of the
murdered Stangerson by Les-
trade. H wired Cleveland’s
chief of police concerning

Drebber (Study in Scarlet).

Anglo-Indian; Bagatelle; Bald-

win; Carleton; Cavendish;

Diogenes; Nonpareil; Tanker-

ville.

CLUBS.

COAL-TAR DERIVATIVES. Research on
these was done by H at the
Montpellier Laboratory in
this city in France (Empty
House) .

Joun. Groom who drove

Charles McCarthy to Ross

(Boscombe) .

COBURG BRANCH OF THE CITY & SUB-
URBAN Bank. John Clay and
accomplice were foiled in
their attempt to steal £30,000
in French gold from a vault by
H (Red-headed League) .

COBURG SQUARE. Jabez Wilson had a
pawnshop here (Red-headed
League) .

cocAINE. H gave himself an injection
of a 7% solution, and W re-
monstrated (Sign of Four).

CoBs,
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An occasional dose was used
(Yellow Face).

CoLp HareorR LANE. Four-wheeler
carrying H, W, and Mary
Morstan en route to T. Sholto
(Sign of Four).

CoLpsTREAM GuArDs. Mr. Tangey,
the commissionaire, formerly
was of this regiment (Naval
Treaty) .

CoLiN, Sr. Liberated Lucknow in
the Indian Mutiny (Sign of
Four).

CoLLEGE OF ST. Luke’s. 1895. H and
W in residence at unnamed
“great university” to allow H
to pursue library research in
early English charters. Con-
sulted by Hilton Soames, tutor
and lecturer of this college
(Three Students) .

CoLonNA, PriNCE oF. The black pearl
of the Borgias disappeared
from his bedroom at the
Dacre Hotel (Six Napoleons) .

COLONNA, PrINCESS OF. She was much
upset by the disappearance of
the black pearl of the Borgias.
She had a maid, Lucretia
Venucci (Six Napoleons).

“COME AT ONCE IF CONVENIENT—IF
INCONVENIENT COME ALL THE
SAME.” Wire from H to W,
opening case of Professor Pres-
bury (Creeping Man).

CoMmMERCIAL Roap. Dorak, a Bo-
hemian, kept a general store
here, according to Mercer
(Creeping Man).

COMPOSITORS, HANDS OF. See Holmes.

Conpulr STREET. Listed in H’s index



CORNELIUS, MR.

as address of Colonel Moran
(Empty House).

*CoNK-SINGLETON FORGERY CASE. As
Lestrade left their quarters,
H asked W to put the black
pearl in the safe and take out
the papers on this case. So far,
the case is unrecorded (Six
Napoleons) .

ConTINENT. H and W go away for a
“few days” (Final Problem).

ConTINENTAL ExPrESs. H and W were
to meet in the second first-class
carriage from the front, leav-
ing Victoria station for France
(Final Problem).

Continental Gazetteer. Used by H
(Scandal in Bohemia) .
CONTINENTAL WIRE SERVICE. H re-
minded W that he could get
advice by this service (Lady

Frances Carfax) .

“cooEE.” A usual call between
Charles and James McCarthy,
and probably between Charles
McCarthy and John Turner
(Boscombe) .

Cook. Constable that heard John
Openshaw call for help (Five
Orange Pips) .

Coox’s. Their local office at Lausanne
told W that Lady Frances had
gone to Baden (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

CooMmBE TRACEY. L. L.’s letter to Sir
Charles Baskerville was from
this village (The Hound).

CoPENHAGEN. E. ]. Drebber and
J. Stangerson had their lug-
gage labeled from this city
(Study in Scarlet).
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CorpEr BEECHES. Residence of Jephro
Rucastle, near Winchester, in
Hampshire (Copper Beeches) .

COPPER BEECHES, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. The
Jephro Rucastles overpay Vio-
let Hunter as governess but de-
sire that she cut her hair.
Jephro is nearly killed by his
own dog, Carlo.

CoprTicC MONASTERIES. Professor Cor-
am’s treatise was on these es-
tablishments in Syria and
Egypt (Pince-Nez).

*Cortic PaTRIARCHS. H was involved
in the case designated by this
name, and he asked W to start
an investigation as to the
whereabouts of Dr. Ernest and
Mrs. Amberley (Retired Col-
ourman) .

CoraM, ProrEssor. Lived at Yoxley
Old Place, near Chatham, in
Kent. An invalid, presumably,
writing a book and employing
Willoughby Smith as his secre-
tary. Coram was an alias for
Sergius. His Russian wife,
Anna, killed Willoughby
Smith in trying to get the
documents that would free her
true love, Alexis, in Siberia. H
was at the top of his form in
this case (Pince-Nez).

CORK-CUTTERS, HANDS OF. See Holmes.

CorneLIus, MR. He received large
checks from Mr. Oldacre. H
felt that Cornelius and Oldacre
were the same person (Nor-
wood Builder) .



CORNISH HORROR

CORNISH HORROR. See Adventure of
the Devil’s Foot.

CorNISH LANGUAGE. H felt that this
might be akin to Chaldean
and largely derived from
Phoenician tin traders (Devil’s
Foot).

CornwALL. As for Scotland (Red-
headed League). Scene of ac-
tion for Adventure of the
Devil’s Foot. Cf. Dawson &
Neligan (Black Peter).

CoroT. A genuine painting of his
hung at T. Sholto’s home
(Sign of Four).

CORPORATION STREET. Temporary of-
fices of the Franco-Midland
Company were at 126B, in
Birmingham  (Stock-broker’s
Clerk).

Costa RicA. Entry in J. H. Neligan’s
notebook (Black Peter) . Beryl
Garcia of this country married
Jack  Baskerville, son of
Rodger (The Hound).

COUNTRY OF THE SAINTS. Background
for Drebber, Stangerson, and
Hope. Cf. Ferrier; also Hope
(Study in Scarlet) .

CovENT GARDEN. It was a “Wagner
Night” here, and if H and W
hurried, they might be in time
for the second act (Red Cir-
cle).

CoVENT GARDEN MARKET. Mr. Breck-
inridge had a large stall here
and sold Mr. Windigate of the
Alpha Inn some geese (Blue
Carbuncle) .

CovenTtrY. Midland Electrical Com-

pany was located here (Soli-
tary Cyclist) .

CovENTRY, SERGEANT. Of the Win-
chester police, and he was
happy to have H inquire
rather than Scotland Yard. He
hopes to get some credit (Tkor
Bridge) .

Cox & Co. Bank. Charing Cross. In a
vault in this bank is a bat-
tered tin dispatch-box that be-
longs to W. It is crammed
with data on H’s cases, includ-
ing the cutter “Alicia,” Isa-
dora Persano, and James Phil-
limore (Thor Bridge) .
Presumably, this dispatch-box
also held the records about
Professor Presbury, but these
data have been published
(Creeping Man) .

CoxoN & WoopHOUSE. Stock-brokers,
in Draper’s Gardens (Stock-
broker’s Clerk).

C.P.R. H’s suggestion was Canadian
Pacific Railway (Black Peter) .

CrRANE WATER. Home of the Armi-
tages (Speckled Band).

CrAVEN STREET. The Mexborough
Private Hotel was here (The
Hound).

CrepiT Lyonnals. In Montpellier.
Marie Devine cashed the last
check, for £50, of her em-
ployer, Lady Frances (Lady
Frances Carfax). H felt that
Count Sylvius had forged a
check here in 1892, but the
Count said he was innocent
(Mazarin Stone) .

CREEPING MAN, ADVEN-



CRIMINALS

TURE OF THE. Early in
September, 1903. Professor
Presbury took primate prepa-
rations, behaved like an ape,
and his devoted wolfhound,
Roy, almost killed him. H in-
tervened.

CREMONA. Violins (Study in Scarlet) .

CrenDALL. Village three miles from
Shoscombe Old Place (Shos-
combe) .

CrReEWE. Mrs. Roylott was killed in a
railway accident near here
(Speckled Band) .

CriMEAN WAar. Convict ships were
pressed into service as troop
transports in the Black Sea
(Gloria Scott). The Royal
Munsters served (Crooked
Man). Mortimer, Professor
Coram’s gardener, was an “old
Crimean man” (Pince-Nez).
Admiral Green was in charge
of operations in the Sea of
Azov (Lady Frances Carfax).

CrimiNaLs. This category is used
loosely. It is not restricted to
those people who have been
apprehended in some crime,
duly sentenced, and sent to
prison or otherwise retired
from action. Rather it lists
those who have committed a
crime or crimes. There is prob-
ably injustice in this listing.
For example, the crime of Mr.
Windibank seems greater than
that of, say, Jefferson Hope.
Such matters are controversial.

Adams
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Akbar, Dost (one of the Four)

Baldwin, Ted

Baskerville, Jack (alias Mr. Van-
deleur, alias Jack Stapleton)

Beddington No. 1 (alias Arthur
Pinner, alias Harry Pinner)

Beddington No. 2 (brother of
No. 1, impersonator of Hall
Pycroft)

Beppo

Biddle (Worthingdon Bank
gang)

Brooks

Browner, Jim

Cairns, Patrick

Calhoun, Captain James

Carruthers

Carruthers, Colonel

Cartwright (Worthingdon Bank
gang)

Clay, John (alias William Mor-
ris, alias Vincent Spaulding)

Cunningham

Dixie, Steve (alias Black Steve of
Spencer-John gang)

Dowson, Baron

Evans, “Killer” (alias James
Winter, alias Moorecroft, alias
John Garrideb)

Ferguson, Jack

Ferguson, Mr.

Gorgiano, Giuseppe (infamous
title: Black Gorgiano)

Gruner, Baron Adelbert

Hayes, Reuben

Hayward (Worthingdon Bank
gang)

Hope, Jefferson

Howells, Rachel

Hudson

Huret
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Kemp, Wilson

Khan, Abdullah (one of the
Four)

Latimer, Harold

Leonardo

Lopez (alias Lucas, alias Rulli)

Mathews

McGinty, “Bodymaster”

Merridew

Merton, Sam

Milverton, Charles Augustus

Moffat (Worthingdon Bank
gang)

Moran, Colonel Sebastian (Mori-
arty organization)

Morgan

Moriarty, Professor (chief of the
organization)

Murillo, Don Juan (alias Mr.
Henderson, alias Marquess de
Montalva)

Neligan, Senior

Oldacre, Jonas

Parker

Peace, Charlie

Peters, Henry (also “Holy” Pe-
ters, alias Dr. Shlessinger)

Pinner, Arthur (see Beddington
No. 1)

Pinner, Harry (see Beddington
No. 1)

Porlock, Fred (Moriarty organi-
zation)

Prescott, Rodger (alias Wal-
dron)

Pritchard, Dr.

Randalls, the (father and two
sons, i.e., the Lewisham gang)

Ronder, Eugenie

Ross, Duncan (“Archie”)

Selden

Sergius (alias Professor Coram)

Sholto, Major John

Singh, Mahomet (one of the
Four)

Slaney, Abe

Small, Jonathan (one of the
Four)

Smith, Culverton

Stark, Colonel Lysander

Staunton, Arthur H.

Staunton, Henry

Sterndale, Dr. Leon

Stevens, Bert

Stockdale, Barney (Spencer-John
gang)

Straker, John (alias William
Derbyshire)

Sutton (alias Blessington of the
Worthingdon Bank gang)

Sylvius, Count Negretto

Tonga

Tregennis, Mortimer

Upwood, Colonel

Van Seddar

Venucci, Pietro

Wainwright

Walter, Colonel Valentine

Wild, Jonathan

Wilder, James

Williamson

Wilson

Windibank, James (alias Hosmer
Angel)

Winter, Kitty

Woodhouse

Woodley, Jack

CRITERION BArR. W renews his ac-

quaintance with young Stam-
ford here (Study in Scarlet) .

CROCKER, CAPTAIN. In command of

the “Bass Rock” of the Ade-



CUSHING, MARY

laide-Southampton Line. He
came to H and told all (4bbey
Grange) .

CrockFoRrD, J. C. Elman, M.A,, vicar
of Little Purlington in Essex,
was in this reference work (Re-
tired Colourman) .

CROOKED MAN, THE. A few
months after W married Mary
Morstan, H and W were called
to Aldershot to look into the
death of Colonel Barclay.

CrooksBURY HILL. It was about here
that Violet Smith first noted
the cyclist that shadowed her
(Solitary Cyclist) .

*CrosBY. A banker who died terribly
in 1894. It seems reasonably
clear that his death was con-
nected with the repulsive red
leech (Pince-Nez).

CrosBy, MRr. A banker, circa 1894
(Pince-Nez) .

Cross STREET. In Croydon. Miss Susan,
not Miss Sarah, Cushing lived
here (Cardboard Box).

CrOWDER, WiLLIAM. Gamekeeper for
John Turner (Boscombe).

Crown INN. In Surrey. Helen Stoner
got a dog-cart and drove to
Leatherhead, en route to con-
sult H. Hand W got a bedroom
and sitting room here (Speck-
led Band).

Croypon. See Cross Street.

CRYPTOLOGY. See Adventure of the
Dancing Men; Valley of Fear;
Adventure of the Red Circle.

CryYSTAL PALACE. Mr. Grant Munro
took an hour’s walk in the
grounds here (Yellow Face).
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Cusitt, HiLToN. His wife, née Elsie
Pattrick, was worried by the
queer messages. Abe Slaney
killed Mr. Hilton and was ar-
rested by Inspector Martin
(Dancing Men).

CumMINGs, JovcE. He was barrister
for the defence of Grace Dun-
bar (Thor Bridge).

CunaArD LINE. The “Ruritania” was
one of its ships (Illustrious
Client) .

CunNINGHAM, MR. His place was bur-
gled, and William, the coach-
man, was shot. Cunningham
was a J.P. in this part of Surrey,
near Reigate. He was impa-
tient with H until he was
charged with the murder (Rei-
gate Puzle) .

CunNINGHAM, ALEC. Son of Mr. Cun-
ningham noted. Alec drew a re-
volver on H and was arrested
for the murder of William Kir-
wan (Reigate Puzzle).

CurzoN SQUARE. Mr. Henderson and
Mr. Lucas escaped pursuit by
entering a lodging-house on
Edmonton Street and going out
the back gate into this square,
and eventually to Madrid
(Wisteria Lodge) .

CurzoN STREET. Sam Brewer, money-
lender, had his place here
(Shoscombe) .

CusAck, CATHERINE. Maid to Countess
Morcar (Blue Carbuncle).

CusHING, MaARY. Sister of Susan and
Sarah. Married Mr. Browner in
Liverpool. Killed by Jim
Browner later, when, at insti-



CUSHING, SARAH

gation of jilted Sarah, Mary be-
came friendly with Alec Fair-
bairn (Cardboard Box).

CuUsHING, SARAH. Sister of Mary and
Susan. Mr. Browner dropped
Sarah and married Mary. She
could not get along with Susan
and so moved to New Street,
Wallington. Sarah was respon-
sible for Mary’s and Alec Fair-
bairn’s intimacy after Mary’s
marriage to Jim Browner and
thus for the death of Mary and
Alec at hands of Jim Browner
(Cardboard Box) .

CusHING, Susan. Eldest sister, hence
Miss Cushing, and thereby the
package of ears sent by Jim
Browner and meant for Sarah
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was received by Susan after
Sarah had moved (Cardboard
Box) .

Cuvier, Baron. H compared his case
reconstructions to those of the
palaeontologist’s  reconstruc-
tions of fossils (Sign of Four).

Cyanea capillata. A giant sea medusa,
described in J. G. Wood’s Out
of Doors and identified by H as
the killer of McPherson and
his dog (Lion’s Mane).

Cyclopides. An insect that flew over
path and was pursued by Jack
Stapleton—thereby =~ making
possible a meeting of W with
Jack’s sister, Beryl. She mistook
W for Sir Henry Baskerville
(The Hound).
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Dacre HoteL. The black pearl disap-
peared from Prince of Colon-
na’s bedroom here (Six Na-

poleons) .
Daily Gazette. H and W found the
messages from “G” in the

Agony Column. Later H found
that the letter “G” stood for
Gennaro Lucca (Red Circle) .

News. London newspaper in

which Mycroft Holmes inserted

an advertisement for the
whereabouts of Paul Kratides
and Sophy (Greek Inter-

preter) .

Daily Telegraph. London newspaper
(Study in Scarlet; Copper
Beeches; Norwood Builder) .
Carried account of the double
life of Eduardo Lucas (Second
Stain) . Oberstein used its
Agony Column to get the se-
cret documents (Bruce-Par-
tington) .

D’ALBERT, COUNTESs. Milverton was
expecting her servant to call

Daily

with her mistress’ letters that
could be used for blackmail.
Instead he received another
caller (Milverton).

DaMERY, SIR JamEs. (Colonel Dam-
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ery) . Consulted H in the case
of Violet de Merville’s infatua-
tion for Baron Gruner (Illus-
trious Client).

DANCING MEN, ADVENTURE
OF THE. H solves the death of
Hilton Cubitt and secures the
killer by cryptography.

“DANGLING PrussiaN, THE.” H warned
Von Bork that he should not
cry out en route to London,
since, if he did, his fate might
furnish this new signpost for an
English inn  (Last
Bow) .

DarJEELING. India. Henry Wood was
taken here by the rebels in the
Mutiny but escaped to the
Afghan country (Crooked
Man).

*DARLINGTON SUBSTITUTION SCANDAL.
H referred to this case and
compared it with Irene Adler’s
secret of concealment. So far
W has not seen fit to record the
case for the public (Scandal In
Bohemia) .

DarrMoor. H felt he would have to
travel here in connection with
the disappearance of the fa-
vorite for the Wessex Cup (Sil-

village



DARTMOOR PRISON

ver Blaze). James Mortimer
lived in hamlet of Grimpen on
the moor (The Hound).

DARTMOOR Prison. Jonathan Small
felt that he would end his days
here (Sign of Four).

DarwiN, CHARLES. H, excited by the
Neruda concert, tells W that
Darwin claims that “the power
of producing and appreciating
it [music] existed among the
human race long before the
power of speech arrived”
(Study in Scarlet) .

DARWINIAN THEORY. As for Vehmge-
richt. The Daily Telegraph
found this relevant to its ac-
count of E. J. Drebber’s murder
(Study in Scarlet) . Cf. Malthus

DAuBENSEE. Switzerland. W felt that
it was a melancholy place
(Final Problem) .

DavenPporT, J. He answered Mycroft
Holmes’s advertisement in the
Daily News (Greek Inter-
preter) .

“Davip.” Mrs. James Barclay was
heard to use this word in her
dispute with James Barclay, by
Jane Stewart, their housemaid.
H explained to W later that it
was a biblical reference to
Colonel Barclay’s betrayal. Cf.
Bible (Crooked Man) .

DaAvos PrLaTz. A fictitious lady winter-
ing here, and in advanced con-
sumption, had presumably
stopped at the Englischer Hof
en route to Lucerne. W was
told that she asked for an Eng-
lish physician, and he turned
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back to attend her, leaving H
alone (Final Problem).
DawsoN. Servant of Abel White, killed

in the Mutiny (Sign of Four).

Dawson. Stable-boy at Mapleton (Sil-
ver Blaze).

DAawsoN & NELIGAN. West country
bankers. Their failure for the
sum of £1,000,000 ruined half
the county families of Corn-
wall. Neligan disappeared after
the failure (Black Peter).

DAy’s Music HALL. In Birmingham.
Hall Pycroft was told to relax
here (Stock-broker’s Clerk).

“DEAR ME, MR. HOoLMES. DEAR ME!”
Note sent to H about two
months after John Douglas was
acquitted of killing Ted Bald-
win. H felt that it was from
Professor Moriarty to acquaint
him with the death of John
Douglas (Valley of Fear) .

DE BRINVILLIERS, MARCHIONESS. As for
Vehmgericht.

Decameron. See Boccaccio.

DE Carus, Huco. He built part of the
Birlstone Manor area during
the first crusade (Valley of
Fear) .

Deep DENE House. Jonas Oldacre
lived here in Lower Norwood
(Norwood Builder) .

De Jure inter Gentes. Published by
Philippe de Croy in Latin in
1642 at Li¢ge. Owner’s name
was Guliolmi Whyte. H bought
it second-hand (Study in Scar-
let) .

pELIRIUM. H, in one of his best per-
formances, fooled even W by
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his appearance and behavior
(Dying Detective) .

pE MEeRVILLE, GENERAL. Of Kyber
fame. His daughter, Violet,
was threatened, and Sir James
Damery asked for H’s help. The
General lived at 104 Berkeley
Square (Illustrious Client).

DE MERVILLE, VIOLET. She lived with
her father, General de Mer-
ville. g.v. H triumphed in her
cause (Illustrious Client) .

Dennis, ToM. Husband of Sally (née
Sawyer). They presumably
lived at 3, Mayfield Place,
Peckham (Study in Scarlet) .

DepTFORD REACH. As for pool.

DE QuiNcEY. W remembers that Isa
Whitney read this author—to
his disadvantage (Twisted
Lip).

DerBy. Mr. Hargrave was reported
from here (Valley of Fear).

DerBY, THE. Shoscombe Prince, a
promising colt, ran in this race.
He won and paid £80,000 to
his owner, Sir Robert Norbert-
son (Shoscombe).

“DERBYSHIRE, MRs.” H noted that she
had expensive tastes in gowns.
Her ostrich-feather trimming
was part of the secret financial
burden of John Straker (alias
William Derbyshire) (Silver
Blaze) .

DEeRrBYSHIRE, WILLIAM, Alias of John
Straker. He had a bill for an
expensive hat from the mil-
liner, Madame Lesurier, of
Bond Street (Silver Blaze).

DE Reszkes. H and W were to cele-

41

brate by a box for “Les Hugue-
nots” afteradinner at Marcini’s.
Presumably the De Reszkes
were in the cast of “Les Hu-
guenots” (The Hound).

DEsBoroucH. The second favorite for
the Wessex Cup. In Lord Back-
water’s Mapleton Stable, near
Tavistock (Silver Blaze).

DesmonD, JaAMmEs. An elderly clergy-
man in Westmoreland. If any-
thing happened to Sir Henry
Baskerville, James would in-
herit the estate of about £1,-
000,000 (The Hound).

DETECTIVES. See Police Forces.

DEVIL’S FOOT, ADVENTURE OF
THE. March, 1897. Action was
in Cornwall and, with permis-
sion of H, W told the case thir-
teen years later. Dr. Stern-
dale’s sample of Radix pedis
diaboli killed or drove insane
the four Tregennis siblings.
H solved the case of “‘the Cor-
nish horror” but did not inter-
vene.

DEvVINE. French sculptor who made a
much-copied, and  much-
smashed bust of Napoleon (Six
Napoleons) .

DEVINE, MARIE. Maid of Lady Frances
Carfax. Marie, engaged to one
of the head waiters at the Ho-
tel National in Lausanne, was
given a wedding gift of £50
when she left Lady Frances.
Marie went to 11 Rue de Tra-
jan, Montpellier (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

Devon County Chronicle. Carried a
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May 14, 1889, article on the
death of Sir Charles Basker-
ville (The Hound).

DEvonsHIRE. Setting of Silver Blaze.
Sir Charles Baskerville and
the family had lived near Dart-
moor (The Hound).

Devoy, Nancy. She married James
Barclay when he was a ser-
geant (Crooked Man) .

DIAMOND-GUTTERS, HANDS OF.
Holmes.

Diamonp HiLr. Outside Pretoria,
where, during Boer War, God-
frey Emsworth was shot
(Blanched Soldier) .

DieppE. H felt that he and W should
go to this city from Newhaven
(Final Problem) .

DincLE, THE. Home of Lord Har-
ringby (Wisteria Lodge) .

Diocenes CLus. Mycroft Holmes was
a member (Greek Interpreter
and Bruce-Partington) .

DISGUISES, OF HoLMEs. See Sherlock
Holmes, methods.

Dixie, STEVE. Negro bruiser, nick-
named Black Steve. Barney
Stockdale sent him to warm
H off the Three Gables case. H
was not frightened, but Steve
was (Three Gables) .

Dixon, Jeremy. Owner of Pompey
(Three-Quarter) .

Dixon, Mrs. Housekeeper for Mr. Car-
ruthers (Solitary Cyclist) .

DoBNEY, SusaN. Retired in Camber-
well. Old governess of Lady
Frances Carfax. For four years
Lady Frances had written Susan
every fortnight. When she had

See
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not heard for five weeks, Susan
consulted H (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

DOCTORS. See physicians.

Docrors’ Commons. H expected to
get helpful data here (Speck-
led Band).

Dobp, James M. Consulted H and was
mystified by H’s deductions.
James was a friend of Godfrey
Emsworth, had joined the Mid-
dlesex Corp in January, 1901,
for the Boer War. After the
war, James could not see his
friend. H intervened, and Sir
James Saunders found that
Godfrey did not have leprosy
(Blanched Soldier) .

poG. (1) W kept a bull pup before
going with H to 221B Baker
Street; H did not object, but
no more was heard of this dog
(Study in Scarlet).

(2) Of two pills collected
by Lestrade in Stangerson’s
hotel room, H gave a half of
each pill, dissolved in milk,
one at a time, to a long-ick
terrier that H’s and W’s land-
lady had asked W to “put out
of its pain.” The first was harm-
less, and the second was a
deadly poison (Study in Scar-
let) .

(3) H asked W to borrow
Toby from Sherman. Toby
was half spaniel and half
lurcher, and a good scent-
trailer. Toby, after a false
start, traced Jonathan Small
and the Andaman Islander to
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river's edge and was then re-
turned to Sherman (Sign of
Four) .

(4) Carlo, a mastiff,
guarded the grounds of the
Copper Beeches at night. W
shot it (Copper Beeches) .

(5) Inspector Gregory
asked H if there was any point
he wished to emphasize. H re-
plied that Gregory should di-
rect his attention “to the curi-
ous incident of the dog in the
night-time.” Gregory replied,
“The dog did nothing in the
night-time.” H responded,
“That was the curious inci-
dent” (Silver Blaze) .

(6) Victor Trevor’s bull ter-
rier bit H on the ankle (Gloria
Scott) .

(7) Cunningham had a dog,
but it was chained (Reigate
Puzzle) .

(8) Milverton had a watch-
dog. Agatha locked the dog up
at night when she became en-
gaged (Milverton).

(9) Dr. Armstrong’s coach-
man set a dog on H but was
discouraged by H’s stick
(Three-Quarter) .

(10) Pompey, with a drag-
hound’s passion for aniseed,
led H and W to Godfrey
Staunton (Three-Quarter) .

(11) James Mortimer had
a curly-haired spaniel. It disap-
peared, and later its skeleton
was found on the island in the
Grimpen Mire. The hound
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had probably devoured it
(The Hound).

(12) The hound probably
caused the death of Sir Charles
and almost killed Sir Henry
Baskerville. James Mortimer
thought he had seen what
looked like a black calf earlier,
and then he found footprints
a little way from Sir Charles’s
body—“Mr. Holmes, they
were the footprints of a gigan-
tic hound!” The prints be-
longed to Jack Stapleton’s dog,
which he painted with a phos-
phorescent compound. H shot
the monster. (The Hound).

(18) Carlo, a spaniel, had
been poisoned experimentally,
and H and W found that he
was partially paralysed (Vam-
pire) .

(14) H thought of writing
a monograph on the uses of
dogs in detective work (Creep-
ing Man) .

(15) Roy, Professor Pres-
bury’s devoted wolfhound,
tried to kill his master and
nearly did so. He was discov-
ered, not to have broken his
chain, but to have slipped his
collar, which had been made
originally for a thick-necked
Newfoundland (Creeping
Man) .

(16) Ian Murdoch once
threw Fitzroy McPherson’s
little dog through a plate-glass
window (Lion’s Mane).

(17) Fitzroy McPherson’s
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little dog, an Airedale, died
“at the very place” his master
had died. H was alerted and
promptly solved the case
(Lion’s Mane) .

(18) The Shoscombe span-
iels were famous (Shos-
combe) .

(19) Sir Robert Norbert-
son gave away Lady Falder’s fa-
vorite black spaniel, since,
after her death, she could not
be personated in the coach
while her dog was about
(Shoscombe) .

DoLorEs. Maid to Mrs. Robert Fergu-
son. Presumably Peruvian like
her mistress (Vampire).

Dotsky. In Odessa he was involved in
the forcible administration of
poison (Study in Scarlet) .

DoncAsTER. When the stand fell here,
Mr. Harker fell with it (Six
Napoleons) .

Don Juan. Brunton was said to be a bit
like him (Musgrave Ritual).

DonniTHORPE. In Norfolk, where the
Trevors lived (Gloria Scott).

Dorak, A. Bohemian who kept a large
general store on Commercial
Road. He corresponded with
Professor Presbury, and sent
special preparations to him
(Creeping Man).

DoraN, Aroysius. Wealthy American,
living in San Francisco. His
only daughter, Hatty, was to
marry Lord St. Simon, and he
took a house in London, at Lan-
caster Gate (Noble Bachelor).

DoraN, HatTy. Only daughter of

Aloysius. Married to Francis
Hay Moulton and Lord St.
Simon. H rescued her from
this  predicament  (Noble
Bachelor) .

Dorking, CoLoNEL. His engagement
to the Honourable Miss Miles
was broken two days before
the wedding (Milverton).

DoucLas, Ivy. Mrs. John Douglas. She
tried to help her husband to
represent the body of Ted
Baldwin as that of John Doug-
las. H foiled the scheme. On
the acquittal of her husband,
Ivy and he sailed for South Af-
rica on the “Palmyra,” but, en
route, her husband was “lost
overboard.” She cabled the
bad news to Cecil Barker (Val-
ley of Fear).

DoucLas, JoHN. Presumably ‘“mur-
dered” at his home, Birlstone
Manor House in Sussex. Later
H flushed John from a hiding
place in the old house and
identified the body as that of
Ted Baldwin. On acquittal of
John, H urged John and Ivy to
leave England. When Cecil
Barker had the news from Ivy
that John was “lost overboard,”
H felt that it was the work of
Professor Moriarty (Valley
of Fear).

DovErcoUrT, EARL oF. The intolerant
fiancé of Lady Eva Blackwell
(Milverton) .

DownING, CONSTABLE. Assisted in ar-
rest of huge mulatto seen and
chased earlier by Constable
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Walters. Downing was bitten
by the savage (Wisteria
Lodge) .

DownNinGg STREET. Lord Holdhurst
had chambers here (Naval
Treaty) .

Downs. As for Gravesend (Sign of
Four) . H retired to a farm near
Eastbourne on Sussex Downs
(Preface to His Last Bow) .

*Dowson, BaroN. H was instrumental
in his being hanged (Mazarin

Stone) .
DrAPER’S GARDEN. Firm of Coxon &
Woodhouse  here  (Stock-

broker’s Clerk) .

DrEeBBER, ENocH J. From Cleveland,
Ohio. He was dead at No. 3
Lauriston Gardens. In London
he had stayed at Madame
Charpentier’s Boarding Estab-
lishment, Torquay Terrace,
Camberwell (reported by the
London Standard). He sug-
gested that Alice, the land-
lady’s daughter, “fly with him”
and was attacked by her
brother, Arthur. Drebber took
a cab to escape Arthur Char-
pentier (Study in Scarlet).

DusLIN. Browner’s ship stopped at
this port (Cardboard Box).

DuBuGcuUE, MonsiEurR. Of the Paris
police. He was on the wrong
track in the case of the Second
Stain, q.v. (Naval Treaty).

DunsAR, GRACE. Governess of the two
J. Neil Gibson children. It
looked as though she had mur-
dered Mrs. Gibson, but H
demonstrated that the latter

had committed suicide and ar-
ranged the evidence because
she was jealous of Grace
(Thor Bridge).

Duncan STreeT. London. Cf. Sawyer.

*DunpAs SEPARATION Cask. H was en-
gaged in clearing up some
points in the matter (Case of
Identity) .

DunpEE. Letter to Joseph Openshaw
came from here January 4,
1885 (Five Orange Pips) . The
“Sea Unicorn,” a sealer under
command of Captain Cary,
was from here (Black Peter).

Dunror. Bicycle tire identified by H
from the tracks (Priory
School) .

DupiN. H thought of him as a “very
inferior fellow” (Study in
Scarlet) .

Duranpo, Victor. The San Pedro
minister to London. He was
murdered by the dictator, Don
Juan Murillo, in San Pedro
(Wisteria Lodge) .

DYING DETECTIVE, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. 1889. Action
takes place in second year of
Watson’s marriage. By malin-
gering, H got W to persuade
Culverton Smith to come and
then kept W in the room as an
unseen witness to Smith’s con-
fession of the murder of Victor
Savage, his nephew. Inspector
Morton makes the arrest.

Dynamics of an Asteroid. Abstruse
mathematical paper written
by Professor Moriarty (Valley
of Fear).
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EacLe ComMERcIAL Hoter. Tun-
bridge Wells. A Mr. Hargrave,
stopping here, owned a Rudge-
Whitworth bicycle (Valley of
Fear) .

EAR. H has published two monographs
on ears in the Anthropological
Journal. Browner sent an ear
of Mary Cushing and an ear of
Alec Fairbairn to Sarah Cush-
ing, but they went to Susan
Cushing by mistake (Card-
board Box) . H wired W for a
description of the left ear of
Dr. Shlessinger, a request
which W saw fit to disregard
(Lady Frances Carfax).

EasTt ANGLIA. Scene of action of Ad-
venture of the Dancing Men.

East ENnp. London. Cf. Wilson, the
canary-trainer (Black Peter).

EAsTERN RarLway. South Africa, serv-
ing Pretoria. Its tracks were
near Diamond Hill and Buf-
felsspruit (Blanched Soldier) .

East Ham. Mr. Hargrave was re-
ported from here, as well
(Valley of Fear).

East Ruston. Village in Norfolk
(Dancing Men) .

Echo. As for Globe (Blue Carbun-
cle).
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EckerMANN. Author of Voodooism
and the Negroid Religions
which H read with purpose
(Wisteria Lodge) .

EpcwAre Roap. The Church of St.
Monica was here (Scandal in
Bohemia) . Little Ryder Street
was a small offshoot (Garri-
debs) .

EpmonTON STREET. Mr. Henderson
and his secretary, Mr. Lucas,
escaped from a back entrance
of a lodging-house here into
Curzon Square (Wisteria
Lodge) .

EpMmunps. A Berkshire constable who
interviewed Mrs. Ronder and,
still puzzled, consulted H.
Later this officer was sent to Al-
lahabad (Veiled Lodger) .

EpwArps, Birpy. Alias John Douglas,
q.v. (Valley of Fear) .

EGrIiA. A German-speaking section of
Bohemia (Scandal in Bohe-
mia) .

Ecypr. Professor Coram’s treatise
dealt with its Coptic monas-
teries (Pince-Nez).

“1884.” This date was on the visitor’s
stick, and H noted that it was
five years ago (The Hound).

ErLEY’s No. 2. H advised W to slip this
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revolver in his pocket (Speck-
led Band) .

Evrisk. She saved Mr. Hatherley’s life,
and she called Colonel Lysan-
der Stark “Fritz” (Engineer’s
Thumb) .

ELmaN, J. C. Abused vicar at Little
Purlington. He was angry
when W and Josiah Amberley
called to find out what he knew
about Amberley’s wife and the
money (Retired Colourman).

ELRIGE’S. A lonely farm in the direc-
tion of East Ruston (Dancing
Men) .

EMBANKMENT, THE. John Openshaw
must have been decoyed here
and killed (Five Orange Pips) .

EMPTY HOUSE, ADVENTURE OF
THE. March 30, 1894. Hon-
ourable Ronald Adair mur-
dered. H returned, and Colonel
Moran and his air-gun were
taken.

EmsworTH, CoroNeEL. He was a
Crimean V.C. His bad temper
and worse manners did not
prevent H from doing him a
great favor (Blanched Sol-
dier).

EMsworTH, GoDFREY. Only son of
Colonel Emsworth. Lance-Cor-
poral, B Squadron, Middlesex
Corps. Shot by elephant gun in
Boer War. On intervention
first by his army friend, James
M. Dodd, then H, and finally
Sir James Saunders, it was

demonstrated that Godfrey
did not have leprosy (Blanched
Soldier) .
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ENCYCLOPAEDIA BRITANNICA. Jabez
Wilson’s job at £4 a week was
to copy this work each day be-
tween 10 AM. and 2 P.M.
(Red-headed League) .

EnpELL STREET. H and W en route to
enquire about the goose (Blue
Carbuncle) .

ENGINEER’'S THUMB, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Summer,
1889, not long after W’s mar-
riage, and W takes Victor
Hatherley to consult H.

EncLiscHER Hor. Bapen. Lady
Frances stayed a fortnight, met
the Shlessingers, and all three
left for London. Her maid,
Marie, had left Lady Frances’
service here in “floods of tears”
(Lady Frances Carfax) .

EncLiscHER Hor. Meiringen. Peter
Steiler, the elder, was man-
ager. H and W arrived here
from London May 3, 1891
(Final Problem) .

ENTERIC FEVER. W contracted this
while recuperating from his
shoulder wound and quite nat-
urally considered it the “curse
of our Indian possessions.” Cf.
Watson.

ErNEST, DR. RAY. He ran off with
Mrs. Josiah Amberley and a
good part of Josiah’s savings,
according to Josiah. When Dr.
Ernest was missing, his family
hired Mr. Barker to look into
the matter for them. H and
Barker cooperated. Dr. Er-
nest’s body was found in a well



EYForDp

on Josiah’s property (Retired
Colourman) .

Escorr. Rising young plumber, en-
gaged to Milverton’s house-
maid. This was an alias of H
(Milyverton) .

Esuer. Wisteria Lodge was near this
Surrey town (Wisteria Lodge) .

“EsMERALDA.” This ship was at
Gravesend, to sail for the Bra-
zils. Jonathan Small and Tonga
hoped to board her from the
“Aurora” (Sign of Four).

Essex. Little Purlington was here
(Retired Colourman).

ETHEREGE, MRS. She told Mary Suth-
erland about H’s finding her
husband, and Mary consulted
H forthwith (Case of Identity) .

Eton. John Clay went to this school
(Red-Headed League). So
did Colonel Sebastian Moran
(Empty House) .

EucLID, FIFTH PROPOSITION. Men-
tioned by H (Sign of Four).

EustoN. London district in which
were located the Euston Sta-
tion and, in nearby Little

George  Street, Halliday’s
Private Hotel (Study in Scar-
let) .

Euston StATION. Drebber and Stan-
gerson were seen on the plat-
form, presumably waiting for
the Liverpool Express—they
had told their landlady,
Madame Charpentier, that
they were taking this train
(Study in Scarlet) . H. W, and
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Dr. Huxtable en route to
Mackleton (Priory School).
H and James M. Dodd were
joined here by Sir James
Saunders en route to Tuxbury
Old Park (Blanched Sol-
dier) .

Evans. Alias Beddoes. He was willing
to join Armitage and Prender-
gast (Gloria Scott) .

Evans, CArrIE. Maid to Lady Beatrice
Falder. According to John Ma-
son, she was more devoted to
Sir Robert Norbertson than
to Lady Beatrice. Actually she
was Mrs. Norlett, née Evans
(Shoscombe) .

Evans, “KILLER.” Alias James Winter,
alias Morecroft, alias John
Garrideb, g.v. Forty-four years
old; native of Chicago; known
to have killed three men in
the United States; shot a man
in Waterloo Road, who later
was identified as Rodger Pres-
cott, a forger and coiner from
Chicago (Garridebs).

EvENnING NEws STANDARD. As for
Globe (Blue Carbuncle) . This
paper carried the account of
the capture of the false Hall
Pycroft (Stock-broker’s Clerk) .

EYE coLor. H's eyes were gray (The
Hound; Retired Colourman).

Evrorp. Berkshire, where Colonel
Stark asked Mr. Hatherley to
come for a consultation (En-
gineer’s Thumb).
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FABER, JoHANN. Manufacturer of pen-
cils (Three Students).

FAINT. H pretends to faint in order
that a valuable piece of infor-
mation not be disclosed by a
member of the party (Reigate
Puzzle) .

FaRBAIRN, ALEC. Lover of Mrs. Jim
Browner (née Mary Cushing).
Jim killed Mary and Alec and
sent an ear of each to Sarah
Cushing, who had encouraged
the liaison (Cardboard Box).

FairBaNK. The residence of Alexan-
der Holder (Beryl Coronet).

FALDER, LApY BEATRICE. Owner of
Shoscombe Old Place. The
Shoscombe spaniels were her
special pride. Died of dropsy,
and her brother, Sir Robert
Norbertson, concealed her
death until his horse, Shos-
combe Prince, won the Derby
and £80,000 (Shoscombe).

FALDER, SR JamEs. After his death
his wife, Lady Beatrice, main-
tained Shoscombe Old Place
(Shoscombe) .

FaLmouTtH. The “Gloria Scott” sailed
from this port (Gloria Scott).

FALSE FIRE ALARMS. See Sherlock
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Holmes, methods and organi-
zation.

Family Herald. A current romantic
periodical (Thor Bridge) .

*FARINTOSH. Mrs. Helen Stoner
heard of her case, involving an
opal tiara, and of H’s part in
it. Since this case was before
W’s advent, there may be
trouble in getting the facts
published (Speckled Band).

FARQUHAR, DrR. W bought his practise
in the Paddington district
soon after his marriage to
Mary Morstan (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .

FarnHAM. On the borders of Surrey,
where Violet Smith taught
music (Solitary Cryclist).

FArrINGDON STREET. H and W en
route to capture John Clay
(Red-headed League) .

FENCHURCH STREET. Westhouse &
Marbank had their claret im-
porting firm here (Case of
Identity) .

FErRGUsON, CAPTAIN. Retired sea cap-
tain. He owned the Three Ga-
bles prior to Mary Maberley
(Three Gables) .

FErRGUSON, Jack. Crippled, elder son
of Robert and stepson of the



FErRGUSON, MR.

current Mrs. Ferguson. Jealous
hatred of his younger half-
brother led to the trouble. H
solved the case and suggested
that a year at sea for Jack might
be the solution (Vampire) .

FErRGUsON, MR. Secretary and man-
ager for Colonel Stark (Engi-
neer’'s Thumb).

FErGusoN, MR. Secretary to J. Neil
Gibson (Thor Bridge).
FERGUSON, MRrs. Peruvian beauty. Sec-
ond wife of Robert. H was
able to establish her innocence
and restore family unity

(Vampire) .

FERGUSON, RoBERT. Of Ferguson &
Muirhead, Mincing Lane. He
played as a three-quarter in
rugby for Richmond. Called to
consult H as to whether or not
his wife was a vampire sensu
strictiore! H established her
innocence (Vampire).

FERGUSON & MUIRHEAD. Tea brokers
in Mincing Lane (Vampire).

FERINGHEE. Jonathan Small was called
this by Abdullah Khan (Sign
of Four).

FERNWORTHY. Devonshire village near
Grimpen, where Mr. Frank-
land was alternately in good
and bad grace with the villag-
ers (The Hound).

*FERRERS DocuMmEeEnTs. H was re-
tained in this case (Priory
School) .

FERRIER, DR. He took charge of Percy
Phelps (Naval Treaty).
FERRIER, JoHN. He accompanied the

Mormons to Utah. He adopted
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Lucy. Lucy was to marry Jef-
ferson Hope, but she was
forced to marry E. J. Drebber
(Study in Scarlet) .

FERRIER, Lucy. Adopted daughter of
John (Study in Scarlet).
FrovLLIOTT, SIR GEORGE. Lived at Ox-

shott Towers, near Oxshott. It
was a large house, but not the
right one (Wisteria Lodge).
Ficuting Cock INN. H sprained his
ankle and talked with Reuben
Hayes, the innkeeper. Later H
looked in an inn window, and
the £6000 was secure (Priory
School) .
FINAL PROBLEM, THE. Early
May, 1891. H vs. Professor
Moriarty. W probably wrote
up the case circa 1893. H came
to W’s consulting room on
April 24, 1891, to propose that
they spend a week on the Con-
tinent. H and Moriarty fight
on the brink of Reichenbach
Falls, and W returned to Lon-
don alone.

PRINTS. Mr. McFarlane’s
thumb print in blood was dis-
covered by Lestrade (Nor-
wood Builder).

FirBANK ViLLAS. Dr. Horsum resided
at No. 13 (Lady Frances Car-
fax) .

FisHER, PENROSE. As for Sir Jasper

Meek.

ORANGE PIPS, THE. Sep-

tember, 18877 Mary Watson

was visiting her mother. W

with H. H unable to save his

client from death and the

FINGER

FIVE



FORRESTER, MRs. CEcCIL

criminals escaped but died at
sea. Cf. John Openshaw; Wat-
son.

FLAUBERT, GUSTAVE. Quoted by H
(Red-headed League) .

FLEET STREET. Duncan Ross had of-
fices at 7, Pope’s Court, in this
street (Red-headed League).
H and W took a walk here
(Resident Patient).

FLorENCE. Italy. H took a week to
slip from Reichenbach Falls to
this city (Empty House).

FroripA. Elias Openshaw was a
planter here (Five Orange
Pips) .

FLOWERS. H speaks of them as “Our
highest assurance of the good-
ness of Providence” (Naval
Treaty) .

FLowErs, Lorp. Trelawney Hope had
a note from him (Second
Stain) .

FrusHING. Von Bork’s family had left
for this town the day before,
with the less important papers
(Last Bow).

*FOLKESTONE COURT. A cold-blooded
murder case was tried here.
There was no clue, but H felt
that Jack Stapleton may have
been the murderer (The
Hound) .

FOOTSTEPS (FOOTPRINTS) . H had writ-
ten a monograph on “the trac-
ing of footsteps, with some re-
marks upon the uses of plaster
of Paris as a preserver of im-
presses” (Sign of Four). Cf.
dog (12).

ForsES, MR. Detective from Scotland
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Yard in charge of the case
(Naval Treaty).

ForpHaM. Lawyer at Fordham, Sus-
sex, was wanted by Elias Open-
shaw (Five Orange Pips).

ForbpHAM, DRr. He attended Trevor,
Senior (Gloria Scott) .

FORDINGBRIDGE. Letter from here to

Trevor, Senior, caused the
latter to suffer a stroke (Gloria
Scott) .

ForpingHAM. Village in Hampshire
(Gloria Scott) .

ForeiGN OFFICE. Percy Phelps went
into this branch of the govern-
ment after he left Cambridge
University (Naval Treaty) . H
communicated details of his
visit to the Kalifa of Khartoum
to this office (Empty House).

Forest Row. In Sussex. Captain Pe-
ter lived nearby (Black Pe-
ter).

FORMOSA CORRUPTION, BLACK. W had
never heard of this affliction
(Dying Detective) .

FORRESTER, INsPECTOR. He asked H
for help in Surrey (Reigate
Puzle) .

*FORrRESTER, MRrs. CeciL. Employer
of Miss Mary Morstan. She
sent Mary to consult H, since
he had once unraveled a small
domestic complication for her
(Sign of Four) . This was prob-
ably one of the key decisions in
the H-W association, because
it provided W with a wife and
affected numerous lesser cir-
cumstances in later cases. In
addition, one would like to



ForT DODGE

know about the problem that
Mrs. Forrester brought to the
attention of H, although W
may not have been included in
this.

Fort Dopce. Kansas. “A. H. Garri-
deb” bought land along the
Arkansas River, west of this
town (Garridebs) .

FORTESCUE SCHOLARSHIP. Soames was
worried about the safety of the
examination questions (T hree

Students) .

FortOoN Orp HALL. Home of James
Baker Williams (Wisteria
Lodge) .

FouLMIRE. A moorland farmhouse.
H found it on his map (The

Hound).
FournaYE, HENrI. Of Paris. Alias
Eduardo Lucas, of London

(Second Stain) .

FourNAYE, MME. HENRI. She was a
Creole. Probably came from
her Paris villa in Rue Auster-
litz to spy on her husband. She
killed him at his second estab-
lishment on Godolphin Street
in London, where he was
known as Eduardo Lucas (Sec-
ond Stain) .

FowLER, MR. He wanted to marry
Alice Rucastle, and so they
eloped and went to Mauritius
(Copper Beeches) .

France. H visited this country
(Empty House) . Dutchess of
Holdernesse had taken up resi-
dence in the south of the coun-
try (Priory School) . Cf. Paris.

Franco-MIiDLAND HARDWARE ComM-
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PANY, LiMiTED. Mr. Pinner
wanted Hall Pycroft to be-
come the manager of this un-
likely firm in Paris (Stock-
broker’s Clerk).

FrANK. Mrs. Moulton called her hus-
band, Francis Hay, by this
name (Noble Bachelor).

FrRANKLAND, MR. Of Lafter Hall, Fern-
worthy. He was a friend of Sir
Charles Baskerville. His daugh-
ter, Laura, married an artist
who then deserted her. As Mrs.
Laura Lyons, she met Jack
Stapleton, who she thought
was unmarried. H cleared the
matter for all concerned (The
Hound) .

FrAser, Mary. Later, Lady Bracken-
stall (Abbey Grange).
Fraser, MR. A consumptive tutor
hired by Mr. Vandeleur at St.
Oliver’s, a small school (The

Hound) .

Fraser. “Wife” of Holy Peters, alias
Shlessinger (Lady Frances Car-
fax) .

FraTTON WAY. Altamont’s residence
was toward Fratton (Last
Bow) .

FreEBODY, MAJOR. A friend of Joseph
Openshaw at Portsdown Hill
(Five Orange Pips).

FreEsNo STrREET. It branched out
of Upper Swandam Lane
(Twisted Lip).

*“FRIESLAND.” A Dutch steamship.
The case, W notes, nearly cost
the lives of H and himself.
No public report (Norwood
Builder).



FuLwoRrTH

Fritz. Elise (Stark?) called Colonel FuLworTH. Small cove and village on
Lysander Stark by this name the Channel Coast, not far
(Engineer's Thumb) .

FuLaam Roap. Ross and Mangles
sold dogs here (The Hound). (Lion’s Mane).

from H’s place in Sussex
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G. See Lucca, Gennaro.

GasLes, THE. Well-known coaching
school, under headship of Har-
old Stackhurst. It was a half-
mile from H’s place in Sussex
(Lion’s Mane) .

Gasoriau. H thought that Gaboriau’s
fictional detective, Lecoq, was
“a miserable bungler” (Study
in Scarlet) .

GaBrIEL. To Mrs. Ronder, at the
time, Leonardo seemed like
this angel (Veiled Lodger).

GANGEs RIVER. A crocodile in this
river bit off one of Jonathan
Small’s legs (Sign of Four).

GaArclIa, ALoysius. Of Wisteria Lodge,
between Esher and Oxshott.
He was found murdered a
mile from his home on Ox-
shott Common (Wisteria
Lodge) .

GArcia, BeryL. Of Costa Rica. She
married Jack Baskerville, son
of Rodger, in this country. Cf.
Beryl Stapleton, and Vande-
leur (The Hound).

“GARRIDEB, ALEXANDER HAMILTON.”
He was said to have made a
fortune in real estate and
wheat speculation. In his will
it was said that he left all to
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three male Garridebs, if they
could be found. This worked
out at about $5,000,000 apiece
(Garridebs) .

“GARRIDEB, HowARrDp.” This was the
third and last of the Garridebs
needed to fulfil Alexander
Hamilton’s conditions. He was
a manufacturer of agricultural
machinery at Grosvenor Build-
ings, Aston, in or near Bir-
mingham. Nathan protested
that he seldom travelled, but
John insisted that he was the
one to go see Howard. As H
suspected, “Howard Garri-
deb” was fictitious (Garri-
debs) .

GARRIDEB, JonN. Counsellor at Law,
Moorville, Kansas. Alias
“Killer” Evans, q.v. H saw
through his plot (Garridebs).

GARRIDEB, NATHAN. He lived at 136
Little Ryder Street, W. He
was a collector, interested in
butterflies and moths, coins,
flint instruments, fossil bones,
and ancient man. When the
$5,000,000 did not materialize,
he broke down and had to en-
ter a Brixton nursing-home
(Garridebs) .



GELDER & COMPANY

GELDER & CompPANY. In Church
Street, Stepney. They sold
three plaster busts of Napo-
leon to Morse Hudson, and
three of the same to Harding
Brothers, for six shillings each.
Beppo worked for them for a
time (Six Napoleons) .

Gemm1i Pass. H and W en route
from London to Meiringen
(Final Problem).

GENEVA. H and W en route from
Strasburg to their hide-out in
Switzerland (Final Problem).

GEORGIA. Mr. Hebron and his only
child were said to have died in
Atlanta of yellow fever (Yel-
low Face).

GEORGIAN. Nathan Garrideb’s house
at 136 Little Ryder Street, W.,
was of this period (Garri-
debs) .

GERMAN OceaN. It could be seen
over the green edge of the Nor-
folk Coast (Dancing Men) .

Gnazis. Indians fighting the British
at battle of Maiwand, in which
W was wounded. Cf. Watson.

GissoN, Maria. Née Pinto. Wife of
J. Neil Gibson. She was so jeal-
ous of the governess, Grace
Dunbar, that she committed
suicide after arranging her
death to look like murder by
Grace (Thor Bridge).

Gisson, J. NEIL. Gold-mining mag-
nate and former Senator of a
western state of the United
States. Had estate in Hamp-
shire for past five years. For-
merly in love with his wife,

Maria, now in love with the
governess, Grace Dunbar. H
proved that Maria died by
suicide rather than by murder
(Thor Bridge) .

GILcHRIST. Scholar and athlete
(Rugby, cricket, hurdles, and
long jump). Son of Sir Jabez
Gilchrist. He looked at the
questions, hidden by Bannis-
ter, and confessed—but, he
had previously decided to go
to South Africa (Three Stu-
dents) .

GILGHRIST, SIR JaBEZ. He ruined him-
self on the turf (Three Stu-

dents) .
GLASSHOUSE STREET. The two men
that attacked H escaped

through the Café Royal into
this street ([llustrious Client) .

Globe. H advertised finding of a hat
and a goose (Blue Carbuncle).
There was a rumor in this pa-
per about the disappearance of
the Duke of Holdernesse’ son
(Priory School).

GLORIA SCOTT, THE. This bark,
by the name of which the case
was designated, sailed from
Falmouth October 8, 1855,
bound for Australia. It was a
prison ship and at sea was
taken over by convicts. Ship
exploded and sank. This was
the first professional case for
H and took place sometime be-
tween 1877 and 1880.

GLOUCESTER. Mr. Oldmore was once
mayor here (The Hound).

GLOUCESTER Roap. Kensington. Gol-



GRAVESEND

dini’s Restaurant was here
(Bruce-Partington) .

GLOUGESTER RoaD StaTION. The Un-
derground is clear of tunnels
here, and Oberstein’s windows
at Caulfield Gardens were on
the line (Bruce-Partington).

Gopno. In Little Russia. H recalled a
case here in 1866 similar to the
Baskerville case (The Hound) .

GopoLPHIN STREET. Eduardo Lucas
lived here (Second Stain).

GoEeTHE. Quoted and praised by H
(Sign of Four).

GoLpINr's RESTAURANT. Gloucester
Road, Kensington. H asked W
to meet him here for a meal
and to bring a revolver and
certain burglar tools (Bruce-
Partington) .

GoLp Kine. W’s epithet for J. Neil
Gibson, who had hunted gold
in Brazil (Thor Bridge).

GOLDEN PINCE-NEZ, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. November,
1894. Willoughby Smith is
dead, with a pair of broken
spectacles clutched in his
hand. The spectacles belong to
Anna, Smith’s killer and the
Russian wife of Professor Co-
ram of Yoxley Old Place.

GoODGE STREET. Peterson got a used
hat and a Christmas goose
here (Blue Carbuncle).

Goopwins. The “Lone Star” must
have passed them by evening,
H thought (Five
Pips) .

GorpON, GENERAL. W had a newly

Orange
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framed picture of him (Resi-
dent Patient).

GorpoN SQUARE. Francis Hay Moul-
ton lodged at No. 226 (Noble
Bachelor) .

GorcGIANO, GIUSEPPE. Also known as
Black Gorgiano and Gorgiano
of the Red Circle, q.v. Gen-
naro Lucas killed him in a
house in Howe Street (Red
Circle) .

GoroT, CHARLES. A clerk in the For-
eign Office (Naval Treaty).

*GRAFENSTEIN, CoUNT VON UND Zu.
He was saved from murder at
the hands of the Nihilist Klop-
man through the efforts of H
(Last Bow).

GRAMOPHONE. H used a record on this
machine, instead of playing
his violin, and so was able to
overhear the conversation be-
tween Sam Merton and Count
Sylvius (Mazarin Stone).

GraND HoTeL. W saw the bad news
(“Murderous attack upon
Sherlock Holmes”) between
here and Charing Cross Sta-
tion (Illustrious Client).

Granp NaTtIONAL. Sir Robert Nor-
bertson’s horse ran second in
this race a few years back, ac-
cording to W (Shoscombe) .

GRAVESEND. Mordecai Smith often
was on a job on the river as far
as Gravesend. H thought that
Jonathan Small might embark
for America or the colonies on
some ship, either here or in
the Downs (Sign of Four). H
wired here and learned that



GraY’s INN Roap

the “Lone Star” was home-
ward bound (Five Orange
Pips) . Mrs. St. Clair received
a note from her husband post-
marked here (Twisted Lip).

GraY’s INN RoAp. H and W en route
to King’s Cross Station (Three-
Quarter) .

GREAT GEORGE STREET. Westminster.
Adolph Meyer lived at No. 13
(Bruce-Partington) .

GREATHED, CoLONEL. Liberated the
Agra area in the Indian Mu-
tiny (Sign of Four).

GREAT MoguL. A large diamond in
the Agra Treasure (Sign of
Four).

GREAT ORME STREET. Mr. and Mrs.
Warren lived here (Red Cir-
cle).

GREAT PETER STREET PosT-OFFIcE. H
wired from here for the Baker
Street division of the detective
police force (Sign of Four).

GREEK INTERPRETER, THE.
Mycroft Holmes brought Sher-
lock a case. The murderers es-
caped and supposedly were
killed by Sophy to avenge her
presumed brother’s murder.
Cf. Paul Kratides.

GREEN, ApMIRAL. Commanded the
Sea of Azov fleet in the Cri-
mean War. Father of Philip
Green (Lady Frances Carfax) .

GREEN DrAGON. An inn at Crendall,
and about three miles from
Shoscombe Old Place (Shos-
combe) .

GREEN, HoN. PHILIP. Son of Admiral
Green. He went to South Af-

rica, returned wealthy, and at-
tempted to locate Lady Fran-
ces after many years. He
followed Mrs. Shlessinger to
Poultney Square, and H saved
Lady Frances for him (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

GreeNnwiIcH. The “Aurora” could
have touched either bank of
the river between here and
the end of Mordecai Smith’s
Broad Street wharf (Sign of
Four). Venner & Matheson’s
engineering firm was here
(Engineer’s Thumb) .

GREGORY, INspEcTOR. He asked for
H’s cobperation in solving the
disappearance of the racehorse
Silver Blaze (Silver Blaze).

GREGSON, Tosias. Scotland Yard In-
spector. According to H, the
“smartest of the Scotland Yard-
ers.” Jealous of Inspector Les-
trade. A tall, white-faced, and
flaxen-haired officer. He ar-
rested Sub-Lieutenant Arthur
Charpentier for the murder of
E. J. Drebber. Later, he re-
ported his failure in the case
to H and W and asked for H
to name the real murderer of
E. J. Drebber and ]. Stanger-
son (Study in Scarlet). H
wanted him on the case of the
Greek Interpreter. He was on
the Aloysius Garcia-Scott Eccles
case (Wisteria Lodge), also on
the case of the Red Circle.

GreNoBLE. Home of Monsieur Oscar
Meunier who made wax bust
of H (Empty House).



GuioN STEAMSHIP COMPANY

GREUZE, JEAN BAPTISTE. Painted be-
tween 1750 and 1800. His work
“La Jeune Fille a I’Agneau”
was purchased by Professor
Moriarty in 1865 for more
than £40,000 (Valley of Fear) .

*GRICE PATERsONS. W recorded this
case in 1877, concerning ad-
ventures on the Island of Uffa,
but has not given the account
to the public (Five Orange
Pips) .

Grices, Jimmy. Clown in the Ronder
circus. He did what he could,
but it was not enough (Veiled
Lodger) .

GRIMMS FAIRY TALE. On the occa-
sion of the note from Morri-
son, Morrison, and Dodd “Re
Vampires,” H remarked on his
sense of entering a similar at-
mosphere (Vampire).

GRIMPEN. James Mortimer lived in
this village, near Dartmoor, in
Devon (The Hound).

GRIMPEN MIRE. An impassable bog
except to Jack Stapleton, his
dog, and his servant, Anthony
(The Hound) .

Gross & HANKEY’s. Regent Street.
Probably sold wedding rings
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

GROSVENOR BUILDINGS. Aston, Bir-
mingham. ‘“Howard Garri-
deb” was reputed to have of-
fices here (Garridebs).

GrosveNorR HoteL. London. Peter
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Steiler was a waiter for three
years here before becoming
the manager of the Englischer
Hof (Final Problem) .

GROSVENOR ManNsions. Lord St. Si-
mon wrote to H from here
(Noble Bachelor) .

GROSVENOR SQUARE. Isadora Klein
lived here (Three Gables).

*GROSVENOR SQUARE FURNITURE VAN.
The case known by this name
cleared up by H but is un-
published (Noble Bachelor).

GRUNER, BARON ADELBERT. H identi-
fies him as “the Austrian mur-
derer.” Adelbert meant to
marry Violet de Merville. He
lived at Vernon Lodge, near
Kingston. Kitty Winter threw
vitriol in his face, W talked
about Ming saucers, and H
stole his diary for Violet to
read (Illustrious Client).

GuiLDFORD Assizes. Inspector Baynes
thought that justice would be
done here to the tenants of
High Gable, but in this in-
stance he was wrong (Wisteria
Lodge) .

GuiLp oF ST. GEORGE. Met at Watt
Street Chapel, Aldershot. Mrs.
Barclay and Miss Morrison
were in the Guild (Crooked
Man) .

Guion SteEAMmsHIP COMPANY. Letters
for E. J. Drebber and Joseph
Stangerson (Study in Scarlet) .
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Hariz. H found him as instructive as
Horace in dealing with clients
like Miss Sutherland (Case of
Identity) .

Hacug, THE. H notes that a case here
was similar to that of Mary
Sutherland (Case of Identity) .

HAINES-]JOHNSON. Auctioneer and val-
uer. H felt that if he were
bona fide, he would have given
Mary Maberley his business
address (Three Gables) .

HaLes Lopce. Hampstead. Home of
Cecil James Barker (Valley of
Fear) .

HALF MoonN STreeT. Dr. Hill Barton
was supposed to live at No.
369 (Illustrious Client).

Havrirax. Nova Scotia. Colonel Spence
Munro moved here, and Vio-
let Hunter wanted another po-
sition as governess (Copper
Beeches) .

HALLE’s ConcerT. This was where H
wanted to hear Norman Ne-
ruda (Study in Scarlet).

HaALLIDAY's PRIVATE HoTEL. London.
Joseph Stangerson’s body was
discovered in this Little
George Street establishment
(Study in Scarlet) .

*HAMMERFORD WILL CASE. Sir James

Damery arranged matters with
Sir George Lewis. H appeared
to have information in this
matter, and it might be de-
veloped by W  (Illustrious
Client) .

HamMERsMITH. Mitton had an alibi—
he had spent the critical period
here with friends (Second
Stain) .

HaMmMmErsMITH Bripge. H, W, and
Lestrade en route to Labur-
num Villa (Six Napoleons) .

HAMMERSMITH WONDER. See Vigor.

HampsHIRE. As for Berkshire (Speck-
led Band). Jephro Rucastle
lived near Winchester in this
county (Copper Beeches).
Hudson went to see Mr. Bed-
does in this county (Gloria
Scott). Neil Gibson had an
estate here for five years (Thor

Bridge) .
HampsTeEap. Hall Pycroft lived at
No. 17 Potter's Terrace

(Stock-broker’s Clerk) . H and

W en route to an address in

area (Milverton).
HampstEAD HEeaTH. Two men

rudely dumped poor Mr. War-
ren here (Red Circle).



HANDCUFFS

HANDCUFFS. H suggested that Les-
trade and Gregson should in-
troduce a new type at Scotland
Yard and illustrated his point
with capture of Jefferson
Hope (Study in Scarlet). Cf.
Wiggins.

HANDS, EFFECTS OF TRADE UPON. See
Sherlock Holmes, works.

HANOVER  SQUARE. St. George’s
Church was here (Noble Bach-
elor) .

*HARDEN, JoHN VINCENT. The well-
known tobacco millionaire,
whose peculiar persecution
was occupying H. No public
report as yet (Solitary Cy-
clist) .

HarpING BroTHERs. High Street Sta-
tion. They bought three cheap
plaster busts of Napoleon from
Gelder & Co. Sold one to Mr.
Harker, one to Josiah Brown,
and one to Mr. Sandeford (Six
Napoleons) .

HArpy, MR. Foreman in plumber’s
shop of Mr. Sutherland, in
Tottenham Court Road (Case
of Identity).

HaArpy, SiR CHARLES. Trelawney
Hope had his report (Second
Stain) .

HArpY, SIR JonN. As for Mr. Murray
(Empty House) .

HARg, Joun. W felt that H took on
the disguise and the part of
a Nonconformist clergyman
with a flair that only Hare
could have equalled (Scandal
in Bohemia) .

HarcrAVE. He owned a Rudge-Whit-
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worth bicycle and put up at
the Eagle Commercial Hotel
in Tunbridge Wells (Valley of
Fear) .

HARGREAVE, WiLsON. A friend of H,
in the New York City Police
Bureau. H cabled him about
Abe Slaney (Dancing Men).

HARkER, HorAcCE. Lived at 131 Pitt
Street. Bought a cheap bust
of Napoleon from Harding
Brothers. It was stolen, and a
dead man was found on his
very doorstep (Six Napole-
ons) .

HARrRLEY STREET. H and W en route to
inquire about the goose (Blue
Carbuncley. H and W re-
turning from Dr. Trevelyan
(Resident Patient). H refers
to this street (Shoscombe) .

*HAroLD, Mrs. H knew the real facts
about her death. It will be re-
membered that she left Count
Sylvius the Blymer Estate. W
has not reported this case
(Mazarin Stone).

HArrINGBY, Lorp. He lived at The
Dingle, near Oxshott. It was a
large house but not the right
one (Wisteria Lodge) .

Harris, Mr. Of Bermondsey. Alias
of H when he was introduced
to Mr. Pinner by Hall Pycroft
(Stock-broker’s Clerk).

HARRISON, ANNIE. She is to marry
Percy Phelps. Her brother is
Joseph (Naval Treaty).

HaARrRrISON, JosePH. Brother of Annie.
He did not hesitate to steal the
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papers from Percy Phelps
(Navy Treaty).

Harrow. Miss Honoria Westphail
lived near here (Speckled
Band) .

Harrow way. Barney Stockdale sent
Steve Dixie to tell H that his
life was not safe in this area
(Three Gables).

Harrow WEALD Cast. The Spencer
John gang wanted H to desist
from looking into this affair
for Mrs. Maberley (Three
Gables) .

HaArvEY. One of John Mason’s lads.
He tended Lady Beatrice
Falder’s furnace and found
therein what W identified
readily as a part of a human
femur (Schoscombe).

HarvVEY’s. W said that such a house
name would be found about
Lamberley (Vampire).

HarwicH. The lights of the area
could be seen from Von Bork’s
terrace (Last Bow).

HATHERLEY. A farm owned by John
Turner and rented to Charles
McCarthy (Boscombe Valley
Mystery) .

HATHERLEY, VicTOR. An engineer
living on the third floor at 16A
Victoria Street. When he lost
his thumb, W treated him and
then took him to consult with
H. Victor was apprentice for
seven years to Venner & Math-
eson (Engineer’s Thumb) .

HaAveN, THE. Home of Josiah Amber-
ley, in Lewisham (Retired
Colourman) .
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HaveN, THE. Home of Tom Bellamy,
in Fulworth (Lion’s Mane).

HavEes, REUBEN. Surly innkeeper of
the Fighting Cock Inn and
murderer of the German mas-
ter, Heidegger. H had him ar-
rested at Chesterfield (Priory
School) .

HAvLING, JEREMIAH. Twenty-six-
year-old hydraulic engineer.
Disappeared, circa summer of
1888, and H thought that he
had been murdered by Colo-
nel Lysander Stark (Engi-
neer’s Thumb) .

HAYMARKET THEATRE. Josiah Am-
berley had taken two upper
circle seats, but he went alone,
he said, since his wife had a
headache (Retired Colour-
man) .

HAYTER, CoLONEL. A friend of W. He
asked W and H to spend a
week in the country in the
spring of April, 1887, at his
place near Reigate in Surrey
(Reigate Puzzle).

Haywarp. He was one of the Worth-
ingdon bank gang (Resident
Patient) .

Heavy Game of the Western Himala-
yas. By Colonel Sebastian Mo-
ran. 1881 (Empty House).

HesroN, Errie. Her first marriage.
Cf. Effie Munro (Yellow Face).

HeBrON, JoHN. Atlanta lawyer and
first husband of Effie. John
and their only child were said
by Effie to have died of yellow
fever in Atlanta. John was a
Negro (Yellow Face).
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Hesron, Lucy. The startling daugh-
ter of John and Effie (Yellow
Face) .

HEIDEGGER. German master at the
Priory School. Both he and
young Lord Saltire were miss-
ing. Heidegger was found
dead, killed by a heavy blow
on the head. H eventually
caught the murderer (Priory
School) .

HEeLsTON. Presumably an insane asy-
lum to which George and
Owen Tregennis were taken
(Devil’s Foot) .

HenpersoN, Mr. Of High Gables,
near Oxshott. It was a large
house, and H therefore was in-
terested in its occupants. Hen-
derson was an alias of Don
Murillo. He escaped in Lon-
don and six months later, alias
the Marquess of Montalva,
was killed in Madrid (Wisteria
Lodge) .

HEeNRIETTA STREET. London. Consta-
bles Rance and Murcher
talked here (Study in Scarlet).

HEercures. Dr. Trevelyan said that
one of his patients had a son
that was of similar physical
build (Resident Patient).

HEerEFORD ArRMS. H and W stayed
here while involved in the
Boscombe Valley Mystery.

HEREFORDSHIRE. The country district
Boscombe Valley was near
Ross in this county (Boscombe
Valley Mystery) .

Hicu GABLE. Near Oxshott. Home of
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Mr. Henderson
Lodge) .

HicH STREET. Winchester. The Black
Swan Hotel was here (Copper
Beeches) .

HicH STREET STATION. London. Hard-
ing Brothers, near here, sold
busts of Napoleon (Six Na-
poleons) .

HicH Tor. A moorland farmhouse. H
found it on his map (The
Hound) .

HiLe, InspEcTOR. He readily identi-
fied the dead man as Pietro
Venucci, of Naples, con-
nected with the Mafia (Six
Napoleons) .

Hinpoo. A servant of Thaddeus
Sholto, who ushered H, W,
and Mary Morstan in to an
audience with Thaddeus (Sign
of Four).

HIS LAST BOW. August 2, 1914. H,
in a last service to his country,
came out of Sussex retirement
and, as Altamont, Von Bork’s
top agent, captured Von Bork,
chief German espionage agent
in England. W appears briefly
as Altamont’s chauffeur.

Histon. H searched here too (Three-
Quarter) .

*Hosss, FAIRDALE. Mrs. Warren re-
membered that H had solved
Mr. Hobbs’s problem, when
the latter was lodging with her.
W may have the records of this
unpublished case (Red Cir-
cle).

HorrFMAN’s “BARCAROLE.” H said
that he was going into his

(Wisteria
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room and play this piece on
his violin, but he played it on
a gramophone instead (Ma-
zarin Stone) .

HorsorN. London district. Hand W
en route to inquire about the
goose (Blue Carbuncle).

HoreorN Bar. Young Perkins was
killed just outside (Three
Gables) .

HoLBorN, THE. Restaurant where W
and young Stamford had lunch
prior to Stamford’s historic
introduction of W to H (Study
in Scarlet) .

HoLbER, ALEXANDER. Of Holder &
Stevenson, bankers. He con-
sulted H, and then H and W
came to his home, “Fairbank,”
in Streatham (Beryl Coronet).

HoLber, ARTHUR. Son of Alexander.
His father accused him of steal-
ing public jewels. He was ar-
rested. H intervenes to free
Arthur and point out the real
thief (Beryl Coronet).

HoLbpEr, MARry. Niece of Alexander
(Beryl Coronet) .

HoLDER, SERGEANT JoHN. Of the
Third Buffs. He saved Jona-
than Small when a crocodile in
the Ganges bit off one of Jona-
than’s legs (Sign of Four).

HoLDER & STEVENSON. On Thread-
needle Street. Second largest
private banking firm in the
City of London (Beryl Coro-
net) .

HoLDERNESSE, DUKE oF. Once a cabi-
net minister. His son was ab-
ducted, and Dr. Huxtable
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came to town for H. The duke
paid H £6000 when the latter
solved the case (Priory School) .

HoLDERNESSE HaLL. H asked to see
the horseshoes that made cow
tracks. He found these the sec-
ond most interesting thing he
had seen in the case, the first
being his reward cheque of
£6000 (Priory School).

Hovrpxaurst, Lorp. Uncle of Percy
Phelps. His chambers were in
Downing  Street (Naval
Treaty).

HoLrranp. Count Sylvius was all for
getting the jewel to this coun-
try (Mazarin Stone).

*Horranp. H accomplishes a delicate
and successful mission for the
reigning family of this country
(Scandal in Bohemia) and
gets a fine ring for this service
(Case of Identity).

HowrrAnp GrovE. This was the beat of
Constable Harry Murcher
(Study in Scarlet) .

Houwis. One of Von Bork’s agents. Ac-
cording to Altamont, Hollis
“went a bit woozy toward the
end” (Last Bow).

HorrLowAy & STEELE. Edgware Road
house-agents for Nathan Gar-
rideb (Garridebs) .

Horry, S;r Epwarp. According to
Trevor, Senior, Sir Edward
had been attacked by a poach-
ing gang (Gloria Scott) .

HovLmEs, MYCROFT. Seven years older
than his brother, Sherlock. He
belonged to the Diogenes
Club. Brought a case to Sher-
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lock’s attention (Greek Inter-
preter) . Later, when Professor
Moriarty was hunting Sher-
lock, the latter spent the day in
Mycroft’s rooms in Pall Mall,
and then Mycroft drove W to
Victoria Station (Final Prob-
lem). While away, Sherlock
confided his whereabouts only
to Mycroft, since he had to ob-
tain money for his travels
(Empty House). Mycroft
came a second time to Sher-
lock’s chambers at 221B Baker
Street on the matter of Cado-
gan West. According to Sher-
lock, Mycroft was paid only
£450 a year, yet because of his
peculiar gifts of memory and
his syntheses of data, Mycroft
could evaluate rapidly the im-
pact of apparently unrelated
matters on policy. For exam-
ple, he could focus the interre-
lation of the Navy, India,
Canada, and the bimetallic
question in one complex opin-
ion. At such times, according
to Sherlock, Mycroft was the
British Government.

Mycroft is a sedentary per-
son of rather fixed habits and
consequently a small orbit: his
chambers in Pall Mall, the
Diogenes Club, and his office
in Whitehall. On his second
visit to the rooms of Sherlock
and W, Mycroft left happy
that his brother would act in
the case (Bruce-Partington).

HoLMES, SHERLOCK. Pre-Watsonian:
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Watson found it difficult to
imagine Holmes as a member
of a family, and perhaps that is
why our meagerness of infor-
mation about his background
does not surprise us. We do
know that the Holmes ances-
tors were typical English coun-
try squires. There was some
French blood in the family,
however, since Sherlock’s
grandmother was sister to the
French artist, Vernet (Greek
Interpreter). Finally, there
were at least two children
born to Mr. and Mrs. Holmes.
These were both boys, My-
croft (q.v.) and Sherlock,
seven years younger.

While Sherlock was at college,
he apparently had few inti-
mates. He was acquainted
there with Reginald Musgrave
(Musgrave Ritual), but his
only friend during this period
was Victor Trevor. The
Trevor family must have had
a large, if unconscious effect on
the future shape of Sherlock’s
career. Thus, Victor’s father,
Trevor, Senior, praised young
Sherlock highly on his ability
to reason from data and detect
the past course of events. This
had been a hobby previously,
but now Sherlock began to
consider detection as a serious
occupation by which one
might earn a livelihood. Thus
the “Gloria Scott” (q.v.) be-



HoLMES, SHERLOCK

came his first case (Gloria
Scott) .

Once this decision was taken,
all of Sherlock’s activities be-
came directed toward suprem-
acy in the field of detection
and later as a consulting ex-
pert. Even at this early period,
he maintained an amateur
status, helpful to, but inde-
pendent of, the official police
force in London.

While he was still unknown to
the public, he had rooms in
Montague Street, around the
corner from the British Mu-
seum. Presumably while living
here he became engaged in the
curious affair at Hurlstone
Manor House, in Sussex. He
provided a brilliant solution of
the case (Musgrave Ritual).
One wonders if this early con-
tact with this county in any
way directed his thoughts in
later years to retirement on
the Sussex downs, near the
Channel (Last Bow; Lion’s
Mane) .

The Historic Meeting: John
H. Watson, M. D., on pension
from an early wound and sec-
ondary complications in the
Second Afghan War, had re-
turned to London. Cf. Watson.
He had happened on young
Stamford at the Criterion Bar,
and the two had lunch at the
Holborn. Watson was looking
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about for cheaper quarters.
Stamford knew that Sherlock
was interested in sharing the
expenses of chambers, and
upon this economic note Stam-
ford took Watson to meet
Holmes, forthwith. This his-
toric meeting was in a chemi-
cal laboratory of a London
hospital. Characteristically, at
their first meeting Sherlock ex-
plained vividly his test for
haemoglobin, while John lis-
tened in surprise.

It appeared that Sherlock had
an eye on a set of rooms on
Baker Street that he could not
afford. John felt that if the
chambers were suitable, they
would have a good thing. At
the time it appeared that nei-
ther had personal habits that
would be objectionable to the
other. On Sherlock’s side, he
confessed that he liked strong
tobacco, often employed strong
chemicals in experiments, was
moody at times and would not
speak for days, and that he
played a violin well enough
not to annoy a fellow lodger.
John stated his shortcomings
(g-v.), and the two agreed to
meet the next day at noon
and have a look together at the
suite.

They liked the rooms and
moved in. Early in the
settling-in period John at-
tempted to list Sherlock’s gen-
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eral limits: he had no knowl-
edge of literature, philosophy,
astronomy; he was poor in
politics, although he had a
good, practical knowledge of
British law; in botany, he
knew nothing about garden-
ing and much about poisons;
he had a limited but practical
knowledge of geology, espe-
cially the varieties of London
soils; a profound knowledge of
chemistry; an accurate but un-
systematic fund of information
on human anatomy; he played
the violin well; he was expert
in single stick, boxing, and
swordplay (Study in Scarlet).
Those familiar with the pub-
lished data will realize that
this listing by John was pre-
liminary—to help him under-
stand his fellow lodger—and
that certain of the above views
would not stand the test of
long association and the infor-
mation which accumulated.

General Personality: Holmes
had a high regard for his own
remarkable natural gifts, cou-
pled with impatience and vola-
tility. He was fair-minded and
generous, though uneven in
temperament, alternately de-
pressed or exalted.

But while his attitude toward
his achievements was not mod-
est, neither was it self-decep-
tive. He loftily told Gibson the
Gold King that his charges
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were fixed except when he re-
mitted them entirely, and
when Gibson offered the al-
ternative lure of publicity, the
cold answer was, ‘“Thank you,
Mr. Gibson, I do not think
that I am in need of booming”
(Thor Bridge). He was irri-
tated when Mortimer said that
Holmes was second to Bertil-
lon among European experts
of detection. But later he was
amused and appreciative when
the unknown passenger gave
his name to the cabby as “Sher-
lock Holmes” (The Hound).
He was flushed with success
and dramatic in gesture when
he plucked out the Black Pearl
of the Borgias from its odd set-
ting (Six Napoleons); yet in
the event of his being incor-
rect, he was capable of humil-
ity. For example, he told Wat-
son that if he ever became too
confident of his opinion again,
Watson had only to whisper
“Norbury” as a reminder (Yel-
low Face).

All such change-abouts in be-
havior seemed characteristic of
Holmes. He could spend days
wordless, as he warned Watson
earlier he might, scratching at
his violin without producing
what Watson thought of as
“music.” In contrast to these
dull periods, he would some-
times enter into varied and
sprightly conversation. Usu-



HoLMES, SHERLOCK

ally his choice of mood hung
upon the degree to which his
mind was occupied. Thus, on
the eve of their pursuit of the
“Aurora,” Sherlock, John, and
Inspector Jones were at dinner
at 221B Baker, and Holmes
discoursed on miracle plays,
mediaeval  pottery, Stradi-
varius violins, Buddhism of
Ceylon, and warships of the
future (Sign of Four).

Sherlock even had disparate
hobbies. For example, he was
interested in the Middle Ages
and was working on a mono-
graph of the Polyphonic Mo-
tets of Lassus (Bruce-Parting-
ton) ; yet, on the other hand,
he made a minor specialty of
opening safes (M:ilverton).

Certain aspects of his mercu-
rial nature may have been a
consequence of his drug-taking
(cocaine and morphine) . Wat-
son made an early remon-
strance against such bad habits
and was bitterly offended
when Holmes made a too de-
liberate injection of a seven-
per-cent solution of cocaine.
Eventually Watson was suc-
cessful in helping to bring
about Sherlock’s victory over
drug addiction (Sign of Four).
Despite his volatility, Holmes
had a sense of fitness and a cer-
tain practicality about him.
When Watson had been de-
coyed away, and Holmes and
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Moriarty were face to face at
last, above the thundering
Reichenbach Falls, Holmes
left a note for Watson: (1) giv-
ing him full directions for find-
ing and handing over to In-
spector Patterson the details of
the Moriarty gang stored at
Baker Street against the day,
and (2) telling Watson that
the plans for the disposal of
Sherlock’s property were even
now in brother Mycroft’s
hands (Final Problem). Fur-
ther, when Sherlock did not go
into the Falls, he had provi-
dent arrangements with My-
croft for funds to be sent to
him while he was on his long
journey (a stop in Florence,
two years in Tibet, Persia,
Khartoum, and France), part
of the time at least disguised
as Sigerson, a Norwegian ex-
plorer. In all this time only
Mycroft knew that Sherlock
was not dead (Empty House) .

Such a long period of solitude
and separation would not be a
hardship for Sherlock. Apart
from Watson, he did not seek
out the company of men, and
he consciously avoided that of
women. His courtesy toward
the latter was exemplary, but
it was founded, according to
Watson, upon a deep distrust
and dislike (Dying Detective) .
At best, with one of the most
admirable of the sex, Mary
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Morstan, he displayed an in-
difference which Watson de-
nounced as “inhuman” (Sign
of Four) . And yet, two women
he honored with exceptional
interest and approval. One was
Maud Bellamy, whom Sher-
lock always remembered as “a
most remarkable woman”
(Lion’s Mane). The second
and the more extraordinary
was Irene Adler, an American
operatic diva retired in Lon-
don. According to Watson,
Irene was always the woman.
Although duped at the time,
Irene saw through Sherlock’s
stratagem which caused her to
reveal the hiding-place of the
letters, and she removed them.
Later, Holmes asked the King
of Bohemia for Irene’s photo-
graph in lieu of a reward
(Scandal in Bohemia).

There were other hints, too, of
humane feeling coexisting
with detached intellect in the
man. Holmes could be subtly
both kind and generous.
Though he repeatedly mocked
Watson’s slowness in matters
of detection and once criti-
cized him quite cruelly even
as a doctor (Dying Detective),
he was capable of kindness too
in response to Watson’s. When
he felt Watson’s pain in think-
ing his laborious reports had
gone unread, Holmes was
quick to assure him they were
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“very well thumbed” (The
Hound) . Then, too, he found
the money for young Dr. Ver-
ner to purchase Watson’s small
Kensington practice, and it
was long afterward before
Watson understood why Dr.
Verner had accepted his first
price, the highest Watson had
conceived possible (Norwood
Builder) .

Holmes was also liberal in his
general philosophy. It is true
that inactivity or monotony
could impair this quality in
him. “There is nothing new
under the sun. It has all been
done before” (Study in Scar-
let) . And on a foggy day of in-
voluntary leisure, to Watson:
“Crime is commonplace, exist-
ence is commonplace, and no
qualities save those which are
commonplace have any func-
tion upon earth” (Sign of
Four) . But activity stimulated
a fresh excitement (“Now is
the dramatic moment of fate,
Watson, when you hear a step
upon the stair which is walking
into your life, and you know
not whether for good or ill”
[The Hound]), and eventu-
ally a benign optimism.
Holmes termed the current
board-schools the “light-houses
of the future” (Naval Treaty).
He expressed a high opinion
of amateur athletics and
thought that amateur sport
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was the best and soundest
thing in England (Three-
Quarter) . A garden stroll with
a client produced a singular
effusion: “Our highest assur-
ance of the goodness of Provi-
dence seems to me to rest in
the flowers. . . . Our desires,
our food, are all really neces-
sary for our existence in the
first instance. But this rose is
an extra. Its smell and its col-
our are an embellishment of
life, not a condition of it. It is
only goodness which gives
extras, and so I say again that
we have much to hope from
the flowers” (Naval Treaty).
One far-reaching view indeed
was his hope, expressed to an
American, Francis Hay Moul-
ton, that one day people
would all be “citizens of the
same world-wide country”
(Noble Bachelor) .

Ironically, it was while he was
most deeply engaged in his
precise, factual work that his
mind took most pleasure in
abstraction; moments were
snatched for the contempla-
tion of music and philosophy.
Returning from a concert in
the midst of the E. J. Drebber
problem, Holmes remarked to
Watson, ‘“There are vague
memories in our souls of those
misty centuries when the
world was in its childhood”
(Study in Scarlet) . And at an-
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other time, thinking over the
bad ending of Colonel Moran,
he theorized, “The person be-
comes, as it were, the epitome
of the history of his own fam-
ily” (Empty House) .

Methods and Organization:
Quite early in their associa-
tion Holmes tried to explain
to Watson just what he did for
a living. He described himself
as a “consulting detective”
(Study in Scarlet) and on an-
other occasion as “the only un-
official consulting detective.
« « . I am the last and highest
court of appeal in detection”
(Sign of Four).

Yet Holmes was realistic about
his role in the detection of
crime. As an amateur he
felt that it was necessary to
stay in the good graces of the
professionals, and over the
years he slowly acquired their
respect. At least when he felt
that justice could best be
served by recognizing their en-
deavors, he cooperated with
the legal enforcers of the law.
In this way they were en-
couraged to bring problems in
detection to him for solution,
and, in return, he assured
them that the public acclaim
would be theirs. In their first
case together, he assured Wat-
son, too, that Inspectors Greg-
son and Lestrade would pocket
the glory (Study in Scarlet),
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and on numerous later occa-
sions Holmes felt that it was
necessary to reaffirm this arti-
cle of faith, whether to the
professionals of London or
those in outlying counties and
villages.

On the other hand, his ano-
nymity gave him a latitude not
available to the regular forces.
He could, if he liked, collabo-
rate with another, and gifted,
amateur detective, Mr. Barker
(Retired Colourman). He
could refuse to act in a case
(Milverton) if his sympathies
were with the killer rather
than the killed, and many of
his investigations, with Wat-
son as accomplice, were out-
side the law (Scandal in Bo-
hemia; Case of Identity;
Twisted Lip; Noble Bachelor;
Illustrious Client). That is,
they either did not involve po-
lice action, or Holmes’ activi-
ties were those that could not
be officially tolerated by the

police.

Apparently the mystification
of a policeman or of a client,
and often of Watson, gave
Holmes great satisfaction. He
could note a small detail or
series of details and, following
a chain of unspoken infer-
ences, arrive at a statement
that sounded at first absurd or
remarkable. Among his many
such tours de force are the fol-
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lowing typical examples: (1)
In their first meeting Holmes
remarks almost at once that
Watson has been in Afghani-
stan (Study in Scarlet); (2)
Holmes breaks in at the end of
one of Watson’s trains of
thought about the folly of war
(identical for paragraphs 3 to
19 for both Resident Patient
and Cardboard Box); (3)
Holmes amazes Mr. McFar-
lane by remarking on personal
facts deduced from his ap-
pearance (Norwood Builder) ;
(4) Holmes mystifies Watson
by deductions regarding South
African Securities (Dancing
Men); (5) Holmes astonishes
Stanley Hopkins by describing
the wearer of the broken spec-
tacles from the article in ques-
tion (Pince-Nez); (6) Holmes
mystifies James M. Dodd
(Blanched  Soldier);  (7)
Holmes deduces certain facts
about the owner of a walking-
stick from the article in ques-
tion (The Hound).

For all his acumen, Holmes
was frequently regarded with
suspicion or contempt. Dr.
Grimesby Roylott, to
Holmes’s indignation, called
him “the Scotland Yard Jack-
in-Office” (Speckled Band),
which was surely an uncon-
sciously wicked thrust, seeing
that Holmes had reservations
about the “Yarders.” Lord
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Cantlemere was at pains to
show that he doubted
Holmes’s ability in detection
(Mazarin Stone). And so it
went.

At times, Sherlock received
more than insults. When he
came back from Farnham, in a
jubilant mood, he had a lump
on the head and a split lip
(Solitary Cyclist), and a mur-
derous attack was made on
him near the Café Royal by
two thugs in the pay of Baron
Gruner (Illustrious Client).

On occasion he employed his
hobby of opening safes in the
pursuit of business. For exam-
ple, he burgled Baron Gruner’s
study while Watson annoyed
the Baron with a display of in-
formation about Ming saucers
(Illustrious Client), and he
burgled the home of Josiah
Amberley while Watson and
Josiah were having a frustrated
and comical sojourn in the
country (Retired Colourman).
In another instance, Sherlock
burgled the safe of a black-
mailer and destroyed the con-
tents (Milverton).

Such house-breaking and safe-
cracking  techniques  were
thought of by Holmes as neces-
sary, although Watson
frowned on such things, and
the professional police were
irritated,  presumably by
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their own legal restrictions.
On certain occasions, these il-
legal entrances were known to,
and yet overlooked by, high
administrative circles, as when
Holmes and Watson burgled
the home of Oberstein (Bruce-
Partington) .

Sherlock placed considerable
value upon knowing, off-hand,
integrated groups of data re-
lated to evaluation of a crime
or tracing down a criminal.
This ability undoubtedly
saved him a good deal of time.
For example, he could differ-
entiate among 140 ashes of
various tobaccos (Sign of Four;
Boscombe) ; he knew 42 differ-
ent tire impressions (Priory
School) ; he was familiar with
75 perfumes (The Hound).

He also employed numerous
devices in his investigations.
Twice, at least, he employed a
dummy in his image. Once it
was used to assure watchers
that he was in his Baker Street
quarters and allow them to
think that they could shoot
him from the street (Empty
House) ; but, in the Mazarin
Stone, the dummy was exposed
to the criminals, and then,
later, Holmes took the place of
the dummy, and was able to
obtain the valuable jewel.

Nor was he averse to using
ruses such as the false fire
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alarm to smoke out a criminal
in hiding (Norwood Builder)
or to find out where valuable
documents  were  hidden
(Scandal in Bohemia); simi-
larly, the early use of the
gramophone, playing a violin
recording instead of Holmes
playing the instrument, be-
trayed criminals into revealing
their stolen property (Maza-
rin Stone).

One of his most important ad-
juncts was disguise. He was a
natural actor and brought to
these varying appearances the
essential perfection of behav-
ior that renders disguise plau-
sible. Among his many imper-
sonations were the following:
(1) an aged master mariner
which was so deceptive that
not only Watson but Inspector
Athelney Jones were deceived
(Sign of Four) ; (2) adrunken
groom and, later in the same
case, (3) an amiable Non-
conformist clergyman (Scandal
in Bohemia); (4) an old man
(Twisted Lip); (5) a com-
mon loafer (Beryl Coronet);
(6) a remarkably adept sham
seizure, to prevent a vital piece
of information from being
given in the course of a con-
versation (Reigate Puzzle);
(7) an Italian priest (Final
Problem); (8) an elderly, de-
formed man presumably sell-
ing books (Empty House);
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(9) a rakish young workman,
complete with clay pipe,
goatee, and swagger (Milver-
ton). In this last impersona-
tion, as Escott, a plumber, he
went so far as to become en-
gaged to the housemaid, so
that she would see that the dog
was kept in nights. It says
much for his art that the
housemaid never appreciated
the age of her fiancé. (10) A
French workman (Carfax);
(11) a workman, out of work
(Mazarin Stone) ; (12) an old
woman, a disguise which was
so successful that it deceived
the dangerous Count Sylvius
(Mazarin Stone); (13) a dy-
ing man, with but a short time
to live, a pose which was so
realistic that Watson, a physi-
cian, was taken in when kept
at arm’s length (Dying Detec-
tive) ; (14) an Irish-American,
anti-British espionage agent,
very late in Sherlock’s career
and after his retirement (Last
Bow).

Speed in obtaining the essen-
tial facts was uppermost.
Holmes was constantly alive to
the desirability of getting to
the scene of a crime as soon as
possible, before the footprints
were obliterated and other
delicate signs destroyed. Rapid
communication was essential.
He seldom wrote but often
wired. When the telephone
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came into general service, he
used this new device (Re-
tired Colourman) .

Although essentially an inde-
pendent investigator, Sherlock
had a small but efficient or-
ganization of his own. (1) In
the first place, he had at least
five small refuges in various
parts of London, where he
could hide or put on a disguise
(Black Peter)y. (2) Then
there was the “Baker Street
Division of the detective po-
lice force,” a group of six or
more ‘“street arabs.” 'These
city-wise urchins were swift,
crafty, and inconspicuous and
added many pairs of eyes and
ears to an investigation (Study
in Scarlet; Sign of Four). (3)
Shinwell Johnson was Holmes’s
source of information about
the London underworld (II-
lustrious Client); (4) an oc-
casional pound or so to Fred
Porlock brought tips from this
stool-pigeon (Valley of Fear)
presumably within the Mo-
riarty organization; (5) for
gossip in highly placed social
circles, there was Langdale
Pike. (6) After John Watson
left the chambers in Baker
Street, Holmes employed Mer-
cer, who did routine business
for Sherlock, becoming a “‘gen-
eral utility man” (Creeping
Man) . This could have been
about 1903 or a little earlier.
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Efficiency: Before passing on
to other things, something
should be said here concerning
the record of this consulting
detective. Such an analysis is
restricted largely to the sixty
published  cases.  Unfortu-
nately these represent mnot
more than 43% of the cases in
which Holmes is known to
have participated (Cf. John H.
Watson, Authorship). Never-
theless the published records
form a fair sample of the range
and type of cases in which he
was involved and the efficiency
with which he brought these to
a conclusion.

It is difficult to assign some
cases to a particular category.
The following classification
could have been modified in
several ways. But for practical
purposes, the sixty cases have
been separated roughly into
five groups: Murder; Rob-
bery; Forgery; Disappearance;
Alleviation.

Murder [23 cases (38%)]:
Fourteen resulted in the mur-
derer (s) being arrested, killed,
or satisfactorily accounted for.
These are: Black Peter, Card-
board Box, Dancing Men, Dy-
ing Detective, Empty House,
Final Problem, Lion’s Mane,
Pince-Nez, Reigate Puzle,
Retired Colourman, Sign of
the Four, Silver Blaze, Speckled
Band, and Study in Scarlet.
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Three of these involved non-
human agents: Lion’s Mane, in
which the killer was a giant sea
medusa; Silver Blaze, in which
a horse was the killer; and
Speckled Band, wherein a
deadly snake was the killer. Of
these three, the first was for a
time thought to be murder
but turned out to be purely ac-
cidental. The last two entailed
well-deserved  deaths—what
may be regarded as poetic jus-
tice.

In all of these fourteen cases
of outright murder, Holmes
made a successful detection.
Some of his most brilliant ex-
ploits are in this group.

Four additional cases were
brought to a successful con-
clusion, but Holmes allowed
the killer to go free. These are:
Abbey Grange, Boscombe,
Devil’s Foot, Veiled Lodger.
Holmes always felt that in his
capacity of a private investiga-
tor he had the right to deter-
mine whether or not the “mur-
derer” was ethically justified.
If he decided an action was jus-
tified, he did not stand in the
way of an official investigation,
but neither did he make
known to the police the iden-
tity of the person sought. This
attitude is to be found often
enough in these sixty cases to
suggest that it was basic. The
reader must read such cases
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and form an independent opin-
ion as to the correctness of
Holmes’s attitude.

Five additional cases of mur-
der, as such, were investigated,
and in these Holmes reached a
successful solution of the crime
and identified the murderer or
murderers, but the latter es-
caped the immediate justice of
the law. These are: Five Orange
Pips, Greek Interpreter, Mus-
grave Ritual, Resident Patient,
and Wisteria Lodge. Again,
poetically it seems, all but one
of the killers were later in-
volved in fatal accidents. For
example, in the Five Orange
Pips and the Resident Patient
the murderers were presumably
drowned at sea. In the adven-
ture of Wisteria Lodge they
were presumably hunted down
and killed at a hotel in Madrid
by avengers. The killers were
themselves presumably killed
later by Sophy after they had
abducted her, in the case of the
Greek Interpreter. Finally, in
the Musgrave Ritual the mur-
deress got away and was not
heard from again.

Robbery [ (in the broad sense)
12 cases (20%) ]: Four cases in-
volved the theft of gems.
These are: Mazarin Stone, Six
Napoleons (in both of which
the thief was caught and
jailed), Beryl Coronet, and
Blue Carbuncle (in both of
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which the thief escaped justice,
but for different reasons). In
all four cases Holmes recov-
ered the jewels.

Four cases were concerned
with the theft of classified
documents of, or relevant to,
the British Government, and
consequently in these affairs
Holmes was acting in the in-
terests of his country (as he
was, of course, in the Beryl
Coronet). These four are:
Bruce-Partington Plans, His
Last Bow, Second Stain, and
Naval Treaty. In the last of
these, the thief, for reasons of
secrecy, was not jailed. In the
other three the thieves were
apprehended. In His Last Bow,
which took place just before
World War I, much of the
data supplied was tampered
with by Holmes himself, in the
alias of Altamont, a supposedly
bitter  anti-English  Irish-
American espionage agent. In
all four cases the missing docu-
ments were recovered before
harm had been done.

Three cases dealt with the
theft of money. These are the
Red-headed League, Stock-
broker’s Clerk, and Three Gar-
ridebs. In all three the crimi-
nals were caught and the
money recovered. In the last of
these an important forgery
plant was also confiscated.
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Finally, one case had to do
with the theft of a manuscript,
i.e., Three Gables, in which
Holmes allowed the principal

to go free after making
amends.
Disappearances [6 cases

(10%) ]: Three were cases of
abduction: Lady Frances Car-
fax, Priory School, and Soli-
tary Cyclist. In all three the
abducted persons were recov-
ered and Holmes demonstrated
ability by providing correct
solutions. In the first the ab-
ductors escaped, but in the
other two they were punished
for their crime, though in dif-
ferent ways.

Three were cases of voluntary
disappearance: Missing Three-
Quarter, Noble Bachelor, and
Valley of Fear. Holmes pro-
vided a successful solution in
all three, finding the missing
persons involved. There was
no crime committed in the first
two. In the last, a villain was
slain in self-defense, but
Holmes thought that Professor
Moriarty was behind the af-
fair. In this case, Valley of
Fear, the missing person was
later lost overboard while at
sea with his wife, and although
it appeared to be an accident
Holmes was not convinced.

Forgery [1 case (1.6%)]: This
is the case of the Engineer’s
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Thumb, one of two cases
brought to the attention of
Holmes by Watson, and in-
volving a murderous assault on
an innocent person. Holmes
provided the correct solution,
but when the police went to
arrest the forgers, they had
fled.

Alleviation [18 cases (30%)]:
In this rather loose category
are placed quite a few cases
which have in common some
form of fear or persecution,
and in which Holmes was very
successful in alleviating the dif-
ficulty. The clients were in sev-
eral types of predicaments.

One had to do with fear of dis-
ease, specifically leprosy. In the
Blanched Soldier Holmes un-
raveled the peculiar circum-
stances and brought in a great
dermatologist to relieve the
family of their worry.

One had to do with large-scale
blackmailing. In Charles Au-
gustus Milverton Holmes and
Watson burgled the black-
mailer’s safe, burned its con-
tents, witnessed his death at
the hands of one of his victims,
and refused to assist the police
in investigating the crime. The
anxieties of many people were
alleviated by the death of Mil-
verton.

Eight adventures were con-
cerned with the fear of either
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physical harm or public scan-
dal. These are: Copper
Beeches, Creeping  Man,
Gloria Scott, Hound of the
Baskervilles, Twisted Lip, Sus-
sex Vampire, and Scandal in
Bohemia. Holmes provided
successful solutions in all eight
cases. In the Scandal in Bo-
hemia he was foiled in his at-
tempt to gain possession of
what his employer regarded
as incriminating evidence, but
the case was correctly solved,
and the King of Bohemia
realized that he was no longer
in danger of a scandal. In the
famous Hound, the murderer,
and would-be murderer for at
least a second time, escaped
but probably met his death in
the Grimpen Mire.

Three cases dealt more or less
with retribution: Crooked
Man, in which a betrayal
ended years later in shock fol-
lowed by accidental death; Il-
lustrious Client, in which
Baron Gruner got full measure
for his indiscretions; Red Cir-
cle, in which the villain died at
the hands of a hero who was
praised by the Pinkerton
Agency.

One report, A Case of Identity,
does not fall readily into ordi-
nary types. It involved a par-
ticularly mean sort of misdeed,
not easily prosecuted by law.
Holmes provided the correct
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solution and alleviated the dis-
tressed Mary Sutherland as
much as he could, but the fu-
ture still seemed rather diffi-
cult for her.

One other case, Yellow Face,
was unsatisfactory from the
viewpoint of detection, but al-
though Sherlock came to the
wrong conclusion, his actions
indirectly provided a happy
ending.

One case, Shoscombe Old
Place, involved fear of mount-
ing debt. Holmes provided a
correct solution of the prob-
lem, but the debt was paid off,
not as a consequence of his in-
tervention, but rather of his
nonintervention and a winning
horse.

Finally, there are two cases in
which Holmes saves an inno-
cent person from a deliber-
ately planned false murder
charge: Thor Bridge and Nor-
wood Builder.

In summary, out of sixty cases
in which there is a public rec-
ord, Holmes provided the cor-
rect solutions for fifty-nine. In
several, e.g., Scandal in Bo-
hemia, Case of Identity, Val-
ley of Fear, the case is not as
neatly concluded as he would
have liked, but for virtually
unavoidable reasons.

This is a superb record of
achievement. There are not
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too many investigators of crime
who can show a 97% record of
correct solution in a twenty-
three-year (?) period. If the
67 %, more or less, of Sherlock’s
cases that are as yet unpub-
lished were available for study,
the analysis would be more
complete and consequently the
statistics more reliable.

Works: Published, in Progress,
or Projected: The Book of
Life. A magazine article on the
science of detection (Study in
Scarlet) . Published.

Upon the Distinction between
the Ashes of the Various To-
baccos [Sign of Four; Bos-
combe]. Published.

Monograph upon the tracing
of footsteps, with some re-
marks upon the uses of plaster
of Paris as a preserver of im-
presses [Sign of Four]. Pub-
lished.

The influence of a trade upon
the form of the hand, with
lithotypes of the hands of
slaters, sailors, cork-cutters,
compositors, weavers, and dia-
mond-polishers [Sign of Four).
Published. The treatises, on
tobacco ashes, footprints, and
the effects of a trade upon
hands, at least, are being trans-
lated into French for European
use by the rising French detec-
tive, Francois le Villard (Sign
of Four).
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Monograph on the typewriter
and its relation to crime [Case
of Identity]. Projected.

Monograph on cryptology
[Dancing Men]. Published.
Art  of Detection [Abbey
Grange]. Projected for a single
volume,

Age of Documents
Hound). Published.

[The

Monographs on the human ear
[Cardboard Box]. Two sepa-
rate monographs, published in
the Anthropological Journal.
For the importance Holmes
placed on ears, see also Lady
Frances Carfax, in which the
turning point came in a de-
scription of Shlessinger’s left
ear.

Monograph on the polyphonic
motets of Lassus [Bruce-
Partington]. In progress. Mu-
sic of the Middle Ages was a
hobby of Holmes, and such a
paper must have been a source
of great satisfaction.

Monograph on malingering
[Dying Detective]. Projected.

On the Use of Dogs in Detec-
tive Work [Creeping Man].
Projected.

Practical Handbook of Bee
Culture, with Some Observa-
tions upon the Segregation of
the Queen [Last Bow]. Pub-
lished. Last work noted so far.
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Characteristic Views and Ex-
pressions: These are legion.
The following are selected as
representative of Sherlock’s
volatile nature, his enthusiasms
and prejudices. Many other
typical examples appear else-
where in the present paper.

The first day that Sherlock
and John met, the former men-
tioned that he had a preference
for strong tobacco. Tobacco
seemed to be an important ad-
junct at 221B Baker, and it
will be recalled that Holmes
wrote a monograph upon the
subject of tobacco ashes, in
which 140 pipe, cigar, and
cigarette ashes are discussed. It
will not come as a surprise
that Holmes had several pro-
nounced views on tobacco, or
that some tobacco was in the
toe of a slipper, or that his pre-
breakfast pipe was composed,
according to Watson, of “all
the plugs and dottles left from
his smokes of the day before”
(Engineer’'s Thumb). A few
expressions follow on this gen-
eral subject:

1. “It is quite a three pipe
problem” (Red-headed
League) .

2. Holmes solved the case by
“sitting on five pillows and
consuming an ounce of shag”
(Twisted Lip).

3. Holmes wanted Watson to
close the window to prevent all
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of the tobacco smoke from
leaving, since he felt that a
concentrated atmosphere aided
in concentration of thought
(The Hound).

Then there are a number of
ideas on detection that should
prove interesting and useful.
A few of these follow:

4. “Nothing has more indi-
viduality [than pipes] save
perhaps watches and bootlaces”
(Yellow Face) .

5. Holmes told Watson to
look first at the hands, then the
cuffs, trouser-knees, and boots
for data on the individual
(Creeping Man) .

6. Holmes to Watson: ‘“Here
is my lens. You know my
methods” (Blue Carbuncle).

7. Holmes told Watson to
send for a hansom but to take
neither the “first nor the sec-
ond” (Final Problem).

8. Holmes warns Watson of
the danger of too much re-
liance on circumstantial evi-
dence (Boscombe).

9. Holmes fasted well (Dying
Detective and Mazarin Stone),
and in the latter case felt that
starvation aided his thought,
just as earlier he favored a con-
centrated atmosphere of to-
bacco. Hence, he generalized
“Faculties become refined
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when you starve them” (Ma-
zarin Stone) .

10. When Dr. Sterndale noted
that he saw no one following
him, Holmes replied, “That is
what you may expect to see
when I follow you” (Devil’s
Foot) . It will be remembered
that Dr. Sterndale was an ex-
perienced African hunter and
explorer, used to following big
game, and wary of being fol-
lowed in turn.

The three following views are
among Sherlock’s most trusted,
and he repeats them in sub-
stance in different cases.

11. “It is of the highest im-
portance in the art of detection
to be able to recognize, out of
a number of facts, which are
incidental and which vital.
Otherwise your energy and at-
tention must be dissipated in-
stead of being concentrated”
(Reigate Puzzle).

12. “I have no data. It is a
capital mistake to theorize be-
fore one has data” (Scandal in
Bohemia) . Variations on this
point of view will be noted in
Second Stain, Valley of Fear,
and Wisteria Lodge.

13. To Watson: “How often
have I said to you that when
you have eliminated the impos-
sible, whatever remains, how-
ever improbable, must be the
truth?” (Sign of Four), and re-
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phrased in Bruce-Partington
and Beryl Coronet.

Holmes did not like to leave
his quarters, especially be-
tween cases or during office
hours, if there were any. He
was not fond of leaving Eng-
land in later years, after his
reputation had become inter-
national. The two following
instances bear this out.

14. Watson and Holmes took
a walk in fine weather and
missed a client. “So much for
afternoon walks!”  (Yellow
Face) .

15. Holmes felt that he could
not leave London while Abra-
hams was in terror of his life.
Moreover, Scotland Yard was
lonely when he was away, and
“it causes an unhealthy excite-
ment among the criminal
classes” (Lady Frances Car-

fax) .
At times some of Holmes’
views do not properly mesh:

16. “Asarule . . ., the more
bizarre a thing is, the less mys-
terious it proves to be” (Red-
headed League) .

17. Yet, “The more outré and
grotesque an incident is, the
more carefully it deserves to
be examined. ...’ (The
Hound).

The sardonic remarks, how-
ever, are consistently pointed.
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18. Holmes comments that “it
is a remarkable cow which
walks, canters, and gallops”
(Priory School) .

19. “Excellent!” cried Mr. Ac-
ton.
“But very superficial,” said
Holmes (Reigate Puzzle).

20. “Excellent!” I [Watson]

cried.
“Elementary,”
(Crooked Man) .

21. Mrs. Hudson: “When will
you be pleased to dine, Mr.
Holmes?”

said he

“Seven-thirty, the day
after to-morrow” (Mazarin
Stone) .

22. Lord St. Simon: “I am
afraid it will take wiser heads
than yours or mine. . . .”

Holmes: “It is very good of
Lord St. Simon to honour my
head by putting it on a level
with his own ...” (Noble
Bachelor) .

23. After the energetic capture
of Colonel Sebastian Moran:
“‘Ah, Colonel!’ said Holmes,
arranging his rumpled collar.
‘“Journeys end in lovers
meetings,” as the old play
says. I don’t think I have had
the pleasure of seeing you
since you favoured me with
those attentions as I lay on the
ledge above the Reichenbach
Fall’” (Empty House).
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Then there are the views of
Holmes on people with whom
he associated or upon whom
he had accumulated informa-
tion. Since he was an accurate
judge of character, such com-
mentaries are instructive.

24. Holmes said of Watson
that he was “my Boswell”
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

25. He considered Charles Au-
gustus Milverton “the worst
man in London” (Milverton).

26. Of Professor Moriarty, he
was “the Napoleon of crime”
(Final  Problem). Earlier,
Holmes had been frustrated
by Moriarty’s machinations,
but he had faith in his own
powers and said, “I don’t say
that he can’t be beat. But you
must give me time . . .” (Val-
ley of Fear).

27. In his index Holmes had
marked Colonel Sebastian Mo-
ran as the second most dan-
gerous man in London. After
Moriarty’s death, Moran ad-
vanced. Holmes then referred
to him as “the most cunning
and dangerous criminal in
London” (Emgpty House).

28. Of John Clay, Holmes said
that he was the fourth smartest
man in London (Red-headed
League) .

29. He felt that Jack Staple-
ton, so-called, was also one of
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the most dangerous and cun-
ning of criminals (The
Hound).

30. Of Inspector Tobias Greg-
son, he was the “smartest of
the Scotland Yarders” (Study
in Scarlet) .

31. Of Inspector G. Lestrade,
he was the “best of the pro-
fessionals” (The Hound).
Holmes felt that although
Lestrade was ‘“devoid of rea-
son,” he had the tenacity of a
bulldog, and this had
brought him to the top at Scot-
land Yard (Cardboard Box).
At their best, though, both of-
ficials were merely “the pick
of a bad lot” (Study in Scar-
let) .

32. Holmes thought that the
strangest case he had ever han-
dled was the Cornish horror
(Devil's Foot).

Published Cases Noted: Every
now and then Holmes would
hark back to a former case to
illustrate a point or relive a
memory. Since Watson was
usually responsible for the re-
cording of such matters, his
published account must be fol-
lowed:

(1) In Copper Beeches: Scan-
dal in Bohemia, A Case of
Identity, Man with the
Twisted Lip,and Noble Bache-
lor were mentioned; (2) in
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Stock-broker’s Clerk, the Sign
of Four is recalled; (3) in the
early Musgrave Ritual, the still
earlier Gloria Scott case is men-
tioned; (4) in the Naval
Treaty, the case of the Speckled
Band is noted; (5) in Wisteria
Lodge, both the Five Orange
Pips and the Red-headed
League are recalled; (6) in the
Cardboard Box, both the Study
in Scarlet and the Sign of Four
are cited; and (7) in the Sussex
Vampire, the early Gloria Scott
is thought of.

Gifts and Honors from Ad-
mirers: Sherlock received a
gold snuffbox with an amethyst
in the lid from the King of
Bohemia, although he had
asked only for the photograph
of Irene Adler (Scandal in Bo-
hemia), and he also was sent
a fine ring for clearing up a
matter for the ruling family in
Holland (Case of Identity).
Moreover, he received an em-
erald tie-pin from a friend at
Windsor for his recovery of the
stolen submarine plans by
which the Navy set such store
(Bruce-Partington) . In addi-
tion, Holmes received a letter
from the French President, as
well as the Order of the Legion
of Honour, for tracking down
Huret the Boulevard assassin
(Pince-Nez) . Finally, Sherlock
refused a knighthood in June,
1903 (Garridebs) .
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Retirement: Sherlock Holmes
retired to a place on the south-
ern slopes of the downs in Sus-
sex. Although relatively iso-
lated, his house was half a mile
from the coaching school of
which Harold Stackhurst was
headmaster. It commanded a
view of the Channel and was
not too far from the small vil-
lage of Fulworth, Sussex.
Here he meditated and tended
his bees (cf. Works) , and it was
from here that he consented to
John Watson’s reporting to the
public the formerly guarded
case of the Second Stain. And
it was on the wave-swept Chan-
nel coast that the tragic case of
the Lion’s Mane was investi-
gated by Holmes in July, 1907.

Well after becoming estab-
lished here, Holmes was asked
once more to take up an active
role. He assented when both
the Foreign Minister and the
Premier asked him to pene-
trate and expose the espionage
net that was being woven
through the British defense
perimeter. This would have
been no small task for a young
man, and for Holmes it must
have presented a real hard-
ship. First he had to be taken
into the camp of the enemy.
His start was far away, in the
United States.

This initial effort was made
some two years before actual



Horge, RicHT HONOURABLE TRELAWNEY

contact with German espio-
nage. Holmes began in Chi-
cago, then moved on to Buf-
falo, where he joined an Irish
secret society. Later he gave
the constabulary of Skibbareen
serious trouble and so caught
the glance of Von Bork, king-
pin of German espionage in
England. The case ended bril-
liantly. Holmes was joined by
Watson, briefly, at the climax,
and Von Bork was arrested in
August, 1914, with his files.
This final triumph is related in
His Last Bow, q.v.

Hory Lanp. Dr. Shlessinger was pre-
paring a map of the area (Car-
fax) .

PETERS. Australian rascal. He

and his “wife” made a business

of preying on lonely ladies.

Alias Dr. Shlessinger. His left

ear was a distinguishing fea-

ture (Lady Frances Carfax) .

Holy War, The. A book offered for
sale by a disguised H to W
(Empty House) .

Homer, PopPe’s. One odd volume of
edition stolen from Acton’s li-
brary in Surrey near Reigate
(Reigate Puzzle) .

Hoop, GenErAL. FElias Openshaw
rose to the rank of colonel un-
der him (Five Orange Pips).

HOOKAH. T. Sholto smoked this kind
of pipe (Sign of Four).

Hoprg, JEFFERSON. Murderer of Dreb-
ber and of Stangerson. He was
handcuffed by H at the Baker

HoLy
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HopPk,

Hork,

Street chambers by a ruse (cf.
Wiggins and handcuffs) and
confessed to the murders.
Drebber had forced a girl in
America to marry him (cf
Watson, John H.) that Hope
was to have married. Drebber
and Stangerson had then mur-
dered both this girl and her
father and fled to Europe.
Hope followed them (St. Pe-
tersburg, Paris, Copenhagen,
London) seeking revenge. A
poor man, Hope took up cab-
driving in London, waylaid
Drebber in an empty house at
8 Lauriston Gardens, and
forced him to choose a pill
from two in a box (cf. poison;
York College) . Drebber chose
incorrectly and died of poison-
ing. Hope later climbed into
the hotel window of Stanger-
son’s room and offered him the
same choice. Stangerson at-
tacked Hope, and the latter
killed him by knife. Hope died
the night after his capture of a
burst aortic aneurism (Study
in Scarlet) .

Lapy HirpA TRELAWNEY. She
called on H, and later H re-
turned the call. He prevailed,
and all was well with her hus-
band’s political future (Sec-
ond Stain).

RicET HONOURABLE TRE-
LAWNEY. Secretary for Euro-
pean Affairs. He came with
Lord Bellinger for consulta-
tion (Second Stain).



Hore TownN

Hore TowN. On the slope of Mount
Harriet on Blair Island, the
largest of the Andaman Is-
lands, where Jonathan Small

was imprisoned (Sign of
Four).

Horkins, EzekiaH. Supposititious
American millionaire and
founder of the Red-headed
League.

Hoprkins, StANLEY. Thirty-year-old

police inspector whom H re-
garded with high hopes. There
was a professed mutual admi-
ration. Stanley arrested J. H.
Neligan. Later he came to
breakfast with H and W and
was able to arrest the man he
should have been looking for,
Patrick Cairns, who was sup-
plied by H (Black Peter).
Came to consult H on the af-
fair at Yoxley Old Place, and
after H investigated, Stanley
could place a complete solu-
tion to his credit (Pince-Nez).
Stanley advised Cyril Overton
to consult H (Three-Quarter) .
Stanley asked for H (4bbey
Grange) .

HorAck. Mentioned with approval by
H (Case of Identity) . Cf. Hux-
table (Priory School).

HORNER, JouN. Plumber accused of
taking the blue carbuncle from
Countess of Morcar’s rooms at
Hotel Cosmopolitan. H cleared
him (Blue Carbuncle).

HorsuaMm. John Openshaw came
from here to see H (Five Or-
ange Pips). Town in Sussex,

north of Lamberley (Vam-
pire).

HorsoMm, Dr. No. 18 Firbank Villas.
He certified the death of Rose
Spender, ascribing it to senile
decay (Lady Frances Carfax).

HOTEL. See inns and hotels.

Hoter CosmMoPOLITAN. Where the
blue carbuncle was lost (Blue
Carbuncle) .

HoteL DirecTtory. H got a list of
twenty-three hotels in the
Charing Cross area for young
Cartwright to visit (The
Hound).

HoteL DurLone. Lyons. H was ill here

and wired for W (Reigate
Puzzle) .
HorerL pu Louvre. Paris. Colonel

Walter told H that he could
reach Hugo Oberstein here—
so H dictated a letter for him
to sign (Bruce-Partington).

HoteL EscuriaL. Madrid. Marquess
of Montalva and his secretary,
Signor Rulli, were killed here
(Wisteria Lodge) .

HoteL NATIONAL. Lausanne. M.
Moser was the manager. Jules
Vibart, one of the headwaiters,
was engaged to Marie Devine,
maid to Lady Frances Carfax.

HortrtENTOT. See Bushman.

“Hotspur.” Brig that picked up Ar-
mitage and Evans and took
them to Australia (Gloria
Scott) .

HOUND. See dog.

HOUND OF THE BASKER-
VILLES, THE. Circa 1889.
(The year of the case tenta



HupsoN, Mgs.

tively is fixed at 1889 in Octo-
ber, since the visitor’s stick was
dated 1884, H said that this
was five years ago, and W’s re-
ports are dated October). A
mythical beast with blazing
eyes was said to be the cause of
Hugo Baskerville’s death. Jack
Stapleton, alias Mr. Vandeleur,
put a phosphorus preparation
on the eye-margins and chops
of a large hound which fright-
ened Charles Baskerville and
had a part in his death. When
the trick was tried on Henry
Baskerville, H intervened, and
the criminal presumably dies
in Grimpen Mire.

HounpsprrcH. The address here, No.
13 Duncan Street, was false
(Study in Scarlet).

Houses oF PARLIAMENT. H and W
passed en route to Shlessinger’s
house in Poultney Square
(Lady Frances Carfax) .

HoweLLs, RAcHEL. Second house-
maid at Hurlstone Manor
House and engaged to Brun-
ton. She had brain fever when
he paid attentions to Janet
Tregellis, then murdered
Brunton and escaped (Mus-
grave Ritual) .

Howre STREET. The house here, as
described in the Daily Ga-
zette, was in sight of Mrs. War-
ren’s house in Great Orme
Street (Red Circle).

Hubpson. He visited Trevor, Senior,
in Norfolk and Beddoes in
Hampshire. Hudson was saved

by Armitage and Evans but
lived to blackmail them (Glo-
ria Scott) .

HupsoN, Morse. A shop selling pic-
tures and statues, in Kenning-
ton Road. Morse bought three
cheap plaster busts of Na-
poleon from his supplier, Gel-
der & Company, Stepney. He
sold two to Dr. Barnicot, and
the third bust was smashed
right on his counter (Six Na-
poleons) .

HupsoN, Mrs. Landlady of H and
W at 221B Baker Street
(rooms inspected in Study in
Scarlet, and Mrs. Hudson is
mentioned first in Sign of Four;
nevertheless, see the inexplica-
ble Mrs. Turner in Scandal in
Bohemia) . H facetiously noted
that Mrs. Hudson should ex-
amine the crop of the wood-
cock that H and W were
having for dinner (Blue Car-
buncle) . She wakened H early
(Speckled Band). She served
a Scotch breakfast (Naval
Treaty) . She became hysterical
when H returned alive and
well (Empty House). She
brought in the cablegram
(Dancing Men). H, W, and
Stanley Hopkins were given
breakfast by her (Black Peter) .
She ushered in Cecil Barker,
with cable from Ivy Douglas
(Valley of Fear). She ushered
in Inspector Gregson and In-
spector Baynes (Wisteria
Lodge) . She came to home of



HupsoN STREET

W, in his second year of mar-
ried life, to tell W that H was
dying (Dying Detective). H
wired her from the Continent
(Lady Frances Carfax). H
told Billy to tell Mrs. Hudson
to send up dinner for W and
himself (Mazarin Stone). She
brought in John Garrideb’s
card (Garridebs).

Hupson STrREET. Aldershot. Mrs.
James Barclay and Miss Mor-
rison were coming from the
Watt Street Chapel and saw
Henry Wood after thirty
years (Crooked Man).

Hucuenor. Charles Gorot was of
this extraction (Naval
Treaty) .

“Hucuenots, LEs.” H had a box for
it, and H and W were to cele-
brate after the long Basker-
ville case (The Hound).

Huncary. Hungarian vampires were
listed in H’s index under “V”
(Vampire) . H and W received
a newspaper from Buda-Pesth
(Greek Interpreter) .

HunTer, NED. One of three boys
working in King’s Pyland
training stable. Ned’s curried
mutton was drugged with
opium (Silver Blaze).

HuNTER, VIOLET. Consulted H as to
whether she should accept a
position as governess. Later
she became the head of a pri-
vate school at Walsall (Copper
Beeches) .
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*HURET, THE BOULEVARD ASSASSIN.
His tracking down and arrest
by H won H an autograph let-
ter from the French President
and the Order of the Legion of
Honour (Pince-Nez). One is
at a loss to understand why W
has not given this case to the
public.

HurLINGHAM. Baron Gruner played
polo here (Illustrious Client).

HurLsTONE MaNOR House. Oldest
inhabited building in Sussex
(Musgrave Ritual) .

HuxTasLE's Sidelights on Horace.
The author was headmaster of
the Priory School.

HuxTABLE, THORNEYCROFT, M. A.,
Pu.D. Dr. Huxtable told H
and W of the disappearance of
the Duke of Holdernesse’ son
and of the Duke’s offer of
£6000 for data on his son’s
whereabouts and the person or
persons responsible for his ab-
duction. H saved his school
from scandal and got the re-
ward (Priory School) .

Hyams. He was tailor for Mr. Old-
acre (Norwood Builder).

HypE Park. Lady St. Simon (née
Doran) walked here with Flora
Millar (Noble Bachelor) .

Hynes, Mr. HynEs. Of Purdey Place,
near Oxshott. It was a large
house but not the right one
(Wisteria Lodge) .



ICHTHYOSIS. A pseudo-leprosy that Sir
James Saunders told Colonel
Emsworth that his son, God-
frey, had contracted. It was
not leprosy (Blanched Sol-
dier) .

IDENTITY, CASE OF. Imperson-
ation of a Mr. Hosmer Angel,
a supposititious lover, by Mr.
Windibank, stepfather of
Mary Sutherland. Foiled by H.

ILLUSTRIOUS CLIENT, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. September 3,
1902. At request of Sir James
Damery, H was able to pre-
vent Violet de Merville from
marrying Baron Gruner.

IMPERIAL YEOMANRY. James M.
Dodd was a member in the
Boer War (Blanched Soldier) .

Inp1a. Cf. Watson for his experiences
here (Study in Scarlet). Cf.
Jonathan Small for his expe-
riences here (Sign of Four).
The dread pips were mailed
to Elias Openshaw from here
(Five Orange Pips). Dr. Roy-
lott practiced in Calcutta and

owned a swamp adder, “the
deadliest snake in India”
(Speckled Band). Sergeant

Barclay and Corporal Wood

|
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fought in the Mutiny and were
in the old 117th (Crooked
Man). W tried to interest
Percy Phelps in this country
(Naval Treaty).

*“Inp1AN ArMy.” This is painted on
a box of notes, with W’s name,
in Cox & Co. bank. There are
probably several cases here,
stuffed away and forgotten
(Thor Bridge) .

INDIAN lunkah. Its ashes are reported
upon in H’ monograph.
Cf. Holmes, Sherlock, under
Works.

INNER TEMPLE. Godfrey Norton prac-
ticed law here (Scandal in Bo-
hemia) .

INNS, HOTELS, AND BOARDING-HOUSES
(London area unless other-
wise noted)

Alpha Inn

Anerly Arms (in Norwood)

Bar of Gold (this was an opium
dive, but it is probable that
strong beverages were also for
sale, as well as lodgings for
rent).

Bentley’s Hotel

Black Swan (in Winchester)

Brambletye Hotel (in Sussex)

Bull, The (in Surrey)



INTERLAKEN

Charing Cross Hotel
Charpentier’s, Madame, Board-
ing-house
Chequers, The (inn at Camford)
Chequers, The (inn at Lamber-
ley)
Claridge’s Hotel
Crown Inn
Dacre Hotel
Eagle Commercial Hotel (at
Tunbridge Wells)
Englischer Hof (at Baden)
Englischer Hof (at Meiringen)
Fighting Cock, The (near Mack-
leton)
Grand Hotel
Green Dragon Inn (at Crendall)
Grosvenor Hotel
Halliday’s Private Hotel
Hereford Arms (near Ross)
Hotel Cosmopolitan
Hotel Dulong (Lyons)
Hotel du Louvre (Paris)
Hotel Escurial (Madrid)
Hotel National (Lausanne)
Langham Hotel
Mexborough Private Hotel
Northumberland Hotel
Railway Arms (at Little Purling-
ton)
Red Bull Inn (near Mackleton)
St. Pancras Hotel
Westville Arms (in Sussex)
INTERLAKEN. H and W en route from
London to Meiringen (Final
Problem).
IonpEs. He made special cigarettes for
Professor Coram (Pince-Nez).
Iris. Duke of Balmoral’s horse, en-
tered in the Wessex Cup race
(Silver Blaze).

IrisH-AMERICAN. Altamont was one,
and a bitter anti-English es-
pionage agent, according to
Von Bork. Alias for Sherlock
Holmes (Last Bow).

IrisH Civi. WaR. According to Von
Herling, it was stirred up by
German agents (Last Bow).

IsLE oF Dogs. As for pool.

IstE oFr WicHT. As for Goodwins
(Five Orange Pips).

ITALIAN QUARTER. London. Inspector
Hill knew his way around here
(Six Napoleons).

ItaLy. In Posilippo, near Naples, Au-
gusto Barelli and his daughter
lived, as well as Gennaro
Lucca, the future husband of
Augusto’s daughter (Red Cir-
cle). Douglas Maberley was
here (Three Gables) and
wrote in novel form of his re-
lations with Isadora Klein.
Holmes stopped in Florence
(Final Problem).

“IT TOOK LONGER, BEING OUT OF THE
ORDINARY.” The coffin or-
dered by the Shlessingers was
the item being discussed
with the undertaker in Ken-
nington Road. H solved the
riddle just in time to save Lady
Frances Carfax.

Ivy LANE. The Commissionaire lived
at No. 16 in the Brixton area
(Naval Treaty).

“I wiLL BE AT THOR BRIDGE AT NINE
o’cLock.” This was the note
written by Grace Dunbar to
Mrs. Gibson (Thor Bridge).



J-A. These were the initials that
Trevor, Senior, tried to for-
get. They stood for James Ar-
mitage, his real name (Gloria
Scott) .

Jack. The youngest son of Mr. &
Mrs. Mordecai Smith. H gave
Jack two shillings (Sign of
Four).

JAck. Effie called her husband by this
name, although he was Grant
Munro (Yellow Face) .

Jack. Edith Presbury called Trevor
Bennett by this name when
she rushed into H’s chambers
at 221B Baker Street (Creep-
ing Man).

Jackson, Dr. He took over W’s prac-
tice while H and W went to
Aldershot (Crooked Man).

Jackson, GENERrAL. Elias Openshaw
fought in his command (Five
Orange Pips) .

Jacoss. Butler to Trelawney Hope
(Second Stain) .

Jacosson’s Yarp. H directed the po-
lice launch to go to the Tower
and stop opposite here, where
the “Aurora” was waiting
(Sign of Four).

James. Son of Grimpen’s postmaster.
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He was sent to deliver the wire
to Barrymore. Instead, he gave
it to Mrs. Barrymore, an error
which, to H, was an unhappy
circumstance (The Hound).

James, Jack. One of Von Bork’s es-
pionage agents, but he was in
jail in Portland (Last Bow).

Japran. Trevor, Senior, had been in
this country (Gloria Scott).

JeEm. Nickname for John Ryder
(Blue Carbuncle) .

Jews, THE. Sir Robert Norbertson,
heavily in debt to them, was
holding off his creditors until
after the Derby—his horse,
Shoscombe Prince, had to win
(Shoscombe) .

JEzAIL BULLET. W received one in an
Afghan campaign (Study in
Scarlet). Much later, “a few
weeks” before his marriage, W
was in pain from this wound
(Noble Bachelor).

J.H. These were the initials of Joseph
Harrison (Naval Treaty).

“J.H. 15 1N EuroprE.” This telegram
was found by Lestrade in the
pocket of murdered Joseph
Stangerson. Cf. Hope (Study
in Scarlet) .



J.H.N. 1883

J.H.N. 1883. John Hopley Neligan,
Senior, banker, who started his
flight in a boat bound for Nor-
way (Black Peter).

Jim. Eldest son of the Mordecai
Smiths; helped his father get
the ‘“Aurora” ready for her
run down the Thames (Sign
of Four).

JoHANNEsBURG. South Africa. Jack
Woodley was known here
(Solitary Cyclist) .

Jonn. Butler to Dr. Leslie Arm-
strong (Three-Quarter).

Joun BuLL, MR. Von Herling felt that
this was the week of destiny
for England: the English could
fight now with allies, or later
alone (Last Bow) .

Joun o’Groats. H felt that a drag-
hound would follow an aniseed
trail from Cambridge to here
(Three-Quarter) .

Jounson. He was on the Oxford
rugby team (T hree-Quarter).

Jonnson, SHINWELL. Formerly a dan-
gerous villain. After two
terms at Parkhurst, he re-
formed and became an ally of
H. Porky was his nickname.
He produced Kitty Winters at
the critical moment (Illustri-
ous Client) .

Jonnson, SiNEY. Senior clerk at
Woolwich Arsenal. He had
one of the two keys to the safe
where the submarine plans
were kept. Sir James Walter
had the other key (Bruce-
Partington) .

Jounnson, THEoPHILUS. Coal operator
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from Newcastle and well
known to the Northumberland
Hotel (The Hound).
SPENGER. See Spencer-John.
ATHELNEY. Detective men-
tioned in opening pages of the
Sign of Four, along with Greg-
son and Lestrade. At the sug-
gestion of H, he was called in
by Thaddeus Sholto to in-
vestigate the murder of his
twin-brother Bartholomew
Sholto. He arrested Thaddeus,
Mrs. Bernstone, McMurdo,
and Lal Rao. Later he released
Thaddeus and Mrs. Bernstone
(as reported in the Standard),
and he sought help from H. H
enabled him to capture Jona-
than Small (Sign of Four).
PEeTER. Official police agent of
Scotland Yard. As a conse-
quence of the work of H, he
was able to capture John Clay
and Duncan Ross (Red-
headed League) .
Franz. Altamont (alias for H)
had been assured by Von Bork
that the Tokay was from his
[Franz Josef's] special cellar
in the Schoenbrunn Palace
(Last Bow).
Journal de Genéve. Carried a short
account of H vs. Moriarty on
May 6, 1891 (Final Problem).
JusiLEe. In London. Mr. Cubitt at-
tended the festivities (Danc-
ing Men).
JunkEer. Von Bork felt that a bitter
Irish-American, such as Alta-
mont, was more anti-British

Jonn,
Jones,

JonEs,

Joskr,



JuprTER

than a pan-Germanic Junker descent upon 221B Baker
(Last Bow) . Street, is so called by H
JupiTER. Mycroft Holmes, in his (Bruce-Partington) .
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Kaiser, THE. He had a devoted es-
pionage agent in Von Bork
(Last Bow) .

Kansas. “John Garrideb” lived here,
in Moorville (Garridebs).

Kemp, WiLsON. An associate of Har-
old Latimer. Probably So-
phy avenged her presumed
brother, Paul Kratides (Greek
Interpreter) .

KENNINGTON LANE. H, W, and Toby
on trail of the murderers of
Bartholomew Sholto (Sign of
Four) .

KENNINGTON PARK GATE. See Rance
(Study in Scarlet) .

KeEnNINGTON Roap. Morse Hudson’s
shop was here, and Dr. Barni-
cot lived here (Six Napole-
ons). Philip Green followed
Mrs. Shlessinger to Stimson &
Co., undertakers, here (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

KensingTON. The John Watsons lived
here after their marriage
(Red-headed League). Mr.
Harold Latimer, who wanted
Mr. Melas as an interpreter,
said he lived here (Greek In-
terpreter) . W sold his practice
here to Dr. Verner (Norwood
Builder) . Mr. Harker lived at
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131 Pitt Street in this area
(Six Napoleons) . Mr. Melville
lived at Albemarle Mansion
(Wisteria Lodge) . Hugo Ober-
stein lived at 13 Caulfield
Gardens (Bruce-Partington).
Lower Burke Street was on the
area’s fringe (Dying Detec-
tive) .
As for Surrey (Sign of Four).
Neville St. Clair lived at the
Cedars, near Lee (Twisted
Lip). W watched his luggage
disappear aboard the Conti-
nental Express (Final Prob-
lem). Yoxley Old Place was
seven miles from Chatham
(Pince-Nez). H and W came
down for the investigation of
the Brackenstall murder (4b-
bey Grange).
MR. Surgeon attending God-
frey Emsworth. He was glad of
a consultation with Sir James
Saunders (Blanched Soldier).
Keswick. A London paperhanger
whose address, 13 Duncan
Street, Houndsditch, was
falsely given to a four-wheeler
to avoid pursuit by H (Study
in Scarlet) .

KENT.

KEeNT,



KHALIFA

KHALIFA. H visited him at Khartoum
(Empty House) .

KuAN, AspurLLAH. One of the Four.
He, with Mahomet Singh, was
under orders of Jonathan
Small at Agra Fort (Sign of
Four) .

KiLBurN. Maudsley lived in area
(Blue Carbuncle).

KimBERLEY. South Africa. Roaring
Jack Woodley was known here
(Solitary Cyclist) .

KiNne EDwArRD STREET. William Mor-
ris, alias Duncan Ross, gave a
fictitious address, No. 17, on
this street near St. Paul’s (Red-
headed League).

KinG, Mgrs. Cook for Hilton Cubitt,
who, with the housemaid,
Saunders, gave the alarm
(Dancing Men).

KiNG oF BoHEMIA. See Ormstein.

Kine’s CoLLEGE HospiTaL. Dr. Tre-
velyan occupied a minor po-
sition here for a while (Resi-
dent Patient).

King’s Cross. St. Saviour’s Church
was nearby (Case of Identity) .

KinG’s Cross StaTioN. H and W had
to go to Cambridge (Three-
Quarter) .

King’s PyLanp. Colonel Ross had his
training stable here (Silver
Blaze) .

KiNGsTON. Baron Gruner lived here,
at Vernon Lodge (Illustrious
Client).

KmrwaN, WiLLiaM. Coachman for
Mrs. Cunningham. He was
murdered by his employers in
Surrey (Reigate Puzzle).

K. K. K. Ku Klux Klan sent five or-
ange pips with its initials on
the envelope to Elias Open-
shaw March 10, 1883, and
after his death they sent the
same with a message to Joseph
Openshaw January 5, 1885,
and after his death they sent
the same to John Openshaw in
September, 1887. John met his
death at their hands as well.
Cf. Captain James Calhoun
(Five Orange Pips).

KLEIN. An aged German sugar king.
He married Isadora of Per-
nambuco, Brazil (Three Ga-

bles) .
KrLEIN, Isapora. Former Spanish
beauty, married sugar-king

Klein. As his widow, she had
an affair with Douglas Maber-
ley. On its termination, she
had Barney Stockdale obtain
the Maberley manuscript, for
she was about to marry the
Duke of Lomond, and the
manuscript, in novel form, ex-
posed her as a cruel despoiler.
In the end, she gave H a check
for £5000 to give to Mary
Maberley, Douglas’ mother
(Three Gables).

*Kropman. The Nihilist whose mur-
derous designs upon Count
von und zu Grafenstein were
foiled by H (Last Bow).

KNELLER. He painted a portrait of
one of the Baskervilles (The
Hound) .

KNiGHT’s PLACE. Miles Street turns in



KRATIDES, PAUL

here. H, W, and Toby on trail
of murderers of Bartholomew
Sholto. They followed a false
trail from here to Broderick &
Nelson’s timber yard (q.v.);
returned here and picked up
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the real trail. Cf. Broad Street
(Sign of Four).

KrATIDES, PAUL. From Athens. Mur-
dered by Harold Latimer and
Wilson Kemp. See Sophy.
(Greek Interpreter).
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LABurNUM LobGe. Josiah Brown
lived here (Six Napoleons).

LaBurNUM VALE. Laburnum Lodge
was here (Six Napoleons).

LacHINE. Villa of Colonel and Mrs.
Barclay at Aldershot (Crooked
Man) .

Lapy DAy. Dr. Trevelyan moved into
his Brook Street quarters on
this day (Resident Patient) .

LADY FRANCES CARFAX, DIS-
APPEARANCE OF. She fell
into the hands of the Shlessin-
gers, was nearly murdered, but
was saved by H.

LAFTER HALL. In Devon, near Basker-
ville Hall. Residence of Mr.
Frankland (The Hound).

“LA JEUNE FILLE A L’AGNEAU.” See
Greuze.

LAl Cuowpar. Old servant, subse-
quently deceased, who ad-
mitted Captain Morstan to the
home of Major John Sholto.
The captain had come to claim
his share of the Agra Treasure.
Lal and the major disposed of
the captain’s body and the
treasure (Sign of Four).

LAL Rao. Indian butler of Bartholo-
mew Sholto. He was arrested
by Athelney Jones as an ac-

cessory to the murder of Bar-
tholomew (Sign of Four).

LAMA, HEAD. H spent several days
with him (Empty House).

LaMBERLEY. In Sussex, south of
Horsham (Vampire).

LAMBETH. Sherman the taxidermist
lived here at No. 3 Pinchin
Lane (Sign of Four).

LANcASTER GATE. Aloysius Doran
took a furnished house here
(Noble Bachelor).

LANCASTER, JaMmEs. H told him that
the berth had been filled and
gave him half a sovereign. He
was too little a man (Black Pe-
ter) .

Lancet. H thought that Mr. Kent
might have been reading this
journal rather than the Spec-
tator (Blanched Soldier) .

LAngiaAM HoteL. London. From
this hotel, Captain Morstan
telegraphed his  daughter,
Mary, to meet him Decem-
ber 3, 1878 (Sign of Four).
Count Von Kramm, pseudo-
nym of Ormstein, King of Bo-
hemia, stayed here (Scandal in
Bohemia) . Philip Green stayed
here (Lady Frances Carfax) .

LAneMERE. In the Broads, Norfolk.
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LANGUR

The Trevors lived nearby
(Gloria Scott).

LaNGuUR. Largest and most human-
like of the climbing monkeys.
It was the best that Lowenstein
could provide at the time
(Creeping Man) .

LANNER, INSPECTOR. In charge of the
Blessington suicide, as he saw
it. It was murder, as H demon-
strated (Resident Patient).

Lark HarLL LANE. Four-wheeler car-
rying H, W, and Mary Mor-
stan en route to Thaddeus
Sholto (Sign of Four).

LA RoTHIERE, Louis. One of three se-
cret agents in London capable
of such a large-scale and im-
portant transaction. The other
two agents were Oberstein
and Lucas (Second Stain).
One of three secret agents in
London capable of such a
transaction. At this time the
others were Oberstein and
Meyer. La Rothié¢re lived in
Campden Mansions, Notting
Hill (Bruce-Partington). Lu-
cas, it will be remembered,
was eliminated from the list-
ing, and presumably Meyer
was an earlier (or later?) es-
pionage agent.

Lassus. Cf. polyphonic motets of;
also Holmes, Sherlock, under
Works.

LatiMEr, HaroLp. He wanted Mr.
Melas as an interpreter. Prob-
ably Sophy avenged her pre-
sumed brother, Paul Kratides
(Greek Interpreter).

LAaTiMER'S. On Oxford Street. W
bought boots here (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

*LAupEr. H felt sure of his belief that
Colonel Sebastian Moran had
something to do with the death
of Mrs. Stewart of this place
in 1887. W did not remember
the case (Empty House).

LAURISTON GARDENS. No. 3 was the
scene of Drebber’s murder
(Study in Scarlet) .

LAusanNE. W carried on investigation
at Hotel National here (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

LEADENHALL STREET. Hosmer Angel
was supposed to be a cashier in
an office here (Case of Iden-
tity) .

LeAaTHERHEAD. Helen Stoner in a
dog-cart from the Crown Inn
to here, en route to consult H.
Later, H and W from Water-
loo Station to here, to help

Helen. They  succeeded
(Speckled Band) .
LEsaNoN. Town in Pennsylvania

where Ezekiah Hopkins was
said to have been at home
(Red-headed League) .

LE Brun. French agent who was crip-
pled in Montmartre district of
Paris by Apaches. Baron
Gruner recalled the incident
to H. This was prior to H’s
severe beating by ruffians near
the Café Royal (Illustrious
Client).

Lzcoq. H thought that he was a “‘mis-
erable bungler.” W felt that
there was a touch of profes-
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LESTRADE, G.

sional jealousy in H (Study in
Scarlet) .

Lee. Kent. Neville St. Clair lived
near the town (Twisted Lip),
and John Scott Eccles lived at
Popham House (Wisteria
Lodge) .

LeE, GeEnNErAL R. E. His surrender
caused Elias Openshaw to re-
turn to his Florida plantation
(Five Orange Pips).

*LEECH, RED. Its repulsive story is in
one of W’s manuscript volumes
for 1894. Not yet published
(Pince-Nez) .

LEEps Mercury. Once when he was
young, H confessed that he had
confused this paper’s type with
that of the Western Morning
News (The Hound).

LEFEVRE OF MONTPELLIER. As for Von
Bischoff, q.v.

LecioN oF HoNour. To H in 1894 for
arrest of Huret (Pince-Nez).

LEIceSTER. Mr. Hargrave was reported
from here (Valley of Fear).

Leonarpo. The strong man in the
Ronder circus. He murdered
his boss, Ronder, put the
blame on Sahara King, and
was shielded by Ronder’s wife
for some seven years, then
drowned at Margate. Mrs.
Ronder confessed their crime
to H and W after Leonardo’s
death (Veiled Lodger).

Leper HospiTaL. A few miles from
Buffelsspruit in South Africa.
Godfrey Emsworth, wounded,
spent  the  mnight here
(Blanched Soldier) .

LeriDOPTERA. Jack Stapleton had a
fine collection of moths and
butterflies, and H was told at
the British Museum (of Natu-
ral History) that a species of
Yorkshire moth had been de-
scribed by Stapleton (The
Hound) .

Leprosy. Godfrey Emsworth was se-
questered, but Sir James
Saunders, on H’s intervention,
found that Godfrey was suffer-
ing from ichthyosis instead
(Blanched Soldier) .

LEsTRADE, G. Scotland Yard inspec-
tor. Called at 221B Baker
Street after H and W had been
there for about a week. “Little,
sallow, rat-faced, dark-eyed,”
as W describes
trade needed advice on a for-
gery case. He was jealous of
Inspector Gregson. Lestrade re-
ported the death of Joseph
Stangerson and his own failure
in the case to H and W and
asked H for help (Study in
Scarlet) . Retained in the Bos-
combe Valley Mystery, and he
asked H for help with the
case. Retained in the Noble
Bachelor. On instructions by
H, he arrested Colonel Moran
(Empty House) . Arrested Mr.
McFarlane for murder of
Jonas Oldacre (Norwood
Builder) . H would not inves-
tigate the murder of Charles
Augustus Milverton, although
Lestrade asked him to do so.
He consulted H on the break-

him. Les-
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LESURIER, MADAME

ing of plaster busts of Napo-
leon (Six Napoleons) . He con-
fided in H (Second Stain) . He
was on the way to Coombe
Tracy with an unsigned war-
rant on the advice of H (The
Hound) . He wanted to see H
(Cardboard Box). Lestrade
and Mycroft Holmes came over
to see H about Cadogan West
(Bruce-Partington) . He was
sought for by H and, the war-
rant being late in arriving, the
Shlessingers escaped  (Lady
Frances Carfax) . He consulted
H and found out that “John
Garrideb” was “Killer” Evans
(Garridebs) .

LESURIER, MADAME. Bond Street mil-
liner who did business with
William Derbyshire (Silver
Blaze) .

LETURIER. In Montpellier. Cf. Dolsky
for a similar reference.

Leuk. H and W left the Rhone Val-
ley, and by way of the Gemmi
Pass and Interlaken they came
to Meiringen (Final Prob-
lem).

LEVERSTOKE, Lorp. His son was at the
Priory School.

LEVERTON, MR. A. American detec-
tive sent by Pinkerton Detec-
tive Agency. He was on the in-
vestigation of the case with
Inspector Gregson. He was on
the trail of Gorgiano and was
pleased when Gennaro Lucca
killed Gorgiano (Red Circle).

LE ViLLARD, Francois. He was com-
ing to the fore in French de-

tective service. He consulted
H, and the latter thought
highly of him, although he
was deficient in a wide range
of exact knowledge. He was
translating some works of H
into the French (Sign of
Four).

Lewes. Constable Anderson would
hear from here, if he did not
handle the McPherson death
properly—so H told him how
to start on the case (Lion’s
Mane) .

Lewis, S1R GEORGE. Sir James Damery
arranged matters with him in
the Hammerford Will Case
(Illustrious Client).

LewisHAM. Josiah Amberley retired
at 61 from junior partnership
of Brickfall & Amberley and
bought a house here. At H’s in-
sistence, W went to investigate
the Amberley-Ernest double
disappearance (Retired Col-
ourman) .

LewisHAM caNG. The Randalls, a fa-
ther and two sons, composed
this group. Inspector Hopkins
thought that they had killed
Sir Eustace (Abbey Grange).

LexiNneToN, MRs. Housekeeper of
Mr. Oldacre. She had drawn
the night constable’s attention
to McFarlane’s thumb print.
H thought that she was in-
volved in Mr. Oldacre’s disap-
pearance (Norwood Builder).

Luassa, TiBET. H was here for some
days with the head lama
(Empty House).
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LomMmax

Lieder. See Mendelssohn.

LiME STREET. Van Seddar was here
(Mazarin Stone) .

LincoLN, ABraHAM. W likened J.
Neil Gibson to an “Abraham
Lincoln” keyed to base uses in-
stead of high ones (Thor
Bridge) .

Lion’'s MANE. Before Fitzroy Mc-
Pherson died, he cried what
sounded to H like “the lion’s
mane.” It turned out to be a
reference to the nematocyst-
studded tentacles of the me-
dusa, Cyanea capillata (Lion’s
Mane) .

LION’S MANE, ADVENTURE OF
THE. H is the narrator. It was
late July, 1907, and H had re-
tired to his place on the Sussex
downs. A giant medusa, Cyanea
capillata, killed both McPher-
son and his Airedale.

LITHOTYPES OF HANDS. See Holmes,
Sherlock, under Works.

Littie GEORGE STREET. Halliday’s
Hotel was here (Study in Scar-
let) .

LITTLE NEWSPAPER SHOP. Next to Mor-
timer’s, the tobacconist, on the
Strand (Red-headed League).

LirtLe PurrLINGTON. Essex. Not far
from Frinton. W spent a poor
night here with Josiah Amber-
ley, at the Railway Arms (Re-
tired Colourman).

Lirrte Ryper STrREET, W. N. Gar-
rideb lived at No. 136 (Gar-
ridebs) .

LiverrooL. Here was the Guion
Steamship Company, with

boats for New York (Study in
Scarlet) . False clue here as to
Lord Saltire’s whereabouts
(Priory Schooly. Mr. Har-
grave was reported from here
(Valley of Fear). Mary Cush-
man married Mr. Browner
here (Cardboard Box) . Count
Sylvius was going to tell H that
the jewel was here (Mazarin
Stone) .

LiverrooL, DUBLIN, & LLONDON STEAM
Packer CompaNny. The “May
Day” was one of their ships
(Cardboard Box) .

LiverrooL StaTiON. W found that he
and Josiah Amberley could
take a train from here to Little
Purlington at 5:20 (Retired
Colourman) .

LiverrooL STREET. Mr. Cubitt was to
reach here at 1:20 (Dancing
Men).

. These initials, in a woman’s
handwriting, were on a letter
of assignation to Sir Charles
Baskerville, asking him to be
at “the gate by ten o’clock.”
Butler Barrymore related this
to W and Sir Henry Basker-
ville. James Mortimer thought
that the woman might be
Laura Lyons (The Hound).

Lrovyp’s. H spent a day over their files,
tracing the “Lone Star” (Five
Orange Pips).

Lomax. A friend of W, sub-librarian
of the London Library. He
helped W select a volume on
Chinese pottery (Illustrious
Client) .
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LOMBARD STREET

LoMmBARD STREET. Mawson & Wil-
liams, stock-brokers, were here
(Stock-broker’s Clerk) .

LoMmonp, Duke oF. He was about to
marry Isadora Klein (Three
Gables) .

Lonpon. “. .. That great cesspool
into which all the loungers and
idlers of the Empire are irre-
sistibly drained” (Study in
Scarlet) .

Whether the case is solved
in the Baker Street chambers
or in metropolitan London,
the London vicinity, or outly-
ing districts, the record is full
of references to this city. The
comings and goings of Sher-
lock, John, their allies, and en-
emies are set down, often in
detail. In the following list a
certain amount of compression
has been used, and the Greater
London Area emphasized.
Case references are not given
after each street or place, for
these are available in the regu-
lar alphabetical listings. Pub-
lic buildings or places, as well
as thoroughfares, are cited,
and the number of times they
are mentioned is noted follow-
ing the reference. (Cf. inns
and hotels; restaurants and
bars; etc.)

Albert Dock 1
Aldersgate 1
Aldershot 1
Aldgate Station 1
Audley Court 1
Baker Street 22
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Bank of England 1

Barking Level 1

Bayswater 1

Beckenham 1

Belmont Place 1

Bentinck Street 1

Berkeley Square 1

Big Ben 1

Blackheath 1

Blackwall 1

Blanford Street 1

Bloomsbury 1

Bond Street 2

Bow Street and Police Station 1

British Museum (of Natural
History) 5

Brixton and Brixton Road 6

Broad Street 1

Brook Street 1

Camberwell and Camberwell
Road 4

Campdenhouse Road 1

Cannon Street 1

Carlton Terrace 1

Cavendish Square 1

Charing Cross and Charing Cross
Station 7

Charles Street 1

Chiswick 1

Church Row 1

Church Street 1

City, the 1

Clapham Junction 3

Coburg Square 1

Cold Harbour Lane 1

Commercial Road 1

Covent Garden 1

Craven Street 1

Curzon Square and Street 2

Deptford Reach 1

Doctor’s Common 1



LonDpoN

Downing Street 1
Duncan Street 1
East End 1
Edgware Road 2
Edmonton Street 1
Embankment, the 1
Endell Street 1
Euston Station 1
Farmingdon Street 1
Fenchurch Street 1
Fleet Street 2
Fresno Street 1
Fulham Road 1
Glasshouse Street 1
Gloucester Road & Street 1
Godolphin Street 1
Goodge Street 1
Gordon Square 1
Gravesend 2
Gray’s Inn Road 1
Great George Street 1
Great Orme Street 1
Great Peter Street Post Office 1
Greenwich 2
Grosvenor Square 1
Half Moon Street 1
Hammersmith & Hammersmith
Bridge 2
Hampstead & Hampstead
Heath 3
Hanover Square 1
Harley Street 2
Henrietta Street 1
High Street Station 1
Holborn Street 2
Holland Grove 1
Houndsditch 1
Houses of Parliament 1
Howe Street 1
Hudson Street 1
Hyde Park 1
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Inner Temple 1

Isle of Dogs 1

Italian Quarter 1

Ivy Lane 1
Kennington Land & Road 3
Kennington Park Gate 1
Kensington 5

Kilburn 1

King Edward Street 1
King’s Cross 1

King’s Cross Station 1
Kingston 1

Knight’s Place 1
Laburnum Vale 1
Lambeth 1

Lancaster Gate 1
Lark Hall Lane 1
Leadenhall Street 1
Lime Street 1

Little George Street 1
Little Ryder Street 1
Liverpool Station 2
Lombard Street 1
London Bridge 3
London Bridge Station 2
London Library 1
London Road 1
Lower Brixton Road 1
Lower Burke Street 1
Lower Camberwell 1
Lower Grove Road 1
Lower Norwood 1
Lowther Arcade 1
Lyceum Theatre 1
Lyon Place 1
Manchester Street 1
Margate 1

Marylebone Lane 1
Mayfield Place 1
Metropolitan Station 1
Miles Street 1



LoNpoN

Millbank Penitentiary 1 Serpentine Avenue 2

Mincing Lane 1 Shadwell Police Station 1

Minories 1 Shaftesbury Avenue 1

Montague Place 1 St. James’s Hall 1

Montague Street 1 St. James and St. James’s

Mortimer Street 1 Square 3

New Market Heath 1 St. John’s Wood 1

Nine Elms Street 1 St. Pancras 1

Norbury 1 St. Paul’s 1

Northumberland Avenue 3 Stepney 1

Norwood 1 Stockwell Place 1

Notting Hill 2 Strand 5

Old Jewry 1 Streatham 2

Oval, the 1 Surrey-side 2

Oxford Street 11 Thames River 2

Paddington & Paddington Sta- Threadneedle Street 2
tion 4 Throgmorton Street 1

Pall Mall 4 Torquay Terrace 1

Park Lane 1 Tottenham Court Road 3

Park, the 1 Tower 1

Peckham 1 Trafalgar Square 2

Pinchin Lane 1 Turpey Street 1

Pitt Street 1 Underground, the 2

Plumstead Marshes 1 Upper Swandam Lane 1

Pool, the 1 Vauxhall Bridge Road 1

Pope’s Court 1 Vere Street 1

Potter’s Terrace 1 Victoria and Victoria Station 5

Poultney Square 1 Vincent Square 1

Prince’s Street 1 Wandsworth Common 1

Priory Road 1 Waterloo Bridge 1

Queen Anne Street 1 Waterloo Bridge Road 2

Reading 1 Waterloo Station 6

Regent’s Circus 2 Welbeck Street 1

Regent Street 3 Wellington Station 1

Robert Street 1 West End 4

Rochester Row 1 West India Docks 1

Rotherhithe 1 Westminster 4

Russell Square 1 Westminster Bridge 1

Saffron Hill 1 White Hall 1

Saxe-Coburg Square 1 Wigmore Street and Wigmore

Scotland Yard 16 Street Post Office 2
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LoNne DownN

Wimpole Street 1

Wordsworth Road 1

Zoo 1

It will be seen from this listing
that Holmes and Watson cov-
ered a great deal of the metro-
politan area of Greater Lon-
don, much of it on foot and by
cab. Of the entries listed 161
are cited once, 23 twice, 8
three times, 5 four times, 4
five times, 2 six times, 1 seven
times, 1 eleven times, 1 sixteen
times, and 1 twenty-two times.
As would be expected, the
Chambers at 221B Baker
Street are often mentioned (22
times) , and typically H and W
strolled and did their shopping
close by, e.g., Oxford Street
(cited eleven times). Holmes
banked at the Oxford Street
branch of the Capital & Coun-
ties Bank, and Watson bought
boots at Latimer’s in this
street. Since many of their
cases were in outlying areas of
the city or in more remote
counties, the Underground
and railway stations were men-
tioned often, e.g., Charing
Cross seven times, and Water-
loo and Brixton each six times.
Scotland Yard would be a natu-
ral focus for many cases, and is
noted sixteen times. The sig-
nificance of these references is
almost self-evident: Watson
knew London quite well,
though he claimed only a
“limited knowledge,” while

Holmes knew it extraordinar-
ily well. Witness his calling
out of each name during the
swift ride through the foggy
night (Sign of Four).

Lonpon Brimge. Upper Swandam
Lane was on the north bank
(Twisted Lip). H et al were
here at 9:45 p.M. (Greek In-
terpreter) . W caught sight of
his shadow again (Retired
Colourman) .

LonpoN BrmGE STATION. McFarlane
was followed from here to
221B Baker (Norwood Build-
er) . If Cadogan West were re-
turning, this would have been
his station, but his body was at
Aldgate (Bruce-Partington).

LonpoN LiBrArY. In St. James’s
Square. W’s friend, Lomax,
was the sub-librarian (Illus-
trious Client).

LonpoN Roap. H and W en route
from the Cedars to London
(Twisted Lip).

LonpoN Times. See Times.

LonpoN University. W took his de-
gree here in 1878 (?) (Study
in Scarlet) . Dr. Trevelyan also
had his degree here (Resi-
dent Patient).

“LoNE STAR.” Bark out of Savannah,
Georgia, Captain James Cal-
houn in command. Sailed from
London for Savannah and pre-
sumed lost at sea (Five Orange
Pips) .

Lone DowN. James Mortimer exca-
vated here and found a prehis-
toric skull (The Hound).
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LonG Isn.AND CAVE MYSTERY

Long IsLAND CAVE MysTeErY. H rec-
ognized this case as a triumph
for Mr. Leverton (Red Cir-
cle).

LopPEz. Secretary to Mr. Henderson.
Alias Lucas, alias Rulli. Es-
caped from London and six
months later was killed in
Madrid (Wisteria Lodge) .

LowensTEIN, H. Prague correspond-
ent of Professor Presbury. Ac-
cording to W, Lowenstein was
an obscure scientist striving
for a technique of rejuvenes-
cence via monkey redactions.
At the time, he could supply
Presbury only with Langur
serum but thought that an-
thropoid sera would be bet-
ter. H was annoyed with Low-
enstein (Creeping Man).

Lower BrixtoN. Mpycroft Holmes
said that J. Davenport had
written his reply from here
(Greek Interpreter) .

Lower BrixToN Roap. Dr. Barnicot
had an ancillary surgery and
dispensary here (Six Napo-
leons) .

LoweEr BURkKE STREET. Culbertson
Smith, the Sumatra planter,
lived at No. 13 (Dying Detec-

tive) .

LoweErR CAMBERWELL. See Camber-
well.

Lower GiLL Moor. Near Priory
School.

Lower GrovE Roap. Mr. Sandeford
lived here (Six Napoleons).
Lower Norwoobp. Jonas Oldacre
lived here (Norwood Builder) .

Lucas. See Lopez.

Lucas, Epuarpo. With quarters on
Godolphin Street, one of three
secret agents in London capa-
ble of large transactions—the
others, at the time, were Ober-
stein and La Rothi¢re. He
held an indiscreet letter of
Lady Hilda Trelawney Hope
and was blackmailing her.
Alias for Henri Fournaye, q.v.
(Second Stain).

Lucca, EMiLiIA. Wife of Gennaro.
After Gennaro Kkilled Gorgi-
ano, H used their cipher to
bring her from Great Orme
Street to Howe Street. Née
Emilia Barelli (Red Circle).

Lucca, GENNARO. New York Italian.
Killed Gorgiano in a vacant
apartment in Howe Street. Mr.
Leverton of Pinkerton’s was
pleased (Red Circle).

LucernE. One of the labels on Doug-
las Maberley’s luggage (Three
Gables). The (fictitious con-
sumptive that needed W’s pro-
fessional service at the Eng-
lischer Hof was said to be on
her way to join friends here
(Final Problem) .

LuckNow. Indian city invaded in the
Great Mutiny (Sign of Four).

lunkah. See Indian lunkah.

LuxemBourc. H felt that he and W
should go to Switzerland via
this country (Final Problem).

Lyceum THEATRE. Mary Morstan
was asked to come to this thea-
tre at 7:00 p.M., about July 7,
1888, with two friends if she
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Lyons, LAURA

wished. She was to be at the
“third pillar from the left out-
side the Lyceum.” No police
were to be brought, and her
anonymous “unknown friend”
said that she was a “wronged
woman and shall have justice.”
Mary turned the note over to
H. H, W, and Mary kept the
assignation and went in Wil-
liams’ cab to Pondicherry
Lodge to meet Bartholomew
Sholto, after first picking up
Thaddeus Sholto. (Sign of
Four) .

LyncH, VicTor. Forger. In H’s index

under “V” (Vampire) .

LyoN Prace, CAMBERWELL. The
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Windibanks and Mary Suther-
land lived at No. 31 (Case of
Identity) .

Lyons. France. H was ill in the Hotel

Dulong and wired W to come;
W was there in twenty-four
hours (Reigate Puzzle).

Lyons, LAURA. Née Laura Frankland.

She married an artist, who de-
serted her. She lived in
Coombe Tracey, and James
Mortimer told W that she
might be the mysterious “L.
L.” When H demonstrated to
her that Jack Stapelton’s “sis-
ter,” Beryl, was his wife,
Laura promised to tell H all
(The Hound).






M

MaBERLEY, DoucLAs. Son of Mary.
When Isadora Klein refused
him marriage, he wrote up
their affair, disguised as a
novel. Isadora obtained and
burned the manuscript but
had to give H a check for
£5000 for Mary (Three Ga-
bles) .

MABERLEY, MARY. Mother of Douglas.
She was unconscious of the
course of events, but in the
end H gave her £5000 that
came from Isadora Klein, who
owed her “a little change of
air” (Three Gables).

*MABERLEY, MORTIMER. Deceased
husband of Mary and early
client of H. Case not recorded
(Three Gables).

MacDonALp, InspEcTOR ALec. H
called him “Mr. Mac.” Told H
that Mr. Douglas of Birlstone
Manor was “murdered.” He
was surprised to see Fred Por-
lock’s cipher on the matter at
221B Baker. H solved the case
of Ted Baldwin’s body being
represented for that of John
Douglas and convinced the in-
spector that Moriarty was be-

hind the scenes (Valley of
Fear) .

MacKINNON, INsPECcTOR. He was mol-
lified when H assured him that
H and Barker would not rob
him of the credit in the Josiah
Amberley case (Retired Col-
ourman) .

MackLETON. In northern England.
Dr. Huxtable’s school was
nearby (Priory School).

MAckLETON STATION. This was where
H could send telegrams (Pri-
ory School) .

MacpHAIL. Coachman for Professor
Presbury (Creeping Man).

MacPHERsON, ConsTABLE. He did not
tell all to Inspector Lestrade,
but H got on the trail at last
(Second Stain) .

MapEeIrA. H asked Mary Maberley if
she would like to go there
(Three Gables).

MADRAS. Jonathan Small imprisoned
here (Sign of Four).

Maprip. Trelawney Hope had a note
from here (Second Stain).
Don Murillo was traced here
from Barcelona (Wisteria
Lodge) , and he and his secre-
tary, under the alias of Mar-
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MAGGIE

quess of Montalva and of Si-
gnor Rulli, respectively, were
killed in the Hotel Escurial in
this city.

MaGcgIk. Sister of James Ryder (Blue
Carbuncle) .

MAIWAND, BATTLE OF. See Watson.

MALINGERING. H was thinking about
writing a monograph on this
subject (Dying Detective) .

MALPLAQUET DATE. It was on the door
lintel of old Mr. Cunning-
ham’s fine Queen Anne home,
near Reigate (Reigate Puz-
zle) .

MALTHUS, PRINCIPLES OF. The Daily

Telegraph managed to find

connection between these and

the murder of E. ]J. Drebber

(Study in Scarlet) .

WITH THE TWISTED
LIP, THE. June, 1889. Kate
Whitney asked the Watsons
for help. W found Kate’s hus-
band, Isa, and sent him home
in a cab and in doing so met H
in the Bar of Gold. The
twisted lip belonged to Hugh
Boone.

MaNAos. Brazil. J. Neil Gibson mar-
ried Maria Pinto of this city
(Thor Bridge) .

MANCHESTER STREET. H and W en

MAN

route to Camden House
(Empty House) .
*MaNor House Case. Mycroft

Holmes thought that Sherlock
would find this case too diffi-
cult, but Sherlock replied that
he had solved it (Greek Inter-

preter). So far no account is

available.
Manson oF Braprorp. As for Von

Bischoff, q.v.
MarLETON. Training stable of Lord
Backwater, near Tavistock.
Under the management of Si-
las Brown. Desborough, the
second favorite, was stabled
here (Silver Blaze).
(1) Priory School area (Pri-
ory School). (2) Professor
Coram’s house, by Stanley
Hopkins (Pince-Nez). (3)
Dr. Shlessinger was making a
map of the Holy Land (Lady
Frances Carfax). (4) Percy
Phelps showed H a chart of the
Foreign Office (Naval Treaty).
(5) H consulted a map of Lon-
don (Bruce-Partington) .

MAPS.

MaRrcINT’s. Restaurant where H and
W were to have dinner and
then go on to a box for “Les
Huguenots.” This was in cele-
bration of the long and difficult
Baskerville case (The Hound).

MarenGo. H thought of this case that
it was their Marengo, not their
Waterloo, since it began in de-
feat and ended in victory (4b-
bey Grange).

MARrGATE. The woman was suspect be-
cause she did not have powder
on her nose (Second Stain).
Leonardo  drowned  here
(Veiled Lodger).

MARINES, RovAL, LIGHT INFANTRY,
RETIRED SERGEANT IN. H mys
tified W by deducing this
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MAuDIE

much after a glance at their
caller (Study in Scarlet).

Marker, Mgrs. Elderly housekeeper
for Professor Coram (Pince-
Nez) .

MarseiLLEs. France. H refers to a case
here (Case of Identity).
MarsaaM. In Kent. Stanley Hopkins

wired for H (4bbey Grange).

MarTHA. Von Bork’s housekeeper.
She was actually an agent of
Altamont, alias for Sherlock
Holmes, and was to report to
H later at Claridge’s Hotel
(Last Bow).

MarTIN, INsPEcTOR. Of Norwich.
Called in to investigate the
death of Hilton Cubitt. He ar-
rested Abe Slaney with the
help of H (Dancing Men).

MARTIN, LIEUTENANT. In charge of
eighteen soldiers on the
“Gloria Scott.”

MArTINI BULLET. Mentioned by H
(Sign of Four).

Martyrdom of Man, The. W could
not concentrate on Winwoode
Reade’s book for thoughts of
Mary Morstan (Study in Scar-
let) .

Marx & Co. High Holborn. Supplied
clothing to Aloysius Garcia but
knew nothing about him ex-
cept that he was a good
spender (Wisteria Lodge) .

Mary. Servant of Elias Openshaw

(Five Orange Pips) .

Maid to Mary Maberley

(Three Gables).

Mary JANE. Maid to whom Mary

MaARry.

Morstan Watson gave notice
(Scandal in Bohemia) .
MARYLEBONE LANE. The van that al-
most ran down H was gone in
an instant (Final Problem).

Mason. Plate-layer employed by the
Underground. He discovered
the body of Cadogan West just
outside the Aldgate Station
(Bruce-Partington) .

MasoN, Joun. Head trainer of the
Shoscombe stud and training
stables. He wrote to H, and H
exposed the concealment of
Lady Falder’s death (Shos-
combe) .

MasoN, Mrs. Nurse at Robert Fer-
guson’s home in Sussex (Vam-
pire) .

Mason, WHITE. Local police officer at
Birlstone, Sussex. He wired
Inspector MacDonald to come
from London, with H if pos-
sible, to investigate the death
of “John Douglas.” H solved
the substitution of Ted Bald-
win’s body for that of Douglas
and told them that Professor
Moriarty was involved in the
case (Valley of Fear).

*MATHEWS. He knocked out H’s left
canine in the Charing Cross
waiting room (Empty House) .
This might seem small beer,
but a case may be involved
worthy of W’s attention.

*“MaTILDA BRrices.” This ship was as-
sociated with the giant rat of
Sumatra in a case not yet dis-
closed to the public (Vam-

pire) .
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MAUDSLEY

Maupie. She had written “I will be
there, you may be sure,” and
the message was in Fitzroy Mc-
Pherson’s pocket, in his card-
case. She was Maud Bellamy of
Fulworth (Lion’s Mane) .

MaupsLey. He was an evil influence
on James Ryder (Blue Car-
buncle) .

*MAUPERTIUS, BARON. He had colossal
schemes (Reigate Puzzle).

Maurrtius. Mr. Fowler took a govern-
ment appointment here (Cop-
per Beeches) .

MawsoN & WiLLIAMS. Stock-brokers
in Lombard Street (Stock-
broker’s Clerk) .

“May Day.” Jim Browner, steward of
this ship, was married to Mary
(née Cushing). He was ar-
rested by Lestrade in London,
on H’s information, for the
murders of Mary and Alec
Fairbairn (Cardboard Box).

MAYFIELD PLACE, PECKHAM, LoN-
poN. No. 3 was the dubious ad-
dress of the dubious Sally
Dennis (Study in Scarlet) .

MAyNooOTH, EARL oF. Governor of an
Australian colony. His wife,
Lady Maynooth, and his son
and daughter, Ronald and
Hilda Adair, were in London
for his wife’s cataract operation
(Empty House) .

MaynooTH, Lapy. Wife of the earl,
in town for an operation, and
living with Ronald and Hilda
Adair at 427 Park Lane
(Empty House) .

MazarIN sTONE. Yellow, worth at

least 100,000 quid. H snatched
it from Count Sylvius and, la-
ter, put it in the pocket of

Lord Cantlemere (Mazarin
Stone) .
MAZARIN STONE, ADVEN-

TURE OF THE. Prior to
February 13, 1892. Lord Can-
tlemere came to sneer but re-
mained to praise as H foiled
Count Sylvius and recaptured
the jewel.

McCartHY, CHARLES. Of Australia.
He “rented” the Hatherley
Farm from John Turner (Bos-
combe) .

McCArTHY, JAMES. Son of Charles.
He was seen in an altercation
with his father by Patience
Moran, near Boscombe Pool.
He was tried for murder but
acquitted, with information
supplied by H (Boscombe).

MCFARLANE, JoHN HEcTOR. H saves
him from a murder conviction
(Norwood Builder).

MCFARLANE’S CARRIAGE-BUILDING DE-
poT. Next to the Vegetarian
Restaurant on the Strand
(Red-headed League) .

McGINTY, “BODYMASTER.” Mrs. John
Douglas associated this man’s
name with the Valley of Fear.

MCcLAREN, MiLEs. Brilliant student;
wayward, unprincipled, and
innocent in the case (Three
Students) .

McMurpo. Servant of Bartholomew
Sholto. He allowed Thaddeus
Sholto, H, W, and Mary Mor-
stan to enter Pondicherry

116



MERRYWEATHER, MR.

Lodge. Later he was arrested by
Athelney Jones as an accessory
to the murder of his employer,
Bartholomew (Sign of Four).
McPuERSON, FiTzroy. Science master
at The Gables. He died ex-
claiming “the lion’s mane” to
H and Harold Stackhurst, or
so H thought. Later, his Aire-
dale was killed near the same
spot, and still later Murdoch
was attacked there. H led the
survivors to the culprit (Lion’s

Mane) .
McQuire’s camp. Near the Rocky
Mountains, where Francis

Moulton became engaged to
Hatty Doran in 1884 (Noble
Bachelor) .

MEcca. Visited by H (Empty House) .

MEDIEVAL POTTERY. As for miracle
plays.

MEEK, SIR JAsPER. Distinguished phy-
sician that W wanted to bring
in to examine H (Dying De-
tective) .

MEIRINGEN, SWITZERLAND. On May 3,
1891, H and W arrived and put
up at the Englischer Hof (Fi-
nal Problem).

MEeLaAs, MR. Of Greek extraction, and
a remarkable linguist. W and
H saved his life (Greek Inter-
preter) .

MELBOURNE. Australia. A gold con-
voy on its way here was at-
tacked by the Ballarat gang
(Boscombe) .

MEeLvILLE. Retired brewer living at
Albemarle Mansion, Kensing-
ton. He was a friend of John

Scott Eccles (Wisteria Lodge) .

MENDELSSOHN's Lieder. H played
some for W on his violin
(Study in Scarlet) .

MErceR. He became a general utility
man for H after W stopped liv-
ing at 221B Baker, circa 1903
or a little earlier (Creeping
Man) .

MEeRrEDITH, GEORGE. H wanted to talk
to W about him (Boscombe) .

MEREER. Second Mate on the “Gloria
Scott.”

*MERIVALE, INsPECTOR. Friend of H
at Scotland Yard who asked H
to look into the St. Pancras
case. This was not one of H’s
cases, as such, but he obviously
contributed to its solution.
Probably there are no notes of
the affair (Shoscombe).

*MerriDEW. He was in H’s index
of biographies and  was
of ‘“abominable memory”
(Empty House) .

MERRILOW, MRs. South Brixton land-
lady. She asked H to come and
talk to her lodger whose face
she had seen only once in seven
years (Veiled Lodger).

MEerrreiT House. Home of Stapleton,
the local naturalist (The
Hound) .

MEerrow, Lorp. Trelawney Hope had
his letter (Second Stain).

MERRYWEATHER, MR. A director of the
Coburg branch of the City &
Suburban Bank. He led H’s
party to the bank to capture
John Clay and his accomplice
(Red-headed League).
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MERTON, SAM

MEeRrTON, SAM. A boxer. He was to
take the Mazarin stone to Van
Seddar, but H gave it to Lord
Cantlemere, and Sam was ar-
rested with Count Sylvius
(Mazarin Stone) .

METROPOLITAN. Some of the Under-
ground trains passing the Ald-
gate Station were of this sort
(Bruce-Partington) .

METROPOLITAN STATION. Near 221B
Baker Street, on the Under-
ground (Beryl Coronet).

MEUNIER, MoNSIEUR Oscar. Of Gre-
noble. He made a wax bust of
H with which to decoy Colo-
nel Moran. Mrs. Hudson
moved the bust every quarter-
hour (Empty House).

MEXBOROUGH PRIVATE HoteL. On
Craven Street. Jack and Beryl
Stapleton stayed here (The
Hound).

MEYER, ApoLPH. An important spy,
living at 13 Great George
Street. He was one of three
agents capable of handling
large affairs—the others at the
time were Oberstein and La
Rothi¢re (Bruce-Partington) .

MEYERs. Boot-maker in Toronto,
Canada. Henry Baskerville
bought a pair of boots here,
and after one boot disappeared
at the Northumberland Hotel,
H recovered it later in the
Grimpen Mire at Dartmoor
(The Hound) .

MIcHAEL. Stable-hand at the Ferguson
estate in Sussex (Vampire).

MippLEsEx. H and W en route to the

Cedars, in Kent (Twisted
Lip). Miss Pinner lived here
(Yellow Face).

MippLETON. Mr. Frankland won the
case which established a right-
of-way through the center of
the magnate’s park (The
Hound) .

Mip1ANITES. Dr. Shlessinger was writ-
ing a monograph on their king-
dom—or so it was said (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

MipLAND  ELECTRICAL  COMPANY.
Cyril Morton worked here
(Solitary Cyclist) .

Mipranps. Hall Pycroft was foolish
enough to go to Birmingham
(Stockbroker’s Clerk) .

MiraNo. One of the labels on Doug-
las Maberley’s luggage which
was sent from Italy to his
mother, Mary (Three Ga-
bles) .

MiLes, HONOURABLE Miss. Her mar-
riage to Colonel Dorking was
off when she could not provide
£1,200 to retrieve imprudent
documents from Milverton the
blackmailer (Milverton).

MiLes STReeT. H, W, and Toby on
trail of murderers of Bartholo-
mew Sholto (Sign of Four).

MiLLAR, Miss FLorA. A danseuse at
the Allegro, arrested by Le-
strade. She was friendly with
Lord St. Simon (Noble Bache-
lor).

MiLLBANK PENITENTIARY. H and W
landed near here, after missing
the “Aurora” (Sign of Four).

MILNER, GODFREY. He and his part-
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MoONTALVA, MARQUESS OF

ner, Lord Balmoral, lost £420
to Ronald Adair and Colonel
Moran at one sitting (Empty
House) .

MiLvERTON, CHARLES  AUGUSTUS.
“The worst man in London,”
according to H. He was an un-
scrupulous rascal, a king of
blackmailers. He  wanted
£7000 from Lady Eva Black-
well as his price not to reveal
indiscreet letters to her fiancé,
the Earl of Dovercourt. H, dis-
guised as a young plumber, Es-
cott, became engaged to Mil-
verton’s housemaid, so that the
watchdog would be locked up
nights. H and W burgled Mil-
verton’s safe, destroyed the
contents, and Milverton was
killed by a lady in disguise. H
refused to investigate the
death of Milverton (M:ilver-
ton).

MinciNGg LANE. Firm of Ferguson &
Muirhead was here (Vam-
pire) .

MinG DyNasTy. The blue saucer was
of this period. Sir James Dam-
ery had borrowed it for H, to
loan to W, to discuss its possi-
ble sale with Baron Gruner
(Illustrious Client).

Minories. Old Straubenzee had his
gunsmith shop here (Mazarin
Stone) .

MirACLE pLAYS. This was one of a
number of topics discoursed
upon by H when he, W, and
Inspector Athelney Jones were
at dinner at 221B Baker, on

the eve of the chase of the
“Aurora” (Sign of Four).

MISSING THREE-QUARTER, AD-
VENTURE OF THE. Feb-
ruary. Cyril Overton consulted
H; his rugger ace has van-
ished, and Cambridge was to
meet Oxford the next day. Ox-
ford won by a goal and two
tries. Missing Godfrey Staun-
ton was at his secret wife’s
bedside. She died despite Dr.
Armstrong’s efforts, and H
and W said nothing about it to
Lord Mount-]James.

MitroN, Joun. Valet to Eduardo Lu-

cas. He was arrested but re-
leased in connection with his
master’s murder  (Second
Stain) .

MorFaT. One of the Worthingdon
bank gang (Resident Patient) .

MoLESEY MysTERY. This was a case
that H felt that Lestrade
handled with less than his cus-
tomary obtuseness while H
was away (Empty House).

MONGOOSE. ‘“Teddy” was poor Henry
Wood’s mongoose (Crooked
Man) .

MONOGRAPHS OF H. See Holmes,
Sherlock, under Works.
MONTAGUE PrAck. Address of Violet

Hunter (Copper Beeches) .
MoONTAGUE STREET. H had his first
London rooms here as a pro-
fessional student of crime. His
chambers were “just around
the corner from the British
Museum” (Musgrave Ritual).
MoNTALVA, MARQUESs OF. Alias Mr.
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MONTANA

Henderson of High Gable,
Surrey. Alias for Don Juan
Murillo, San Pedro dictator.
He was killed, with his secre-
tary, Signor Rulli, at the Hotel
Escurial in Madrid, six months
after the escape from London
(Wisteria Lodge) .

MonTANA.  Francis Moulton pros-
pected here (Noble Bachelor).

MoNTGOMERY, INsPECTOR. Took Jim
Browner’s statement at the
Shadwell Police Station, and
Lestrade sent a copy to H
(Cardboard Box) .

MONTMARTRE DISTRICT OF PARris. Le
Brun was crippled here in an

by Apaches. Baron
Gruner recalled the incident
to H, and later H was assaulted
in London, near the Café
Royal (Illustrious Client).

MonTPELLIER. France. The Crédit
Lyonnais at which Marie De-
vine’s check was cashed was
here (Lady Frances Carfax).
Miss Devine lived here, at 11
Rue de Trajan.

MONTPELLIER LABORATORY. In south-
ern France. H visited here long
enough for some research on

assault

coal-tar derivatives (Empty
House) .

*MONTPENSIER, MME. See Carére,
Mlle.

MonTrACHET. H and W had a bottle
with a cold partridge before
interviewing Mrs. Ronder
(Veiled Lodger).

MoorHousE. He was on the Cam-

bridge rugger team (Three-
Quarter) .

MoorsibE GArDENs, N.W. Count Syl-
vius lived at No. 136 (Mazarin
Stone) .

MoorviLLE, Kansas. “John Garri-
deb” was said to have lived
here (Garridebs).

MoraN, CoLONEL SEBASTIAN. He was
Professor Moriarty’s chief of
staff, and his salary ran to
£6000 a year (Valley of Fear).
H considered him the second
most dangerous man in Lon-
don (he moved into first place
after  Professor ~ Moriarty’s
death) . He played cards often
with Ronald Adair. See Mr.
Murray, for a particular
game. The Colonel and Ron-
ald, as partners, once won
£420 from Godfrey Milner
and Lord Balmoral at a sitting.
He murdered Ronald Adair
and, later, shot a dummy of H
at 221B Baker from Camden
House—where he was cap-
tured by H and W and turned
over to Lestrade. He was once
in Her Majesty’s Indian Army,
and the best heavy-game shot
in the Eastern Empire. Author
of Heavy Game of the Western
Himalayas (1881) and Three
Months in the Jungle (1884)
(Empty House) . H recalls him
in His Last Bow.

MoraN, PaTIENCE. Fourteen-year-old
daughter of John Turner’s
lodgekeeper. She saw James
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MORIARTY, PROFESSOR

and Charles McCarthy quar-
reling at Boscombe Pool (Bos-
combe) .

MoRrcAR, CounTEss oF. Her blue car-
buncle finally was found in the
crop of a Christmas goose
(Blue Carbuncle).

*MorcaN. He was a poisoner listed in
H’s index of biographies
(Empty House). There may
be notes of a case here, al-
though the suggestion is not
as strong as in the instance of
Merridew.

MORECROFT. Alias “Killer” Evans, q.v.

MoriArTy, CoronEL. He defended
the memory of his brother,
Professor Moriarty  (Final
Problem) .

MoriarTY, PRrROFESsOrR. One of the
world’s great criminals, with
an intricate and far-flung or-
ganization. He was responsible
for much of the major crime in
London, yet was cloaked in an
air of respectability. His pro-
fessorship was a chair of only
£700 a year, yet he paid his
chief of staff, Colonel Moran,
£6000 a year (q.v.) and could
purchase very expensive paint-
ings (cf. Greuze). He was a
brilliant man, author of the
abstruse The Dynamics of an
dsteroid. As usual, there were
some weak spots in his organi-
zation, and Porlock (q.v.) was
one that H had contacted. Mo-
riarty apparently had at least
two brothers. His younger
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brother was a West England
station master (Valley of
Fear), and the other one was
Colonel Moriarty (q.v.).

When John Douglas was lost
overboard, H felt that Mori-
arty was at the bottom of the
whole case and that he was the
author of the odd note that was
sent to H (Valley of Fear).

H described him as a great
mathematician and king of the
criminals, a ‘“Napoleon of
crime.” After presumably a
long contest between Moriarty
and H, Moriarty escaped H’s
net, along with Colonel Mo-
ran, although most of the gang
was captured. When H and W
left England secretly, to escape
retaliation while the gang was
being rounded up, Moriarty
must have deduced their plan
and followed them to Switzer-
land. He sent a bogus message
that separated W from H and
then trailed H, and the two
fought on a ledge overlooking
the Reichenbach Falls. Mori-
arty fell into the chasm (Final
Problem) .

Several years later, when H
made a dramatic reappearance
in London to secure the arrest
of Colonel Sebastian Moran,
he recalled Moriarty as “one of
the great brains of the cen-
tury” (Empty House).

H felt that Dr. Leslie Arm-
strong could fill Professor Mo-



MOoRLAND, SIR JOHN

riarty’s place, were he to turn
his great talents from good to
evil (Three-Quarter) .

H recalled Professor Mori-
arty in His Last Bow.

MoRLAND, SIR JoHN. It cost Mr.
Frankland £200 to get a ver-
dict against Sir John for shoot-
ing in his own warren (The
Hound) .

Mornmons. See Country of the Saints
(Study in Scarlet) .

Morning Chronicle, The. London
newspaper that carried the ad-
vertisement of the Red-headed
League on April 27, 1890. Car-
ried the advertisement of the
wanted whereabouts of Hos-
mer Angel (Case of Identity).
Gave an account of John Stra-
ker's murder and the disap-
pearance of the race favorite,
Silver Blaze.

Morning Post. London newspaper
that carried the news that Lord
St. Simon was to marry Miss
Hatty Doran (Noble Bache-
lor) . Contained a paragraph
stating that the Miles-Dorking
wedding was off (Milverton).
Also a paragraph to the effect
that the Gruner-de Merville
nuptials were off (Illustrious
Client).

MorpHINE. H took this drug on occa-
sion, instead of cocaine (Sign
of Four).

MorpHY, ALICE. Daughter of Profes-
sor Morphy and engaged to
Professor Presbury (Creeping
Man) .

MorpHY, PrROFESsOR. Father of Alice
and Colleague of Professor
Presbury in chair of compara-
tive anatomy at Camford Uni-
versity (Creeping Man).

Morris, WiLLiaM. Alias of John
Clay, when he posed as a law-
yer who wished to rent the of-
fice of the fictitious Red-
headed League at 7 Pope’s
Court. Cf. John Clay.

Morrison, ANNIE. H did not know
just what her relations were
with Alec Cunningham and
William Kirwan (Reigate Puz-
zle).

MorrisoN, Miss. She went with Mrs.
Barclay to a meeting at the
Guild of St. George. She saw
Henry Wood and later told H
what she knew. This informa-
tion was crucial in the case
(Crooked Man) .

MOoRRrISON, MoORRISON & Dobp. Old
Jewry  machinery assessors
(Vampire) .

MoRrsTAN, CAPTAIN ARTHUR. In the
34th Bombay Infantry. He was
second-in-command, under
Major Sholto, in the Andaman
Islands. He obtained a year’s
leave and returned to England,
where he took a room at the
Langham Hotel. He wired his
daughter, Mary, to meet him
at the hotel. Mary came in to
find his luggage in his room,
but he had disappeared. This
was on December 3, 1878.

Nearly ten years later Thad-
deus Sholto, son of the major,
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MORSTAN, Miss MARY

related what his father had
told him. Namely, that the
captain had come to Pondi-
cherry Lodge, where Major
Sholto then lived in retire-
ment, on his arrival in Eng-
land on his year’s leave. Cap-
tain Morstan had disagreed
with Major Sholto on the divi-
sion of the Agra Treasure. In
the course of this argument,
Captain Morstan had had a
heart attack, fallen, hit his head
on the Agra treasure-chest, and
died. Major Sholto and Lal
Chowdar had then disposed of
the captain’s body (Sign of
Four).

MorsTaN, Miss Mary. Daughter of

Captain Morstan. Blond,
dainty, petite, and well-gloved,
according to W, yet apparently
in reduced circumstances. She
called on H, on the advice
of Mrs. Cecil Forrester (q.v.).
W started to leave, but with
her blue eyes upon him, Mary
asked him to stay. The con-
quest of W had begun.
Having lost his wife when
Mary was a small child, and
not having any living kin, Cap-
tain Morstan placed Mary in
an Edinburgh boarding school
until she was seventeen. Later,
Mary got her father’s wire and
came to the Langham Hotel to
meet him after so long a time,
only to find her father gone
(vide supra). With her father
disappeared, she notified the
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police and also contacted his
former superior officer, Major
Sholto. The major told Mary
that he did not even know that
her father was in England.

Some six years before the
call on Holmes, on May 4,
1882, an advertisement had ap-
peared in the London Times
requesting the address of Mary
Morstan. At the time she was
governess for Mrs. Cecil For-
rester, and acting on the lat-
ter’s advice, Mary gave her
address in a Times advertise-
ment. On the same day Mary
received a large pearl in the
post. Since then, a large pearl
had been sent to her each year
on the same date in early May.
There had been six such
pearls. An expert had pro-
nounced them to be of a rare
variety, and very valuable.
Mary had not parted with
them as yet.

On July 7  (probably
1888), Mary received a letter
asking for a meeting. This is
the reason Mary called on H.
H, W, and Mary kept the ap-
pointment. For subsequent
events in the case, see Thad-
deus Sholto.

Mary and W held hands on
the grounds of Pondicherry
Lodge. This became the resi-
dence of Bartholomew Sholto.
Later on in the case W called
on Mary and Mrs. Forrester to
give them news of the hunt



MORTIMER

after the murderers of Barthol-
omew Sholto. Still later, W
brought
chest to Mrs. Forrester’s house.
When they forced the lid of
the chest, they found that it
was empty. Apparently both
Mary and W were relieved by
this lack of wealth, and W
promptly proposed marriage
to Mary. She accepted happily
(Sign of Four).
See Mary Watson for subse-
quent events in her life.
MorTIMER. Gardener to Professor
Coram, he was an “old Cri-
mean man” (Pince-Nez).
MORTIMER, JAMES. Grimpen, Dart-
moor, Devon. As H thought,
he did have a curly-haired
spaniel. Although he had no
wish to be fulsome, he did
covet H’s skull. Nonetheless,
he irritated H by saying H was
the second greatest detective in
Europe (after Bertillon, q.v.).
He returned with W and
Henry Baskerville, after con-
sultation with H, to Basker-
ville Hall. After the case was
over, he had to go with Sir
Henry for a year’s voyage
around the world. His spaniel
was eaten by the black dog of
Jack Stapleton in the Grimpen
Mire (The Hound).

MorTIMER STREET. H took W via an
alley that led to this street (Fi-
nal Problem).

MorTIMER’S. A tobacconist’s shop

the Agra treasure-

on the Strand (Red-headed
League) .

MorToN. He was on the Oxford rug-
ger team (Three-Quarter).

MortoN, CyriL. He was in love with
Violet Smith. Eventually he
married Violet and with her
fortune became senior partner
of a Westminster electricians’
firm (Solitary Cyclist).

MorTON, INsPECTOR. He was an old ac-
quaintance from Scotland Yard.
He told W that he had heard
of H’s illness. Later he arrested
Culverton Smith on H’s evi-
dence (Dying Detective) .

MortoN & KENNEDY. Famous West-
minster electricians (Solitary
Cyclist) .

MorTON & WayLIGHT'S. In Totten-
ham Court Road. Mr. Warren
was their timekeeper. When
two men seized Mr. Warren
and later dumped him out on
Hampstead Heath, Mrs. War-
ren felt that it was the fault of
her unknown lodger (Red Cir-
cle) .

Moser, M. Manager of the Hotel Na-
tional in Lausanne (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

MossMOOR cuM LITTLE PURLINGTON.
The living of the Vicar, J. C.
Elman (Retired Colourman).

Mourton, Francis HAay. He married
Hatty Doran (Noble Bache-
lor).

MourToN, MRrs. Francis HAy. Née
Hatty Doran (Noble Bache-
lor).
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MuURrrAY

Mount HARrRIET. See Hope Town.

MounT-JaMmEs, Lorp. Uncle of God-
frey Staunton. He never
learned of his nephew’s mar-
riage (Three-Quarter) .

Mounts Bay. H’s and W’s quarters on
the Cornish peninsula looked
out over this area (Devil’s
Foot).

M.R.C.S. Mr. James Mortimer (not
Dr) was a member (The
Hound).

MULLER, THE NOTORIOUS. As for Von
BiscHOFF, q.v.

MunicH. Germany. There was a case
here, the year after the Franco-
Prussian War, that H felt was
similar to the affair of the No-
ble Bachelor.

Munro, CoLONEL SPENCE. He moved
to Halifax, Nova Scotia (Cop-
per Beeches) .

Munro, ErrFiE. She went to America
when young and married Mr.
Hebron of Atlanta, Georgia.
She returned to live with her
aunt at Pinner in Middlesex,
and in due course she was mar-
ried a second time, to Grant
Munro. Her first husband and
child were said to have died of
yellow fever (Yellow Face).

Munro, GRANT. Husband of Effie. He
was a hop merchant. He con-
sulted H (Yellow Face).

MurcHER, Harry. London constable
and an acquaintance of Con-
stable John Rance (Study in
Scarlet) .

MurpocH, IaN. Mathematics coach at

The Gables. He went for the
police at Fulworth. He, too,
was almost killed in the la-
goon. When H exposed Cya-
nea as the killer, Ian and Har-
old Stackhurst composed their
differences (Lion’s Mane).

Murcer, HENrI. Author of Vie de
Boheme, which was read by
W (Study in Scarlet) .

*MuriLLo. An ex-President. His pa-
pers, according to W, led to a
case that, presumably, was in-
vestigated some months after
the capture of Colonel Moran,
but there has been no further
word (Norwood Builder).

MuriLLo, DoN Juan. Tiger of San Pe-
dro. Alias Mr. Henderson, of
High Gable, near Oxshott, in
Surrey. Alias Marquess of
Montalva. The dictator es-
caped from the palace with his
secretary and daughters and
came to England finally, via
Paris, Rome, Madrid, and Bar-
celona (Wisteria Lodge) .

MurpHY. An intoxicated gipsy horse-
dealer who heard cries in the
night (The Hound).

MurrHY, MAjor. Under the com-
mand of Colonel James Bar-
clay. He told H what he knew,
but it was mnot enough
(Crooked Man) .

Murray. Watson’s orderly, who saved
him from Ghazis at the battle
of Maiwand when W was
wounded (Study in Scarlet).
Cf. Watson, John.
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MURRAY

MurraAy. He played a rubber of whist

at the Bagatelle card club on
the afternoon of March 30,
1894, with Ronald Adair, Sir
John Hardy, and Colonel Mo-
ran (Empty House).

Museum. The Alpha Inn was nearby

(Blue Carbuncle) . Cf. British
Museum; Scotland Yard Mu-
seum (Empty House). James
Mortimer spent an afternoon
at the Museum of the College
of Surgeons (The Hound). H
inquired of Jack Stapleton at
the British Museum (The
Hound) . H spent a morning at
the British Museum (Wisteria
Lodge). The Warrens lived
near the British Museum, on
Great Orme Street (Red Cir-
cle). H’s first chambers were
near the British Museum
(Musgrave Ritual).

MusGrAVE, REGINALD. He had a slight

acquaintance with H. He dis-
missed Brunton, his butler,
and H solved this early case
(Musgrave Ritual).

MUSGRAVE RITUAL, THE. This

case was before the collabora-
tion of W with H and early in
H’s career as a professional,
not long after the Gloria Scott
case. Laid in Sussex, at Hurl-
stone Manor House. H solved
the problem. Possibly some-
time between 1877 and 1880.

MUusGrRAVE, Sik RALPH. This devoted

follower of Charles the Second
was an ancestor of Reginald
Musgrave. The latter did not
appreciate his ancestor’s posi-
tion (Musgrave Ritual).

Murtiny. Great Indian Mutiny is im-

plied. W was wounded in this
struggle (Study in Scarlet).
Jonathan Small and his three
companions obtained the Agra
(Sign of Four).
The Royal Munsters served
(Crooked Man).

Treasure

MyrTLES, THE. Beckenham. Sophy
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Nana Sauis. Escaped over the fron-
tier on the collapse of the In-
dian Mutiny (Sign of Four).

NarrEes. Italy. Pietro Venucci came
from this city and met his
death in London (Six Napo-
leons) . Nearby was the village
of Posilippo (Red Circle).

NapoLEON. Busts of him were being
stolen and then smashed. Les-
trade was mystified, and H was
elated (Six Napoleons). ‘“Na-
poleon of crime,” H said of
Professor ~ Moriarty  (Final
Problem) .

NaArBONNE. France. W had a note
from H from here in the spring
of 1891 (Final Problem).

NAVAL TREATY, THE. July after
the marriage of W. Percy
Phelps needed H to save his

for papers had
been stolen. H intervened.

“NEAL,

reputation,

OUTFITTER, VERMISSA,
U. S. A.” This was the tab on
the neck of the yellow over-
coat. It had a long pocket that
could have held the sawed-off
shotgun. The coat belonged to
Mr. (Valley of
Fear).

Hargrave

NEAPOLITAN SOCIETY, A. The Red Cir-
cle was such and was allied to
the Carbonari (Red Circle).

NEep, UncLE. He left his niece, Mary
Sutherland, an income of £100
a year from New Zealand stock
(Case of Identity) .

NeGro, THE. This was Mr. Heath
Newton’s horse in the Wessex
Cup race (Silver Blaze).

NEeiLL, GENERAL. His column re-
lieved Bhurtee, India, the day
after Corporal Henry Wood
was betrayed and captured by
rebels in the Mutiny (Crooked
Man) .

NELIGAN, JouN HoPLEY. Son of Neli-
gan, the junior partner of Daw-
son & Neligan. His father fled
to Norway with securities.
Later some of these appeared
on the London market, sold by
Captain Peter Carey. John was
arrested by Inspector Stanley
Hopkins but released when H
supplied the killer (Black Pe-
ter) .

NepauL [NEepaL]. Tortured Henry
Wood was taken here by rebels
during the Indian Mutiny
(Crooked Man) .

NEruDA, NorMAN., “Her attack and
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NETHER WALSLING

her bowing are splendid,” ac-
cording to H, who felt that she
played  Chopin  “magnifi-
cently” (Study in Scarlet).
NETHER WALsLING. Home of Rev.

Joshua Stone (Wisteria
Lodge) .
*NETHERLAND-SUMATRA  COMPANY.

H exerted himself in this case
in the spring of 1887 (Reigate
Puzzle) .

NeTLEY. This is where W took the
prescribed course for army sur-
geons (Study in Scarlet).

NEw BricHTON. Alec Fairbairn and
Mrs. Jim Browner took tickets
for this place (Cardboard
Box) .

New Forest. W yearned for it some-
times (Resident Patient and
Cardboard Box).

NEwGATE CALENDAR. H did not ex-
pect W to carry all of it in his
mind (Garridebs) .

NEewHAVEN. H and W got off the train
at Canterbury and went cross-
country to this town (Final
Problem) .

NEw JErsEy. Irene Adler was born
here in 1858 (Scandal in
Bohemia) .

NEwMARKET HEATH. Sir Robert Nor-
bertson horsewhipped Sam
Brewer here (Shoscombe) .

New Mexico. Francis Hay Moulton
prospected  here (Noble
Bachelor) .

New STrREET. Birmingham. Hall Py-
croft put up at a hotel here
(Stock-broker’s Clerk) .

NEw STrREET. Wallington. Sarah Cush-

ing lived here
Box) .

NewtoN, HeatH. His horse, Negro,
ran in the Wessex Cup race
(Silver Blaze).

New York. The Guion Steamship
Company boats plied between
this city and Liverpool (Study
in Scarlet) . The Randall gang
was arrested here and so could
not be involved in the murder
of Sir Eustace Brackenstall
(Abbey Grange) . Mlle. Carere
was located here, well and mar-
ried (The Hound). Mr. Lev-
erton traced Gorgiano from
here to London (Red Circle).

NeEw Zearanp. Uncle Ned, of Auk-

land, left income to Mary

Sutherland (Case of Identity) .

Trevor, Senior, made his

money in gold fields here

(Gloria Scott) .

ZEALAND CONSOLIDATED. The

stock was 104, according to

Hall Pycroft (Stock-broker’s

Clerk) .

Niacara. All of the Falls’ noise was in
Jim Browner’s ears, or so it
seemed, when he saw his wife
off with Alec Fairbairn (Card-
board Box).

Nmaiuism. The murders of the Mar-
quess of Montalva and his sec-
retary, Signor Rulli, in the
Hotel Escurial, Madrid, were
ascribed to adherents of this
doctrine (Wisteria Lodge).

NimEes. France. W had a note from
here from H in the spring of
1891 (Final Problem).

(Cardboard

New
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NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE HOTELS

NinE ELms STreeT. H, W, and Toby
on a false trail (Sign of Four).
Cf. Knight’s Place.

NOBLE BACHELOR, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Action was a
few weeks prior to marriage of
John Watson and Mary Mor-
stan, which puts it in 1888 after
July. Lord St. Simon was mari-
tally involved with Hatty Do-
ran of San Francisco. H looked
up the birth of St. Simon, 1846,
and noted that he was 41; but
if this were so, it would place
the case in 1887, which is
hardly feasible.

“NoraH CREINA.” Steamer that was
lost with all hands on the Por-
tuguese coast some leagues
north of Oporto. Scotland
Yard thought that the rest of
the Worthingdon bank gang
were aboard (Resident Pa-
tient) .

NORBERTSON, SIR RoBERT. Daredevil
rider, boxer, gambler, beau.
He lived with his widowed sis-
ter, Lady Beatrice Falder,
owner of Shoscombe Old
Place. His horse, Shoscombe
Prince, won the Derby and
made £80,000 for his debt-
ridden master (Shoscombe).

Norsury. The Grant Munros had a
villa here (Yellow Face).

NorroLk. The Trevors lived here
(Gloria Scott); also the Cu-
bitts (Dancing Men) .

NorroLk CONSTABULARY. They sup-
plied Inspector Martin of Nor-

wich for the case (Dancing
Men) .

NorLETT, MR. Husband of Carrie
Evans Norlett, maid to Lady
Beatrice Falder (Shoscombe).

NoORLETT, MRs. Née Carrie Evans, un-
der which name Sir Robert
Norbertson installed her as
maid to his widowed sister,
Lady Beatrice Falder (Shos-
combe) .

NortH CaroLINA. The
murders occurred here (The
Hound).

NortH DEVON RAILwAY. Jack Staple-
ton brought the dog via this
line to the Dartmoor area
(The Hound).

North Surrey Observer. Biweekly that
carried the story that Inspector
MacKinnon had found the
missing Dr. Ernest and Mrs.
Josiah Amberley in a well. H
was not mentioned, as was to
be expected (Retired Colour-
man) .

NORTHUMBERLAND. Annie and Joseph
Harrison came from here
(Naval Treaty).

NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE. Francis
Hay Moulton stayed briefly in
a select hotel on this street
(Noble Bachelor). H and W
patronized a Turkish bath
here (Illustrious Client).

NORTHUMBERLAND AVENUE HOTELS.
Mr. Melas acted as a guide to
the Orientals at these hotels
(Greek Interpreter). Francis
Hay Moulton stayed in one of
them (Noble Bachelor). Sir

Anderson
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NORTHUMBERLAND HOTEL, THE

Henry Baskerville stayed at
one (The Hound).

NORTHUMBERLAND HotEL, THE. Sir
Henry Baskerville stayed here
and got a warning message
here (cf. “As you value your
life . . .”). Later he lost a
new brown boot, then an old
black boot here. The old black
one was recovered later by H
in the Grimpen Mire in Dart-
moor (The Hound).

NortH WALsHAM. H and W en route
to Riding Thorpe Manor
(Dancing Men) .

NORTHWEST PROVINCES. Abel White’s
plantation at Muttra was near
the border (Sign of Four).

NorTtoN, GopbFrEY. Lawyer, married
Irene Adler (Scandal in Bohe-
mia) .

Norway. After his bank failed, J. H.
Neligan’s father started to flee
to this country with securities;
he never arrived. H and W
were off to this country after
the case was settled (Black Pe-
ter).

NorwicH. Inspector Martin was from
here (Dancing Men) .
Norwoop. Brother Bartholomew
lived here, in “Upper Nor-
wood.” Cf. Lower Norwood

(Sign of Four).

NORWOOD BUILDER, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Disappear-
ance of Jonas Oldacre meant
possible murder conviction for
McFarlane. H saved him with
a false fire alarm.

NotringHAM. Mr. Hargrave was re-
ported from here (Valley of
Fear) .

Norring HiLL. Louis La Rothiére
lived in Campden Mansions

Selden

was the neighborhood mur-

derer (Hound). Lower Burke

Street was on the fringe of this

(Bruce-Partington) .

area (Dying Detective) .

“NoTtTING HILL HOOLIGAN.” Inspector
Gregson’s behavior toward one
of these and toward Emilia
Lucca was similar, but H in-
tervened (Red Circle).

“NotriNc HiLL MURDERER.” This was
Selden, who escaped from the
Princetown convict prison
about the time W and Sir
Henry arrived at the Hall
(The Hound) .

Nova Scot1a. Colonel Spence Munro
had moved to Halifax, and
Violet Hunter wanted another
position as governess (Copper
Beeches) .
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OAxINGTON. H searched here also
(Three-Quarter) .

OAkKsHOTT, MRs. She was at No. 117
Brixton Road and sold some
geese to Mr. Breckinridge of
the Covent Garden Market
(Blue Carbuncle).

OAKSHOTT, SIR LESLIE. A famous sur-
geon who attended H after the
murderous attack was made in
Regent  Street  (Illustrious
Client) .

OBERSTEIN, Huco. He was one of
three secret agents in London
capable of handling such a
transaction at the time; the
others were La Rothiére and
Lucas (Second Stain). Ober-
stein was similarly important
on another occasion, but the
others were La Rothiére and
Meyer (Bruce-Partington) .
Since the submarine patents
were tampered with in 1895,
in the Bruce-Partington case,
and since Lucas was killed in
the Second Stain case, the sug-
gestion arises that Meyer re-
placed Lucas in this ring of
dishonor, and therefore the Sec-
ond Stain adventure may be

said to have been the earlier of
the two exploits. H triumphed
in both to save England from a
dangerous position.

In the Bruce-Partington ad-
venture, Hugo Oberstein, liv-
ing at No. 13 Caulfield Gar-
dens, Kensington, was selected
by H because of the relation of
the back of his house to the
Underground.

*OpbEssa. H was called to this place to
investigate the Trepoff mur-
der (Scandal in Bohemia). W
was married at the time and
merely heard of this by vague
report—thus the case history
may never be available to us.
H was reminded of Dolsky and
the forcible administration of
poison (Study in Scarlet) .

OpLEY’s. W said that such a house
name would be found about
Lamberley (Vampire).

OmHio. See Cleveland (Study in Scar-
let) .

OLDACRE, Jonas. A builder who lived
at Deep Dene House in Lower
Norwood. His disappearance
almost resulted in McFarlane’s
conviction for his murder. H
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OLp Drrr PaArk

smoked Jonas out by a false fire
alarm (Norwood Builder).

OLp DEER PArk. This was where Rob-
ert Ferguson threw W into the
crowd, presumably in a rugby
match (Vampire).

OLp JEwry. Morrison, Morrison &
Dodd had their office here
(Vampire) .

OrpMmore, Mrs. Of High Lodge, Al-

ton. Her husband was once

mayor of Gloucester. She and
her maid were at the North-
umberland Hotel (The

Hound) .

HUNDRED AND SEVENTEENTH,

THE OLp. This was now the

First Battalion of the Royal

Munsters at Aldershot

(Crooked Man).

OrensHAW, EL1as. Uncle of John. He
had emigrated to America, be-
came a Florida planter, fought
under Jackson and later rose to
a colonelcy under Hood. He
returned to Sussex, near Hor-
sham, in 1869 or 1870. He re-
ceived five orange pips from
Pondicherry, India on March
10, 1883. Died May 2, 1883,

ONE

and left his estate to his
brother Joseph (Five Orange
Pips) .

OPENsHAW, JoHN. Son of Joseph and
nephew of Elias. He received
five orange pips and a crypto-
gram. He then consulted H.
On his way back to Waterloo
Station he died, apparently ac-
cidentally. H thought other-
wise (Five Orange Pips).

OrEnsHAW, JosepH. Father of John
and brother of Elias. Elias left
him his estate. Joseph received
five orange pips on January 4,
1885, and was told to leave
“the papers” on the sundial.
He died January 9(?), 1885
(Five Orange Pips).

OPERA. On at least one occasion H and
W went to an opera. This was
at the close of the long Basker-
ville case. H had a box for “Les
Huguenots” (The Hound) .

Ororto. The steamer Norah Creina
was lost north of here (Resi-
dent Patient).

ORDER, THE. Or the Brotherhood. It
was after Sergius, alias Profes-
sor Coram (Pince-Nez).

Origin of Tree Worship, The. H, dis-
guised, was at the crowd’s
fringe at the Ronald Adair
home at 427 Park Lane and
carried this book. W knocked
the volume from H’s hands, ac-
cidentally it seemed, and with-
out recognizing his old com-
panion (Empty House).

“OronTES.” The troopship that car-
ried W from India to Ports-
mouth (Study in Scarlet) . Cf.
Watson, John.

“OUR OWN COLOURS, GREEN AND WHITE.
Green open, white shut. Main
stair, first corridor, seventh
right, green baize. Godspeed.
D.” This message was recov-
ered by Inspector Baynes from
a grate of Wisteria Lodge.
Later the inspector pointed
out that they were the colors
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OxsHOTT TOWERS

of San Pedro (Wisteria
Lodge) .

OvaL, THE. H, W, and Toby, trailing
the murderers of Bartholomew
Sholto, pass to the east of here,
in Kennington Lane (Sign of
Four) .

OverTON, CYRIL. Of Trinity College,
Cambridge University, and
skipper of the Varsity rugger
team. His star, Godfrey Staun-
ton, disappeared before the
game with Oxford, and Oxford
won (Three-Quarter) .

OxrorpsHIRE. Eyford, in Berkshire,
was near the border of this
county (Engineer’s Thumb).

Oxrorp STREET. W on his way to
Baker Street to meet H (Red-
headed League). H, W en
route to inquire about the
goose (Blue Carbuncle). H
and W returning from Dr. Tre-
velyan’s (Resident Patient).
Mr. Melas and Mr. Latimer en
route presumably to Kensing-
ton (Greek Interpreter). H

(Empty House). H banked
the Duke of Holdernesse’
check for £6000 at the branch
of the Capital & Counties Bank
(Priory School) . H and W got
a cab here (Milverton). Rain,
wind, and splashing cabs
(Pince-Nez) . H and W follow-
ing Sir Henry Baskerville and
James Mortimer (The
Hound). W bought boots at
Latimer’s here (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

Oxrorp UNiversiTy. John Clay was at

school  here (Red-headed
League). So was Colonel Se-
bastian Moran (Empty
House) . Oxford’s Morton and
Johnson could romp around
Cambridge’s Moorhouse (in
rugger) (Three-Quarter).

Oxsnorr. Wisteria Lodge was near

this town (Wisteria Lodge).

OxsHort CoMMON. Aloysius Garcia

was murdered here (Wisteria
Lodge) .

had Dbusiness here (Final OxsHortr Towers. Home of Sir

Problem) . W strolled, puzzling
the murder of Ronald Adair
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PappincTON pisTRICT. W bought Mr.
Farquhar’s practice here shortly
after his marriage to Mary
Morstan (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .

PappINcTON STATION. H wired W to
meet him here to catch the
11:15 (Boscombe). W lived
near this Victor
Hatherley came into London
by this station (Engineer’s
Thumb). H and W just had
time to catch the train for
Exeter (Silver Blaze). H and
W were to meet Sir Henry Bas-
kerville and James Mortimer
here (The Hound) .

Pacanini. H talked to W about him,
about violins in general, and
about his own Stradivarius in
particular (Cardboard Box).

Parace crock. It struck 3:00 A.m.
when W returned with Toby
to Pondicherry Lodge (Sign of
Four).

Parvrapio. Abbey Grange was pillared
in front like one of his build-
ings (Abbey Grange).

Pall Mall. As for the Globe and the
Star (Blue Carbuncle) .

PaLL Marr. Mycroft Holmes had

station.

chambers here (Greek Inter-
preter; Bruce-Partington; and
Final Problem). In Farnham,
where W inquired about
Charlington Hall, they told
him to ask a well known Pall
Mall firm (Solitary Cyclist).
The  Adelaide-Southampton
Line had a shipping office here
(Abbey Grange) .

PaLMER. A make of bicycle tire used
by Heidegger (Priory School).

PaLMER, Dr. He turned to crime
(Speckled Band).

“PALMYRA.” John and Ivy Douglas
sailed on this ship bound for
South Africa. John was lost
overboard off St. Helena, and
H felt that Moriarty was back
of his death (Valley of Fear).

ParaDpE, THE. At New Brighton,
where Alec Fairbairn and Mrs.
Jim Browner walked and then
took a boat. Jim took a boat
after them (Cardboard Box).

*ParapoL CHAMBER. W recorded this
case in 1887, but as yet he has
not seen fit to publish it (Five
Orange Pips) .

Paris. The Francis Hay Moultons
probably would have gone on
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PARK, THE

to this city had not H ex-
plained (Noble Bachelor).
Don Murillo was traced from
this city to Rome (Wisteria
Lodge) . Mr. Pinner told Hall
Pycroft that he would manage
a depot in Paris that handled
English pottery for the Franco-
Midland Company (Stock-
broker’s Clerk). H felt that
Moriarty would go to this city
(Final Problem). Lucas did
not take Mitton here. Mme.
Fournaye left her villa on the
Rue Austerlitz here to spy on
her husband in London (Sec-
ond Stain).
THE. W walked from his
Kensington home across here
to meet H at Baker Street
(Red-headed League). Hattie
Doran was last seen entering
Hyde Park (Noble Bachelor).
H and W took a walk here
and missed a client, to H’s an-
noyance (Yellow Face).
ParkErR. Manager of Coxon & Wood-
house. Mr. Pinner said that
Mr. Parker had spoken highly
of Hall Pycroft (Stock-broker’s

PARk,

Clerk) .
PArkErR. “A garroter by trade,” in
the Moriarty-Moran  gang

(Empty House) .

PARKHURST. Shinwell Johnson served
two terms here for villainy
(Illustrious Client).

PArRk LANE. The Adairs lived at No.
427 (Empty House) .

“PARK LANE MysTERY.” The murder

of Ronald Adair (Empty
House) .

PArLIAMENT. It had risen (Resident
Patient) .

PArr, Lucy. Second waiting-maid in
home of Mr. Holder (Beryl
Coronet).

Patrick, ELsiE. An American lady
who married Hilton Cubitt.
Although badly wounded, she
recovered to care for the poor
and administer her late hus-
band’s estate (Dancing Men).

PATTERSON, INsPECTOR. In charge of
convicting the Moriarty gang.
H wrote W from Reichenbach
Falls to give the inspector the
papers that were in a blue en-
velope inscribed “Moriarty” in
pigeon-hole “M” (Final Prob-
lem) .

Parrins, HucH. He was a “long,
dried-up creature” who re-
ceived the same treatment
from H as did James Lan-
caster (Black Peter).

PauLr, JEaN. See Richter.

PauL’'s WHARF. At the back of the
Bar of Gold there was a trap-
door near this pier (Twisted
Lip).

PAWN SHOPS. Jabez Wilson had such a
shop in Coburg Square (Red-
headed League). Bevington’s
shop was in Westminster Road
(Lady Frances Carfax) . Prob-
ably one in Tottenham Court
Road (cf. Stradivarius) .

Prace, CHARLIE. A great criminal
who was also a violin virtuoso
(Ilustrious Client) .
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PETERSON

Peak Country. Dr. Huxtable’s fa-
mous school was located here
(Priory School).

PEARL. Mary Morstan received a fine
one each year for six years
(Sign of Four). Cf. Black
Pearl of the Borgias (Six Na-
poleons) .

PeckHAM. London district. See Den-
nis.

“PENANG LAWYER.” W thought that
the unknown visitor’s stick was
of this type (The Hound).

PENGE. Susan Cushing had lived here
(Cardboard Box) .

PENNsYLVANIA. Ezekiah Hopkins re-
portedly made his home in
Lebanon, in this state (Red-
headed League).

PEnnsyLvANIA SMALL Arms Com-
PANY. They made the shotgun
that murdered John Douglas,
or so everyone thought at first
(Valley of Fear).

PENTONVILLE PRISON. Maudsley was
serving time here (Blue Car-
buncle) .

PERFUMES. See Holmes, Sherlock, un-
der Methods and Organiza-
tion.

PErkINs. Groom and coachman to Sir
Charles Baskerville. He was
sent to fetch James Mortimer
on Charles’s death, and later
he met Sir Henry, Mortimer,
and W and took them from the
London train to the Hall
(The Hound).

PErkINs, YOoUuNG. He was killed out-
side the Holborn Bar (Three
Gables) .

PerNnAMBUCO. Brazil. Isadora Klein’s
family had been leaders here
for  generations (Three
Gables) .

*PERSANO, IsADORA. Well-known jour-
nalist and duelist. He was
found insane with a remark-
able worm (said to be un-
known to science) in a match-
box before him  (Thor
Bridge). No published ac-
count extant.

PErRsHORE. In Worcestershire, where
Jonathan Small once lived
(Sign of Four).

PErs1A. Visited by H (Empty House) .

PersiaN sLipPER. H kept tobacco in
it (Empty House).

PEsHAWUR. W recuperated in a base
hospital here. See Watson,
John.

PETER. Groom hired to drive the dog-
cart with Violet Smith from
Mr. Carruthers’ to Farnham
Station. He was knocked on
the head by Violet’s abductors
(Solitary Cyclist) .

PeTERS, HENRY. Of Adelaide, Aus-
tralia. Nicknamed Holy Pe-
ters. Alias Rev. Dr. Shles-
singer of Baden and South
America. H and W called at
his house in Poultney Square
(Lady Frances Carfax) .

PETERSFIELD. Lord Backwater had a
place near here (Noble Bache-
lor).

PeTERSON. The commissionaire who
obtained a hat and a goose
and took both to H. Later H
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PETRARCH

offered him a goose (Blue
Carbuncle) .

PETRARCH. H read a pocket edition on
the train en route (Bos-
combe) .

PHELPS, PERrRcY. Brilliant student and
school-days friend of W. He
obtained a scholarship to Cam-
bridge University and then
went into the Foreign Office.
His nickname was ‘“Tadpole.”
Percy was to marry Annie Har-
rison, and then the treaty was
stolen. Joseph Harrison did
not hesitate (Naval Treaty).

PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA. MTr.
Rucastle’s daughter by his first
wife was said to be in this city
(Copper Beeches) .

*PHILLIMORE, JaMES. The case data
are in Cox & Co. bank. The
case is James
stepped back into his home to
get an umbrella, and ‘“‘was
never more seen in this world”
(Thor Bridge).

PHOENICIAN TIN TRADERS. H thought
that they had contributed to

unfinished.

the Cornish language (Devil’s
Foot).

PHYSICIANS (These are all “doctors”
in the sense that they have an
M.D. degree, with the excep-
tion of Mr. Kent and Mr.
Mortimer.)

Agar, Moore
Ainstree
Anstruther
Armstrong, Leslie
Barnicot

Barton, Hill (alias of John H.
Watson)

Becher

Bennett, Trevor

Farquhar

Ferrier

Fordham

Horsom

Jackson

Kent

Meek, Sir Jasper

Mortimer, James

Oakshott, Sir Leslie

Palmer

Pritchard

Richards (in Cornwall)

Roylott (in Surrey)

Saunders, Sir James

Somerton (In Hope Town)

Sterndale

Trevelyan, Percy

Verner

Watson, John H.

Willows

Wood

Pickwick, Mr. W felt that Charles
Augustus Milverton, the black-
mailer, had Pickwick’s be-
nevolent manner except for
his insincere smile and hard
eyes (Milverton) .

PierroT. The name Hugo Oberstein
chose to transact the sale of
the stolen submarine plans in
the agony column of the Daily
Telegraph. H joined in this
correspondence and
Colonel Valentine
(Bruce-Partington) .

PikEe, LANGDALE. A human reference
work on social scandal, es-

caught
Walter
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Poison

pecially of the London scene.
He contributed bits of gossip
to the “garbage papers” that
catered to an inquisitive pub-
lic. His working hours were
spent in a club on St. James
Street. H on occasion con-
sulted him (Three Gables).

PincHIN LANE, No. 3. In Lambeth,
where Sherman, the taxider-
mist and owner of Toby
lived. Cf. dog (Sign of Four).

PINKERTON AMERICAN AGENCY. Mr.
Leverton, disguised as a Cab-
man, was on the case with In-
spector Gregson. He was a
Pinkerton operative pursuing
Gorgiano (Red Circle).

PINKERTON PrizE. See Bruce Pinker-
ton Prize.

PINNER, ARTHUR. Alias of Beddington
No. 1. Posed as financial agent
who wanted Hall Pycroft to
work for him. He tried to
commit suicide (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .

PINNER, HArrY. The second alias of
the first Beddington. Hall Py-
croft was supposed to think
that Harry and Arthur were
brothers (Stock-broker’s Clerk).

PinnEr. Effie Munro, then Mrs.
Hebron, lived in this Middle-
sex town with a maiden aunt
for about seven months (Yel-
low Face) .

PiNTO, MARIA. Daughter of a Brazil-
ian government official at
Manaos. She married J. Neil
Gibson (Thor Bridge).

pIPES. Brier root pipe (Sign of Four) ;

black clay pipe (The Hound
and Case of Identity). Then
there was the long cherry-wood
pipe (a “Churchwarden?”)
which replaced the “clay”
(Copper Beeches), but one
feels that the clay was the
favorite, as it is noted in sev-
eral case histories in addition
to The Hound.

PrrT. Sir William Baskerville served
under him in the House of
Commons (The Hound).

Prrt STREET. H listened to the owner
of No. 131, where murder was
suggested as a corollary of the
breaking of Napoleon busts
(Six Napoleons) .

PLASTER OF Paris. See footsteps; also
Holmes, Sherlock, under
Works.

PLuMSTEAD MARSHES. As for pool.

PrymoutH. H pretended to think
that he had met Mrs. Straker
at a garden party here (Silver
Blaze). Dr. Sterndale was
about to leave from here for
Africa (Devil’s Foot).

PoE, Epcar ALLaN. H thought that
Poe’s detective, Dupin, was
“a very inferior fellow.” W
felt that there might be a
touch of jealousy (Study in
Scarlet). Later, H read Poe
to W (Resident Patient) .

Poison. H said that E. J. Drebber
was poisoned. Lestrade found
two pills in Stangerson’s room
at Halliday’s Private Hotel.
H used a long-sick terrier,
which his landlady wanted
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PoLpHU BAy

put away, to demonstrate that
one pill was harmless and one
was poison. Cf. dog; also Dol-
sky (Study in Scarlet). Bar-
tholomew Sholto was killed by
a poisoned dart shot by Tonga
at Pondicherry Lodge, and
later a police inspector was
similarly dealt with on the
Thames (Sign of Four). Anna
took poison when she was
about to be arrested for the
murder of Willoughby Smith
(Pince-Nez) . Carlo, a spaniel,
was experimentally poisoned
(Vampire) .

PorpHu Bay. Off the Cornish Penin-

sula, where H and W were
staying in a cottage overlook-
ing this body of water. H was
fretting out a rest cure (Devil’s
Foot).

Porice Forces. As in the category of

criminals, there is a certain
difficulty in fixing limits. The
primary consideration here is
that this is the group that is
preventing crime. Within this
group there are the amateurs
and the professionals. Among
the latter, it is difficult at
times to determine which po-
lice organization an individual
belongs to: C.I.D., Scotland
Yard, the Greater London Po-
lice Force, or some County
Police Force. Where no par-
enthetical notation states oth-
erwise, it is assumed that the
person is operating in the Lon-
don area.
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Amateur
Baker Street Division of the de-
tective police force
Barker
Holmes, Sherlock
Leverton (Pinkerton American
Detective Agency)
Professional
Anderson, Constable (Fulworth)
Bardle, Inspector (Sussex)
Barton
Baynes, Inspector (Surrey)
Blondin, Constable
Bradstreet, Inspector
Brown, Sam
Cook, Constable
Downing, Constable
Dubugue (Paris)
Edmunds, Constable
shire)
Forbes, Detective
Forrester, Inspector (Surrey)
Gregory, Inspector (Devon-
shire?)
Gregson, Inspector Tobias
Hargreave, Wilson (New York
City)
Hill, Inspector
Hopkins, Inspector Stanley
Jones, Athelney
Jones, Peter
Lanner, Inspector
Le Brun (Paris)
Lestrade, Inspector G.
le Villard (Paris)
Lewes (Fulworth)
MacDonald, Inspector Alec
MacKinnon, Inspector
MacPherson, Constable
Martin, Inspector (Norfolk)
Mason, White (Sussex)

(Berk-



PorrLoCK, FRED

Merivale, Inspector
Montgomery, Inspector
Morton, Inspector
Murcher, Constable Harry
Patterson, Inspector
Pollock, Constable
Rance, Constable
Tuson, Sergeant
von Waldbaum, Fritz (Danzig)
Walters, Constable
Wilson, Constable
Wilson, Sergeant (Sussex)
Youghal
“PoLICE NEws OF THE Past.” Stam-
ford suggested H might start
a paper with this name (Study
in Scarlet) .
*“POLITICIAN, THE LIGHTHOUSE, AND
THE TRAINED CORMORANT.”
Both W and H have been in-
censed, justifiably, by recent
outrageous attempts to get at
earlier case histories filed away
in their possession. H has
granted W permission to give
the quoted case to the public
if these efforts do not cease
forthwith (Veiled Lodger).
Porrock, ConsTaBLE. He assisted
Sergeant Tuson to capture
Beddington (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .
Polyphonic Motets of Lassus. H was
working on this monograph

(Bruce-Partington) . Cf.
Holmes, Sherlock, under
Works.

PompEY. Locally famous dog—a

drag-hound. He followed H’s
aniseed trail for H and W,
and they found Godfrey Staun-

ton (Three-Quarter) . Cf. dog.

PonbicHERRY. India. Elias Openshaw
received a letter from here
(Five Orange Pips).

PonpicHERRY LobGe. In Upper Nor-
wood. Major Sholto retired
here, and after his death one
of his sons, Bartholomew,
lived here. Scene of the crime.
(Sign of Four).

PooL. Section of the Thames River,

noted in the chase of the

“Aurora” (Sign of Four).

THE. H was anxious to
oblige him (The Hound) . Cf.

Cardinal Tosca (Black Peter) .

Are all the data available, and

could they be published?

Pore’s Court. Duncan Ross had an
office at No. 7 (Red-headed
League) .

Pore’s Homer. An odd volume of it
was stolen from Acton’s li-
brary, near Reigate in Surrey
(Reigate Puzzle).

Poruam House. Home of John Scott
Eccles, in Lee (Wisteria
Lodge) .

PorrLAr. Athelney Jones received a
wire from H, dated from Pop-
lar at twelve o’clock, asking
him to wait at 221B Baker
(Sign of Four).

Porky. Nickname for Shinwell John-
son (Illustrious Client).
Porrock, Frep. He was a weak link
in Professor Moriarty’s crimi-
nal organization. He sent a

*PoPE,

message in cipher and a note
that the Professor suspected
him. H and W solved the
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cipher, which told them that

Douglas, of Birlstone Manor,

was in danger (Valley of

Fear) .

H, W, and Athelney Jones

finished dinner with a glass at

221B Baker (Sign of Four).

H said that the Chequers in

Camford served some that was

above mediocrity (Creeping

Man) .

PorTER, MRs. Old cook and house-
keeper for the Tregennis fam-
ily at Tredannick Wartha.
She had heard nothing but
the next morning she sent a
boy for Dr. Richards (Devil’s
Foot) .

PorTLAND. Jack James, an agent for
Von Bork, was in jail here
(Last Bow).

PortspowN HiLL. Major Freebody
lived here (Five Orange Pips) .

PortsmoutH. W landed here from
India (Study in Scarlet). H
and W took a Portsmouth
train from Woking to London
(Naval Treaty). Altamont, an
alias for H, wired Von Bork
from here; Steiner, another
espionage agent of Von Bork,
was in jail here (Last Bow).

PORTUGUESE coAsT. The ship “Norah
Creina” was lost off this coast
(Resident Patient).

PosiLiprpo. Italy, near Naples. Au-
gusto Barelli lived here, and
his daughter, Emilia, married

(Red

PORT.

Gennaro Lucca here
Circle) .
PotTER’s TERRACE. Hall Pycroft lived

at No. 17
Clerk) .
PouLTNEY SQUARE. Brixton. The
Shlessingers had Lady Frances
at No. 36, and nothing could
be done until the warrant ar-
rived (Lady Frances Carfax) .
Practical Handbook of Bee Culture
with Some Observations upon
the Segregation of the Queen.
Von Bork was expecting the
Navy Signals but this is what
Altamont, alias of H, gave
him for £500 (Last Bow).
This was H’s last work ap-
parently. See Holmes, Sher-
lock, under Works.
Pracue. King of Bohemia came in-
cognito from here to consult
H (Scandal in Bohemia). H
felt that Baron Gruner had
contrived a murder here (/I
lustrious Client). A fellow-
student of Trevor Bennett
wrote Trevor that he had seen
Professor ~ Presbury  here
(Creeping Man) .
PRENDERGAST, JAcK. He was a leader
in the convicts’ taking over
of the “Gloria Scott” but died
when the first mate blew up
the ship (Gloria Scott).
*PRENDERGAST, MAJORr. See Tanker-
ville Club Scandal (Five
Orange Pips) .
PrEsBURY, EpitH. Fiancée of Trevor
Bennett (Creeping Man) .
PrESBURY, PROFESSOR. Chair of Physi-
ology at Camford University.
He was sixty-one years old
when the case opened and at

(Stock-broker’s
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PurpEYy PLACE

this time became engaged to
Alice Morphy. Subsequently,
as a consequence of certain
anthropoid preparations, he
began to behave like an ape,
and his devoted wolfhound,
Roy, almost killed him. H
intervened (Creeping Man).
PreEscorT, RoODGER. Chicago forger
and coiner. He was slain by
“Killer” Evans in 1895 in
Waterloo Road. Alias Wal-
dron, he lived at 136 Little
Ryder Street prior to his
death. The forging machinery
was still there, unsuspected
by the new tenant, unworldly

Nathan  Garrideb  (Garri-
debs) .
PrETORIA. South Africa. Godfrey

Emsworth was shot here, at
Diamond Hill in the Boer
War (Blanched Soldier).

Pricg, Mr. Of Birmingham. This was
an alias of W when he was
introduced to Mr. Pinner by
Hall Pycroft (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .

Prince oF CoLonNA. See Colonna,
Prince of.

Prince’'s STrREET. H, W, and Toby
on the trail of the murderers
of Bartholomew Sholto (Sign
of Four).

PrINCESS OF COLONNA. See Colonna,
Princess of.

PRINCETOWN cCONVICT PRISON. H

found it on his ordnance map

of the Dartmoor area. Selden,
the Notting Hill murderer,
had escaped from here when

W and Sir Henry Baskerville
arrived at the Hall (The
Hound).

Priory Roap. A four-wheeler carried
H, W, and Mary Morstan en
route to confer with Thaddeus
Sholto (Sign of Four).

Priory ScHooL. Near Mackleton. A
famous school, with Dr. Huxt-
able in charge. Young Lord
Saltire had disappeared from
here (Priory School) .

PRIORY SCHOOL, ADVENTURE
OF THE. H and W solved
the disappearance of Lord
Saltire, and H got a tidy check
for £6000.

PrircHARD, DR. He turned to crime
(Speckled Band).

Prosper, Francis. He was green-
grocer to the Holders and at-
tentive to Lucy Parr, accord-
ing to Mary Holder. Francis
had a wooden leg (Beryl
Coronet) .

P.T. These were the initials on the
note to H: “For God’s sake
come at once.” They stood for
Dr. Percy Trevelyan (Resi-
dent Patient) .

PuciLisT. Colonel Wardlaw’s horse
in the Wessex Cup race (Silver
Blaze) .

PurLiMaN car. H, W, and Colonel
Ross returned in one to Lon-
don, after the running of the
Wessex Cup (Silver Blaze).

Punjas. India. Henry Wood finally
got back and went to Alder-
shot (Crooked Man).

PurbEY PrAcE. Home of Mr. Hynes
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“Pur THE PAPERS ON THE SUNDIAL”

Hynes, J.P. (Wisteria Lodge).

“PUT THE PAPERS ON THE SUNDIAL.”
Message which twice accom-
panied the pips (Five Orange
Pips) .

PycrorT, HALL. He was turned adrift
because of the Venezuelan
Loan failure. Lived at No. 17
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Potter’s Terrace, Hampstead.
Mr. Pinner wanted him to be-
come the Manager of the
Franco-Midland offices in
Paris. One of the troubles was
that there was no such com-
pany (Stock-broker’s Clerk).



QueeN ANNE PERIOD. Old Cunning-
ham’s estate, near Reigate in
Surrey, was of this vintage
(Reigate Puzzle) . Nathan Gar-
rideb’s house was not (Garri-
debs) .

QuUEEN ANNE STREET. In September,
1902, W was in his own quar-
ters, apart from 221B Baker,
in this street (Illustrious Cli-
ent) .

“QUEEN’S SHILLING, TAKING THE.” An

expression used by Jonathan
Small when he referred to
joining the Third Buffs (Sign
of Four).

“QUEER STREET.” According to Les-
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trade, Constable MacPherson
would land in this predica-
ment if it happened again
(Second Stain). According to
W, Sir Robert Norbertson was
far down this precarious way
(Shoscombe) .
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raBBI, HEBREW. His biography is next
to Irene Adler’s in H’s index
(Scandal in Bohemia) .
“RacHe.” This was scrawled, pre-
sumably in blood, on the wall
of the room where E. J. Dreb-
ber was found. Lestrade dis-
covered the word and thought
that it was a start at spelling
Rachel. Gregson was unim-
pressed. H noted that it was a
German word for revenge.
This word was written in
blood above the body of Dreb-
ber’s secretary at Halliday’s
Private Hotel (Study in Scar-
let) .
pedis diaboli. “Devil’s foot
root.” Unknown to W. There
were two European samples—

Radix

one in a Buda laboratory, and
one with Dr. Leon Sterndale.
The powder, on ignition,
either killed or drove insane
the three Tregennis men and
their sister. The root came
from the Ubanghi area of West
Africa (Devil’s Foot).
RAGGED SHAwW. A grove of trees be-
hind the Priory School.
RaiLway Arwms. In Little Purlington.
W telephoned H at Baker

Street from here. He was as
surprised as W and Josiah
Amberley that the Reverend
Vicar Elman knew nothing,
or so it seemed (Retired
Colourman) .

RajypooTANA. This was traversed by
Achmet (Sign of Four).
RaLPH, oLp. Butler to Colonel Ems-
worth, at Tuxbury Old Park

(Blanched Soldier) .

RANCE, JonN. Constable that dis-
covered the body of E. J. Dreb-
ber at No. 3 Lauriston Gardens.
Lestrade gave H the address of
Rance as 46 Audley Court,
Kennington Park Gate (Study
in Scarlet) .

RanpaLLs, THE. A father and two
sons, known as the “Lewisham
gang.” Hopkins felt that they
had killed Sir Eustace (Abbey

Grange) .
Ras, DauraTt. He came to ask some
questions about the Greek

examination for the Fortesque
Scholarship. He was innocent
(Three Students) .

Rasper. Lord Singleford’s horse in
the Wessex Cup race (Silver
Blaze) .

RAT, GIANT, OF SUMATRA. See Sumatra.
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RATcLIFF HicGHwWAY MURDERS

RarcLirFF HiGHWAY MURDERS. The
Daily Telegraph referred to
these in reporting E. J. Dreb-
ber’s murder (Study in Scar-
let) .

Rrape, Winwoop. Author of The
Martyrdom of Man, which H
suggested that W should read.
H spoke of Reade approvingly
during conversation with W
and Athelney Jones while
they were waiting for the
“Aurora” to show (Sign of
Four).

REeapinG. H and W en route to scene
of action from Paddington
Station  (Boscombe). The
Armitages lived at Crane Wa-
ter near Reading (Speckled
Band) . Eyford was seven miles
from Reading (Engineer’s
Thumb). Some counterfeit
had been traced as far as here
(Engineer’s Thumb). H and
W en route for Exeter (Silver
Blaze) . Mr. Sandeford lived on
Lower Grove Road (Six Na-
poleons) .

Rep BurrL INN. Near the Priory
School.

RED CIRCLE, ADVENTURE OF
THE. Gennaro Lucca wins
Mr. Leverton’s vote of thanks
for killing Gorgiano.

RED-HEADED LEAGUE, THE.
June, 1890. Jabez Wilson con-
sulted H, and this led to
capture of John Clay and ac-
complice.

Rep King. He granted the Birlstone

estate to Hugo de Capus (Val-
ley of Fear).

ReprutH. The Tregennis
were once tin-miners
(Devil’s Foot) .

REGENCY, THE. Sir Robert Norbertson
should have been a “buck” in
this period, according to W
(Shoscombe) .

REGENT’s Circus. H and W identified
the murderer of Milverton
from a photograph in a shop
window here (Milverton). H
and W en route to the Di-
ogenes Club (Greek Inter-
preter) .

REGENT STREET. Gross & Hankey’s
was here (Scandal in Bohe-
mia) . H and W, following Sir
Henry Baskerville and James
Mortimer, noted that there
was a follower in a hansom
cab also (The Hound). The
murderous attack on H was
here, near the Café Royal (II-
lustrious Client).

REIcHENBACH FaLvrs. In Switzerland,
near Meiringen. W left for
the Englischer Hof, and H was
left by the roaring waters to
await Professor Moriarty (Fi-
nal Problem) .

REIGATE PUZZLE, THE. April
25, 1887. In Surrey H tri-
umphed over the Cunning-
hams.

REIGATE. Surrey. Colonel Hayter
lived nearby (Reigate Puzzle).

RESIDENT PATIENT, THE. Dr.
Percy Trevelyan consulted H

family
here
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on why Mr. Blessington
wanted to help. His benefac-
tor was murdered, although
Inspector Lanner thought it
was suicide. Blessington was
an alias for Sutton. Cf. Card-
board Box.

RESTAURANTS AND BARS.

Bar of Gold (see note under
inns)

Blue Anchor

Café Royal

Criterion Bar

Goldini’s Restaurant

Holborn Bar

Holborn Restaurant, The

Marcini’s Restaurant

Simpson’s Restaurant

Vegetarian Restaurant

White Eagle Tavern

White Hart

RETIRED COLOURMAN, AD-
VENTURE OF THE. Circa
1899. H and Barker cooper-
ated on the case. Josiah Am-
berley murdered his wife and
Dr. Ernest and threw the bod-
ies in a well. W had a difficult
time keeping Josiah in the
country while H investigated.

REeuTERr’s. They had a dispatch in the
English papers on May 7,
1891, on the struggle between
H and Moriarty (Final Prob-
lem) .

ReynoLps. He painted a portrait of
one of the Baskervilles (The
Hound) .

RHuODESIAN PoLice. Gilchrist had de-
cided to accept a commission

with this force and go to South
Africa (Three Students).

RuONE VaLLEY. H and W wandered
about here for a week (Final
Problem).

“RiBsToN PIPPIN.” W said James Lan-
caster looked like one (Black
Peter) .

RicHARDS, DRr. Cornwall physician
who was partially overcome,
apparently by the sight of dead
Brenda and insane George and
Owen Tregennis. It could have
been the atmosphere (Devil’s
Foot).

Ricamonp. In the hunt for the “Au-
rora” a search party was sent
upriver as far as this city (Sign
of Four). Mr. Hargrave was
reported from here (Valley of
Fear).  Robert  Ferguson
played three-quarter in rugby
for this city (Vampire).

RICHTER, JOHANN PAUL FRIEDRIGH.
Also called Jean Paul. A Ger-
man novelist mentioned by H
(Sign of Four).

*RicoLETTI, of the club-foot, and his
abominable wife. H referred to
a former, and unpublished case
(Musgrave Ritual).

Rming THORPE MANOR. Mr. Cubitt
lived here, in Norfolk (Danc-
ing Men).

Rica, 1857. H referred Francois le
Villard to this case (Sign of
Four).

RirLEy. A little village in Surrey
where H had tea (Naval
Treaty).
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RIVIERA

Riviera. H thought that Count Syl-
vius had contrived a robbery
here on February 13, 1892, but
the Count said that he was in-
nocent (Mazarin Stone). H
asked Mary Maberley if she
would like to go here for a va-
cation (Three Gables).

RoArING Jack WoOODLEY. See Jack

Woodley.
RoBerTs, Lorp. Noted in passing
(Blanched  Soldier).  This

could be Earl Frederick Sleigh
Roberts (1832-1914), a Brit-
ish field marshal. (Personal
communication from Mr. Vin-
cent Starrett.)

ROBERT STREET. A four-wheeler was
taking H, W, and Mary Mor-
stan en route to confer with

Thaddeus Sholto (Sign of
Four) .

RosinsoN, JonN. Alias for James
Ryder, q.v.

RocHESTER Row. A four-wheeler was
taking H, W, and Mary Mor-
stan en route to confer with
Thaddeus Sholto (Sign of
Four).

“Rock OF GIBRALTAR.” Ship of the
Adelaide-Southampton  Line
(Abbey Grange).

RoDpNEY. Rear-Admiral Baskerville
served under him in the West
Indies (The Hound).

Roman CaTHoLIC CHURCH. Mrs. Bar-
clay was a member and much
interested in the Guild of St.
George, which gathered at the
Watt Street Chapel (Crooked
Man) .

RoME. Don Murillo was traced by
Inspector Baynes here from
Paris (Wisteria Lodge) . Doug-
las Maberley was attaché here
at time of his death (Three
Gables) .

RoONDER, EUGENIA. She plotted success-
fully with Leonardo to murder
her husband and put the
blame on Sahara King. Mauled
by the lion, she lived for seven
years in Mrs. Merrilow’s
house, and her landlady saw
her face only once in this pe-
riod. Finally she confessed to
H, with W as witness (Veiled
Lodger) .

RoNDER, MR. Rival of both Womb-
well and Sanger, he stopped his
circus caravan at Abbas Parva
en route to Wimbledon. His
wife and the strongman, Leo-
nardo, successfully murdered
him and blamed it on his lion,
Sahara King (Veiled Lodger).

Rosa, SaLvaToR. A painting at the
home of Thaddeus Sholto’s
home by him (Sign of Four).

RosenLAaul. H and W intended to
spend a night (May 4, 1891) at
this hamlet (Final Problem).

Ross. A town in Herefordshire, near

Boscombe Valley (Boscombe).

CoLoNEL. Owner of Silver

Blaze, the favorite. When his

horse vanished, he wanted to

consult H (Silver Blaze).

Ross, DuncaN. A red-headed official
of the Red-headed League,
with office at 7 Pope’s Court,
Fleet Street. He hired Jabez

Ross,
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RUE AuUsTERLITZ, PARIS

Wilson. Ross was called “Ar-
chie” by John Clay and was
caught with Clay by H and
Peter Jones while breaking
into a bank vault (Red-headed
League) .

Ross & MancLEs. In Fulham Road.
Jack Stapleton bought a large,
fierce, black dog from them
and brought it circuituously
via the North Devon Railway
into the Baskerville area (The
Hounad) .

*RoTHERHITHE. H was said to be
working on a case here, in an
alley near the river. As far as
Mrs. Hudson and W could
judge, H’s health did not pros-
per here (Dying Detective) .

RoTHIERE. See La Rothiére.

RorTERDAM. H recognized from the
stump that the cigar was In-
dian but rolled in this city

(Boscombe) .

RounpHAY, MR. Vicar of the Corn-
wall parish that included
Tredannick Wollas (Devil’s
Foot).

Rov. Professor Presbury’s devoted
wolfhound, but on certain oc-
casions he tried to bite his mas-
ter and finally slipped his col-
lar and almost killed him
(Creeping Man) . Cf. dog.
RovyaL MunsTters. A famous Irish
regiment of the British Army,
based at Aldershot. Colonel
Barclay was in command
(Crooked Man).
Royvrort, DRrR. GriMEsBY. Of Stoke
Moran, Surrey. It was one of
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the oldest Saxon families to
which he belonged. Among
other things, he had the bad
luck to confuse H with the of-
ficial police force. He was so
strong of hand that he bent
H’s and W’s poker at 221B
Baker Street. They were not
frightened off, and in the end
he was killed by a swamp ad-
der (Speckled Band) .

Royrorrt, MRs. By her first marriage
with Major-General Stoner,
she had two daughters, Julia
and Helen. She later married
Dr. Roylott. Eventually she
died (Speckled Band).

RucasTLE, ALicE. Daughter of Mr.
Rucastle. She was said to have
gone to Philadelphia. She was
rescued by Mr. Fowler, whom
she married (Copper Beeches) .

RucastLE, EpwaArDp. The cruel child
of the Rucastles (Copper
Beeches) .

RucasTLE, JEpPHRO. Resident of the
Copper Beeches, near Win-
chester. He wanted Violet
Hunter to cut her hair very
short if she came to work for
him (Copper Beeches) .

RucastLE, MRrs. The pallid but de-
voted second wife of Jephro
(Copper Beeches) .

Rupce-WHITWORTH. Make of bicycle
supposedly belonging to the
murderer of John Douglas
(Valley of Fear).

RUE AusterLITZ, PARIs. Henri Four-
naye and his wife lived here



RUE DE TRAJAN

(Second Stain) . Cf. Fournaye;
also Lucas, Eduardo.

Rue pE TrAaJAN. Montpellier. Marie
Devine lived at No. 11 (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

RurToN, EarL orF. Lady Frances Car-
fax was the only direct survivor
of his estate (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

RuLLy, SioNor. Alias Mr. Lucas, alias
of Lopez. He was killed at the
Hotel Escurial in Madrid six
months after he and Don Mu-
rillo escaped from London
(Wisteria Lodge) .

“RuriTANIA.” Of the Cunard Line. It
was leaving from Liverpool
Friday, with Baron Gruner
aboard, for the United States.
The time was short (Illus-
trious Client).

RusseLrL, CLARK. W read one of his
sea-stories (Five Orange Pips).

RuUssELL SQUARE. Mr. Cubitt stayed

at a boarding house here
(Dancing Men) .

Russia. Sergius betrayed Anna, his
wife, and Alexis, his wife’s
true love, and came to Yoxley
Old Place under the alias Pro-
fessor Coram (Pince-Nez) . See
also Godno (The Hound).

Russian EmBassy, IN Lonpon. H and
W took Anna’s letters and
diary here to save Alexis
(Pince-Nez) .

*RUSSIAN WOMAN, THE oLD. This ad-
venture was in the pre-Wat-
sonian period, but records
exist, for they were shown to
W (Musgrave Ritual) .

Russo-GERMAN GRAIN TAXES. Tre-
lawney Hope had a note on
this subject too (Second
Stain) .

RYDER, JaMES. Alias John Ryder. An
upper-attendant at the Hotel
Cosmopolitan  (Blue  Car-
buncle).
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SarrFroN Hirr. Inspector Hill knew
this area well (Six Napo-
leons) .

SauarA King. North African lion in
the Ronder circus. The ani-
mal was blamed for the mur-
der of Ronder but was inno-
cent (Veiled Lodger).

SAILORS, HANDS OF. See Holmes, Sher-

lock, under Works.

CLAIR, NEVILLE (ST. CLAIR,

NEeviLLE). He lived at the

Decars, near Lee in Kent, and

worked in London. Mrs. St.

Clair saw her husband in the

window of the Bar of Gold, an

opium den in Upper Swan-
dam Lane. When the police
aided her in trying to extri-
cate her husband, he had dis-
appeared from the room, and
the cripple, Hugh Boone, was
there instead. Subsequently
she heard from Neville by let-
ter that he was unharmed.

Later, H exposed Hugh Boone

in the Bow Street Police Sta-

tion as Neville in disguise

(Twisted Lip) .

St. GEORGE’s CHURCH. In Hanover
Square. The St. Simon-Doran

SAINT

wedding was here
Bachelor) .

ST. GEORGE, GUILD OF. See Guild.

ST. GEORGE’S, THEOLOGICAL COLLEGE
oF. Elias Whitney was the
Principal here (Twisted Lip).

St. HELENA. John Douglas was lost
overboard the “Palmyra” in a
gale near here. Ivy Douglas
cabled the news to Cecil
Barker. H felt that it was not
accidental but that Moriarty
was involved (Valley of Fear).

St. Ives. Mrs. Porter’s family lived
here (Devil’s Foot).

St. James’s. As for the Globe (Blue
Carbuncle) .

St. JAMES's END OF PArrL Marn. H
and W en route to the Di-
ogenes Club (Greek Inter-
preter) .

St. JAmEs’s HALL. Sarasate played
here (Red-headed League) .

St. JAMES’S SQUARE. London Library
was here (Illustrious Client).

St. JaAmEs’s STREET. Langdale Pike
spent his waking hours in a
club on this street, listening to
and transmitting or publishing
London gossip (Three Ga-
bles) .

(Noble
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St. Jonn’s Woop

ST. JoHN’s Woob. Irene Adler lived in
this section of London (Scan-
dal in Bohemia) .

St. Louss, Missourl. H refers Francois
le Villard to the case here of
1871 (Sign of Four).

St. LUKE’s. See College of St. Luke’s.

St. OLIVER’S. A private school kept by
the Vandeleurs (The Hound).

ST. PANCRAS cASE. See Merivale, In-
spector.

St. Pancras Hoter. The Hosmer
Angels were to have a wed-
ding breakfast here (Case of
Identity) .

St. PauL’s. Near here, at 17 King Ed-
ward Street, Mr. William Mor-
1is was supposed to have law
offices (Red-headed League).

StT. Saviour’s. Near King’s Cross,
where Mary Sutherland was to
marry Hosmer Angel (Case of
Identity) .

St. SimonN, Lapy CrLARA. Sister of
Lord St. Simon (Noble Bache-
lor).

St. SimoN, Lorp RoserT. When his
fiancée, Hatty Doran, disap-
peared, he consulted H. He was
at one time undersecretary for
the colonies. Second son of the
Duke of Balmoral and owner
of a small estate, Birchmoor
(Noble Bachelor) .

St. SimoN, Lorp EusTAcE. Younger
brother of Lord Robert St.
Simon and so the third son of
the Duke of Balmoral (Noble
Bachelor) .

SALTIRE, Lorp. Ten-year-old son of
the Duke of Holdernesse. He

vanished from Priory School.
The young pupil, Arthur, had
his sympathies with his
mother, who living
abroad, and was in danger
from James Wilder. H solved
the disappearance of Arthur
and the murder of the German
master, then lectured the Duke
and got £6000  (Priory
School) .

SamsoN oF NEw ORLEANS. As for Von
Bischoff, q.v.

SAMUEL, IsT OR 2D CHAPTER. Accord-
ing to H, it was one of these

was

chapters which explained why
Mrs. Barclay called her hus-
band “David,” since he had be-
trayed Henry Wood in India
(Crooked Man). (Samuel
I1:11 is the correct reference.)

Sanp, GEORGE. H quotes from a letter
from Flaubert to her (Red-
headed League) .

SanDEFORD, MR. He bought a cheap
bust of Napoleon from Har-
ding Brothers for 15 shillings
and sold it to H for £10 (Six
Napoleons) .

SAnDERS, IkEY. He refused to cut up
the stolen jewel for Count
Sylvius (Mazarin Stone) .

SAN Francisco, CaLiForNIA. Home of
Aloysius Doran (Noble Bache-
lor).

SANGER. His circus was in competition
with those of Wombwell and
Ronder (Veiled Lodger) .

SaN Pauro (SAo Pauro), BraziL. An
entry in J. H. Neligan’s note-
book (Black Peter).
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SCENE OF AcTION

SaN Pepro. Where Don Murillo, the
dictator, and Lopez, his secre-
tary, ruled until it was expedi-
ent to flee to Barcelona in 1886
(Wisteria Lodge) .

SARASATE. Played at St James’s Hall.
A violinist (Red-headed
League) .

Saunpers. Housemaid to Hilton Cu-
bitt. She sent for the physician
(Dancing Men) .

SAUNDERS, MRrs. Caretaker of house in
which Nathan Garrideb lived
(Garridebs) .

SAUNDERs, SIR JAMES. A distinguished
dermatologist. At H'’s request,
he examined Godfrey Ems-
worth. It was not leprosy.
(Blanched Soldier). *H said
he had rendered Saunders a

professional service. There
might be a good case hidden
here.

Savagg, Victor. Nephew of Culver-
ton Smith. Uncle Culverton
killed Victor in four days by
means of a microbial infection
of Asiatic strain. H avenged
Victor by seeing to it that the
uncle was charged with the
murder (Dying Detective) .

“SAWYER, MRs.” She came for the
ring that was advertised by H
in W’s name. The false address
given was 13 Duncan Street,
Houndsditch (Study in Scar-
let) .

Saxe-CoBURG SQUARE. As for Coburg
Square.

SAXE-MENINGEN, CLOTILDE. See von
Saxe-Meningen.

SaxoN FAMILIES. One of the oldest
was the Roylotts, of Stoke
Moran, in western Surrey
(Speckled Band) .

SCANDAL IN BOHEMIA, A.
Irene Adler was always the
woman to H and was promi-
nent in this early case (March,
1888) . The Watsons were mar-
ried and well settled, and H
was alone (and so faintly sus-
ceptible?) at 221B Baker.

ScenE oF Action. Of the sixty pub-
lished cases, a large majority
take place in southwest Eng-
land, especially in the L.ondon
area and adjacent counties. Al-
though certain cases had their
origins elsewhere, the scene
of action in which Sherlock
Holmes participated usually
was located not far from the
epicenter at 221B Baker Street.
Put another way, a circle of a
radius of fifty miles, centered
in London, would enclose most
of the adventures.

Two cases were placed much
farther away but were excep-
tions in that H had not been
called in to consult. One of
these, The Adventure of the
Devil’s Foot, was placed in his
all too willing hands while he
was fretting out a rest cure in
Cornwall. The other was The
Final Problem, in Switzerland,
where he was followed by Pro-
fessor Moriarty.

The distribution is as follows:
27 London (Three cases have
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SCHOENBRUNN PALACE

been rather difficult to assign, Von Bork’s Tokay came from
but probably fall within the here (Last Bow).

London district: Last Bow; ScHOOLS.

Veiled Lodger; Norwood Abbey School

Builder) . College of St. Luke’s

1 Bedfordshire (Blanched Sol- Cambridge University (Trinity
dier). College is mentioned)

2 Berkshire (Engineer’s Camford University
Thumb; Shoscombe) . Eton

1 Cambridgeshire (Missing Gables, The (Sussex)

Three-Quarter) .
2 FEither Cambridgeshire or
Oxfordshire (Creeping Man;

London University
Oxford University
Priory School (Hallamshire)

Three Students) . St. Oliver’s (Yorkshire)
1 Cornwall (Devil’s Foot). Theological College of St.
Devonshire (The Hound; George’s

Silver Blaze).
1 Hallamshire (Priory School).

Uppingham
York College (America, prob-

Hampshire (Copper Beeches;
Thor Bridge) .

Herefordshire (Boscombe
Valley) .

Kent (Abbey Grange; Pince-
Nez; ? Greek Interpreter) .
Norfolk (Dancing Men; Glo-
ria Scott) .

Southampton (Crooked
Man) .

Surrey (Cardboard Box; Rei-
gate Puzzle; Solitary Cyclist;
Speckled  Band;  Wisteria
Lodge) .

Sussex (Five Orange Pips;
Lion’s Mane; Musgrave Rit-
ual; Vampire; Valley of Fear;
Black Peter) .

? Middlesex (Three Gables;
Yellow Face) .

Bern Canton, Switzerland
(Final Problem) .

SCHOENBRUNN PALACE. Of Franz Josef.

156

ably United States of Amer-
ica)

ScotLAND. This was referred to as a

possible site of John Clay’s
work (Red-headed League).
Mrs. Hudson believed in
breakfast as though she were a
Scotchwoman (Naval Treaty).
When the “Sea Unicorn” got
to this country, the disappear-
ance of the rescued man was
easily hushed up—only Patrick
Cairns had seen Captain Cary
heave him overboard (Black
Peter) . Inspector MacDonald
was brought up here (Valley
of Fear).

ScotLAND YArD. H was not greatly im-

pressed with this institution’s
detective work (Study in Scar-
let) . Peter Jones of the Yard
met H at Baker Street (Red-
headed League). H took Mr.



ScoTtLAND YARD MUSEUM

Hatherley here to get help
(Engineer’s Thumb) . This in-
stitution is mentioned in No-
ble Bachelor, Resident Pa-
tient, Greek Interpreter, Soli-
tary Cyclist (by W), The
Hound, Cardboard Box, and
Red Circle.

The Yard sent Detective
Forbes (Naval Treaty). The
Yard owed H a good turn
(Norwood Builder). Lestrade
felt that all at the Yard would
be proud of H (Six Napo-
leons) . Stanley Hopkins of the
Yard advised Cyril Overton to
consult H (Three-Quarter).
After the Yard had been noti-
fied, Stanley Hopkins was sent
to Kent, and then H and
W were called in (dbbey
Grange) . Inspector MacDon-
ald of the Yard consulted H
(Valley of Fear). Inspector
Morton was on hand and made
the arrest (Dying Detective) .
H felt that this organization
was lonesome when he was
away (Lady Frances Carfax).
H came here to see Lestrade
(Lady Frances Carfax and
Garridebs) .

H mentioned that this was
where he was taking Von Bork
(Last Bow). The Yard could
not act in this case (Illustrious
Client). In the event that H
was murdered, he wished W to
give a certain name to this
organization (Mazarin Stone) .

Isadora Klein’s home (Three
Gables). H went here to see
Lestrade  (Garridebs). Ser-
geant Coventry of the Win-
chester police would rather
have H on the case than the
Yard if he were to get any
credit (Thor Bridge). H felt
that he had been slow, and that
Cyanea nearly avenged the
Yard (Lion’s Mane). Meri-
vale of the Yard asked H to
look into the St. Pancras case
(Shoscombe) . The Yard sent
Josiah Amberley to consult H
(Retired Colourman) .

In the preceding twenty-
seven cases Scotland Yard is
cited as such, or as the Yard, or
yarders are noted as such. Ob-
viously many of the men with
whom H worked were inspec-
tors, sergeants, constables, de-
tectives, or officials of Scotland
Yard, but if this institution was
not specifically mentioned or
alluded to in a particular case,
it was not included here.
These twenty-seven case refer-
ences do include the St. Pan-
cras case, which, although not
in the published series, was
nevertheless one of H’s col-
laborations with an official of
Scotland Yard. Since there are
sixty published cases, this sum-
mary reveals that in almost a
third of them the existence
of this institution is acknowl-
edged.

H was about to go here from ScoTrLAND YArRD MusEuM. See air-gun.
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Scort EccLES, JoHN

Scortr EccLes, Joun. Of Popham
House, Lee. He wired H for
a consultation from Charing
Cross Post Office at the end of
March, 1892. He had been af-
fronted by the disappearance
of his host, and he was afraid
that he would be charged with
the murder of Aloysius Garcia
(Wisteria Lodge) .

ScyrrAa AND CHARYBDIS. W compared
the two types of cases between
which he would like to steer to
these (Resident Patient).

SEA oF Azov FLEET. See Admiral
Green.

SECOND STAIN, ADVENTURE
OF THE. The prime minister
and secretary for European af-
fairs consulted H. Later, Lady
Hope consulted H. When H
called on her, he prevailed,
and Trelawney Hope found
the missing letter in his case
after all and had an assured
diplomatic future. (Note that
in the Naval Treaty case, it is
reported that H demonstrated
the true facts concerning the
Adventure of the Second Stain
to Monsieur Dubugue of the
Paris Police and to Fritz von
Waldbaum of Danzig. These
officials were not mentioned in
the Second Stain, but they be-
long to the saga.)

SELDEN. “Notting Hill murderer,” es-
caped from Princetown prison.
He was either killed or fright-
ened to death by the Hound,
and his body, clothed in Sir

Henry Baskerville’s clothes,
was discovered by H and W.
He was the brother of Mrs.
Barrymore. (The Hound).
SENEGAMBIA. H recalled a parallel
case from here (Sign of Four).
SErGIUS. To save his own life, he be-
trayed his wife, Anna, and her
true love, Alexis, as well as oth-
ers. Later Anna came to Yoxley
Old Place to get the documents

that would free Alexis. She
killed  Willoughby  Smith
(Pince-Nez) .

SERPENTINE, THE. Lestrade donned a
pea-jacket and, with more zeal
than wit, dragged this water
course for the body of Lady St.
Simon (Noble Bachelor).

SERPENTINE AVENUE. Irene Adler’s
address in St. John’s Wood
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

SEVERN. H and W en route to Bos-
combe Valley crossed this river
(Boscombe) .

SHADWELL PoLicE StATION. Jim
Browner, arrested for the mur-
ders by Lestrade, on evidence
supplied by H, made a state-
ment to Inspector Montgom-
ery here (Cardboard Box).

SHAFTESBURY AVENUE. Mr. Melas and
Mr. Latimer en route pre-
sumably to Kensington (Greek
Interpreter) .

SHERMAN. A taxidermist at No. 3
Pinchin Lane, Lambeth. He
loaned Toby to H when the
latter sent W after the dog
(Sign of Four). Cf. dog.

SHETLAND LicuTts. Before the ‘Sea
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SnoLTo, MAJOR JOHN

Unicorn” had sighted them,
Neligan, Sr.,, was overboard
(Black Peter) .

“S.H. for J.O.” This message was sent
with five orange pips to Cap-
tain Calhoun by H. It meant:
Sherlock Holmes for John
Openshaw  (Five  Orange
Pips) .

Shikari. H mocks Colonel Moran
with this appellation (Empty
House) .

SHIPLEY’S YARD. A hansom cab stand
near Waterloo Station where
John Clayton had his cab (The
Hound).

SurppING OFFICE. James Mortimer
could not recall if he had left
his stick here or at 221B Baker
(The Hound).

SHIPS AND BOATS.

Alicia

Aurora

Bass Rock
Esmeralda
Friesland
Gloria Scott
Hotspur
Matilda Briggs
May Day
Norah Creina
Orontes
Palmyra

Rock of Gibraltar
Ruritania
Sophy Anderson

SHLESSINGER, DR. AND MRs. He was a
South American missionary
preparing a map of the Holy
Land with special reference to
the Midianites, on which sub-

ject he was writing a mono-
graph. His left ear was jagged
or torn. Alias of Holy Peters,
or Henry Peters. His “wife”
was actually Fraser. They tried
to kill Lady Frances by bury-
ing her alive while under
anaesthesia, but H intervened
at the last possible moment to
save her. They escaped capture
by Lestrade. (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

SHorLTo, BARTHOLOMEW. Lived at
Pondicherry Lodge, Upper
Norwood. H and W found him
murdered in his own room,
with “Sign of Four” on a piece
of paper and a stone-headed
hammer by his body. He had
been killed by a vegetable al-
kaloid poison on a thorn shot
into his scalp by Tonga (Sign
of Four).

SHoLTO, MAJOR JOoHN. Father of twin

sons, Bartholomew and Thad-
deus. He was commander of
the 34th Bombay Infantry Reg-
iment, the same outfit to which
Captain Morstan belonged
(q-v.). On the latter’s disap-
pearance from the Langham
Hotel in London, the captain’s
daughter, Mary, called on the
major. Major Sholto was
now retired at Pondicherry
Lodge and professed ignorance
of the fact that Captain Mor-
stan had even been in London.
This was a lie—cf. Captain
Arthur Morstan.

Major Sholto had been in
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SHoLTO, THADDEUS

command in the Andaman Is-
lands, with Captain Morstan
second-in-command. Cf. Lal
Chowdar, and Thaddeus
Sholto. He was about to tell
Thaddeus where the Agra
Treasure was kept (which he
stole from Jonathan Small and
his companions) when a face
appeared at the window. His
sons investigated, and on their
return found their father dead.
His death was reported in the
April 28, 1882, edition of the
Times (Sign of Four).

Suorro, THADDEUS. Brother of Bar-
tholomew and son of John. He
sent Williams to bring Mary
Morstan and two friends (H
and W) from a meeting-place
at the Lyceum Theatre (cf.
“Beat . .. etc.”). They came
to his home in Surrey, and he
told them of his father’s ac-
count of Captain Morstan’s
death (q.v.).

Thaddeus, H, W, and Mary
went to Pondicherry Lodge to
talk with his twin brother,
Bartholomew. On arrival they
found Bartholomew dead, and
Thaddeus was arrested by
Athelney Jones for his broth-
er’s murder. He was released
because of an alibi, and his
release was reported in the
Standard and by Athelney
Jones to H (Sign of Four).

SHOscoMBE. A small village in Berk-
shire where H and W came,
ostensibly for some fishing.

They put up at the Green
Dragon (Shoscombe).
SnoscoMBE OLD PLACE. Property of
Lady Beatrice Falder, wid-
owed sister of Sir Robert Nor-
bertson, who lived with her.
Near the village of Shoscombe.

SHOSCOMBE OLD PLACE, AD-
VENTURE OF. Berkshire.
When Lady Falder died of
dropsy, her brother, Sir Rob-
ert Norbertson, hid her body
and concealed her death until
Shoscombe Prince won the
derby to net him £80,000.

SrHoscomBE Park. This surrounded
Shoscombe Old Place (Shos-
combe).

SHoscomBE PriNcE. Colt belonging
to Sir Robert Norbertson,
which was entered in the
Derby. His horse won the race,
and Sir Robert picked up
about £80,000—enough to pay
his debts (Shoscombe) .

SHOSCOMBE SPANIELS. A most ex-
clusive breed, possibly the
most exclusive in England, ac-
cording to W. They were
heard from repeatedly at dog
shows (Shoscombe). Cf. dog.

SiaM. Mycroft Holmes disliked leav-
ing his office, considering the
state of this country, but he
and Lestrade had to consult H
(Bruce-Partington) .

SiBERIA. Alexis slaved here while his
true love, Anna, came to Yox-
ley Old Place to get the docu-
ments which would free him
from her Russian husband
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SLANEY, ABE

(alias Professor Coram). She
poisoned herself when H
proved that she had killed
Willoughby ~ Smith  (Pince-
Nez).

Sidelights on Horace. Dr. Thorney-
croft Huxtable’s memorable
work (Priory School).

SiErrA LEONE. This seemed best to
Armitage, Evans, and the oth-
ers cut adrift (Gloria Scott).

SiGERSON. An exploring Norwegian.

Alias of H (Empty House).

OF THE FOUR, THE.

July, 1888? Jonathan Small,

Mahomet Singh, Abdullah

Khan, and Dost Akbar were

the Four. After they murdered

Achmet, the Agra Treasure

was buried. The Four were in-

dicted and imprisoned. Small
escaped and with Tonga got to

England. Bartholomew Sholto

was murdered. H solved the

problem.

SILVER BLAZE. The favorite for
the Wessex Cup vanishes. This
Devonshire action involved H’s
being called in by Colonel
Ross, owner of Silver Blaze,
and by Inspector Gregory.

SiLvesTER’s. Lady Frances Carfax
banked here (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

SimpsoN. One of the Baker Street Ir-
regulars. He kept watch on
Henry Wood (Crooked Man) .

SimpsoN, Barpy. Friend of Godfrey
Emsworth. Killed near Buffels-
spruit in the Boer War
(Blanched Soldier) .

SIGN

SimpsoN, Frrzroy. Arrested in con-
nection with the disappear-
ance of the favorite, Silver
Blaze, for his cravat was found
near the trainer’s body. He was
a genteel bookmaker in Lon-
don (Silver Blaze).

Simpson’s. Restaurant where H pro-
posed to break his fast of three
days (Dying Detective) . H and
W ate here one evening and
watched the Strand traffic. It
was “our Strand restaurant,”’
according to W (Illustrious
Client) .

SINCLAIR, ADMIRAL. Sir James Walter
spent the evening with him
(Bruce-Partington) .

SingH, MAHOMET. One of the Four,
the others being Abdullah
Khan, Dost Akbar, and Jona-
than Small. Mahomet and Ab-
dullah served under Jonathan
at the Agra Fort (Sign of
Four) .

SIX NAPOLEONS, ADVENTURE
OF THE. Six plaster busts of
Napoleon were sold by Gelder
& Co. at 6 shillings each. Pietro
Venucci was murdered. Beppo
was captured. H bought the
last bust from Mr. Sandeford
for £10 and thereby obtained
the Pearl of the Borgias.

SKIBBAREEN. Altamont, alias of H,
gave the Constabulary here
much trouble and came to the
attention of Von Bork (Last
Bow) .

SLANEY, ABE. “Most dangerous crook
in Chicago,” according to Wil-
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SLATER

son Hargrave. H sent Abe a
message at Elrige’s Farm, and
Inspector Martin arrested him
for murder (Dancing Men).

SLATER. A stonemason who saw some-
one else in Captain Cary's
“cabin” at 1:00 a.m. (Black
Peter) .

SLATERS, HANDS OF. See Holmes, Sher-
lock, under Works.

SLEEPY QUARTERS. H said this of Ches-
terton, Histon, Waterbeach,
and Oakington in his search of
the countryside (Three-Quar-
ter) .

SLoang, Hans. If Nathan Garrideb
could find a third namesake,
he could sell out for $5,000,-
000 and be a modern Hans
Sloane (Garridebs) .

SMmALL, JoNATHAN. One of the Four,
the others being Mahomet
Singh, Dost Akbar, and Abdul-
lah Khan. He was middle-
aged, small, active, sunburned,
with a wooden stump for a
right leg. He and an Andaman
Islander murdered Bartholo-
mew Sholto at Pondicherry
Lodge. In the chase of the
hired ‘“Aurora” down the
Thames by H, W, and Athel-
ney Jones in a police launch,
the Islander, Tonga, was shot
and fell overboard. Jonathan
Small was trapped when the
“Aurora” grounded and his
wooden leg became stuck in
the mud.

He was born near Pershore,

Worcestershire, received little
education, and at eighteen
joined the Third Buffs en
route for India. A crocodile bit
off his right leg in the Ganges,
and he was saved by Sergeant
John Holder and invalided out
of service. Became overseer for
Abel White. In the Great
Mutiny when White was
killed, he escaped to Agra.
Joined the three Indians (to
form the Four) in a plot to
murder Achmet. He buried
the Agra Treasure, was ar-
rested and charged with the
murder, and was sent to serve
time in the Andaman Islands.
He escaped with Tonga, an Is-
lander, to follow and murder
Major John Sholto, who had in
turn stolen the Agra Treasure
(Sign of Four).

SMmitH, MRr. CuLvirTON. Of No. 13
Lower Burke Street. A Suma-
tra planter, he was the only
person who could help H, or so
H told W. W prevailed upon
Smith to see H. W was on hand
as an unseen witness, and In-
spector Morton was on hand to
arrest Smith when he was
tricked into a confession that
he had caused Victor Savage’s
death (Dying Detective) .

SmitH, JamEes. Father of Violet. He
had conducted the orchestra at
the Imperial Theatre before
his death (Solitary Cyclist).

SmiTH, MorpEcal. He lived in a
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SOTHEBY

small brick house with his wife
and two sons (Jack being the
younger and Jim the older),
at water’s edge at the end of
Broad Street. Here he hired
out boats, at least a barge and
“Au-
rora.” Mordecai took Jonathan

the fast steam launch

Small and Tonga aboard the
launch at 3:00 a.m. H adver-
tised for information on the
the absent
Smith and his launch in the
Standard. H traced him and
his boat to Jacobson’s Yard.
Later, after a wild chase down

whereabouts of

the Thames, his boat was cap-
tured. Cf. “Aurora”; also Jona-
than Small (Sign of Four).
*SMITH-MORTIMER  succession
in 1894 (Pince-Nexz) .
SmitH, RarpH. Uncle of Violet. He
did not write from Africa. On
his death Violet inherited his
fortune (Solitary Cryclist).
SmiTH, VIoLET. Niece of Ralph. She
abducted and illegally
married, but her tormentors

case,

was

were jailed on evidence sup-
plied by H. She inherited her
uncle’s fortune and married
Cyril Morton (Solitary Cy-
clist) .

SmitH, WILLOUGHBY. Secretary to
Professor Coram. His sound
schooling was at Uppingham
and Cambridge. He died from
a carotid puncture made by his
employer’s sealing-wax knife.
As he was dying he said, “The

she.” His
killer, Anna, was the Profes-
sor’s wife, and she took poison
(Pince-Nez) .

SoaMESs, SiIR CATHCART. His son was

Professor—it was

also sent to the Priory School.

SoamEes, Hirton. Tutor and lecturer
at College of St. Luke’s. He
called on H, and the latter
detected the guilty student
(Three-Quarter) .

SoLENT. Data supplied by Altamont,
alias for H, would not be of
much service to a German
cruiser trying to escape mines
in this area (Last Bow).

SOLITARY CYCLIST, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. Saturday,
April 23, 1895. Violet Smith
abducted,
but her tormentors jailed on
the evidence of H. She inher-

ited her uncle’s fortune and

illegally married,

married Cyril Morton.

SoMERTON, DRr. A surgeon at Hope
Town (Sign of Four).

Somomy stock. Silver Blaze was of
this strain (Silver Blaze).

Sorny. Paul Kratides embraced her.
They were probably brother
and sister. Reportedly she
lived to kill her abductors
(Greek Interpreter) .

*“Sophy Anderson.” This British
bark was lost at sea. W re-
corded it in 1887, but the case
has not been published (Five
Orange Pips).

SoTHEBY. As for Christie (Illustrious
Client and Garridebs).
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SoutH AFRrICA

SoutH AFRICA. Jack Woodley was a
great bully here and known
from Kimberley to Johannes-
burg (Solitary Cyclist). Gil-
christ had decided to enter the
Rhodesian Police (Three Stu-
dents). Sir Charles Basker-
ville made a fortune here in

(The Hound).
John and Ivy Douglas were on
their way here when John was
lost overboard (Valley of
Fear). Philip Green made
money at Barberton (Lady
Frances Carfax). Mr. Dodd
was in the Boer War here
(Blanched Soldier). Cf. Af-
rica; also West Africa.

SoutH AFRICAN GOLD SHARES. Mr.
Carruthers was deeply inter-
ested (Solitary Cyclist).

SoUTH AFRICAN SECURITIES. W was not
going to invest in them (Danc-
ing Men).

SoutH AFRiICAN War. H refused a
knighthood shortly after the
conclusion of this struggle,
circa June, 1902 (Garridebs) .

Soutn AMERrIca. This was the source
of the arrow poison stolen by
Jefferson Hope from York Col-
lege (Study in Scarlet). Ac-
cording to John Barrymore, ar-
rangements were made to get
Selden here in a very few days
(The Hound) . Dr. Shlessinger
was a missionary here, or so it
was said (Lady Frances Car-
fax) .

SoutH Coast. Sir Henry Baskerville’s
father lived in a small cottage

speculation

here, and as a boy in his teens
Henry went from here to
America (The Hound).

Soutn DEvon. H retired here and
kept bees (Last Bow).

SoutH Lonpon. T. Sholto lived here
(Sign of Four).

SoutHAMPTON. Alice Rucastle mar-
ried Mr. Fowler here (Copper
Beeches). Mr. Hargrave was
reported from here (Valley of
Fear). James Dodd had a let-
ter from Godfrey Emsworth
from here (Blanched Soldier) .

SoutHamPTON HiGHROAD. It was by
the Copper Beeches.

SoutHeErTON, LORD. His estate in
Hampshire bordered on the
residence of Jephro Rucastle
(Copper Beeches) .

SouTHsea. Watson yearned for it
(Resident Patient and Card-
board Box).

SeanisH EwmBassy, Lonpon. They
could tell Mr. Scott Eccles
nothing about Aloysius Garcia
(Wisteria Lodge) .

SPAULDING, VINCENT. Alias John Clay
when he was assistant to Jabez
Wilson at half-pay (Red-
headed League).

SPECKLED BAND, ADVENTURE
OF THE. April, 1883. H saved
Helen Stoner.

Spectator. James M. Dodd told H that
he thought that Mr. Kent
could have been reading this
journal (Blanched Soldier) .

SPENCER-JOHN GANG. Barney Stockdale
and Steve Dixie belonged
(Three Gables).
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STAPLETON, JACK

SPENDER, RosE. She died of senility in

the Poultney Square home of
the Shlessingers (or Peters),
and her death was certified by
Dr. Horsom. She was to be
buried by Stimson & Co., which
furnished an extraordinary
coffin (Lady Frances Carfax).

SPLUGEN Pass. H felt that Baron

Gruner killed his wife here
(Illustrious Client).

StAckHURST, HArROLD. Head of coach-

ing school, The Gables, about
half a mile from H’s home on
the Sussex downs. His science
master, McPherson, was killed,
and fortunately H found that
the killer was Cyanea before
Harold lost his mathematics
coach, Ian Murdoch, as well
(Lion’s Mane) .

STAMFORD, YOUNG. W’s dresser at

Barts. After W’s return from
India, he introduced H to W.
He suggested that H might
start a paper entitled Police
News of the Past in deference
to H’s phenomenal grasp of
the historical aspects of crime
(Study in Scarlet) .

StaMForD’s. This firm sent H an

Ordnance Map of the moor
about Baskerville Hall (The
Hound) .

Standard. London newspaper, as for

Daily Telegraph, q.v. Carried
the news of the death of Bar-
tholomew Sholto, giving ac-
claim to Athelney Jones; later
noted the release of Thaddeus
Sholto and Bartholomew’s
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landlady, a Mrs. Bernstone. In
same issue carried advertise-
ment by H for information as
to whereabouts of ‘“Aurora”
and her master, Mordecai
Smith (Sign of Four).

STANGERSON, JOSEPH. Private secretary

to E. J. Drebber and stay-
ing at Madame Charpentier’s
boarding-house in Torquay
Terrace, London. He was
sought by Lestrade for murder
of Drebber but was found mur-
dered at Halliday’s Private
Hotel (Study in Scarlet).

StAapLES. Butler to Culverton Smith

(Dying Detective) .

STAPLETON, BERYL. Passed as sister of

Jack but in reality was his wife.
It was she who sent the warn-
ing to Sir Henry in London.
Earlier she was operating un-
der the alias of Mrs. Vande-
leur, née Beryl Garcia of Costa
Rica (The Hound).

STAPLETON, JAck. Naturalist, lepidop-

terist; two years in the Basker-
ville area; knew Grimpen
Mire well; saw much of Sir
Charles Baskerville. He lived
at Merripit House nearby,
with his “sister,” Beryl. He ob-
jected to Sir Charles and Beryl
falling in love—since she was
really Jack’s wife. At Black Tor
H told W that Jack was their
enemy. H recognized Jack’s
strong resemblance to a por-
trait of the infamous Hugo
Baskerville. H killed his phos-
phoreted hound before it



STAR

could kill Sir Henry Basker-
ville (cf. dog). Jack fled to the
Grimpen Mire and probably
died there. He was the only
son of Rodger Baskerville, who
went to Central
where he died. Jack grew up in

America,

the region and married Beryl
Garcia of Costa Rica. Jack
Stapleton and Mr. Vandeleur
are aliases therefore of this
Baskerville (The Hound).

Star. London evening newspaper. As
for Globe (Blue Carbuncle).

Dr. Lysanper.” He was
mayor in Topeka, Kansas, in
1890, according to H, who in-
vented this person on the spur
of the moment. “John Garri-
deb” replied that his name was
still honored there (Garri-
debs) .

STARK, COLONEL LysanpEr. He con-
sulted  Victor = Hatherley.
Oddly enough, he was ad-
dressed as “Fritz” by his fe-
male companion at another
time. He probably murdered
Jeremiah Hayling, according
to H, and he chopped off Vic-
tor’s thumb. H and Inspector
Bradstreet thought that the
Colonel was the head of a large
counterfeit organization. He

“STARR,

escaped without trace (Engi-
neer’s Thumb) .

STARs AND STRIPES. Mentioned in the
Noble Bachelor.

StATES. See United States of America.

STAUNTON, ARTHUR H. A rising young
forger (Three-Quarter).

StAaunToN, GoprrEy. His disappear-
ance probably caused his team,
Cambridge, to lose the game
with Oxford—although this is
not assured by any means. His
absence was a consequence of
his concern for the young wife
to whom he was secretly mar-
ried. She lay dead in a cottage
despite everything that Dr.
Armstrong could do (Three-
Quarter) .

*StaunToN, HENRY. H stated that
his evidence helped to hang
Henry, but this case is not
available as yet (Three-Quar-
ter) .

STEILER, PETER, THE ELDER. Manager
of the Englischer Hof in Meir-
ingen, Switzerland. He was at
the Grosvenor Hotel at one
time (Final Problem).

STEINER. He was an agent of Von
Bock, but he was in the Ports-
mouth jail (Last Bow).

STEPHENS. Butler to Lady Beatrice
Falder of Shoscombe Old
Place.

SteEPNEY. Gelder & Company were in
Church Street (Six Napole-
ons) .

sTEPS. H tells W that he sees but does
not observe, that there are sev-
enteen steps leading up from
the hall to their consulting
room at 221B Baker Street
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

STERNDALE, Dr. LEON. Explorer. In
love with Brenda Tregennis.
When not on expeditions, pre-
sumably African, he lived in
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STONER, MAJOR-GENERAL

Beauchamp  Arriance near
Brenda’s house. He was re-
called from Plymouth by Vicar
Roundhay, and he killed Mor-
timer Tregennis on learning
that Mortimer had destroyed
his brothers and Brenda, their
sister. H did not expose him;
W did not expose him (Devil’s
Foot).

*STEVENS, BERT. H described him as
“that terrible murderer.” He
wanted H to “get him off” in
1887 (Norwood Builder). No
published report.

STEVENSON. He was on the Cambridge
University  rugger
(Three-Quarter) .

STEwART, JANE. Housemaid to Mrs.
James Barclay. She related to
H that she had heard the Bar-

(Crooked

team

clays
Man) .

*STEWART, MRs. H felt that Colonel
Moran was involved in her
death in 1887  (Empty
House) .

StiMsoN & Co. These Kennington
Road undertakers
bury Rose Spender, and, pre-
sumably, they did (Lady
Frances Carfax) .

STOCK-BROKER’S CLERK, THE.
1888. Shortly after W married
Mary Morstan, Hall Pycroft
went to work in Birmingham.

quarreling

were to

He was impersonated in his ab-
sence by one of the Bedding-
tons. It was fortunate that H
intervened in time.
STOCKDALE, BARNEY. Husband of Su-

san. He was a member of the
Spencer John gang and was
hired by Isadora Klein to
obtain the Douglas Maberley
manuscript (Three Gables).

STockDALE, SusanN. Wife of Barney.
She was planted as a ‘“‘servant”
in the home of Mary Maber-
ley, probably to locate the
Maberley manuscript wanted
by Isadora Klein (Three
Gables) .

StockwiELL Prace. A four-wheeler
carrying H, W, and Mary Mor-
stan en route to Thaddeus
Sholto (Sign of Four).

STONE, REVEREND JosHUA. At Nether
Walsling, near Oxshott. He too
lived in a large house, but
not the right one (Wisteria
Lodge) .

StonEr, HELEN. Stepdaughter of Dr.
Roylott of Stoke Moran, Sur-
rey. She consulted H when her
twin sister Julia died. H saved
her life (Speckled Band).

STONER, JuLiA. Stepdaughter of Dr.
Roylott. Her death prompted
her sister Helen to come to
London to consult H. Her
death was revenged (Speckled
Band) .

STONER, MAJOR-GENERAL. First hus-
band of Mrs. Grimesby Roy-
lott. He and his wife had twin
daughters, Helen and Julia.
He was in the Bengal Artillery,
and after his death the young
widow married Dr. Roylott,
and the family came to Eng-
land (Speckled Band).
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StoPER, Miss

StoPER, Miss. Manager of the West
End agency, Westaway’s, that
specialized in  governesses
(Copper Beeches) .

StrADIVARIUS VIOLINS. H discussed the
difference between them and
the Amati instruments (Study
in Scarlet) . Also, as for Mira-
cle Plays (Sign of Four). H
said that his Stradivarius was
worth 500 guineas but that he
had paid only 55 shillings for
it in Tottenham Court Road
(Cardboard Box).

STRAKER, JoHN. Alias Mr. Derby-
shire. He led a double life and
was killed by a horse (Silver
Blaze) .

STRAKER, MRs. She found her husband
getting dressed at 1:00 A.m. H
had a reason for asking
whether he had met her at a
Plymouth garden party (Silver
Blaze) .

StrAND, LonpON. W stayed in a pri-
vate hotel here before the his-
toric meeting with young
Stamford (Study in Scarlet).
The American Exchange was
here (Study in Scarlet). H
asked William Morris the way
to the Strand (Red-headed
League) . H and W took a walk
(Resident Patient). Godfrey
Staunton ran in this direction
(Three-Quarter). H and W
ate there one evening at Simp-
son’s, q.v. (Illustrious Client).

STRAND END OF THE LOWTHER ARGCADE.
W was to take a hansom and

then run through here (Final
Problem) .

STrASBURG. H and W en route from
Brussels to Switzerland (Final
Problem) .

STRAUBENZEE. His gunshop was in the
Minories. He made the air-gun
for Count Sylvius (Mazarin
Stone) . Cf. air-gun.

StrReATHAM. H, W, and Toby on the
trail of Bartholomew Sholto’s
murderers (Sign of Four) . Mr.
Holder, the banker, lived here
(Beryl Coronet).

STREET ARABS. See Baker Street Divi-
sion of the detective police
force.

Stroup VALLEY. H and W en route to
Boscombe Valley.

StuArTs, THE. Their ancient crown

was hidden at Hurlstone
Manor House (Musgrave Rit-
ual) .

STUDY IN SCARLET, A. W gave
this name to the case of Jeffer-
son Hope (q.v.) and was an-
noyed when H criticized the
Watsonian ms. Circa 1881?

Subsury. Student at The Gables. He,
with fellow student Blount,
discovered the dead Airedale
terrier that had belonged to
his recently dead master, Fitz-
roy McPherson. Both master
and dog were found dead at
the same place (Lion’s Mane).

Suez CaNAL. The “Rock of Gibral-
tar” was south of this waterway
(Abbey Grange) .

*SuLTAN oF TURkEY. H had to finish
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Sussex Downs

a commission for this poten-
tate before he could begin an
investigation at Tuxbury Old
Park (Blanched Soldier). As
H narrated this case, and since
W had moved out of their
Baker Street chambers, one
does not know if the Turkish
affair was concluded. The case
notes should be in one of H’s
receptacula.

SuMAaTrA. H told W that he had con-
tracted a deadly coolie disease
which was only contagious by
touch (Dying Detective) .

*SUMATRA, GIANT RAT OF. According
to H, “the world is not yet pre-
pared” to know the details of
this rat case (Vampire). So far
(with excessive caution?) W
has respected H’s prohibition.

SumneRr. Shipping agent, Ratcliff
Highway. “Send three men
on, to arrive ten to-morrow
morning.—Basil.” This was
the wire that H sent Sumner.
Captain Basil was an alias of
H in certain quarters (Black
Peter) .

Surrey. H felt the four-wheeler that
was carrying Mary Morstan,
W, and himself to the un-
known T. Sholto was making
for the “Surrey Side” when
the hansom crossed the Vaux-
hall Bridge (Sign of Four).
Jonathan Small compared Sur-
rey to India before the Mutiny
(Sign of Four). On their re-
turn trip from the Cedars in

Kent H and W passed through
a part of Surrey (Twisted
Lip). H and W to Stoke
Moran in Surrey, home of
Dr. Roylott (Speckled Band).
Colonel Hayter lived near Rei-
gate (Reigate Puzzle) . H had
breathed thirty miles of Surrey
air and was hungry (Naval
Treaty). Miss Violet Smith
taught music near Farnham
(Solitary Cyclist). Inspector
Baynes was interested in John
Scott Eccles, and in turn this
led to Aloysius Garcia, Mr.
Henderson, and participation
by H and W (Wisteria
Lodge) . Mr. Barker, a compe-
tent amateur detective on the
Surrey shore, had several good
cases to his credit at the time
he and H collaborated (Re-
tired Colourman) .

Sussex. Elias Openshaw lived near
Horsham (Five Orange Pips).
The Musgraves lived in this
county (Musgrave Ritual).
Captain Peter Cary lived near
Forest Row (Black Peter).
The John Douglas home was
at Birlstone (Valley of Fear).
Cheeseman’s, Lamberley, was
the scene of action (Vampire).
H retired to his home in this
county and narrated the case of
the Lion’s Mane.

Sussex powns. H retired here for
study and bee-keeping, with a
small amount of agriculture
(probably light gardening).
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SussEx VAMPIRE, ADVENTURE OF THE

His farm was about five miles
from Eastbourne (Last Bow).
This retirement was in H’s
thoughts for some time. As
early as September, 1903, he
was thinking of such a life,
here or elsewhere (Creeping
Man). H was settled in and
apparently adjusted when he
narrated the case of the Lion’s
Mane, which had its scene of
action quite near H’s place on
the southern slope of the
downs and the Channel coast.
SUSSEX VAMPIRE, ADVENTURE
OF THE. November 19. H es-
tablished the view that vam-
pires are not operational in
Sussex, proved Robert Fergu-
son’s wife was innocent, and
suggested that their older boy,
Jack, spend a year at sea.
SUTHERLAND, MArY. H referred to her
case (Red-headed League) as
related to the Case of Identity.
Sutro, MR. Mary Maberley’s lawyer.
He objected to the terms of the
sale of the Three Gables.
SurtoN. One of the Worthingdon
bank gang. He informed on
Cartwright and was murdered
by the gang. Alias Mr. Bless-
ington (Resident Patient) . Cf.
Worthingdon Bank gang.
SwaN & Epison. Sir Henry Baskerville

intended to brighten up the
Hall with their electric lamp-
bulbs (The Hound).

SwinponN. H and W lunched in this
village en route to Boscombe
Valley.

SwitzerLAND. H felt that he and W
should come to this country, se-
cretly if possible, to avoid Pro-
fessor Moriarty’s vengeance
(Final Problem) . Cf. Reichen-
bach Falls. W investigated the
disappearance of Lady Frances.
Her last letter to Miss Dobney
was from the Hotel National
in Lausanne (Lady Frances
Carfax) . Cf. Shlessinger.

SypEnNHAM. The Randalls had done a
burglary job here a fortnight
ago, according to Inspector
Stanley  Hopkins  (4bbey
Grange) .

SYDNEY. Australia. Armitage and Evans
arrived here via the “Hotspur”
(Gloria Scott) .

SyLvius, Count NEGrRETTO. Of 136
Moorside Gardens, N.W. He
came to 221B Baker Street to
bluster, and H deprived him
of his liberty as well as the
Mazarin Stone.

SyriA. Professor Coram’s treatise dealt
with the Coptic monasteries of
this country (Pince-Nez).
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T

TANGEY, MRr. Commissionaire at the
Foreign Office where Percy
Phelps worked. He lived at 16
Ivy Lane, Brixton, and was
formerly in the Coldstream
Guards (Naval Treaty).

TANGEY, MRrs. She had trouble with a
tradesman and ran away (Naval
Treaty) .

*TANKERVILLE CLUB SCANDAL. Major
Prendergast told John Open-
shaw how H had saved him in
this affair. This led John to
consult H (Five Orange Pips),
but the case concerning the
major has not been published.

TAPANULI FEVER. W had never heard
of it (Dying Detective) .

*TARLETON MURDERS. These were re-
ferred to by H as one of his
former cases. No record of its
subsequent publication (Mus-
grave Ritual). Since this was
prior to W’s collaboration, we
know only of the notes of the
affair that H showed to W,
They may be difficult to locate

now.

TARLTON, SusaN. Maid in Professor
Coram’s household  (Pince-
Nez).

TAVERNIER, M. Accomplished French

modeler who made a bust of
H (Mazarin Stone).
TAVISTOCK CONTRACTOR. He built
some houses for those wishing
to enjoy pure Dartmoor air
(Silver Blaze) .
Henry Wood’s
(Crooked Man).
TELEGRAM. There are many of these.
For example: H deduced that
W had dispatched one from the
Wigmore Street Post Office; H
wired Athelney Jones to await
him at 221B Baker Street and
signed himself Poplar; H
wired for the Baker Street Ir-
regulars from the Great Peter
Street Post Office (Sign of
Four). Cf. “The old man is
dead” (Solitary Cyclist); also
Sumner (Black Peter) .
Telegraph. Newspaper that gave an

TEDDY. mongoose

account of the murder of John
Straker and the disappearance
of Silver Blaze.

TELEPHONE. W called from the Rail-
way Arms, Little Purlington,
to H in London (Retired Col-
ourman) . XX.31 was a private
number which H could call to
reach Sir James Damery (Illus-
trious Client) . Hand W called
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TERAI

Nathan
debs) .
TERAL Victor Trevor was said to be
doing well in tea-planting here
(Gloria Scott).
THaMEs. W, H, and Mary Morstan
crossed this river by the Vaux-
hall Bridge in a four-wheeler
en route to see Thaddeus
Sholto; later, H, W, and Athel-
ney Jones chased the “Aurora”
and captured Jonathan Small
(Sign of Four). Dr. Barnicot
had a large practice south of
the river (Six Napoleons). W
recalled the pursuit of the
“Aurora” in Pince-Nez. Sir
James Walter’s villa had lawns
on the river side (Bruce-Part-
ington) .
OLD MAN IS DEAD.” Telegram
sent to Mr. Carruthers, in
Farnham, from South Africa
(1), supplying the information
that Ralph Smith was dead
(Solitary Cyclist) .

Garrideb  (Garri-

“THE

TueoLocicAL.  COLLEGE OF  ST.
Georce’s.  Elias  Whitney,
D.D., was Principal (Twisted
Lip).

“the woMAaN.” See Irene Adler.

THirp BENGAL  FusiLiers. They
fought near Agra in the great
Indian Mutiny and achieved a
local success at Shahgunge
early in July, then fell back on
Agra (Sign of Four).

THIRD BUFFs. Jonathan Small’s regi-
ment that went to India (Sign
of Four).

THOR BRIDGE. A stone span over a long

and reedy pool at Thor Place.
Mrs. Gibson’s body was found
in the water near the bridge
(Thor Bridge) .
THOR BRIDGE, THE PROBLEM
OF. October. Suicide of Maria
Gibson was proved by H, de-
spite the fact that she had ar-
ranged her death to appear to
be a murder committed by
governess Grace Dunbar.
PrAce. Hampshire estate of
J. Neil Gibson, near Win-
chester (Thor Bridge).
TrorEAU. H quoted this author about
a “trout in the milk” (Noble

THOR

Bachelor) .

THREADNEEDLE STREET. Hugh Boone
begged  here every day
(Twisted Lip). Holder &

Stevenson banking firm was
here (Beryl Coronet).
THREE GABLEs. Harrow Weald area,
and the home of Mary Maber-
ley (Three Gables).

THREE GABLES, ADVENTURE
OF THE. Isadora Klein hired
Barney Stockdale to obtain the
Douglas Maberley manuscript.
He did, and she burned it, but
she ended up by giving H a
check for £5,000 so that
Mary Maberley, mother of
Douglas, could take a trip
around the world.

THREE GARRIDEBS, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. June, 1902.
As in The Red-headed
League, the criminal, this time
a supposititious John Garrideb
maneuvering to decoy Nathan
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“To James MortiMER, M.R.C.S., FRoM HIS FRIENDS OF THE C.C.H.”

Garrideb away so that he could
get at the money left by forger
Rodger Prescott, runs afoul of
H. En passant, Nathan Garri-
deb ended in a Brixton nurs-
ing home.

Three Months in the Jungle. By Colo-

nel Sebastian Moran. 1884
(Empty House) .
THREE-QUARTER  POSITION.  Godfrey

Staunton was missing from this
position on the rugger team
(Three-Quarter) .

THREE STUDENTS, ADVEN-
TURE OF THE. In 1895 H
and W were at St. Luke’s Col-
lege, and H saved tutor Soames
from an awkward situation in
the examination in Greek for
the Fortescue Scholarship.

THROGMORTON STREET. James M.
Dodd was a stockholder here
(Blanched Soldier) .

TuursTON. He was the only person
that W played billiards with,
according to Holmes (Dancing
Men) .

Tiser. H spent two years here and
visited Lhassa and talked with
the head lama. He conducted
explorations here under the
Norwegian alias of Sigerson
(Empty House) .

Times, LonpoON. In this newspaper on
May 4, 1882, there was an ad-
vertisement asking for the ad-
dress of Miss Mary Morstan.
Mrs. Cecil Forrester, in whose
home Mary was governess, ad-
vised Mary to publish her ad-
dress in this paper; later, H

found that Major Sholto had
died on April 28, 1882. This
datum was back-filed in the
Times (Sign of Four). Count-
ess of Morcar’s lost jewel was
advertised for here (Blue Car-
buncle). H was reading its
agony column when W
brought in Mr. Hatherley (En-
gineer’s Thumb) . Then there
was the advertisement as to the
whereabouts of Violet Smith
and her mother (Solitary Cy-
clisty. H had read this paper
prior to the arrival of Cyril
Overton (Three-Quarter) .
The warning to Sir Henry
Baskerville had been pieced
out of an article in this paper
(The Hound). Von Herling
felt the German purpose (in
1914) was as clear as if it had
been advertised here (Last
Bow) .

*TIRED CAPTAIN, ADVENTURE OF THE.
This is an unrecorded case
which was investigated by H
in the July following the Wat-
son-Morstan nuptials (Naval
Treaty) .

TIRE IMPRESSIONS. See Holmes, Sher-
lock, under Methods.

TogIN. Caretaker at the Worthingdon
Bank. He was murdered by
one of the five burglars during
their entry. Cartwright was
hanged for the crime, on evi-
dence supplied by Sutton
(Resident Patient) .

Tosy. See dog.

“To James MorTiMER, M.R.C.S.,
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ToKAY

FROM HIS FRIENDS OF THE
C.C.H.” This was engraved
on the visitor’'s stick (The
Hound) .

Toxkay. Thaddeus Sholto offered
Mary Morstan a glass of this
wine and was refused (Sign of
Four) . According to Von Bork,
Altamont favored this wine
(Last Bow).

ToLLER. He was described as a servant
of the Rucastles. He was ad-
dicted to alcohol and took
“care” of Carlo (Copper
Beeches) .

ToLLER, Mrs. She helped Mr. Fowler
to rescue Alice Rucastle (Cop-
per Beeches) .

ToNGAa. An Islander
who murdered Bartholomew

Andaman

Sholto with a poisoned dart
and was later shot by Hand W
in their chase of the “Aurora.”
He disappeared in the Thames
(Sign of Four).

ToPEkA, Kansas. “John Garrideb”
was said to be in law practice
here (Garridebs).

ToronTo. Canada. Henry Baskerville
bought a pair of black boots
here (The Hound).

TorQuAY TERRACE. In Camberwell.
E. ]J. Drebber was a lodger here
(Study in Scarlet) .

TorrINGTON LoDGE. Mr. McFar-
lane lived here (Norwood
Builder) .

*Tosca, CArDINAL. H investigated his
sudden death ‘“at the express
desire of His Holiness the
Pope” (Black Peter).

TorreNHAM CourT Roap. The late
Mr. Sutherland had a profit-
able plumber’s business here.
When Mr. Windibank mar-
ried Mrs. Sutherland, he had
her sell the business at a poor
figure (Case of Identity). Pe-
terson was coming home and,
en passant, got a used hat and a

(Blue

H bought his
Stradivarius here for 55 shil-
lings (Cardboard Box), prob-
ably at a pawn shop. Mr. War-
ren was the timekeeper for
Morton & Waylight here (Red
Circle) .

TRAFALGAR SQUARE. John Clayton,
cabby, picked up some one
who gave his name as ‘““Sher-
lock Holmes.” His passenger
had him drive to the North-
umberland Hotel, then to
221B Baker Street, and finally
to the Waterloo Station. John
was asked to come to 221B
Baker and tell his story, and H
was impressed by the passen-
ger who had used his name.
This incident alerted H as to
the character of his adversary
(The Hound).

TRAFALGAR SQUARE Fountain. H
twitted Lestrade about drag-
ging this water for the body of
Lady St. Simon (Noble Bache-
lor).

TRANSYLVANIA. In H’s index under
“V” there was an account of
vampires in this area (Vam-

pire).

fine Christmas goose
Carbuncle) .
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TRIPLE ALLIANCE

TREDANNICK WARTHA. Home of TREPOFF MURDER. See Odessa.

Brenda, George, and Owen TREVELYAN, Dr. PErcy. Physician

Tregennis. Brother Mortimer
visited them. Next morning
Brenda was dead, and George
and Owen were insane. Dr.
Richards too was partially
overcome when he called. H
decided to investigate (Devil’s
Foot).

TreEDANNICK WoLLas. A village in

Cornwall (Devil’s Foot) .

TreGELLIS, JANET. Daughter of head

gamekeeper at  Hurlstone
Manor House. She was receiv-
ing the attentions of Brunton,
the butler, while the latter was
engaged to Rachel Howells.
This was a mistake for Brun-
ton (Musgrave Ritual).

TRrREGENNIS, BRENDA. Sister of Morti-

mer, George, and Owen. She
was found still seated at the ta-
ble, dead (Devil’s Foot).

TREGENNIS, GEORGE. Brother of Mor-

timer, Owen, and Brenda. He
was found seated beside Brenda,
demented (Devil’s Foot) .

TREGENNIS, MORTIMER. Brother of

Brenda, George, and Owen.
He had rooms in the Vicarage,
apart from his kith and kin.
He and the Vicar, Mr. Round-
hay, came to consult H. Morti-
mer later met his sister’s fate
when Dr. Sterndale learned of
the peculiar circumstances
(Devil’'s Foot) .

TREGENNIS, OWEN. Brother of Brenda,

George, and Mortimer. As for
George (Deuvil's Foot).
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who won the Bruce Pinkerton
Prize for his monograph on ob-
scure nervous lesions. He lived
at 403 Brook Street and in the
end needed H rather badly
(Restdent Patient) .

TREVOR, SENIOR. He was Justice of the

Peace and father of Victor.
Lived at Donnithorpe, near
Langmere in the Broads, Nor-
folk. Trevor was an alias for
James Armitage who was
chained in the “Gloria Scott”
bound with other convicts for
Australia. He escaped (Gloria
Scott) .

TREVOR, VicTor. Son of Trevor, Sen-

ior. Victor was H’s best friend
in two years at college. His
bull terrier bit H on the ankle.
In the end Victor did well in
tea plantings at Terai (Gloria
Scott) . He invited H to the
Trevor establishment, and this
had a deep bearing on H’s fu-
ture. Cf. Holmes, Sherlock.

TrICHINOPOLY CIGAR. H said that the

murderer of E. J. Drebber had
smoked one, producing charac-
teristic dark gray ashes (Study
in Scarlet) . See Holmes, Sher-
lock, under Works.

TRINCOMALEE. See Atkinson brothers.
TrinITY CoLLEGE. Of Cambridge

University. Cyril Overton went
here (Three-Quarter) .

TripPLE ALLIANCE. The gray roll of pa-

per defined the position of
Great Britain toward the Alli-



TRUMPINGTON

ance and bore on naval affairs
(Naval Treaty).

TruMPINGTON. Godfrey Staunton’s
dead wife lay in a cottage
nearby, and here H, W, and
Dr. Armstrong finally under-
stood each other (Three-Quar-
ter).

TunerIDGE WELLS. In Kent, about ten
miles from Birlstone, Sussex
(Valley of Fear). Patrick
Cairns took a train from here
to London (Black Peter).

TURKEY, SULTAN OF. See Sultan.

TurkisH BATH. W had one (Lady
Frances Carfax) . Hand W had
a weakness for them (Illustri-
ous Client).

TURNER, ALICE. Daughter of John
Turner. She was in love with
James McCarthy (Boscombe).

TURNER, JoHN. Father of Alice. Larg-
est landed proprietor in the
Boscombe Valley area. He had
made his money in Australia
(Boscombe) .

TURNER, MRs. At one period at least,
she was landlady at 221B
Baker Street for H (Scandal in

Bohemia). Cf. Mrs. Hudson.
The substitution of Turner for
Hudson might be a lapsus
calami on the part of W, as
chief narrator. On the other
hand, Mrs. Hudson might have
needed a well-earned rest from
her exacting patrons and asked
in a friend to take over for a
while.

TurPEY STREET. John Clayton lived at
No. 3 (The Hound).
TusoN, SERGEANT. He captured Bed-
dington, with the aid of Con-
stable Pollock (Stock-broker’s

Clerk) .

Tussaup, MApAME. Merton felt she
could take a lesson from Taver-
nier (q.v.), but in all fairness,
the dummy was substituted for
H, and H substituted for the
dummy (Mazarin Stone).

Tuxsury OLD PARK. Near Bedford, in
Bedfordshire. Home of Colo-
nel Emsworth, V.C. (Blanched
Soldier).

TyBURN TREE, of evil memory. Little
Ryder Street was nearby (Gar-
ridebs) .
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UBANGHI COUNTRY. In West Africa,
where Dr. Sterndale obtained
a sample of Radix pedis dia-
boli, or Devil’s Foot.

UFFA, IsLAND oF. See Grice Patersons.

UNDERGROUND, THE. London subway
system. H and W went as far
as Aldersgate (Red-headed
League) . Cadogan West was
dead on the tracks on Tuesday
morning, his body being near
the Aldgate Station (Bruce-
Partington) .

UNDERWOOD, JOHN, & Sons. 129 Cam-
berwell Road, London. They
had sold a hat to E. J. Drebber
(Study in Scarlet) .

UNIoN Jack. Mentioned in the Noble
Bachelor.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. See
Cleveland, Ohio; Chicago, Illi-
nois; New York, New York;
Philadelphia, = Pennsylvania;
Topeka, Kansas; San Fran-
cisco, California, and various
of the states. Cleveland noted
in Study in Scarlet. In three
days Baron Gruner was to
leave on the “Ruritania”
from Liverpool bound for this
country, but H intervened (II-

lustrious Client). “A. H. Gar-

rideb” was said to have made a

will which caused John Garri-

deb (alias for “Killer” Evans)
to scour this country (Garri-

debs) .

the Distinction between the

Ashes of the Various Tobac-

cos. One of H’s monographs, in

which 140 forms of cigar, ciga-
rette, and pipe tobacco ashes
are discussed (Sign of Four).

See Holmes, Sherlock, under

Works.

UrPErR NorwooDp. Major John Sholto
retired here, and after his
death, one of his twin sons,
Bartholomew, occupied the
house, known as Pondicherry
Lodge (Sign of Four).

UrpPErR SwANDAM LANE. The Bar of
Gold opium den was located in
this vile alley on the north
side of the Thames and to
the east of London Bridge
(Twisted Lip) .

UppiNGHAM. As a boy Willoughby
Smith went here to prepare for
Cambridge University (Pince-
Nez).

*Upwoob, CoLoNEL. He was exposed

Upon
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URIAH AND BATHSHEBA

by H in connection with the Wood in India. H told W he
card scandal at the Nonpareil could find the reference in the
Club (The Hound). first or second chapter of Sam-

UriaH AND BaTusHEBA. H explained uel (Crooked Man). (Samuel
that when Mrs. Barclay called II:11 is the correct reference).
her husband ‘“David” it re- UTRECHT. Van Jensen died here
ferred to his betrayal of Henry (Study in Scarlet).
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VALLEY OF FFAR, THE. Janu-
ary 7, at the end of the 1880’s.
Professor Moriarty was in-
volved according to H. H
solved the ‘‘death” of John
Douglas, but later Douglas was
lost overboard en route to
South Africa, and H knew that
Moriarty had triumphed once
again. Cf. Vermissa.

*VAMBERRY, THE WINE MERCHANT.
This was a pre-Watsonian case,
but the records of the affair
had been exhibited to W by H
(Musgrave Ritual).

vaMPIRES. H demonstrated that they
were inoperative at Cheese-
man’s, Lamberley, Sussex, de-
spite circumstantial evidence
(Vampire) .

VANDELEUR, MR. AND Mgs. They op-
erated St. Oliver’s school, and
H discovered that they were at
Merripit House under the
alias of Jack and Beryl Staple-
ton, “brother” and “sister”
(The Hound).

VANDERBILT AND THE YEGGMAN. This
case was in H’s index under
“V” (Vampire) .

VAN JENSEN. H recalled his death in
Utrecht in 1834 having been

reported (Study in Scarlet).

VAN SeppAr. He was in Lime Street
and could take the jewel to
Amsterdam and have it cut in
four pieces before Sunday
(Mazarin Stone).

*VATICAN cAMEOs. H was so preoc-
cupied by this case that he had
not heard of the death of Sir
Charles  Baskerville  (The
Hound) . Since H was alert to
such events, especially those
in which death was associated
with the English countryside,
his preoccupation suggests that
the cameo affair would be of
interest.

VauxHALL BRrRIDGE Roap. H, W, and
Mary Morstan crossed the
Thames here en route to
Thaddeus Sholto. Much later
in the case W was to be let
out here with the Agra Treas-
sure and was to bring it to
Mary Morstan (Sign of Four).

VEGETARIAN RESTAURANT. Next to the
city and Suburban Bank on the
Strand (Red-headed League) .

VEHMGERICHT. On the occasion of
the death of E. J. Drebber, the
Daily Telegraph alluded to
the operations of this secret
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VEILED LODGER, ADVENTURE OF THE

tribunal, among other agencies
(Study in Scarlet).

VEILED LODGER, ADVENTURE
OF THE. 1896. The wife of
Ronder, and his strong man,
Leonardo, murdered her hus-
band and blamed the crime
on the lion Sahara King. The
lion mauled the wife, and
Leonardo went away. Some
seven years later Mrs. Ronder
confessed her crime to H, with
W as witness. H persuaded her
not to take her own life.

VENEZUELAN LOAN. It ruined Coxon
& Woodhouse (Stock-broker’s
Clerk) .

VENNER & MATHESON. An engineering
firm of Greenwich. Cf. Hather-
ley (Engineer’'s Thumb).

VeNnuccr, Lucreria. Maid to Prin-
cess Colonna. She probably
aided Pietro Venucci and
Beppo in the theft of the black
pearl of the Borgias (Six Na-
poleons) .

VENuccr, PieTro. Of Naples and Lon-
don. He had a connection with
the Mafia, according to In-
spector Hill. Pietro was found
dead on Horace Harker’s door-
step (Six Napoleons).

VERE STREET. A brick fell from a
building and would have
killed H if it had struck him.
H wondered whether Profes-
sor Moriarty was at work (Fi-
nal Problem).

VERMISSA. A flourishing town at the
head of a coal and iron valley

in the United States. V.V. =
Vermissa Valley = Valley of
Fear.

VERNER, DR. A young physician who
purchased W’s general prac-
tice in Kensington. He paid
W’s first suggested price with-
out demur. Years later W dis-
covered that H had found at
least part of the money. The
young physician was a distant
relative of H (Norwood
Builder). The incident not
only is evidence of H’s gen-
erosity and of his desire to
have W live with him again,
but it also bears out his French
grandmother’s family name of
Vernet. Cf. Holmes, Sherlock,
under Pre-Watsonian.

VERNET. French artist. His sister was
a grandmother of H. See
Holmes, Sherlock, under Pre-
Watsonian; also Dr. Verner.

VERNON LopGE. Near Kingston. Baron
Gruner lived here (Illustrious
Client) .

ViBArT, JULES. One of the head wait-
ers at the Hotel National in
Lausanne. He was engaged to
Lady Frances Carfax’ maid,
Marie Devine (Lady Frances
Carfax) .

VictoriA. Australia. John Turner
made his money here in gold-
mining and knew Charles Mc-
Carthy (Boscombe).

VicroriA Station. H, W, and Colonel
Ross en route to London ar-
rived here in less than ten
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Von Bork

minutes (Silver Blaze). Mr.
Melas en route from Clapham
Junction to London (Greek
Interpreter). W was to send
his luggage unaddressed to
this station (Final Problem).
H, W, and Inspector Mac-
Donald en route to Birlstone
Manor (Valley of Fear). H,
W, and Robert Ferguson en
route to Cheeseman’s, Lamber-
ley (Vampire).

Vie de Bohéme. By Henri Murger.
It was read by W (Study in
Scarlet) .

VIEW-HALLOA, THE. H responded to

the opening of a case like an

old hound to this (Devil’s

Foot).

THE HAMMERSMITH WON-
pER. The citation is from H’s
index under “V” (Vampire).
VINCENT SQUARE. H, W, and Mary

Morstan in a four-wheeler en
route to Thaddeus Sholto
(Sign of Four).

vioLIns. Cremona, Stradivarius, and
Amati were discussed (Study
in Scarlet). H and W went to
hear the violinist Sarasate
(Red-headed  League). H
played his violin in the Noble
Bachelor and in the Norwood
Builder. On another occasion,
a case was not going well and
H played snatches of this and
that (Second Stain). Again,
H played his violin to post-
pone thought (The Hound).
H talked about violins and

VIGOR,

violinists one afternoon to W
(Cardboard Box). Charlie
Pease was both a violin virtu-
oso and a great criminal (Il-
lustrious Client). This musi-
cal instrument was an essential
item of equipment in the art
of detection in one case. H
told Count Sylvius and Merton
that he wanted them to think
the matter over and would
give them privacy by going
into another room to play
Hoftman’s Barcarole on his
violin. Soon they heard the
strains of music behind the
closed door. H had put a rec-
ord of the Barcarole on a
gramophone instead and then,
taking the place of the dummy,
was in a position to grab the
Mazarin  Stone. Cf. Stradi-
varius for the price of H’s
instrument; also Norman
Neruda for his appreciation of
a fellow artist.

VITTORIA. A circus belle. In H’s index
under “V” (Vampire) .

VIXEN Tor. As for Belliver Tor.

Von BiscHorr. He would have been
hung at Frankfort, circa 1877,
if H’s test for haemoglobin
had been known then (Study
in Scarlet) .

Von Bork. Chief German espionage
agent in FEngland prior to
World War I. Captured Au-
gust, 1914, by H, operating un-
der the alias of Altamont, and
W (Last Bow).
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VoN HERDER

Herper. The blind German
mechanic who made the air-
gun ordered by Professor
Moriarty and used by Colonel
Moran (Empty House).

Von HEerLING, Baron. Chief Secre-
tary of the German legation in
London. He worked hand in
glove with Von Bork (Last
Bouw) .

Von KramMm, Count. Pseudonym of
the King of Bohemia. He
stayed at the Langham Hotel
while consulting H in London
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

voN ORrMSTEIN. Wilhelm Gottsreich

Sigismond von  Ormstein,

Grand Duke of Cassel-Felstein

and hereditary King of Bo-

hemia. He consulted H under
the pseudonym of Count Von

Kramm (Scandal in Bohe-

mia) . Cf. von Saxe-Meningen.

SAXE-MENINGEN,  CLOTHILDE

LotuMAN. Second daughter of

the King of Scandinavia and

betrothed to the King of Bo-
hemia (Scandal in Bohemia).

Cf. von Ormstein.

Von

VON

*VoN UND Zu GRAFENSTEIN, COUNT.
Uncle of von Ormstein. H
saved his life from the Nihilist
Klopman (Last Bow).

voN WaLbsauMm, Fritz. Of Danzig.
He was on the wrong track en-
tirely in the adventure of the
Second Stain (cited in Naval
Treaty only).

voopoo. H had studied the subject at
the British Museum and was
able to interpret the signifi-
cance of the remains of a white
cock and kid bones in the
kitchen of Aloysius Garcia’s
home near Esher, in Surrey
(Wisteria Lodge) .

Voodooism and the Negroid Reli-
gions. By Eckermann. H
quoted a passage pertinent to
the case (Wisteria Lodge).

“V.V.-341.” This was on a card by
the body of a murdered man
reputed to be John Douglas.
V.V. stood for Vermissa Val-
ley. 341 was the lodge number
(Valley of Fear).
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WagNER NiGHT. There was an un-
specified Wagnerian opera at
Covent Garden, and H wanted
W to hurry. This was after the
successful conclusion of the
case of the Red-headed
League.

WaiNnwrIGHT. He was both a great
criminal and no mean artist
(Illustrious Client).

WALDRON. A4lias Rodger Prescott, q.v.
(Garridebs) .

WaLLENSTEIN. His death in Egria was
cited by H (Scandal in Bo-
hemia) .

WALLINGTON. Sarah Cushing lived on
New Street here at the time
her sister Susan received Jim
Browner’s package of human
ears (Cardboard Box).

WaLsaLL. Violet Hunter became
head of a private school here
(Copper Beeches) .

WALTER, = COLONEL  VALENTINE.
Brother of Sir James, he was
crushed with grief when Sir
James died of shock over the
theft of the submarine patents.
Later, the colonel answered
H’s message in the Daily Tele-
graph and went to jail (Bruce-
Partington) .

WALTER, S1R JamEs. Brother of Colo-
nel Valentine Walter. He was
the official guardian of the
highly classified
patents at Woolwich Arsenal.
He kept one of the two keys,
and Sidney Johnson had the
other. Sir James died of shock
a few hours after the patents,
or some of them at least, were

submarine

discovered to be missing
(Bruce-Partington) .

WALTERS. Constable left on duty at
Wisteria Lodge. He was happy
to see Inspector Baynes again
(Wisteria Lodge) .

WanpsworTH CoMMON. Mr. Melas
was a long way from home
(Greek Interpreter).

*WARrBURTON, CoLoNEL. This case,
involving the colonel’s mad-
ness, was one of only two cases
that W brought to the atten-
tion of H. The other was the
severed thumb of engineer
Hatherley. The latter has been
published, but not the former
(Engineer’s Thumb) .

WarbpLow, CorLoNeEL. His horse,
Pugilist, ran in the Wessex
Cup race (Silver Blaze).

WARNER, JoHN. Gardener at High
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‘WARREN, MRs.

Gable. He helped protect Miss
Burnett from Mr. Henderson
and his secretary Mr. Lucas.
He was dismissed (Wisteria
Lodge) .

WARREN, MRs. She consulted H about
her strange lodger, on the
strength of the recommenda-
tion of a former lodger, Fair-
dale Hobbs. Her odd lodger
was really Emilia Lucca, al-
though no one knew this at
the time. H cautioned Mrs.
Warren against telling Emilia
she must leave (Red Circle).

Warsaw. King of Bohemia met Irene
Adler, Prima Donna of the
Imperial Opera, in this city
(Scandal in Bohemia) .

WARSHIPS OF THE FUTURE. As for mir-
acle plays.

waTcH. One had been given recently
to W, and as a jest he asked
H to examine it and give him
his deductions. H was delighted
to do so, to W’s chagrin. This
small diversion prevented H
from taking a second dose of
cocaine (Sign of Four).

WATERBEACH. H searched here also
(Three-Quarter) .

WATERFORD. Browner’s ship stopped
at this port (Cardboard Box).

WaterLoo. H told W that the case
was not their Waterloo but
their Marengo, i.e., it began
in defeat and ended in victory
(Abbey Grange).

WATERLOO BRIDGE. John Openshaw
met his death nearby (Five
Orange Pips).

WATERLOO BRIDGE Roap. H and W
en route from the Cedars in
Kent to London (Twisted
Lip).

WATERLOO Roabp. “Killer” Evans shot
and killed the coiner-forger,
Rodger Prescott, here. Both
men were from Chicago (Gar-
ridebs) .

WATERLOO STATION. John Openshaw
planned to take a train from
here to his home in Horsham
(Five Orange Pips). Helen
Stoner took the first train from
Leatherhead to this station
(Speckled Band). H and W
off to Aldershot on the 11:10
AM. (Crooked Man). H and
W off to Woking (Naval
Treaty). W caught the 9:13
AM. for Farnham (Solitary
Cyclist). John Clayton’s han-
som was nearby from Ship-
ley’s Yard. Henry Baskerville
was arriving shortly, accord-
ing to James Mortimer (The
Hound).

Wartson, Jon~n H., M.D. Pre-Holmes-
ian: Doctor Watson received
his medical degree in 1878
from the University of Lon-
don.

Shortly after, he went to
Netley to take the prescribed
course for Army surgeons. He
was then attached to the Fifth
Northumberland Fusiliers as
Assistant Surgeon. This regi-
ment was in India at the time.
He followed, landing at Bom-
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Warson, Joan H., M.D.

bay, and eventually caught up
with his outfit at Candahar in
time to take part in the Second
Afghan war. He was trans-
ferred to the Berkshires and at
the battle of Maiwand was
struck in the shoulder by a
Jezail bullet. Murray, his or
derly, saved him from capture,
and he was removed to the
base hospital at Peshawur for
rehabilitation.

Recuperating from his shoul-
der wound, John contracted
enteric fever and was returned
to England on the troopship
“Orontes.” He landed at Ports-
mouth with a nine-month
furlough from the British Gov-
ernment and his health “irre-
trievably ruined.”

At this time he had no living
relative and depended on an
income of 11 shillings sixpence
per day. He went to London
and for a time stayed at a
private hotel in the Strand.
This soon became too expen-
sive, and he began casting
about for cheaper quarters. It
was at this period that he ran
into young Stamford at the
Criterion Bar.

Stamford had been John’s
dresser at Barts hospital in the
early days. On impulse,
pleased to be looking at a fa-
miliar face again, Watson in-
vited him to lunch, and they
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went on by hansom to the
Holborn restaurant. In the
course of the conversation
John told Stamford that he
was looking for reasonable
chambers. Stamford then re-
membered that a chap he
knew, Holmes, had found him-
self in the same boat—at least,
he wanted to move.

Historic Meeting and Settling-
in at 221B Baker: After lunch
Stamford took Watson to meet
Holmes. This meeting has
been described elsewhere (cf.
Holmes, Sherlock, under His-
toric Meeting) .

Sherlock’s choice of chambers
scemed good to John. The two
young men were attracted to
each other apparently from the
first. In an exchange of candor,
John gave his worst points as
being lazy, getting up all
hours of the day or night, dis-
liking raucous noises, and
keeping a bull pup. Oddly
enough, both this pup and
young Stamford disappear
from sight in subsequent pub-
lished accounts of the doings
of Holmes and Watson. So,
fortunately for the cases, does
Watson’s objection to noise
and excitement. Holmes then
stated his bad points, and both
John and Sherlock decided to
visit the proposed quarters of
joint occupancy the next day.



WaTtson, Joun H., M.D.

They went to 221B Baker
Street and concluded the bar-
gain. Early in this period they
were involved in the investiga-
tion of two deaths, and near
the end of the affair Watson
was asked to give a profes-
sional opinion on the state of
health of Jefferson Hope—an
early bit of medical assistance
in the budding collaboration.
He diagnosed an aortic aneu-
rism. This precipitated Hope’s
account of the twin killings—
one could hardly call them
murders—to Holmes, Watson,
and Inspectors Gregson and
Lestrade of Scotland Yard.

At the conclusion of this
strange case Sherlock summed
up the situation while Watson
listened in rapt attention, his
mystification gradually giving
way to admiration. After this
explanation Holmes assured
Watson that Lestrade and
Gregson would have all the
credit. Watson countered this
pessimistic view with a state-
ment of great future signifi-
cance: “I have all the facts in
my journal, and the public
shall know them” (Study in
Scarlet) .

Even in these early days Wat-
son reflected that Holmes
might be partially addicted to
the use of some narcotic. He
dismissed this hypothesis in
view of Holmes’s general tem-
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perance and cleanliness (Study
in  Scarlet). Unfortunately,
Holmes did use cocaine or
morphine to calm himself in
periods of dull inactivity when
there were no problems to en-
gage his keen mind. Watson
remonstrated bitterly when
Holmes gave himself a de-
liberate injection of a seven-
percent solution of cocaine
and at the end of the case was
reaching for more (Sign of
Four) . Through the long years
of collaboration, with Holmes
detecting and Watson later
narrating, Watson’s opinion
apparently prevailed. Thus,
only an occasional dose was
used by the time the case of the
Yellow Face was investigated.
This weaning of Holmes, with
such a sensitive temperament,
must be recorded as one of
Watson’s unobtrusive achieve-
ments in their long association
(Three-Quarter) .

John and Mary: In July, 1888,
a Miss Mary Morstan (q.v.)
called on Holmes, on the ad-
vice of Mrs. Cecil Forrester
(g-v.) . She was a young lady in
rather indifferent financial cir-
cumstances who had gone to
meet her father Captain Mor-
stan (q.v.) by appointment,
but he had vanished. There-
after, over a period of six years,
she had been receiving valu-
able pearls, and now there was
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an invitation to meet someone
who, apparently, could assist
her (Cf. “Be at ... etc.”).
Would Mr. Holmes please ad-
vise?

Watson had risen to go, at the
beginning of this recital but
Mary had asked him to remain
—that he might help her.
Watson sat down with alacrity,
and that was that. Watson was
greatly impressed by her: “She
was a blonde young lady,
small, dainty, well gloved, and
dressed in the most perfect
taste.” Though she fell con-
siderably short of beauty, “her
large blue eyes were singularly
spiritual and sympathetic.”
When she walked away down
Baker Street, with Watson
watching her from the win-
dow, Holmes had virtually lost
his roommate.

The writer of the note allowed
Mary to bring two friends.
Holmes decided to undertake
the case, and Mary happily ac-
cepted Holmes and Watson in
the role of friends. The three
were to go to a certain spot by
the entrance of the Lyceum
Theatre at 7:00 p.m. about
July 7, 1888. From there, they
were taken by a four-wheeler
to the home of Thaddeus
Sholto (q.v.). Here Thaddeus
made it clear how rich Mary
was going to be, and Watson
was depressed at the thought
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(cf. Agra Treasure). Never-
theless, a few hours later John
and Mary were holding hands
on the grounds of Pondicherry
Lodge, where they had all
gone to visit Bartholomew
Sholto and had found him
murdered.

The case progressed, chiefly as
a consequence of the efforts of
Holmes, and Watson went
along when he was invited, but
in the meantime he dreamed
of Mary Morstan. He took to
calling on her, and Mrs. For-
rester of course, to give them
news of the case—which none
of them understood at the
time. Later, after the chase of
the “Aurora,” the Agra treas-
ure chest was recovered and
Watson was delegated to take
it to Mary Morstan. There, in
Mirs. Forrester’s home in Cam-
berwell, they forced the lid of
the chest. The chest was
empty, and, except for Mary’s
six pearls, she was no wealth-
ier. Both John and Mary
seemed relieved, and John
asked Mary to marry him. She
accepted at once (Sign of
Four).

Watson may have been too pre-
occupied with his medical
practice and with his collabora-
tions with Holmes to inter-
calate these with his marital
life—or he may have felt that
such matters were outside the
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purview of his writing. At any
event, he is distressingly vague
about his domestic affairs.

John and Mary did get mar-
ried, but when? In the Sign of
Four Mary told Sherlock and
the much-interested John that
an advertisement in the Times
appeared about six years ago,
or exactly May 4, 1882. This
would make the conference in
1888. At the conclusion of this
celebrated case John and Mary
were engaged. Yet in the Scan-
dal in Bohemia John and
Mary were not only married
but well settled into married
life, with an incorrigible maid,
Mary Jane, about to get her
notice, John obviously in gen-
eral medical practice—and the
date is given specifically as
March 20, 1888. Both dates
cannot be right. In addition
there are scant references in
other cases that they were mar-
ried for a few months, or
“shortly after” their marriage,
or a few weeks before the mar-
riage. Suffice it to say that they
did get married, sometime be-
tween 1888 and 1890.

This confusion about time is
one of the oddities of Watson’s
account. Whereas in describing
the investigation of a case he is
concise and pertinent, when he
deals with dates, there may be
some doubt as to which date to

188

accept. An example is perti-
nent here anent his domestic
affairs. It seems clear that the
events narrated in the Sign of
the Four occurred in 1888, a
date derivable from two inter-
nal circumstances: the receipt
of pearls by Mary and her fa-
ther’s strange disappearance.
In this case she stated cate-
gorically to Holmes and Wat-
son that her mother was dead
when she went to school in
Edinburgh, indeed that she
had no relative in England.
Nevertheless, in the Five
Orange Pips, listed by Watson
with five other cases in 1887,
Watson states, “My wife was
on a visit to her mother’s, and
for a few days I was a dweller
once more in my old quarters
at Baker Street.”

The fact that Watson had for-
gotten the exact year of his
marriage may not be even re-
markable, but it is more diffi-
cult to believe that he had for-
gotten that his mother-in-law
was deceased before he became
engaged.  Furthermore, it
could not have been Watson’s
mother whom Mary was visit-
ing, since Watson tells us in the
fourth paragraph of the first
published collaboration, the
Study in Scarlet, that he had
“neither kith nor kin in Eng-
land, and was therefore as free
as air.” At any rate, confused
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or not, Watson was settled
with his bride.

By at least 1888 he held a
general practice in the Pad-
dington District. His practice
was quite small. He purchased
it from old Mr. Farquhar, with
the suggestion that it had fallen
off considerably prior to the
transfer. This was at the time
of the case of the Stock-broker’s
Clerk, shortly after the wed-
ding. John worked rather hard
at his medical practice, and
what with his collaboration
with Holmes and, presumably,
his attentions to his young
bride—of which little to noth-
ing is said—he must have been
very much occupied. We do
know that by the summer of
1889, not long after his mar-
riage, his medical practice was
increasing steadily (Engineer’s
Thumb). In fact, he was re-
sponsible for bringing the case
of Mr. Hatherley to the atten-
tion of Holmes, via his sur-

gery.

By June, 1890, the Watsons
had found a home in Kensing-
ton (Red-headed League).
From here on, for some time,
there came the succession of
cases in which Holmes was
usually triumphant. Watson
went with Holmes on most of
them, and Mary urged him to
do so. A few months after their
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marriage the case of the
Crooked Man arose, and Dr.
Jackson took over Watson’s
practice while he went to Al-
dershot with Holmes for a few
days in connection with this
unhappy affair. Again, in the
Boscombe  Valley Mystery,
Mary urged John to go with
Sherlock, assuring him that Dr.
Anstruther could take his prac-
tice for a few days. In a situa-
tion where grave public mat-
ters were at stake, Mary rose to
the occasion. For example, she
felt that not a moment should
be lost in getting Holmes to go
to Briarbrae (Naval Treaty).

Mary and John apparently had
a happy life together but their
marriage was of short duration.
Mary was alive and presuma-
bly well as late as April 24,
1891 (Final Problem). Noth-
ing definite is known of their
marriage from this date until
the spring of 1894. During this
period, while Sherlock was on
his long journey and everyone
except Mycroft Holmes
thought that he had fallen into
the Reichenbach abyss, Mary
died. Somehow Holmes had
learned of Watson’s bereave-
ment and quietly comforted
him. This was in the spring of
1894 (Empty House) . At most
the marriage could have lasted
six years, and apparently they
had no children.
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For the next six to seven years
Watson was a widower. In Sep-
tember, 1902, he was living in
his own rooms in Queen Anne
Street, and he was glad to join
Holmes in the case of the Illus-
trious Client. By January,
1903, Watson has married for
the second time (Blanched
Soldier) . There are no data on
this second marriage; we do
not even know her name.

From 1903 on, there is little to
report. By July, 1907, Holmes
had retired to his farm on the
Sussex downs, and the two old
friends seldom saw each other
except for a rare week-end
visit (Lion’s Mane).

Their last recorded association
was a brief reunion in August,
1914, when Watson joined
Holmes in the capture of Von
Bork (Last Bow).

Disposition and Personality:
John Watson is easier to under-
stand than Sherlock Holmes.
He lacks the incandescent gen-
ius of his old friend, and com-
bines many of the simple
virtues one hopes for in man-
kind with some of its short-
comings.

One imagines that in the pur-
suit of his medical practice he
was calm, friendly, practical,
and rather old-fashioned.
When Victor Hatherley came
to his surgery hysterical and

190

with a thumb chopped off,
Watson gave him brandy,
cleaned and dressed the
wound, and sympathetically
took him to the one man who
could look into his case, Sher-
lock Holmes  (Engineer’s
Thumb). He was not keenly
alive to medical research, and
though he did glance over the
British Medical Journal
(Stock-broker’s Clerk) and a
new treatise upon pathology
(Study in Scarlet) , his conver-
sation as reported did not deal
with his profession or its
technological advance to any
extent. One felt that he was
much more at home reading a
good sea story (Five Orange
Pips).

He told Holmes on the first
day of their acquaintance
(Study in Scarlet) that he was
lazy, that this was one of his
bad points, at any rate during
his convalescence. One cannot
agree with Watson’s interpre-
tation of himself. Instead, a
more justified view is that he
had no strong personal ambi-
tion. Certainly he showed will-
ingness to exert all his efforts
on behalf of Holmes’s cases
over a long period of time, and
his wooing of Mary Morstan
was not a placid affair (Sign of
the Four) . No, John could not
be described as lazy in any
sense.
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He was fond of sports, both as
a participant and as a specta-
tor. In his youth he played
rugby for Blackheath (Vam-
pire) . He played billiards with
Thurston (Dancing Men) . He
knew much about dogs and
horses. For example, he ex-
plained to Holmes that the
Shoscombe spaniels were pos-
sibly the most exclusive breed
in England and that they were
heard of frequently from the
dog shows (Shoscombe). He
was equally up on horses and
horse racing. He had the phi-
losophy that people who con-
trol either horses or boys have
a firm and austere expression,
and he told Holmes that he
spent about half of his wound
pension on the races (Shos-
combe) .

Watson had a fondness for the
expensive and relaxing Turk-
ish bath, probably more so
than Holmes, although both
patronized such establishments
(Lady Frances Carfax and Il-
lustrious Client).

This easy-going day-by-day at-
titude could give way to quick
emotional  disturbance, as
when he fainted on seeing
Holmes after he had thought
him dead (Empty House) and
had to be revived with strong
spirit. Too, it will be remem-
bered that it was Watson who
first fought off the effects of the
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deadly fumes and saved
Holmes and himself (Devil’s
Foot) . Also, there was a kind
of foolhardy courage about
Watson that does not fail to
cause admiration, even though
one feels that he is on the
wrong track, as when he ac-
cuses the formidable Philip
Green (Lady Frances Carfax) .

Neither scientific investigation
nor precise observation was
Watson’s forte. He could not
tell Holmes how many steps
led up from the hall to their
consulting room at Baker
Street and was gratified to
learn from Holmes that there
were seventeen steps. He saw
but did not observe (Scandal
in Bohemia) . His mystification
over Holmes’s conclusions, usu-
ally followed by an explana-
tion from Holmes as to how
the conclusions were reached,
began in the Study in Scarlet
and continued throughout
their long association of seven-
teen years (Veiled Lodger).
Certainly, in a patient willing-
ness to listen and try to learn,
Watson had no peer.

Still, it is obvious that Watson
would have made a poor de-
tective; the record is clear on
this point. For one reason or
another, Holmes occasionally
asked Watson to investigate a
case. Invariably he did all the
wrong things, or almost all, as
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Holmes pointed out to him
with acerbity. Such misinvesti-
gations included (1) the
whereabouts of the principal
figure in Lady Frances Carfax;
(2) the whereabouts of Mrs.
Josiah Amberley and Dr. Er-
nest (Retired Colourman),
and the comical sequel of Wat-
son and Josiah Amberley de-
coyed in the wilds of Essex
while Holmes and Mr. Barker
investigated the matter. This
humorous episode is one of the
few such interludes in the long
history. (3) Watson’s investi-
gation of Violet Smith’s case
was misguided (Solitary Cy-
clisty. Then there were (4)
Watson’s investigations about
Dartmoor and his pathetic dis-
tress when he thought that
Holmes had not read his
long October reports (The
Hound) .

Though he never begrudged
such humble services, John
seemingly could never learn to
be a detective. Usually he was
at sea in a case from its incep-
tion to the moment when the
identity of the wrongdoers was
revealed. One instance will
suffice here. In the Creeping
Man, although the pieces were
falling into place rapidly for
Holmes, John did not see the
relationship between an angry
wolfhound and a visit to Bo-
hemia. He says of Holmes’s en-
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thusiasm, “Thank goodness
that something connects with
something.”

Through it all Watson was
loyal. This seems to be the cen-
tral fiber of his personality.
Loyalty to England, to his wife,
and to Holmes. Even when he
objected to breaking into a
house (Bruce-Partington), he
brought the burglar tools, and
when Holmes decided to crack
a safe (Milverton), he stood
watch.

Watson’s Reports: Sherlock
Holmes had a true apprecia-
tion of the situation when he
called John Watson his “Bos-
well” (Scandal in Bohemia).
Had it not been for John’s
enthusiasm  in  recording
Holmes’s numerous cases, the
latter would be unknown ex-
cept to a select coterie of Scot-
land Yard inspectors and hard-
ened criminals. Loyalty, once
more, was a strong motivation
for Watson. He was deter-
mined to see that his comrade
had justice. If the professional
police took the credit at the
time, at least, he told Holmes,
the public would have the true
facts sooner or later. This is
stated prophetically in their
first joint case, Study in Scar-
let, where John comforted
Sherlock: “Never mind . . .,
I have all the facts in my jour-
nal, and the public shall know
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them.” John lived up to this
promise as well as could be ex-
pected. If he did not have all
the facts and if he confused a
few dates, the record of
Holmes’s adventures is never-
theless well told.

Watson states (Veiled
Lodger) that of the twenty-
three years in which Holmes
was in active professional prac-
tice, he was with Holmes for
seventeen. In this long period
of collaboration sixty cases
were published. These in-
cluded fifty-six short accounts
and four much longer rec-
ords, viz., Study in Scarlet, Sign
of Four, Hound of the Basker-
villes, and the Valley of Fear.
Of these sixty reports, John
Watson certainly narrated
fiftysix, including two which
preceded his meeting with
Holmes, i.e., Gloria Scott
(Holmes’s first case) and the
early Musgrave Ritual.

Two cases were narrated by
Holmes: Blanched Soldier,
when Watson was away with
his second wife, and Lion’s
Mane, which was an adventure
on the Sussex downs after
Holmes had retired. The other
cases, namely, His Last Bow,
and the Mazarin Stone, are
told more or less in the third
person and to this extent are
anonymous. An oddity in the
series of cases narrated by Wat-
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son is that in the Resident Pa-
tient and the Cardboard Box
paragraphs three to nineteen
are identical.

Watson frequently refers back
to former cases, as did Holmes.
Among these backward glances
are the following: (1) in the
Final Problem he thinks of the
Naval Treaty and a Study in
Scarlet; (2) in the Naval
Treaty he notes the adventure
of the Second Stain; (3) in the
Second Stain he thinks of the
Abbey Grange. (4) The Resi-
dent Patient evokes a memory
of the pre-Watsonian Gloria
Scott and the first collabora-
tion, Study in Scarlet. (5)
Black Peter recalls the Solitary
Cyclist, where Watson did not
do as good a job as Holmes
thought that he should. (6) In
the Mazarin Stone, which Wat-
son may or may not have writ-
ten since it is in the third per-
son initially, the Empty House,
with its happy opening, is
noted. (7) In the Bruce-
Partington Plans, in which
John faithfully brings burglar
tools, the Greek Interpreter is
mentioned. The suggestion is
that both Holmes and Watson
lived for their cases.

Perhaps the extreme eagerness
for new cases and absorption
in the cases already under way
accounted for Watson’s failure
to record more. One appre-
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ciates his care in composition
—he himself speaks at one
point of the “pains and the
pride” with which he wrote
(The Hound)—but it was
evidently a most time-consum-
ing exercise. He completed the
four long accounts and the
fifty-two short adventures; but
this effort, along with his medi-
cal practice and marital com-
mitments, seems to have left
him insufficient time to pre-
pare others.

Certainly there is a tremen-
dous amount of unreported
material. Not only did Watson
have a shelf full of yearbooks
(Veiled Lodger), but there
were boxes of notes, records,
and mementos. Holmes too
had quantities of organized
and unorganized case-histories
that pre-Watsonian
(Musgrave Ritual), and in a
vault of the Cox & Company
bank at Charing Cross is an-
other box full of cases that are
(Thor

were

largely unpublished
Bridge) .

Listed in this guide are at least
seventy-eight cases, or possible
cases, which have not been
published. These added to the
sixty known to have been given
to the public make a minimum
of 138 cases. Put more bluntly,
published cases account for not
more than 43%, whereas un-

published cases account for at
least 67% of a possible total.
This is a great loss to the think-
ing public, and there are re-
sentful moments when one
feels that John might have
done better, even if it came to
giving up a sea story or so, or
even a Turkish bath.

WATsoN, MAry. Née Morstan. Not a

WATT
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great deal is known of her after
she married. For her early life,
cf. Mary Morstan, and for her
romance, cf. Watson, John,
under John and Mary.

She was a devoted and
thoughtful wife, ever wishing
her husband to be happy, i.e.,
to take off a few days and
work on a case with Holmes
(Boscombe and Naval Treaty,
for example) .

The Watsons lived in Kens-
ington (Red-headed League),
and Mary herself was away
from home at least twice, once
in the Five Orange Pips, and
again in late April, 1891
(Final Problem). In neither
instance do we know where
she went.

She died between this date
and the spring of 1894, when
Holmes returned to a bereaved
Watson (Empty House).
STREET CHAPEL. At Aldershot,
where the Guild of St. George
met to supply the poor with
cast-off clothing  (Crooked
Man) .
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WEeALD Forest. The Birlstone area
was on its fringe (Valley of
Fear) .

WEALD STATION. Mary Maberley lived
but a short walk from here
(Three Gables).

WEAVERS, HANDS OF. See Holmes, Sher-
lock, under Works.

WEIss & ComPAaNY. London. Straker’s
knife, which W identified as
a cataract knife, was made by
this firm (Silver Blaze).

WELBECK STREET. H was nearly run
down here. Was Professor
Moriarty at work behind the
scene? (Final Problem).

WELLINGTON STREET. H and W en
route from the Cedars in Kent
to London (Twisted Lip).

WELLS, ARTESIAN. A dead giveaway in
“Howard Garrideb’s” adver-
tisement (Garridebs) .

Wessex Cup. The favorite for this
race had disappeared, and H
was asked to investigate (Sil-
ver Blaze).

WEsT AFrIcA. Dr. Sterndale obtained

a sample of Radix pedis dia-

boli here in the Ubanghi

country (Devil's Foot). Cf.

Africa; also South Africa.

ArTHUR CADOGAN. Twenty-

seven years old, married, clerk

in the Woolwich Arsenal. He
was discovered dead beside the

Underground tracks on Tues-

day morning. This brought

Mycroft Holmes to 221B

Baker for a second time. H

took the case, was triumphant,

WEST,

and again saved England from
a difficult situation (Bruce-
Partington) .

WEesTawAY’s. A well-known agency for
governesses in the West End
(Copper Beeches) .

WEestBURY Houst FEstTiviTiES. Hatty
Doran was much admired at
them (Noble Bachelor).

WEsSTBURY, VIOLET. Fiancée of Arthur
Cadogan West. She had faith
in Arthur, and after he was not
only murdered but his memory
liable to be reviled, she too
asked H to investigate. He
cleared the young man of be-
ing accused of selling his coun-
try’s secrets (Bruce-Parting-
ton).

WEsT Enp. H went there to continue
the investigation of the miss-
ing jewels (Beryl Coronet).
Westaway’s Agency for gov-
ernesses was here (Copper
Beeches) . Mr. Blessington was
unduly alarmed at a burglary
(Resident Patient), or so it
seemed. At some place here
the Underground was free of
the tubes (Bruce-Partington) .
Grosvenor Square, where Isa-
dora Klein lived, was in this
area (Three Gables).

Western Morning News. See Leeds
Mercury.

WESTHOUSE & MAaRrBANK. Claret im-
porters in Fenchurch Street
(Case of Identity) .

WEsT Inp1a Docks. As for pool.

WEesT InpiES. Rear-Admiral Basker-
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ville served under Rodney
here (The Hound).

WESTMINSTER. Morton & Kennedy,
electricians, had a firm here
(Solitary Cyclist). It was only
a few minutes walk from here
to Whitehall Terrace (Second
Stain) . Bevington’s pawnshop
was here (Lady Frances Car-
fax). Adolph Meyer lived at
13 Great George Street
(Bruce-Partington) .

WESTMINSTER BrIDGE. H and W en
route to Shlessinger’s house in
Poultney Square (Lady Fran-
ces Carfax) .

WESTMINSTER STAIRS. H told Athel-
ney Jones to have a fast police
steam-launch here at 7:00
(Sign of Four).

WESTMINSTER 'WHARF. The police
launch was waiting for H, W,
and Athelney Jones and ready
to chase the “Aurora” (Sign of
Four).

WESTMORELAND. James Desmond lived
here (The Hound).

WESTPHAIL, Miss HonoRIA. Sister of
Mrs. Stoner and aunt to the
twins, Julia and Helen Stoner
(Speckled Band) .

WEsTVILLE ArMs. At Birlstone, Sus-
sex. H and W had a room here
while they investigated the
murder of “John Douglas” at
the invitation of both White
Mason and Inspector Alec
MacDonald (Valley of Fear).

Whitaker’s Almanac. Fred Porlock’s
cipher message referred to this
volume (Valley of Fear).

WHITE, ABEL. An indigo planter who
hired Jonathan Small as over-
seer of his plantation at Mut-
tra, near the border of the
Northwest Provinces. Abel was
killed and his house burned
down in the great Indian Mu-
tiny (Sign of Four).

‘WHITE EAGLE TAVERN. It was just be-
fore one came to the timber-
yard of Broderick & Nelson on
Nine Elms Street (Sign of
Four).

WHiTE HALL (WHITEHALL). Percy
Phelps worked in the Foreign
Office here (Naval Treaty).
Mycroft Holmes worked in the
area (Bruce-Partington). H
had the cabman who took
Count Sylvius to this area
(Mazarin Stone) .

WHITEHALL TERRACE. Trelawney
Hope lived here (Second
Stain) .

WaitE HART. London pub in which
there was a fight at 11:00 p.M.
and in which Constable Rance
officially restored order (Study
in Scarlet) .

WHITNEY, ELias, D.D. Late of the
Theological College of St.
George’s, where he was Princi-
pal (Twisted Lip).

WHITNEY, IsA. Brother of Elias Whit-
ney. He was addicted to
opium. Rescued by W and sent
home in a cab (Twisted Lip).

WaiTNEY, KATE. She asked help from
John and Mary Watson. Her
husband, Isa, had been away
for two days. W found and res-
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cued him from the Bar of
Gold and sent him home in a
cab (Twisted Lip).

WHITTINGTON, LADY ALICIA. She was
of the St. Simon-Doran wed-
ding party (Noble Bachelor).

Wiceins. Leader of the Baker Street
division of the detective police
force. It was he who brought
up the cabman (really Jeffer-
son Hope) to 221B Baker
Street, where, in the presence
of Gregson and Lestrade, H
snapped handcuffs on Hope by
a ruse of having him help with
some boxes (Study in Scar-
let) . Later, H wired Wiggins
from the Great Peter Street
Post Office (Sign of Four).

WicMmore STREET. H and W en route
to inquire about the goose
(Blue Carbuncle).

‘WicMORE STREET PosT OFFICE. W got
a bit of reddish mould on his
instep about here (Sign of
Four).

WIiLD, JONATHAN. A master criminal
who lived about 1750. H
thought that he would have
been an earlier Moriarty (Val-
ley of Fear).

WiLbER, JAaMmEs. Duke of Holder-
nesse’ secretary and his illegiti-
mate son. He was jealous of his
young brother, Lord Saltire,
and got in touch with Reuben
Hayes. They plotted to kidnap
young Lord Saltire (Arthur),
but the matter ended by
James’s going away to Austra-
lia and Reuben’s being ar-

rested. Holmes picked up
£6000 (Priory School).

WILLESDEN. An outlying junction of
the London Underground
(Bruce-Partington) .

WiLLiams. Thaddeus Sholto’s “man.”
He inspected the party and
then, satisfied, drove H, W,
and Mary Morstan to talk with
Thaddeus (Sign of Four).

WirLLiams, James Baker. He lived
at Forton Old Hall, near Ox-
shott. It was a large house, but
not the right one (Wisteria
Lodge) .

WiLLiamsoN, Mr. He rented Char-
lington Hall. He was an un-
frocked clergyman and unmiti-
gated ruffian who solemnized
the false marriage of Violet
Smith to Jack Woodley. His
recompense was seven years in
prison (Solitary Cyclist).

WiLrLows, Dr. He was John Turner’s
physician (Boscombe) .

WiLson. He liberated Delhi in the
Indian Mutiny (Sign of Four) .

WiLson. Constable on duty at Yox-
ley Old Place (Pince-Nez).

*WILsoN. A notorious canary-trainer.
His arrest on information sup-
plied by H in 1895 rid Lon-
don’s East End of “a plague-
spot” (Black Peter) . No public
report.

WiLsoN. Manager of a district mes-
senger office in Regent Street.
He provided young Cart-
wright for H. Cartwright was
to look into the wastepaper of
twenty-three Charing Cross ho-
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WIiLSON, JABEZ

tels for a cut-up center page of
the London Times and report
by wire to H on this quest
(The Hound).

WiLsoN, Japez. Pawnbroker in Co-
burg Square. He became the
dupe of John Clay (Red-
headed League).

WiLsoN, SErRGEANT. Of the Sussex
Constabulary. He came to Birl-
stone Manor at the invitation
of Cecil Barker (Valley of
Fear) .

WiLsoN. Sham chaplain of the “Glo-
ria Scott.” It was he who mur-
dered the ship’s captain (Glo-
ria Scott).

WiMmBLEDON. The Ronder show was
on its way here, and the caravan
stopped at Abbas Parva for the
night (Veiled Lodger).

WiMmpoLE STREET. H and W en route
to inquire about the goose
(Blue Carbuncle) .

WINCHESTER. Jephro Rucastle lived
at the Copper Beeches nearby.
Neil Gibson’s affair was in the
bhands of the Assizes here
(Thor Bridge) .

WIiInNDIBANK, JAMES. Stepfather of
Mary Sutherland. A traveler
in wines for Westhouse & Mar-
bank, claret importers in Fen-
church Street. To keep control
of Mary’s small income, he im-
personated a fictitious Hosmer
Angel and became engaged.
Home: No. 31 Lyon Place,
Camberwell. He was foiled by
H (Case of Identity).

WINDIGATE. Presumably the owner of

the Alpha Inn (Blue Car-
buncle) .

WINE. Beaune, Chianti, Port, and To-
kay are mentioned in the
Sign of Four. Francis Hay
Moulton had sherry at an ex-
pensive hotel (Noble Bache-
lor). Tokay was favored by
Altamont (alias of H), accord-
ing to Von Bork (Last Bow).
H recalled that the Chequers
in Camford served an above-
average port (Creeping Man).
H and W had a bottle of
Montrachet with a cold par-
tridge (Veiled Lodger). West-
house & Marbank were claret
importers in Fenchurch Street,
and James Windibank was one
of their travelers (Case of
Identity) . Cf. also Vamberry.

WINTER, JAMES. Alias “Killer” Evans,
q.v.

WINTER, KiTTY. She threw vitriol in
the face of Baron Gruner (Il-
lustrious Client).

WisTERIA LopcE. Between Esher and

Oxshott, home of Aloysius
Garcia in Surrey (Wisteria
Lodge) .

WISTERIA LODGE, ADVEN-

TURE OF. The San Pedro
population overthrew its dicta-
tor, Don Juan Murillo. The
latter, with his secretary, Lo-
pez fled. Finally the dictator
and his secretary were killen in
Madrid. Mr. John Scott Eccles
was innocently involved. H
and Inspector Baynes solved
the case in so far as England
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WoorLwicH THEATRE

was concerned. This case

opened in the Baker Street

chambers and W assigns it to

the end of March, 1892.

This date is not possible,
since at this time all the world,
except Mycroft Holmes, be-
lieved that H was dead. How-
ever, the case has to fall after

October, 1890, since the Red-

headed League is recalled. A

more feasible date for the ad-

venture would be March,
1895.

WokiING. Percy Phelps lived at Briar-
brae (Naval Treaty).
WomBweLL. His circus was in com-
petition both with Sanger’s
and with Ronder’s (Veiled

Lodger) .

Woop, Dr. He pronounced *John
Douglas” dead (Valley of
Fear) .

Woob, HENRy. Cripple who had not
seen Mrs. James Barclay (née
Nancy Devoy) for thirty years.
He talked with her in Hudson
Street, Aldershot. Henry was
formerly Corporal in the old
117th in the Indian Mutiny.
He was betrayed, tortured, and
escaped (Crooked Man).

Woop, J. G. Author of Out of Doors,
in which reference H found a
description of the giant me-
dusa, Cyanea capillata, the
killer of both McPherson and
his dog (Lion’s Mane).

*WoobHousE. One of fifty men who
had reason to kill H, according
to H (Bruce-Partington) . The

suggestion is that among these
fifty people who might kill H
a considerable number of them
might have tried, or at the least
there are a number of cases in-
volved, some of which might
be complete enough for report-
ing.

WoobLEY, EprTH. She came from Car-
stairs and at one time was en-
gaged to Robert Adair (Empty
House) .

WoobLEY, Jack. He was home from
Africa with Mr. Carruthers
with the news about Violet
Smith’s uncle (he did not tell
Violet the whole story). En
route from Africa he won the
right to court Violet from Car-
ruthers in a card game. Violet
repulsed him. He then ab-
ducted and illegally married
Violet; was caught by H and
jailed for a ten-year sentence;
and Violet married her true
love (Solitary Cyclist) .

WoopmaN’s LEe. Near Forest Row,
Sussex. Home of the retired
sealer, Captain Peter Cary
(Black Peter) .

WooLwicH ArseNAL. The plans of the
secret submarine were stolen
from here, but H recovered
them and saved England from
a serious naval loss (Bruce-
Partington) .

WoorwicH Branch. Of the Capital &
Counties Bank. Cadogan West
had a checking account here
(Bruce-Partington) .

WooLwicH THEATRE. Cadogan West
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WORCESTERSHIRE

and his fiancée, Violet West-
bury, were to attend a per-
formance here, but his death
intervened (Bruce-Parting-
ton).

WORCESTERSHIRE. Jonathan Small was
born here (Sign of Four).

WorbpsworTH Roap. H, W, and Mary
Morstan en route to Thaddeus
Sholto (Sign of Four).

WORTHINGDON BANK GANG. Com-
prised of Biddle, Hayward,
Moffat, Sutton (alias Blessing-
ton), and Cartwright. They

killed Tobin, the bank care-
taker and stole £7000 in 1875
from the Worthingdon Bank.
Sutton informed on Cart-
wright, who was hanged. Bid-
dle, Hayward, and Moffat each
got fifteen years for the crime.
When the three got out of
prison, they tried three times to
kill Sutton, and the third time
succeeded (Resident Patient).
WRricHT, THERESA. Lady Bracken-
stall’s maid at Abbey Grange.
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XX.31. This was the private tele- call to reach Sir James Damery
phone number which H was to (Illustrious Client).
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Y

“YArD, THE.” See Scotland Yard.
YELLOW FACE, THE. Mr. Hebron

and only child were said to
have died of disease in Atlanta,
Georgia. In this case H was
wrong and asked W to whisper
“Norbury” if he ever appeared
too confident.

York. H showed Mrs. Lyons a photo-

graph taken here four years
ago of Jack and Beryl Staple-

ton but endorsed by Mr.
and Mrs. Vandeleur (The
Hound) .

York COLLEGE. An American school

where Jefferson Hope was jani-
tor. Once he was about when a
professor was lecturing to a
class on poisons and showed a
deadly poison to the students.
This poison was an alkaloid
that he had extracted from a

a South American arrow poi-
son. Jefferson stole some of the
poison, worked it up as a pill,
and put it in a box with a sec-
ond pill, similar in appearance
but harmless (Study in Scar-
let) .

YorksHIRE. Mr. and Mrs. Vandeleur

established a private school
here, St (The
Hound) .

Oliver’s

YoucHAL. Of the C.I.D. H sent W

with a message to him, to say
that he was to come to 221B
Baker Street to arrest Count
Sylvius and Sam Merton
(Mazarin Stone) .

YoxLey OLp PLAcCE. Home of Profes-

203

sor Coram, seven miles from
Chatham, in Kent (Pince-
Nez).






Z

ZAMBA, SiGNOR. He was an invalid ise, the air would not be so
and a partner in the firm of

) peaceful (Last Bow).
Castalotte & Zamba (Red Cir-

zoo. H compared Charles Augustus

cle).
ZeppELIN. Von Herling felt that if Milverton with one of the ser-
Zeppelin made good his prom- pents kept here (Milverton).
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